
 
 

Cheltenham Borough Council 

Planning Committee 
 

Meeting date:  14 December 2023 

 

Meeting time:    4.00 pm 

 

Meeting venue: Council Chamber - Municipal Offices 

 

 
 

Membership: 
Councillor Paul Baker (Chair), Councillor Garth Barnes (Vice-Chair), Councillor 

Glenn Andrews, Councillor Adrian Bamford, Councillor Bernard Fisher, Councillor 

Paul McCloskey, Councillor Emma Nelson, Councillor Tony Oliver, Councillor 

Diggory Seacome, Councillor Simon Wheeler and Councillor Barbara Clark 

 

 
 

Important notice – filming, recording and broadcasting of Council 

meetings 
 

This meeting will be recorded by the council for live broadcast online at 

www.cheltenham.gov.uk and https://www.youtube.com/@cheltenhambc/streams 

The Chair will confirm this at the start of the meeting.    

 

If you participate in the meeting, you consent to being filmed and to the possible use 

of those images and sound recordings for broadcasting and/or training purposes. 

 

If you have any questions on the issue of filming/recording of meetings, please 

contact Democratic Services. 

 
 

Speaking at Planning Committee  
 

To find out more about Planning Committee or to register to speak, please click here. 

    

Please note:  the deadline to register to speak is 10.00am on the Wednesday before 

the meeting. 

 
 

http://www.cheltenham.gov.uk/
https://www.youtube.com/@cheltenhambc/streams
https://www.cheltenham.gov.uk/info/12/planning_and_development/652/planning_committee


Contact: democraticservices@cheltenham.gov.uk 

Phone:    01242 264 246

mailto:democraticservices@cheltenham.gov.uk


 

Agenda 
 

 

1  Apologies   

 

2  Declarations of Interest   

 

3  Declarations of independent site visits   

 

4  Minutes of the last meeting   
To approve the minutes of the meeting held on XXX. 

 

5  Public Questions   

 

6  Planning Applications   

 

6a  23/01691/REM  Oakley Farm, Priors Road, Cheltenham, GL52 5AQ  (Pages 5 

- 150) 

Planning application documents 

 

6b  23/00625/FUL  456 High Street, Cheltenham, GL50 3JA  (Pages 151 - 226) 

Planning application documents 

 

6c  23/01634/FUL  16 Priory Street, Cheltenham, GL52 6DG  (Pages 227 - 238) 

Planning application documents 

 

6d  23/01669/ADV  Unit 3, Runnings Road, Cheltenham, GL51 9NQ  (Pages 239 

- 246) 

Planning application documents 

 

6e  23/01699/FUL  Grosvenor House, 13-19 Evesham Road, Cheltenham, GL52 

2AA  (Pages 247 - 258) 

Planning Application Documents 

 

6f  23/01754/FUL  61 Moorend Park Road, Cheltenham, Glos, GL53 0LG  (Pages 

259 - 264) 

Planning Application Documents 

 

7  Appeal Update  (Pages 265 - 302) 

Appeal updates for information. 

 

8  Any other items the Chairman determines urgent and requires a decision   

 

https://publicaccess.cheltenham.gov.uk/online-applications/applicationDetails.do?activeTab=documents&keyVal=S1XXMEEL0M300
https://publicaccess.cheltenham.gov.uk/online-applications/applicationDetails.do?activeTab=documents&keyVal=RT1I67ELGRA00
https://publicaccess.cheltenham.gov.uk/online-applications/applicationDetails.do?activeTab=documents&keyVal=S1DPOOEL0M300
https://publicaccess.cheltenham.gov.uk/online-applications/applicationDetails.do?activeTab=documents&keyVal=S1OMLLEL0M300
https://publicaccess.cheltenham.gov.uk/online-applications/applicationDetails.do?activeTab=documents&keyVal=S21KQHELINY00
https://publicaccess.cheltenham.gov.uk/online-applications/applicationDetails.do?activeTab=documents&keyVal=S2GE19ELIR700


This page is intentionally left blank



 

APPLICATION NO: 23/01691/REM OFFICER: Mrs Lucy White 

DATE REGISTERED: 4th October 2023 DATE OF EXPIRY: 24th January 2024 

DATE VALIDATED: 4th October 2023 DATE OF SITE VISIT:  

WARD: Battledown PARISH: Charlton Kings 

APPLICANT: Vistry Homes Limited And Stonewater Limited 

AGENT: Nexus Planning 

LOCATION: Oakley Farm Priors Road Cheltenham 

PROPOSAL: Application for approval of Reserved Matters (access, appearance, landscaping, 
layout and scale) following outline planning permission for residential development of 
up to 250 dwellings and associated infrastructure, ancillary facilities, open space and 
landscaping, demolition of existing buildings and creation of a new vehicular access 
from Harp Hill (in accordance with the terms of outline planning permission 
20/01069/OUT). Details are also submitted in relation to conditions 6 (phasing), 9 
(Energy and Sustainability Statement), 13 (Harp Hill access junction details) and 25 
(hard and soft landscaping and boundary treatment) of 20/01069/OUT. 

 
RECOMMENDATION: Permit 

 

Page 5
Agenda Item 6a



 
 

This site map is for reference purposes only. OS Crown Copyright. All rights reserved Cheltenham Borough Council 100024384 2007 

 

 

1. DESCRIPTION OF SITE AND PROPOSAL 

1.1 The application site comprises of an area of approximately 14.9ha of agricultural 
grassland and associated buildings at Oakley Farm. The site lies wholly within the 
Cotswold Area of Outstanding Natural Beauty (AONB) and is bounded by Harp Hill to the 
south, residential development associated with the former GCHQ site to the east and 
north and Wessex Drive to the west. The grade II listed Hewlett’s Reservoir and Pavilion 
form part of the east site boundary. The land rises steeply south towards Harp Hill and is 
sub-divided into separate field parcels, delineated by extensive rows of established, 
mature hedgerow. A number of established trees occupy other parts of the site, some of 
which are veteran trees and subject to Tree Preservation Orders.  

1.2 Members will recall that outline planning permission was granted on appeal in 2022 for 
development comprising of up to 250 residential dwellings, to include provision of 
affordable housing, associated infrastructure, ancillary facilities, open space and 
landscaping, demolition of all existing buildings and the formation of a new vehicular 

Page 6



access from Harp Hill, under reference APP/B1605/W/21/3273053 (20/01069/OUT).  All 
matters were reserved for future consideration. 

1.3 The above outline planning permission was granted subject to 5no. Section 106 
Agreements to secure the provision of 40% affordable housing, on-site public open space 
and recreation provision (including its future management and maintenance), an off-site 
financial contribution towards improvements to Beeches and/or Priors Farm playing fields, 
implementation of a residential Travel Plan, financial contributions towards off-site 
highway improvements, bus services, libraries and education provision.  There is also a 
legal undertaking for the developer to pay a sum of up to £25,000 towards any future 
costs associated with the repair/re-jointing and maintenance of the listed boundary wall at 
Hewlett’s Reservoir, which forms part of the east site boundary. 
  

1.4 This application is seeking approval of the reserved matters (design, appearance, layout, 
scale, landscaping and access arrangements) pursuant to the above outline planning 
permission.  In so doing, details are also submitted in relation to conditions 6 (phasing), 9 
(Energy and Sustainability Statement), 12 (site levels), 13 (Harp Hill access junction 
details), and 25 (hard and soft landscaping and boundary treatment) of 20/01069/OUT.  

1.5 A Housing Mix Statement, as required by Condition 7 and to be provided at reserved 
matters stage, has been submitted separately. 

1.6 In addition to the suite of elevation and layout drawings, the application includes various 
supporting documents including a Design Statement, Landscape Design Statement, 
Planning Statement, Statement of Engagement, Arboricultural Impact Plans, Energy and 
Sustainability Statement, and Transport Technical Note.  In response to the various 
scheme revisions, some of the supporting documents have been updated.  

1.7 Both the Landscape Design Statement and Design Statement include various helpful 3D 
and illustrative images of the proposed development.  The latter also sets out how the 
scheme design has evolved from conception through to the final pre-application proposal.  
The applicant has needed to work within the approved parameters and scope of the 
outline planning permission, alongside the constraints of site topography and existing 
landscape features, which has presented significant but not insurmountable challenges for 
the design team.   

1.8 This application is before the Planning Committee because of the scale and significance 
of the proposed development and following a request from the Chair of Planning 
Committee that any future reserved matters applications would be determined by the 
Planning Committee. 

1.9 Pre-application process and Public Engagement 

1.10 This application is subject to a Planning Performance Agreement (PPA) which was 
entered into to cover both the pre-application and reserved matters application stages.   
The PPA sets a timetable and protocols for determining both the pre-application and 
reserved matters submissions. Over the summer of 2023, lengthy pre-application 
discussions and a series of design workshops took place involving both the applicant and 
Council, including their respective specialist advisors for landscape architecture, trees, 
urban design and affordable housing.  

1.11 The applicants made a separate pre-application to Gloucestershire County Council acting 
as Highway Authority and a summary of the outcome of those discussions is provided as 
part of the current application.     

1.12 It is important to note that there has been a highly collaborative approach to all pre-
application/PPA meetings and discussions and this has resulted in a well-considered and 
high quality scheme, despite the challenges of site topography and retained landscape 

Page 7



features.   The proposals offer a wholly bespoke approach to these constraints and 
respond well to the character of the site and its surroundings. The vast majority of 
officer/advisor concerns and suggestions have been addressed and incorporated into the 
final scheme proposal. 

1.13 At an advanced stage in the pre-application process, in September 2023, the emerging 
proposals were presented to the Gloucestershire Design Review Panel.  The comments of 
the Panel are set out in full at the end of the report and discussed later in the report.  The 
majority of the Panel’s comments have been taken on board and incorporated within the 
scheme revisions. 

1.14 The applicant has also engaged with and presented the scheme to the Parish Council and 
the Friends of Oakley Farm Pasture Slopes (the Friends), the latter having been a Rule 6 
Party to the Public Inquiry appeal in respect of the outline planning permission.   Members 
will also recall that the applicant presented the pre-application scheme to Planning 
Committee Members and ward councillors, also in September 2023.   

2. CONSTRAINTS AND RELEVANT PLANNING HISTORY  
 

Constraints: 
Area of Outstanding Natural Beauty 
Airport safeguarding over 15m 
Airport Safeguarding over 45m 
 
Relevant Planning History: 
 
23/00201/PREAPP      20th October 2023     CLO 
A reserved matters application for 250 dwellings and associated infrastructure (pursuant to 
outline planning permission 20/01069/OUT) 
 
19/00526/SCREEN      2nd April 2019     ISSUE 
Request for a screening opinion under Part 2, Regulation 6 of The Town and Country 
Planning (Environmental Impact Assessment) Regulations 2017 (as amended) 
 
19/00916/SCOPE      12th July 2019     SCOPE 
Request for EIA Scoping Opinion for Land at Oakley Farm 
 
19/01610/DEMCON      10th September 2019     NPRIOR 
Application to determine whether prior approval is required for the demolition of a detached 
dwelling (The Farmhouse, Oakley Farm) (method of demolition and restoration of the site) 
 
20/01069/OUT      7th October 2022    UNDET/ALLOWED ON APPEAL 5th October 2022 
Outline application for development comprising of up to 250 residential dwellings including 
provision of associated infrastructure, ancillary facilities, open space and landscaping, 
demolition of existing buildings and formation of new vehicular access from Harp Hill.  All 
matters reserved except for means of access to site from Harp Hill. 
 
23/01677/DISCON           PCO 
Discharge of condition 7 (housing mix statement) of planning permission 20/01069/OUT 
 
 

3. POLICIES AND GUIDANCE  

National Planning Policy Framework 
Section 2 Achieving sustainable development 
Section 4 Decision-making 
Section 5 Delivering a sufficient supply of homes 

Page 8



Section 8 Promoting healthy and safe communities 
Section 9 Promoting sustainable transport 
Section 12 Achieving well-designed places  
Section 14 Meeting the challenge of climate change, flooding and coastal change 
Section 15 Conserving and enhancing the natural environment 
Section 16 Conserving and enhancing the historic environment 
 
Adopted Cheltenham Plan Policies 
D1 Design  
L1 Landscape and Setting  
HE2 National and Local Archaeological Remains of Importance  
BG1 Cotswold Beechwoods Special Area Of Conservation Recreation Pressure  
SL1 Safe and Sustainable Living  
GI2 Protection and replacement of trees  
GI3 Trees and Development  
 
Adopted Joint Core Strategy Policies 
SD3 Sustainable Design and Construction 
SD4 Design Requirements 
SD6 Landscape 
SD7 The Cotswolds Area of Outstanding Natural Beauty 
SD8 Historic Environment 
SD9 Biodiversity and Geodiversity 
SD10 Residential Development 
SD11 Housing Mix and Standards 
SD12 Affordable Housing 
SD14 Health and Environmental Quality 
INF1 Transport Network 
INF2 Flood Risk Management 
INF3 Green Infrastructure 
INF4 Social and Community Infrastructure 
INF5 Renewable Energy/Low Carbon Energy Development 
INF6 Infrastructure Delivery 
INF7 Developer Contributions  
 
Supplementary Planning Guidance/Documents 
Cheltenham Climate Change (2022) 
 
 

4. CONSULTATIONS 
 
See appendix at end of report 
 

5. PUBLICITY AND REPRESENTATIONS  
Number of letters sent 313 

Total comments received 55 

Number of objections 52 

Number of supporting 0 

General comment 3 

 
5.1 Letters of notification were sent to 313 properties. In addition, a number of site notices 

were displayed at various points around the periphery of the site and an advert placed in 
the Gloucestershire Echo.  

5.2 In response to the publicity, a total of 55 representations have been received, 52 of which 
are in objection to the proposals.  

Page 9



5.3 All representations received during the course of the application have been made 
available to Members separately. In summary, the concerns raised relate to (but are not 
limited to) the following matters: 

• Increase in traffic on Harp Hill, unsuitability of Harp Hill/Greenway Lane, proposed 
access from Harp Hill and pressures on local road network. Congestion at Priors 
Road roundabout and other road junctions. Highway safety implications and safety 
of pedestrians and cyclists.  Access difficulties for properties opposite the Harp Hill 
site access. 

• Harp Hill site access should be relocated and possibly further west, outside of 
Highway Flexibility Zone 

• Loss of privacy, light and outlook from neighbouring properties 

• Environmental pollution – air quality, traffic pollution, light and noise emissions 

• Lack of infrastructure proposed and pressures on existing schools and community 
services 

• Impact on drainage and flooding in area 

• Loss and harm to AONB 

• Ecological harm, loss of (Veteran) trees, hedgerow, wildlife, habitat, flora and fauna. 

• Overdevelopment of site with too many houses proposed. 

• Disturbance, heavy traffic and damage to nearby properties during construction 
programme 
 

5.4 It should be noted that many of the public representations are concerned with matters that 
were considered at the outline planning permission stage (e.g. principle of residential 
development, traffic impact, AONB impact, housing numbers, air quality, pollution and 
education provision). As such, these matters are of no material relevance when 
determining this reserved matters application. 
 

5.5 Charlton Kings Parish Council has also made representations and objects to the proposed 
development.  In summary, their concerns relate to traffic impacts on Harp Hill and local 
road junctions, inadequate on-site parking provision, potential drainage issues from the 
outlet pipes within the SUDs attenuation pond, overbearing impact of some plots on 
neighbouring properties and overdevelopment of the site.  Comments are also made in 
respect of EV charging points, headlight glare affecting properties on Harp Hill opposite 
the main site access and appropriate deer-proof fencing around the allotments.  The 
Parish’s comments are set out in full at the end of the report. 

 
 

5.6 The applicant has sought to address the concerns of the Parish in their amended covering 
letter received 23rd November 2023; some of which (dwelling numbers, access, traffic 
impact) relate to considerations of the outline planning permission. Officers concur with 
the applicant’s response to the Parish’s concerns, the majority of which are discussed 
generally in later sections of the report. Furthermore, in respect of neighbour amenity, 
officers are satisfied that, despite the proximity of some plots to dwellings on adjacent 
land, there would be no significant harm caused to the amenities of neighbouring land 
users. 
 
 

 

6. OFFICER COMMENTS  

6.1 Determining Issues  

6.2 This is an application seeking approval of reserved matters following the grant of outline 
planning permission.  As such, the matters for consideration are limited to the following:- 

Page 10



• details of the layout, design, scale, density and architectural features of the 
proposed dwellings 

• extent to which the proposals adhere to the approved Parameter Plans of the 
outline planning permission (i.e. compliance with Condition 5 of 20/01069/OUT)  

• details of proposed landscaping within both the built up and public open space 
areas of the development 

• impact on retained trees and hedgerow  

• ecology, biodiversity and BNG  

• estate road and access junction arrangements 

• distribution, tenure mix and design of the affordable housing provision 

• the impact on the beauty and landscape qualities of the Cotswold AONB    

• impact on designated heritage assets  

• drainage and flood risk 

• impact on amenities of adjoining land users 
 

6.3 Matters relating to the acceptability of the principle of the redevelopment of the site to 
provide up to 250 dwellings, vehicular access via Harp Hill and the transport impacts of 
the proposed development on the local road network are not relevant to the determination 
of the reserved matters and cannot therefore be re-examined.   

6.4 Policy Background 

6.5 Section 38(6) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 states that applications 
for planning permission must be determined in accordance with the development plan 
unless material considerations indicate otherwise. This is reiterated in paragraph 47 of the 
National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) which also highlights that decisions on 
applications should be made as quickly as possible. 

6.6 The development plan comprises of the Cheltenham Plan (CP) (adopted 2020) and 
adopted policies of the Gloucester, Cheltenham and Tewkesbury Joint Core Strategy 
2011-2031 (JCS) (adopted 2017). Material considerations include the National Planning 
Policy Framework (NPPF), Planning Practice Guidance (PPG) and the Cotswold National 
Landscape Management Plan 2023-25 (CMP). 

6.7 The outline planning permission establishes the principle of the redevelopment of the site 
for residential purposes and the provision of up to 250 dwellings.  

6.8 Notwithstanding the above, paragraph 11 of the NPPF states ‘Plans and decisions should 
apply a presumption in favour of sustainable development….and for decision making this 
means approving development proposals that accord with an up-to-date development 
plan’. Where policies which are most important for determining the application are out-of-
date, the NPPF at paragraph 11(d) advises that planning permission should be granted ‘(i) 
unless the application of policies in this Framework that protect areas or assets of 
particular importance provides a clear reason for refusing the development proposed; or 
(ii) any adverse impacts of doing so would significantly and demonstrably outweigh the 
benefits, when assessed against the policies in this Framework taken as a whole’. This is 
referred to as the ‘tilted balance’ and the government’s approach to ensuring delivery of 
housing nationally. 

6.9 Footnote 7 of paragraph 11 of the NPPF explains further that for applications involving the 
provision of housing, relevant policies must be considered out of date in situations where 
the local planning authority cannot demonstrate a five year supply of deliverable housing. 

6.10 The Council is currently unable to demonstrate a five year housing land supply (the latest 
published figure as at 31 March 2023 being 4.84 years). The housing supply policies in 
the development plan are therefore out-of-date.  

Page 11



6.11 The application site is also designated land and lies wholly within the Cotswold AONB. 
The site’s designated status means that NPPF paragraph 11(d) (i) and (ii) both apply. 

6.12 Although the impact of the redevelopment of this site on the AONB was considered as 
part of the outline application and by the appeal Inspector, the current REM proposals will 
still need to be considered having regard to the relevant paragraphs of the NPPF. 
Paragraph 176 of the NPPF states that ‘great weight should be given to conserving and 
enhancing landscape and scenic beauty in Areas of Outstanding Natural Beauty which 
have the highest status of protection in relation to these issues’.  Paragraph 177 advises 
that consideration of such applications should include an assessment of:- 

• Any detrimental effect on the environment, the landscape and recreational opportunities, 
and the extent to which that could be moderated 

6.13 JCS Policy SD7 states that:- 

All development proposals in or within the setting of the Cotswolds AONB will be required 
to conserve and, where appropriate, enhance its landscape, scenic beauty, wildlife, 
cultural heritage and other special qualities. Proposals will be required to be consistent 
with the policies set out in the Cotswolds AONB Management Plan. 

6.14 Similarly, Policy L1 of the Cheltenham Plan states that ‘development will only be permitted 
where it would not harm the setting of Cheltenham including views into or out of areas of 
acknowledged importance’. The supporting text to L1 emphasises the need to continue 
the protection of the town’s setting and encourage its future enhancement through 
sensitively designed and located development; and in doing so protect views into and out 
of the AONB. Paragraph 8.3 of the Cheltenham Plan comments on the particular 
importance of protecting the scarp as the dominant feature of Cheltenham’s setting. 

6.15 Policy CE1 of the Cotswolds National Landscape Management Plan 2023-25 requires: 

1. Proposals that are likely to impact on, or create change in, the landscape of the 
Cotswolds National Landscape, should have regard to, be compatible with and reinforce 
the landscape character of the location, as described by the Cotswolds Conservation 
Board's Landscape Character Assessment and Landscape Strategy and Guidelines. 
There should be a presumption against the loss of key characteristics identified in the 
landscape character assessment. 

2. Proposals that are likely to impact on, or create change in, the landscape of the 
Cotswolds National Landscape, should have regard to the scenic quality of the location 
and its setting and ensure that views - including those into and out of the National 
Landscape - and visual amenity are conserved and enhanced. 

6.16 CMP Policy CE3 stipulates: 

1. Proposals that are likely to impact on the local distinctiveness of the Cotswolds National 
Landscape should have regard to, be compatible with and reinforce this local 
distinctiveness. This should include: 

• being compatible with the Cotswolds Conservation Board's Landscape Character 
Assessment, Landscape Strategy and Guidelines and Local Distinctiveness and 
Landscape Change; 

• being designed and, where relevant, landscaped to respect local settlement patterns, 
building styles, scale and materials; 

• using an appropriate colour of limestone to reflect local distinctiveness. 

Page 12



2. Innovative designs - which are informed by local distinctiveness, character and scale - 
should be welcomed. 

 

6.17 Compliance with Outline Planning Permission/Alternative Illustrative Master Plan 
and Parameter Plans 

6.18 The outline planning permission is subject to a number of approved Parameter Plan 
drawings and 31 conditions, a number of which require details to be provided at the 
reserved matters stage (REM). The Parameter Plans illustrate the broad concepts of 
access and movement, general land use, building heights and green infrastructure. The 
outline submission also included an Alternative Illustrative Masterplan (AIM) and 
landscaping strategy to demonstrate how 250 dwellings could be accommodated on this 
site and to illustrate the general distribution/layout of built form and soft landscaping.  
 

6.19 Of note is Condition 5 of the outline permission which requires the REM to be in general 
accordance with the AIM in respect of the following:- 

a. the proposed and retained structural landscaping (trees, shrubs and hedgerows) and 
public open space within the green infrastructure areas shown on drawing P18-0847-02 
sheet 02 Rev D; 

b. the design and alignment of the main vehicular access road and vehicular junction 
within Harp Hill within the Highway Corridor Flexibility Zone shown on drawing P18-0847-
02 sheet 03 Rev F (excluding other internal estate roads). 

For the avoidance of doubt, applications for approval of reserved matters shall be in 
substantial accordance with the submitted Land Use Parameter Plan (drawing P18-
0847_02 sheet 02 Rev D), Access and Movement Parameter Plan (drawing P18-0847_02 
sheet 3 Rev F), Building Heights Parameter Plan (drawing P18-847_02 sheet 04 Rev C) 
and Green Infrastructure Parameter Plan (drawing P18-0847_02 sheet 05 Rev D) 

6.20 In light of the above, the REM proposals are required to accord substantially with the 
design and layout principles of the proposed and retained structural landscaping, 
distribution of built form and opens space across the site and the alignment of the main 
vehicular access and junction from Harp Hill, as shown on these plans.  In essence, a tree 
belt/buffer should run east west across the site to demarcate the built up area from the 
public open space/green infrastructure within the retained southern field parcels.  

6.21 Similarly, Condition 13 relates to the proposed access arrangements from Harp Hill and 
the road gradients within the site.  The condition reads as follows:- 

Notwithstanding the illustrative proposed access arrangements on to Harp Hill, as shown 
on Access and Movement Parameter Plan ref: P18-0847_02 Sheet No.3 rev F and the 
Alternative Illustrative Masterplan ref. 18017.202 Rev B, full details of the proposed 
access junction on to Harp Hill shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the local 
planning authority as part of the first reserved matters submission. The access shall be 
installed in accordance with the approved details and made available for use prior to the 
first occupation of any dwelling. The reserved matters submissions relating to access are 
required to be generally designed so that maximum and minimum gradients allowable will 
be 1/20 and 1/100 respectively, save that gradients up to 1/12 are permissible, provided 
that where they are proposed, they shall be limited to maximum lengths of 30 metres. 

6.22 The extent to which the REM scheme satisfies the requirements of the above planning 
conditions is discussed below. 

6.23 Design and layout  

Page 13



6.24 Section 12 of the NPPF sets out that good design is a key aspect to achieving sustainable 
development and creating better places to in which to live. Similarly, Policy SD4 of the 
JCS require development to respond positively to and respect the character of the site 
and its surroundings.  These objectives are reiterated in Policy D1 of the Cheltenham Plan 
which requires development to achieve a high standard of architectural design that 
complements neighbouring development. 
 

6.25 In similarity with the AIM, the application site is split into roughly one third/two thirds land 
parcels. The larger northern section would accommodate the 250 proposed dwellings plus 
2no. SUDS pond features, associated estate roads and infrastructure. The smaller 
southern section would accommodate an approximate 15 metre tree belt, retained pasture 
slopes/public open space, footpaths and the main vehicular access into the site.  The 
main estate road running through the site is circular, follows the contours of the land and 
provides access to a number of short cul-de-sacs.    

6.26 The proposed dwellings are fairly evenly distributed across the site in street frontage rows 
or cul-sacs.  The dwellings are a mix of terraced, semi-detached and detached properties 
and apartment blocks.  Within the central-western part of the site the majority of the 
dwellings front the estate roads, creating strong building lines; albeit the topography of the 
site and roof forms prevent an overly terracing effect within the street scene. Elsewhere, 
dwellings front onto the ‘destination oak tree’, SUDS features and central Glade area in 
the north east corner and central area respectively.  There is good use of back-to-back 
gardens, with other dwellings backing onto areas of public open space or site boundaries. 
The 5no. allotments are suitably located adjacent to the east site boundary and provide a 
generous buffer between the proposed dwellings and properties in Birdlip Road. Overall, 
the layout, spacing and distribution of houses and the street hierarchy work well across 
the site. 

6.27 All proposed dwellings have dedicated parking provision either as on-plot parking spaces, 
allocated street parking or in parking courts.  In addition there are 56 unallocated visitor 
parking spaces across the site and allocated parking for the allotment holders.  

6.28 The proposed refuse storage strategy, is again a bespoke approach.  Some of the 
terraced houses have been designed with refuse bin storage built into front boundary 
walls and a detailed drawing is provided to show this arrangement.  All under croft 
garages have storage areas for bins within the garages.  All dwellings with rear garden 
access would have bin stores in their rear gardens and the apartments have bin collection 
points located within acceptable carry and collection vehicle distances.  Cycle storage for 
houses is located either within garages or in rear garden sheds.  The majority of the 
apartment buildings have secure and covered cycle storage in the form of a dedicated 
store or under star storage facility.  However, there are some apartments that have either 
a Sheffield stand or nor cycle storage facility. A condition is therefore added to ensure 
appropriate covered and secure cycle storage provision for these apartments. 

6.29 The layout comprises generally of 4no. distinct ‘neighbourhood’ areas, known as Central 
Lower, Upper Lower, NE Pond, Oak Tree, Reservoir and NE Edge.  Within these areas, 
retained and structural planting is proposed together with the east-west tree belt. The 
layout includes 5 no. LAPs (informal local play areas) and 1no. LEAP (local equipped play 
area), as required by the s106 Agreement.  These are located evenly across the site to 
achieve suitable travel distance from properties.  

6.30 The existing north-south hedgerow within the west field parcels is largely retained with 
breaks in the hedgerow for roads and footpaths.  Similarly, the revised road 
alignment/main access location has resulted in the retention of the majority of the existing 
north-south hedgerow within the eastern field parcels.  This feature connects with the 
heavily landscaped Glade area (and LEAP) forming an almost continuous landscaped 
strip running north-south across the site and defining the character of this part of the site.  

Page 14



In this respect and in comparison with the previous Alternative Illustrative Masterplan 
(AIM), the proposed layout is a betterment in terms of retained green infrastructure.   
Furthermore, in the Design Statement, the applicant refers to their vision of creating ‘a 
new landscape-led neighbourhood in Cheltenham…bespoke houses have been designed 
to accommodate the slopes of the site and embed the homes into the landscape’.  
Officers consider that overall, the proposed scheme achieves these aims successfully.  
The proposals are a bespoke response to the constraints of the site.  There are no 
standard house types within the layout. 

6.31 The proposed location and alignment of the main access road and junction with Harp Hill, 
as shown on the site layout plan and Drawing No PJS22-068-DR-400: Planning Stage 
Roads Horizontal General Arrangement, fall within the Highway Corridor Flexibility Zone 
of the Parameter Plan. This is despite the relocation of the main access slightly further 
west than that shown on the AIM and without compromising the two oak trees located 
within the highway verge.  The reasons given for the adjustment are the provision of a 
tested, less convoluted and far more efficient response to the site.  The access 
arrangements shown on the AIM are considered by the applicant to be impracticable due 
to site gradients. A site layout drawing with parameters overlay is provided to demonstrate 
conformity with condition 13. 

6.32 The other proposed pedestrian and cycle access points into the site are also in general 
conformity with the AIM.  These consist of two footpath connections onto Harp Hill at the 
southern end of the site, and a footpath/cycle path and emergency vehicular access via 
the old farm track leading to Priors Road in the north.   However, during pre-application 
discussions it was agreed that to minimise pedestrian/vehicular conflict, the footpath 
adjoining the main vehicular access onto Harp Hill (as shown on the AIM) should be 
removed because there is no footpath provision on this part of Harp Hill.  The outline 
planning permission only required the extension of the existing footpath on Harp Hill 
further east to connect with the existing public right of way (PROW) running along the 
west site boundary.   

6.33 There are three main north-south internal footpath routes through the site, linking Harp Hill 
and the POS with Priors Road, with connections to the central Glade play area.  These 
paths vary in width, with sections of the footpaths running between or alongside houses 
and needing steps in places due to site gradients.  Some concerns were raised during 
pre-application discussions over the potential width and proximity of these paths to 
neighbouring dwellings.  In response, the applicant has provided additional, larger scale 
drawings to demonstrate the (varying) width and alignment of these footpath links more 
clearly.  Officers are now satisfied that the footpaths are suitable and should not 
significantly harm the amenities of any future dwelling occupiers.   

6.34 There are additional points of access into the site from the PROW along the west site 
boundary.  The proposed layout also indicates new access points into neighbouring 
housing areas in Birdlip Road and Highnam Place within the north and north-east corners 
of the site.  The applicant is continuing discussions with adjoining land owners and 
management companies to facilitate these access opportunities and connections with 
surrounding areas, whose residents would certainly benefit from being able to access the 
play areas and the public open space and recreation opportunities of the proposed 
development.  From these neighbouring residential areas, there would also be improved 
pedestrian access to Harp Hill and the AONB beyond. Unfortunately, within the scope of 
this REM application, the applicant can only provide the areas for these access points; it 
cannot facilitate and carry out the works to implement the access points. 
 

6.35 There are some points between the demarcated built development and green 
infrastructure areas of the Land Use Parameter Plan where the boundaries are 
moderately breached.   Within the Central Upper Neighbourhood and the Oak Tree 
Neighbourhood some of the rear boundaries/plots of the dwellings have been moved 

Page 15



slight further south by approximately 7 metres.  That said, only the rear gardens of the 
affected dwellings would encroach into the tree belt area.  This adjustment has been 
made to enable more meaningful street tree planting (with heavy standard/semi-mature 
species) within the highway verges.  This amendment and slight conflict with the approved 
parameter plans was agreed by officers during pre-application discussions and was a 
result of comments raised by the Gloucestershire Design Review Panel.  The proposed 
reduction in width of parts of the tree belt buffer is minimal and would be imperceptible 
when viewed from Harp Hill and from within the site/public open space.  There is also 
another slight deviation in that there are some visitor parking spaces located within the 
Highway Flexibility Zone.  These minor changes are of no concern.    

6.36 Despite the number of proposed apartment buildings and three storey buildings across the 
site, officers are also satisfied that building heights are in general accordance with the 
Building Heights Parameter Plan whereby the tallest buildings must be confined to the 
central and lower parts of the site (noting future ground levels permissible up to 1.5 
metres above existing ground levels).  The applicant has provided a Schedule of 
Accommodation which includes an assessment of all the plots against the Parameter Plan 
and confirms the parameter height for each plot (10.5 metres or 12 metres, depending on 
location within the site).  The assessment indicates that four plots (118-219) exceed the 
parameter height by approximately 46cm.  However, when allowing for the additional 1.5 
metres of finished raised ground levels above existing levels, the parameter ridge heights 
for these four plots are not exceeded.   

6.37 In light of the above, officers are satisfied that the proposed layout is in general 
accordance with the approved Parameter Plans and AIM.  The requirements of Condition 
5 are therefore met.   

6.38 The submitted Phasing Plan indicates a logical construction programme, starting with the 
main access road and junction with Harp Hill, then working left and down the slope, 
finishing with the last Phase (6) of house building adjacent to properties in Birdlip Road.  
Phase 3 would see the green infrastructure of the POS area implemented to allow time for 
the landscaping to establish.  A Landscape Phasing Plan is also provided.  A Construction 
Environmental Management Plan (CEMP), to tie in with the phased construction 
programme, would be submitted and approved by the LPA prior to the commencement of 
development. 

6.39 Architectural Design/Dwelling Types 

6.40 Due to the topography of the site, many of the proposed dwellings are split level 
properties, particularly those in the central areas where gradients are steepest.  These 
dwellings either step up or down the contours of the site to reduce the height of retaining 
walls within rear gardens and reduce visible retaining structures generally across the site.  
As  a result, many of the proposed house types have living accommodation on the upper 
floors and raised external garden areas with privacy walls. Some are two storey at the 
front with level access and parking at ground level and three storey height at the rear with 
the kitchen at lower ground, garden level.  The Oak Tree flats similarly step up the slope 
and incorporate two internal retaining wall structures.  The single aspect flats and houses 
above garages (FOGS and HOGS) have also been purposely designed to act as retaining 
structures. 

6.41 He bespoke house types vary from terraced, semi-detached and detached dwellings plus 
several three storey detached and linked apartment buildings.  In terms of building 
heights, dwelling house types range from one bed bungalows to three/three and a half 
storey town houses and apartment buildings with maximum ridge heights in line with the 
approved Building Heights Parameter Plan (10.5 and 12 metres).  There is strong use of 
gable front features and pitched roofs with window alignment and proportions reflecting 
the principles of Cheltenham’s Regency architecture.   At various end points within the site 

Page 16



layout, buildings have been carefully designed to act as attractive focal points within the 
street scene.   

6.42 Front boundary treatments to individual houses vary from stone walls, (some of which also 
act as retaining structures), hedges, estate type railings with planting behind.  Other 
boundary treatment is shown in a revised drawing, submitted in response to concerns 
about timber fencing installed adjacent to areas of public open space.  Unfortunately, the 
revisions do not adequately address officer concerns in that plots 1-42 (which back onto 
the POS and tree belt) and plots 11-14 (Glade area) are still shown with timber fencing.  
Although a more robust timber fence panel could be used, officers consider a solid stone 
wall a more appropriate boundary treatment in these areas.  Timber fence panels would 
more than likely in time be altered/replaced by future home owners, which could result in a 
haphazard appearance, thereby detracting from the overall character and appearance of 
the development.  A condition is therefore added requiring the submission and approval of 
a revised boundary treatment scheme. 
 

6.43 The design of the Oak Tree flats and those with the Glade neighbourhood has been very 
carefully considered and the topic of much pre-application discussion, due to site 
topography, their prominence and trees within their settings.  The Oak Tree flats in 
particular would be a prominent feature in the street scene, forming the backdrop to the 
retained veteran oak tree.   These buildings step down the slope and appear more as 
smaller groups of town houses, adding verticality to the building mass.  The introduction of 
mansard roofs to these buildings, alters and reduces their scale and massing, whilst 
adding visual interest and modulation.   

6.44 Similarly, some of the Glade apartment buildings have been designed to step up the slope 
and are linked by their recessed shared entrances.  Following discussion with the 
applicant, the location of some apartment buildings within the Glade neighbourhood has 
been revised to improve walking/step distances to the parking and bin collection areas for 
these flats.   Some of the Glade flats also play an important surveillance role over the 
Glade children’s’ play area. 

6.45 The materials pallette consists of Cotswold/re-constituted stone, stone/buff coloured brick, 
pale coloured render and dark timber cladding.  Stone and facing brick would be the 
predominant external facing materials with some of render and timber cladding added.  
Roof coverings would be slate/artificial slate and metal cladding for the mansard roofs of 
the Oak Tree flats.   

6.46 The design and materials pallette of the dwellings responds largely to its neighbourhood 
area location within the site.  For example,  dwellings in the Oak Tree neighbourhood 
incorporate more stone in their facades, more render is used in the dwellings fronting the 
SUDS pond in the north west corner and timber cladding has been added to dwellings in 
the Glade area and around tree groups.   

6.47 Notwithstanding the requirements of Condition 8, officers have agreed with the applicant, 
that due to current difficulties sourcing brick and Cotswold stone (and to avoid revised 
planning applications), material details would be agreed at a later stage.  This will include 
a requirement for large sample panels of all facing materials to be constructed on site and 
subsequently approved.  A condition has been added accordingly. 
 

6.48 Drawings are also provided to show future management and maintenance responsibilities 
for the site.  All areas of public open space (outside of private/affordable home ownership) 
would be transferred to a management company.  The allotments would be transferred to 
either the Parish Council or Management Company and the majority of the internal estate 
roads would become adopted highway. 
 

6.49 Gloucestershire Design Review Panel 

Page 17



 
6.50 At a relatively advanced but still emerging stage during the pre-application process, the 

proposals were presented to the Gloucestershire Design Review Panel in early 
September 2023.  The Panel’s comments are set out in full at the end of the report. 

 
6.51 The Panel were generally supportive of the scheme but raised concerns about the visual 

impacts of the main vehicular access into the site from Harp Hill and the lack of a 
pedestrian footway on Harp Hill.  Whilst recognising that the principles of this were agreed 
at outline planning stage, the Panel thought that the visual impacts could be reduced by 
additional landscape screening of the elevated section of the vehicular entrance.   

 
6.52 One of the key amendments to the scheme was the result of comments made by the 

Panel, who suggested the incorporation of more street trees to create a more meaningful 
landscape feature.  As discussed at paragraph 6.34 the alignment of the built 
development and green infrastructure boundaries adjacent to the POS has been adjusted 
slightly.  Essentially, this has created a wider road verge within which to carry out more 
effective street tree planting.    

 
6.53 Other comments were made in relation to site levels and the drainage ponds and SUDS 

proposals generally, pedestrian links to surrounding areas, proximity of retained hedges to 
dwellings and site level effects on these hedges.   

 
6.54 Notwithstanding the Panel’s view that this is a well-designed development of the principals 

agreed at outline and a positive design response to the sloping site, there were also 
comments on the architectural detailing and aesthetics of the scheme.  In particular, 
attention was drawn to the mansard roof form of the apartments buildings, the balance of 
vertical and horizontal on some elevations and careful use of timber cladding.  

 
6.55 Where achievable, the majority of the above suggestions were incorporated into the REM 

scheme. 
 

6.56 Cotswold National Landscape (Cotswold Conservation Board) 
 

6.57 Cotswold National Landscape (CNL) raise no objection to the proposed development and 
consider this a high quality scheme.  In particular, they comment as follows:- 

 
We consider that the scheme accords with the relevant advice contained within Section 
2.1 of the Cotswolds National Landscape Strategy and Guidelines; for example, it does 
not overwhelm the existing settlement, does not unduly affect settlement character and 
form and is not an overly standardised development layout. It also avoids development 
that may restrict or obscure views to the upper escarpment slopes. By extension we also 
consider the scheme accords with the relevant parts of Cotswolds National Landscape 
Management Plan policies including CE1 (Landscape) and CE11 (Major Development) 
 
The proposed materials palette reflects both Cotswold stone and light render commonly 
seen in the local area as well as dark grey slate. We would support the comments of the 
Council’s Urban Design consultant that good quality natural Cotswold stone should be 
used rather than recon stone to ensure that locally distinctive characteristics and relevant 
‘special qualities’ of the National Landscape are reflected in the scheme and that the 
scheme positively addresses the aims of Policy CE3 of the Management Plan and the 
advice contained within the Cotswolds AONB Landscape Strategy & Guidelines. 
 

6.58 Comments are made in respect of conformity with the parameter plans and connectivity to 
adjacent residential areas which should be addressed as part of the REM application to 
provide certainty over the arrangements.  The difficulties presented by the latter point are 
discussed elsewhere in the report. 
 

Page 18



6.59 Affordable Housing 
 

6.60 Paragraph 59 of the NPPF states that when supporting the government’s objective of 
boosting housing land supply, the needs of groups with specific housing requirements 
must be addressed. Within this context paragraph 61 goes on to state that the size, type 
and tenure of housing needed for different groups in the community should be reflected in 
strategic policies. 

 
6.61 Policy SD12 of the JCS (affordable housing) seeks the provision of 40% affordable 

housing (AH) in all new residential developments of 11 or more dwellings. Policy SD11 
sets out that development should address the needs of the local area, including older 
people. 

 
6.62 The outline application proposed a policy compliant level of affordable housing (40%) and 

a provision of 100 affordable homes for this development with an approximate 70/30 
tenure split between rented and shared ownership/intermediate properties. Affordable 
housing provision is secured via a s106 Agreement.  The relevant s106 obligations secure 
the number, type, tenure mix, sizes and floor areas of the AH provision.    

 
6.63 The REM application is submitted jointly by Vistry Homes and Stonewater Ltd, the latter 

intended to be the affordable housing provider for this development.  
 

6.64 The REM scheme proposes 250 dwellings, 100 of which would be a mix of social and 
affordable rented and shared ownership dwellings.  The proposals have been reviewed by 
the Council’s Housing Enabling officer who was also heavily involved in pre-application 
discussions.  In terms of clustering, the 100 AH units are seamlessly distributed across 
the site and the sizes, types and tenure mix adheres broadly with the terms of the s106 
obligations (which allows for revisions agreed between the parties).  The AH units are in 
small clusters (with a maximum cluster size of 12 units) and would be indistinguishable in 
appearance from the market dwellings, faced in either stone or a mix of brick and render.  
The layout of the AH has been well thought and balanced against the need to achieve 
social integration and deliver level access affordable homes.  

 
6.65 Notwithstanding the above, some concerns were raised regarding site gradients and the 

extent of level access to all ground floor AH units, the distance of the single storey 2no. 
wheelchair accessible units (plots 215 & 216) in the NE corner of the site from the Priors 
Road footpath entrance and the grouping of some 4/5 bed affordable and market 
dwellings together.  After further discussion with the applicant, it is agreed that the 
relocation of the wheelchair accessible units to the SUDS pond area is not feasible.  
Stonewater have also confirmed that they have no issues with the layout and future 
management of the AH scheme and officers have been given sufficient assurance that the 
4/5 bed affordable units (and their interaction with the wider market offer) will not create a 
community cohesion issue. On this basis, officers are now satisfied that the proposals 
would deliver an acceptable AH provision. 

 
6.66 The Housing Enabling officer’s comments are set out in full at the end of the report. 

 

6.67 Summary of PPA Scheme Revisions 

6.68 Following the statutory 21 day consultation period a number of potential minor scheme 
revisions were discussed with the applicant; in response to both public and consultee 
comments. 

6.69 In summary, these include (but are not limed to) the following:- 

Page 19



•   Footpath junctions within POS amended to Y-heads to avoid desire line formation.  
Bound gravel paths amended to buff asphalt surface with concrete edging to avoid 
erosion and downhill run-off (resin bound surface option not suitable due to 
underlying strata .  Supplementary tree planting added to POS and section of 
unnecessary crescent path removed from south west corner of POS, in order to 
retain as much ridge and furrow feature as possible. 

•   To address concerns over future hedge management, an additional drawing is 
provided to show the detail and degree of separation between the footpath/hedge 
line and dwellings along the western site boundary.  Future management of 
hedgerow will be submitted as part of the discharge of Condition 27. 

•    A defined footpath connection shown connecting the Glade area to Birdlip Road 
(adjacent to plot 216 at eastern site boundary).  No-dig solution proposed for path 
with path line defined by rustic post and rail fencing to prevent desire line 
formation.  Footpaths through the Glade play area also clarified – concern over  
desire lines down steep gradients 

•   Amended perimeter hedge planting proposed around ‘Destination Oak Tree’ in 
western area.  Planting to comprise of defensive and established species to 
provide early establishment of the barrier.   

•   Intermediate size of tree belt species confirmed to enable establishment 

•   Relocation of sub-station to a less prominent location adjacent to plot 101.  
Specification drawing of sub-stations also provided. 

•   Relevant house types amended to show upper floor dark cladding wrapping round 
side elevations of properties to avoid awkward joins in prominent locations.  
Garage doors amended to be the same colour as elevation dark grey/black 
cladding.  Box dormer feature added to upper floors of open market Hazel house 
type. 

•   House types amended to show location of PV roof panels. 

•   Larger balconies (5sq metres) provided where achievable. 

•   Boundary treatment (timber fencing) adjoining some landscaped areas and the 
public realm amended to solid brick walls. 

•   Additional Phasing Plan (extracted from the Design Statement) and Landscape 
Management Plan submitted, the latter plan denoting the public and private realm 
management responsibility areas. 

•   Phasing Plan for landscaping. 

•   Footpath crossing details added to Harp Hill access.  

•   Longitudinal Section Plan of access arrangements (to accompany an additional 
Transport Technical Note to confirm that the access arrangements comply with the 
requirements of Condition 13 – road gradients). 

•   Roof pitch of maisonette plots 125-127 and 133 and 135 in north west corner 
altered slightly to accord with the Building Height Parameter Plan. 

6.70 The applicant has also provided additional drawings to satisfy all requirements of 
Condition 15 (levels and ridge heights of proposed dwellings and buildings on adjoining 

Page 20



land).  This plan shows the ridge heights for all the existing buildings that share a 
boundary with the site, and the proposed ridge heights for the nearby properties.  The 
potential impact on neighbour amenity is discussed at paragraphs 6.74-80. 
 

6.71 Although not all of the comments and requests for scheme amendments made by officers 
and consultees are addressed, the various proposed revisions are welcomed.  The 
majority of the outstanding matters can be dealt with satisfactorily at a later stage via the 
discharge of conditions attached to the outline permission and new conditions added to 
this REM approval.  

 
6.72 Given the nature of the scheme revisions, officers did not consider it necessary to carry 

out a formal re-consultation exercise; albeit some the proposed amendments have been 
discussed with the relevant Council consultees and specialist advisors. 

 

6.73 Impact on neighbouring property  

6.74 Section 12 of the NPPF requires development to create places with a high standard of 
amenity for existing and future users. Policy SL1 of the Cheltenham Plan advises that 
development will only be permitted where it will not cause unacceptable harm to the 
amenity of adjoining land users or the locality. In assessing impact on amenity, the 
Council will take account of matters including, but not limited to, loss of privacy, light and 
outlook. The policy is consistent with adopted JCS policy SD14. 

6.75 The nearest residential properties and, those considered to be most affected by the 
proposed development, are located in Wessex Drive to the west, Harp Hill to the south 
and the residential areas of the former GCHQ site to the north and east. 

6.76 Separation distances between proposed and neighbouring property boundaries and 
nearest elevations in Wessex Drive and the Oakley Grange residential areas (notably 
Birdlip Road and Highnam Place) appear acceptable and adhere broadly to the 
recommended distances set out within Policy SL1 of the Cheltenham Plan.  Separation 
distances between the proposed dwellings within the site and their garden sizes are also, 
on the whole, acceptable and broadly in line with policy recommendations and SPD 
guidance.  There are however, three instances where the recommended 21 metre 
distance between facing windows falls a little short; albeit this must be balanced against 
the majority of facing dwellings exceeding the recommended distances.   

6.77 Although 95% of the proposed houses provide gardens over 10.5 metres in length, some 
rear garden sizes fall below the 10-11m length usually recommended for new housing 
development, with some first floor rear facing windows located falling short of the 
recommended 10.5 metres distance from their rear property boundary (5.8 and 7.8 metres 
being the shortest lengths).  Although some of these gardens have increased garden 
width and generous front garden areas to provide adequate amenity space, this does not 
overcome the potential overlooking issue for the back to back houses.  There are also 
some rear/side elevations of buildings located in close proximity to and extending the full 
width of proposed rear property boundaries.  These relationships and garden lengths for 
some dwellings are not ideal but they are not sufficiently harmful to withhold planning 
permission or require a substantial revision of the scheme layout and numbers of 
dwellings proposed. 

6.78 Local residents have raised concerns about the proximity of existing neighbouring 
dwellings and to proposed plots adjacent to the west and east site boundaries and the 
resultant potential for overlooking and an overbearing appearance.   Notwithstanding the 
above comments,  the relationship between the proposed development and these 
neighbouring properties has been considered very carefully.   

Page 21



 
6.79 Plots 228 and 237 are located the closest to properties in Birdlip Road, one of which has 

an inverted internal layout with main living areas and a raised terrace at first floor.  The 
proposed allotments (the full length of an individual allotment) and some tree planting are 
located between the side elevations of Plots 228 and 237 and the east site boundary.  The 
separation distances between the rear elevations of Nos 45 and 43 Birdip Road and the 
(blank) side elevations of plots 228 and 237 is some 37-40 metres.  As such, the potential 
level of harm to neighbour amenity is significantly reduced by the intervening allotment 
buffer.  Furthermore, any overlooking from first floor windows in plots 228 and 237 is 
reduced by the angle of view, in addition to the separation distances between properties.  
Further north, the Birdlip Road properties side onto an area of POS.    

6.80 The rear elevations of the single storey dwellings proposed at plots 215 and 216 are 
within 1.5-4 metres of the east site shared boundary with No 3 Highnam Place.  Given the 
single storey form and scale of plots 215 and 216, there should be no significant harm to 
the amenities of No 3 in terms of loss of light privacy or overbearing.  However, to 
maintain privacy between neighbouring properties, a condition is added which prevents 
the insertion of additional windows and doors (including dormer windows) within these two 
dwellings.  It is not considered reasonable to apply the same condition to other plots, 
because the separation distances between rear elevations and site boundaries is 
considered acceptable and/or planning permission would be required for any new first 
floor side facing windows/doors.  In this respect, officers have no significant concerns over 
the potential for overlooking, loss of light or an overbearing appearance in relation to 
properties in Wessex Drive, Pillowell Close, Brockweir Road and Fairford Road. 

6.81 The differences in (finished) land levels and ridge heights between the proposed dwellings 
and dwellings on adjoining land is acknowledged.  Ridge heights of the proposed 
dwellings would be in region of 4-8 metres higher than properties in Wessex Drive.  
However, the separation distances between the dwellings and the intervening PROW and 
landscaping buffer would prevent any significant overbearing appearance or loss of 
outlook.  The adjoining properties in Brockweir Close, Birdlip Road and Highnam Place, 
adjacent the north and east site boundaries, would be less affected by ridge height 
differences, albeit the differences in ground (rear garden) levels is acknowledged.  Again, 
separation distances here and the intervening allotments would minimise any harmful 
effects on amenity.   Furthermore, one should not forget the fact that the application site is 
steeply sloping and as such, the outline permission allows for future finished ground levels 
to exceed existing ground levels by 1.5 metres. 
  

6.82 For the above reasons, the proposals are considered to be in broad accordance with the 
objectives and policy guidance of section 8 of the NPPF (2023), Policy SL1 of the 
Cheltenham plan, Policy SD14 of the JCS and the relevant SPD guidance. 

 

6.83 Access and highway issues 

6.84  Paragraph 11 of the NPPF states that development should only be refused on highways 
grounds if there would be an unacceptable impact on highway safety or the residual 
cumulative impacts on the road network would be severe. 

6.85 Policy INF1 of the JCS reiterates the stance of the NPPF and states that proposals should 
ensure that safe and efficient access to the highway network is provided for all transport 
modes.  

6.86 Gloucestershire County Council, acting as local highway authority (HA) has undertaken a 
thorough review of the REM submission.  The current proposals were also subject to a 
pre-application process with the HA. 
 

Page 22



6.87 As previously mentioned, the outline planning permission defines a Highway Corridor 
Flexibility Zone within which the design and alignment of the main vehicular access road 
and vehicular junction within Harp Hill is to be provided, in accordance with Condition 5.  
Condition 13 relates to the detail of the access arrangements from Harp Hill and the 
minimum and maximum gradients allowable for roads within the new housing estate.  
Note that, Condition 13 does not require strict conformity with the illustrative proposed 
access arrangements on to Harp Hill as shown on the Access and Movement Parameter 
Plan and AIM of the outline permission. 

6.88 As set out at paragraph 6.31 of the report, the main vehicular access and junction within 
Harp Hill has been moved slightly further west but is still within the Highway Corridor 
Flexibility Zone, as required by Condition 5. 

6.89 The application is accompanied by a Transport Technical Note and various highway 
related technical drawings.  The Transport Technical Note was revised to add 
commentary on the proposed road gradients and their conformity with the terms of 
Condition 13.  In summary, the horizontal alignment of the roads has been established to 
achieve the most effective alignment overall, whilst respecting the constraints of the 
exiting TPO trees and their associated root protection areas across the site. The GCC 
MfGS Highways Design Guidance prescribes maximum and minimum grades of 1:20 and 
1:100 respectively, with 1:12 sections permitted for max 30m lengths, as per the 
requirements of Condition 13.  These requirements have been discussed and agreed with 
the HA; the vertical design and the proposed road levels are in accordance with these 
requirements. Similarly, vehicular swept path analysis across the site (including the 
requirements for refuse vehicles) has also been discussed and agreed with the HA.  
 

6.90 Irrespective of the above, the HA has been re-consulted in respect of the additional 
Longitudinal Section Plan of access arrangements submitted on 4th December 2023.  
Members will be notified of their response and whether this alters the HA’s 
recommendation, in an Update report or at Committee.  
 

6.91 In summary, the HA consider the quantum of car parking and cycle parking provision 
consistent with the guidance set out in Manual for Manual for Gloucestershire Streets 
(MfGS). The requirement to provide for EV charging is conveyed through the building 
regulations; regardless conditions are in place to secure appropriate provision.  The 
internal road layout is also considered acceptable, subject to further scrutiny at technical 
design stage.  The HA notes that some areas (pedestrian corridors, forward visibility/tree 
conflict and additional crossing point) within the layout may need revisiting, but these are 
not significant issues and can be addressed at the later (s38) stage. 

6.92 The HA confirms that the revised location for the main vehicular access from Harp Hill is 
suitable, achieves the required visibility splays and its geometry accords with MfGS 
guidance.  The main pedestrian and cycle access would be via an existing PROW 
(footpath ZCHH86) which extends to the farm track onto Priors Road to the north and 
Harp Hill to the south.   This right of way will be upgraded to adoptable standards, the 
specification for which will be dealt with at technical design stage.  Condition 14 of the 
outline consent requires the footpath and cycleway link between Priors Road and the 
development area to be implemented prior to occupation of any dwelling on site, and in 
accordance with details to the submitted and approved by the LPA. 

6.93 The HA concludes therefore ‘that there would not be an unacceptable impact on Highway 
Safety or a severe impact on congestion. There are no justifiable grounds on which an 
objection could be maintained’. 

6.94 Note also that Condition 15 of the outline consent sets out various dwelling occupation 
triggers for the implementation of the agreed off-site highway improvement works which 
are also subject to a s106 obligation. 

Page 23



6.95 The Parish Council and a number of local residents have raised concerns over the 
amount of visitor parking shown.  MfGS sets out that visitor car parking should be 
provided at a ratio of 1 space per 5 dwellings. In addition, unallocated parking should be 
provided for 10% of four bed dwellings. The proposed development consists of 250 
dwellings including 31 four-bed dwellings. On this basis, a total of 50 visitor parking 
spaces are required and an additional 4 unallocated spaces based on the 10% provision 
for the four bed dwellings. Therefore a total of 54 unallocated/visitor spaces are provided 
plus 2 additional unallocated on-street parking spaces adjacent to plots 34 and 47. 

6.96 Local residents have also raised concerns over the traffic and congestion impacts of the 
proposed development, affecting Harp Hill, the Prior Road junctions, Greenway Lane and 
Six Ways junction on London Road.  These matters were considered by the appeal 
Inspector when determining the outline planning permission and cannot be re-examined at 
REM stage. 

6.97 Sustainability  

6.98 Paragraphs 148 and 150 of the NPPF require the planning system to ‘…support 
renewable and low carbon energy and associated infrastructure’. New development 
should ‘avoid increased vulnerability to the range of impacts arising from climate change’ 
and in areas which are vulnerable risks should be managed ‘through suitable adaptation 
measures, including through the planning of green infrastructure’. Similarly, greenhouse 
gas emissions can be reduced through the location, design and orientation of new 
development.  

6.99 NPPF paragraph 152 states that: 

‘The planning system should support the transition to a low carbon future in a changing 
climate, taking full account of flood risk and coastal change. It should help to: shape 
places in ways that contribute to radical reductions in greenhouse gas emissions, 
minimise vulnerability and improve resilience; encourage the reuse of existing resources, 
including the conversion of existing buildings; and support renewable and low carbon 
energy and associated infrastructure’ 

6.100 NPPF paragraph 154 b) goes on to state that new development should be planned for in 
ways that ‘can help to reduce greenhouse gas emissions, such as through its location, 
orientation and design. Any local requirements for the sustainability of buildings should 
reflect the Government’s policy for national technical standards’. 

6.101 Policy SD3 of the JCS sets out the requirements for achieving sustainable design and 
construction. Development proposals should aim to increase energy efficiency, minimise 
waste and avoid environmental pollution and in doing so will be expected to achieve 
national standards and be adaptable to climate change in relation to design, layout, siting, 
orientation and associated external spaces. An Energy Statement must be submitted for 
all major planning applications which should indicate the methods used to calculate 
predicted annual energy demand and associated carbon emissions. Similarly, Policy INF5 
of the JCS sets out that proposals for the generation of energy from renewable resources 
or low carbon energy development will be supported. 

6.102 The Cheltenham Climate Change SPD (adopted June 2022), sets out a strategy for 
decarbonising buildings over the next decade. For residential development there is an 
opportunity to improve the environmental performance of buildings through the inclusion 
of technologies and features such as photovoltaics, heat recovery, permeable (or minimal) 
hard surfaces, fabric first design approach, insulation renewable and appropriately 
sourced materials, alternative heating systems (heat pump) and thoughtful kitchen design. 

6.103 The comprehensive Energy and Sustainability Statement submitted to discharge 
Condition 9 sets out  the applicant’s proposed approach to sustainable design and 

Page 24



measures to reduce carbon emissions.  It should be pointed out that the outline planning  
application was determined prior to the adoption of the above SPD and therefore a 
Sustainability Statement/Checklist in direct response to the SPD was not provided at that 
time.   However, the REM submitted statement aims to achieve standards close to those 
listed in the SPD.  

6.104 Condition 9 of 20/01069/OUT requires the Energy and Sustainability Statement to 
demonstrate an improvement on the energy efficiency of the scheme over and above the 
Building Regulations in place at the time of the outline planning permission; albeit there is 
a requirement for the statement to include measures to reduce impact on climate change 
(including consideration of heat proofing, construction techniques, building fabric, solar 
gain, natural lighting, shading, orientation, water retention, flood mitigation and 
landscaping).   

6.105 With the above in mind, the proposed low carbon measures outlined within the submitted 
Energy and Sustainability Statement (in summary) are as follows: 

•   Fabric first approach to sustainable construction 

•   Improvements in insulation specification and reduction in thermal bridging 

•   Water usage reduced in accordance with Part G of Building Regulations (flow 
restrictors, low use appliances selected) 

•   Passive design methods 

•   All new dwellings to be served by Air Source Heat Pumps and Hot Water Pumps 

•   Solar PV installed on roofs where appropriate 

•   EV charging points provided for all new dwellings (shared facility for flats) 

•   All homes to meet minimum requirements of Part L of 2021 Building Regulations – 
therefore resulting in a 31% reduction over Part L 2013 9in force at the time of the 
outline permission).  The proposed low and renewable measures proposed would 
deliver a reduction of 256,754 kgCO2/year over Part L 2021 equating to an 
improvement of 65.77% and around 76% over Part L 2013. 

•   Some dwellings will be constructed beyond the implementation of the Future 
Homes Standard (anticipated in 2025), resulting in a 75-80% reduction in CO2 
emissions. 

6.106 These measures are clearly welcomed and will significantly reduce energy demand and 
CO2 emissions beyond Building Regulations Part L, exceeding the requirements of the 
outline permission and Condition 9.   

6.107 Notwithstanding the requirements of Condition 9, conditions are added which require the 
submission and approval of details for the ASHPs, solar PV installations and EV charging 
points, and their subsequent implementation prior to first occupation of the relevant 
dwellings. Further conditions are included that require the development to be carried out 
as a ‘no gas’ served site and in general accordance with the measures set out within the 
Statement.   

 

6.108 Other considerations  

Page 25



6.109 Heritage and Conservation 
 

6.110 The application site lies adjacent to the grade II listed Hewlett’s Reservoir; the walls and 
embankment of the reservoir forming part of the south east site boundary. There are a 
number of heritage assets located within the reservoir complex including two underground 
reservoirs, an octagonal pavilion, Cotswold stone gate piers, cast iron gates and brick 
boundary walls and all are grade II listed. The adjoining Stone Lodge which faces onto 
Harp Hill is also listed due to its association with Hewlett’s reservoir. 

 
6.111 Other notable heritage assets are located nearby but are not considered to be significantly 

affected by the proposals and these include (Scheduled Monument) Hewlett’s Camp to 
the south, the grade II listed Bouncer’s Lane Cemetery Park and Garden and Cemetery 
Chapels. 
 

6.112 JCS policy SD8 requires both designated and undesignated heritage assets and their 
settings to be conserved and enhanced as appropriate to their significance, and is 
consistent with paragraph 197 of the NPPF that advises that in determining planning 
applications, local planning authorities should take into account:  

 
• the desirability of sustaining and enhancing the significance of heritage assets and 
putting them to viable uses consistent with their conservation;  
• the positive contribution that conservation of heritage assets can make to 
sustainable communities including their economic vitality; and  
• the desirability of new development making a positive contribution to local character 
and distinctiveness.  

 
6.113 Additionally, Section 66(1) of the Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 

1990 requires the Local Planning Authority (LPA), in considering whether to grant 
planning permission, to have special regard to the desirability of preserving the building or 
its setting, or any features of special architectural or historic interest which it possesses. 

 
6.114 The Council’s Conservation officer has reviewed the proposed reserved matters proposals 

which are considered to be in accordance with the terms of the outline planning 
permission. No objection is therefore raised to the works on heritage grounds. 

 
6.115 The County Archaeologist, similarly has no further observations or requests for 

archaeological investigation. 
 

6.116 The application site contains surviving ridge and furrow field patterns in the majority of the 
field parcels.  This is a characteristic landscape feature (and non-designated heritage 
asset) of this part of the AONB.   

 
6.117 Although the majority of ridge and furrow features would be lost as a result of the 

proposed development, the retention of surviving ridge and furrow within the proposed 
public open space at the southern end of the site must be safeguarded through 
appropriate hard and soft landscaping and their future management within this area.  As 
such, Condition 25 (g) requires the submission of details of ridge and furrow retention, 
planting and maintenance.   

 
6.118 The proposals are considered to retain ridge and furrow features where practicable.  Hard 

surfaced footpaths have been kept to a minimum within the POS, with the remainder 
being mown paths only.  The Council’s Landscape Architect and Trees officer consider 
the proposals for soft landscaping and tree planting within the POS acceptable.  The 
future general landscape management of this area is dealt with via s106 obligations, 
Condition 23 and an additional suggested condition set out below. 
 

6.119 Drainage/Flood Risk 

Page 26



6.120 The application has been assessed in accordance with JCS Policies INF2 and section 14 
of the NPPF; paragraph 167 setting out that when determining any planning applications, 
local planning authorities should ensure that flood risk is not increased elsewhere and 
where appropriate, applications should be supported by a site-specific flood-risk 
assessment. 

6.121 The application site is located in Flood Zone 1 (lowest risk of fluvial flooding).   An ordinary 
watercourse/ditches (not a main river) runs adjacent to the northern site boundary and 
there are two internal ditches and a surface water drain within the site. 
 

6.122 Environment Agency mapping indicates that the north east section of the site is at risk of 
reservoir flooding (from Severn Trent Water Ltd Hewlett’s Reservoir). Also according to 
EA mapping and the surface water management plan produced for the Priors Oakley 
Flood Alleviation Scheme led by the County Council, there is some risk of surface water 
flooding to the site during the 1 in 100 year rainfall event. However, there is no known 
historical reported surface water flooding of this site but properties downstream of the site 
and Wymans Brook have experienced flooding historically. The site could also be affected 
by overland flows onto the site from elevated land to the south east.  

6.123 The outline planning application was accompanied by a Flood Risk Assessment (FRA) 
and Drainage Strategy and matters relating to hydrology, drainage and flood risk were set 
out in Section 12 of the Environmental Statement accompanying the outline application. 
The FRA concluded that the development would be safe from flooding.  Flood risk would 
not be increased downstream and that the overall flood risk in the area would be reduced. 
The use of SuDS as mitigation would manage and reduce flood risk and would ensure 
that there is no adverse effect on water quality. The FRA identified a minor beneficial 
effect of the proposed development on flooding and surface water drainage.  Similarly, 
subject to Severn Trent approval, foul sewerage could be accommodated and any effect 
on existing sewerage infrastructure would be negligible. 

6.124 At outline stage the LLFA advised that subject to subsequent approval of a detailed 
drainage strategy, to include appropriate on site attenuation for events with flow 
probabilities of up to and including the 1 in 100 year event and the incorporation of 
sustainable drainage and hierarchy principles (SuDS) to balance surface water run-off to 
Greenfield run-off rates, no objection was raised. 

6.125 Conditions 10 and 11 of the outline permission require a detailed surface water and foul 
drainage scheme to be approved prior to the commencement of development.  The 
scheme should be in accordance with the principles set out in the FRA and Drainage 
Strategy submitted with the outline application.   

6.126 The REM submission includes details of a drainage strategy and the Local Lead Flood 
Authority (LLFA) has reviewed the information provided. Although the applicant is not 
seeking through REM details to discharge Condition 10 in full, the LLFA has no objection 
to the layout proposed to satisfy the reserved matters of the outline planning permission.   
However, the LLFA note that the details submitted (to discharge condition 10 in full) do not 
include a timetable for implementation.  The LLFA suggest that, to prevent flood risk to 
new properties at the lower end of the slope, the SUDS features and any other drainage 
required on the lower ground is put in place prior to the commencement of other site 
works.  This matter has been discussed with the applicant who has confirmed that a 
separate application to discharge Condition 10 will be submitted prior to commencement 
of development.  The timetable for implementation will be dealt with and agreed with the 
LLFA at this stage. 

6.127 The Council’s drainage officer has also reviewed the scheme and comments that the 
hydrological aspects of the drainage scheme are acceptable.  However, an updated 
management plan for the drainage scheme and SUDS features (including any new 

Page 27



culverts and land drains if they are not to be adopted by Severn Trent Water) will  need to 
be provided. The management plan should specify who will be responsible for 
maintenance of the surface water drainage assets and SUDS features.  These matters 
can also be adequately dealt with through the discharge of Conditions 10 and 11. 

6.128 No response was received from Severn Trent Water.  However, the applicant is not 
seeing to discharge condition 11 at this stage which deals with foul water drainage 
proposals. 

6.129 In light of the above, there are no significant concerns or adverse effects arising from the 
proposed development that would increase fluvial food risk, surface water flood risk on or 
off site or compromise water quality on or off-site. 

6.130 Ecology/Biodiversity/Green Infrastructure 

6.131 Policy SD9 of the JCS seeks the protection and enhancement of ecological networks 
across the JCS area, improved community access for new development to contribute 
positively to biodiversity and geodiversity whilst linking with wider networks of green 
infrastructure. 

6.132 NPPF paragraph 174 seeks through development, the protection and enhancement of 
valued landscapes and sites of biodiversity value and the need to minimise and provide 
net gains for biodiversity and coherent and resilient ecological networks. Paragraph 175 
sets out a mitigation hierarchy in terms of retained and enhanced environmental features 
that can be incorporated into a development proposal. 

6.133 The REM is in general accordance with the approved parameter plans (and AIM) of the 
outline approval and in some places offers a betterment in terms of green infrastructure 
and biodiversity provision, particularly in The Glade area, which includes the larger of the 
children’s play area (LEAP).  Pre-application discussions have left little doubt that, despite 
the number of dwellings proposed and the challenges faced by site topography, the 
scheme has been landscaped led.   
 

6.134 It is evident that the proposals have, where achievable, sought to retain as much of the 
existing landscape features of the site and incorporate retained individual TPO trees and 
groups of trees and shrubs to create distinct character areas within the site.  Furthermore, 
the proposed SUDs features at the northern end of the site, offer biodiversity and 
ecological benefits in addition to the visual and recreational enhancements to these areas 
within the development.  

 
6.135 The Council’s ecology advisor (EO) has reviewed the BNG report, BNG metric and 

landscaping plans. The EO confirms that positive BNG values for area habitats and linear 
habitats are achieved and these exceed the 10% minimum and appear to be achievable 
based on the BNG calculations and the current landscape plan. 

6.136 The submitted updated site surveys have also been reviewed.  The EO notes that several 
trees with low bat roost potential (T7, T65) will require removal. These trees should be 
subject to aerial inspection by a bat licensed ecologist prior to removal. Should bats be 
found to be present then it will be necessary to apply to Natural England for an EPS 
mitigation licence (a copy of which should be sent to the LPA once received).  

6.137 The EO recommends other precautionary measures in respect of well used mammal 
paths leading into the scrub in the north-western part of the site. The detail of such 
measures are included in a subsequent amended Briefing Note which has been agreed by 
the EO.   

Page 28



6.138 Note also that Condition 23 of the outline planning permission requires the submission 
and approval of hedgehog tunnels and the approval of any modifications to the CEMP and 
LEMP as a result of requirements of a protected species license.   

6.139 Habitats Regulations Assessment/Cotswold Beechwoods Special Area of Conservation 
(SAC) 

6.140 Although not strictly a consideration of this reserved matters application, Policy BG1 of the 
Cheltenham Plan states that development will not be permitted where it would be likely to 
lead directly or indirectly to an adverse effect upon the integrity of the European Site 
network (alone or in combination), and the effects cannot be mitigated. 

6.141 Therefore, in order to retain the integrity of the Cotswold Beechwoods Special Area of 
Conservation (SAC) all development within the borough that leads to a net increase in 
dwellings will be required to mitigate any adverse effects. 

6.142 However, the outline planning application was received and validated prior to 1 November 
2022, this being the date after which the Cotswolds Beechwoods SAC Mitigation Strategy 
of May 2022 should apply to planning applications; as stated by Natural England in its 
letter to Councils of 9 September 2022.  SAC mitigation in the form of a financial 
contribution is not therefore being sought for this development.  

6.143 Notwithstanding the above, Section 7 of the ES covered the ecological implications of the 
proposed development and included a Preliminary Ecological Appraisal and Habitats 
Regulations Assessment (HRA) (for the Cotswold Beechwoods Special Area of 
Conservation (SAC) and Severn Estuary SPA/Ramsar), as requested by Natural England 
and in accordance with the Conservation of Habitats and Species Regulations 2017. The 
applicant’s shadow HRA considered the recreational pressures on the SAC arising from 
the proposed development and concluded that, given the distance between the 
application site and Beechwoods and the number of other recreational opportunities 
available within and closer to the site, there should not be any significant effects on the 
Beechwoods SAC, either alone or in combination with other planned development. In 
carrying out its ‘appropriate HRA assessment’, the sHRA was adopted by the Council.  

6.144 Appropriate SAC mitigation would be sought via Homeowner Information Packs (HIP) 
provided to all first occupiers of the proposed dwellings. Accordingly, Condition 30 
requires the HIP to reference alternative (off site) recreation opportunities and website 
information for the Cotswold National Landscpae.  Furthermore, the proposed 
development includes significant on-site POS and recreation opportunities, which offer 
further mitigation for SAC recreational pressures. 

6.145 Trees and Landscaping 

6.146 Policies GI1 and GI2 of the Cheltenham Plan seek to retain, protect and minimise the loss 
of trees through development. 

6.147 The application site contains a number of TPO’d trees which include the majority of the 
veteran and mature oak trees within the site. There are also other trees and mature 
hedgerow within the site, which form parts of the existing field parcels and site 
boundaries. 

6.148 The Council’s Trees Officer (TO) has undertaken a thorough review of the proposed tree 
planting proposals and has considered associated elements of the soft landscaping 
scheme. The TO’s comments are set out in full in the consultation section of this report.   

6.149 The TO was also heavily involved in all pre-application discussions and associated site 
visits.  The proposed layout responds to the tree impact related concerns raised during 
this pre-application process, in particular eliminating development within root protection 

Page 29



areas (RPAs), no-dig construction methods for any ground works within RPAs, creating 
suitable buffers and distance between the larger trees and proposed dwellings, avoidance 
of all year round shading of dwellings and the long term protection of the Veteran 
‘destination’ oak tree within the Oak Tree Neighbourhood. 

6.150 Whilst the revised scheme addresses the majority of the tree related concerns, the TO 
maintains their concerns over the protection of the veteran ‘destination’ oak tree which is 
of high amenity value, as an existing and proposed site feature.  Therefore, to ensure the 
long term health and protection of this prominent feature, public access to the area around 
and under the tree canopy must be prevented. Unfortunately, the revised landscape 
strategy has not incorporated the TO’s suggested ‘buffer’ (prickly) planting around the 
tree.  The proposed hornbeam/beech hedge, nor the proposed 'Cheshire’ style fencing 
surrounding the tree are considered sufficiently robust to prevent unwelcome intrusion.  
The TO recommends alternative prickly/thorny species which should be planted at the 
start of the build process to enable establishment upon first occupation of the dwellings. 

6.151 The location of the informal play area (LAP) adjacent to this oak tree is also of concern.  
Although the LAP is outside the target area for possible branch failure, its proximity may 
encourage congregation in this area and therefore potential intrusion into the oak tree 
enclosure and/or requests for pruning. 

6.152 In light of the above outstanding concerns, a condition has been added requiring the 
submission of a revised landscaping and boundary treatment scheme for this oak tree.  
The scheme will also need to include suitable signage within the area to prevent the 
residents/public from entering the enclosure.  A condition is also added requiring a revised 
scheme for the layout and play equipment to be provided within the Oak Tree 
Neighbourhood LAP. 

6.153 The applicant has also been made aware of the TO’s comments in relation to all year 
round shading caused by trees to some of the proposed dwellings.  The majority of the 
associated trees are TPO protected oak trees which retain their leaves longer than other 
species.  Whilst the Council would maintain control of pruning through the TPO application 
process, the Council would not welcome requests from homeowners to significantly prune 
these protected trees.  

6.154 The other tree related outstanding matters are noted and have either been addressed 
and/or are not of significant, overarching concern. 

6.155 Public Sector Equalities Duty (PSED) 

6.156 As set out in the Equalities Act 2010, all public bodies, in discharging their functions must 
have “due regard” to this duty. There are three main aims: 

• Removing or minimising disadvantages suffered by people due to their protected 
characteristics; 

• Taking steps to meet the needs of people with certain protected characteristics where 
these are different from the needs of other people; and 

• Encouraging people with certain protected characteristics to participate in public life or in 
other activities where participation is disproportionately low. 

6.157 Whilst there is no absolute requirement to fully remove any disadvantage, the duty is to 
have “regard to” and remove OR minimise disadvantage and in considering the merits of 
this planning application the planning authority has taken into consideration the 
requirements of the PSED. 

6.158 In the context of the above PSED duties, this proposal is considered to be acceptable. 

Page 30



 

7. CONCLUSION AND RECOMMENDATION 

7.1 The principle of redeveloping this site for residential purposes and the suitability of the site 
to accommodate up to 250 dwellings has already been established with the grant of 
outline planning permission in October 2022.  The detail of the reserved matters of that 
approval must be in general accordance with the approved Parameter Plans and specific 
elements of the Alternative Illustrative Master Plan (AIM) of the outline planning 
application. 

7.2 The details submitted in respect of the following reserved matters have been found to be 
acceptable: access, layout, scale, appearance and landscaping. The proposals are in 
general conformity with the approved parameter plans and relevant parts of the AIM and 
where there are slight deviations, there are sound and acceptable reasons for the 
adjustments made. 

7.3 The potential for significant harm to the amenities of occupiers of neighbouring properties 
and those of future occupiers of the development would be minimal. Similarly, the 
Highway Authority and LLFA raise no objection to the reserved matters details subject to 
conditions and the subsequent discharge of other conditions attached to the outline 
permission.   

7.4 Section 38(6) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 requires that 
applications for development must be determined in accordance with the development 
plan, unless material considerations indicate otherwise. 

7.5 The relevant policies of the development plan currently in force are out of date due to a 
shortfall in the five-year supply of housing land. The proposal has therefore been 
assessed against the guidance contained within the NPPF. Paragraph 11(d) of the NPPF 
applies a presumption in favour of sustainable development unless:- 

i) the application of policies in this Framework that protect areas or assets of particular 
importance provides a clear reason for refusing the development proposed; or 

(ii) any adverse impacts of doing so would significantly and demonstrably outweigh the 
benefits, when assessed against the policies in this framework taken as a whole. 

7.6 Officers have taken account of the social, economic and environmental benefits of the 
proposals and have applied the policies in the NPPF that protect the relevant areas or 
assets of particular importance, those being the AONB and designated heritage assets of 
Hewlett’s Reservoir.  In accordance with NPPF paragraph 11(d), the ‘tilted balance’ in 
favour of sustainable development is engaged in this case and there are no other adverse 
impacts arising from the proposals that would significantly outweigh the benefits of the 
scheme and substantiate a refusal. 

7.7 The recommendation is therefore to grant planning permission for the reserved matters 
subject to the following suggested conditions.  

7.8 At the time of writing, the wording and scope of the below suggested conditions (including 
any pre-commencement conditions) are still being discussed with the applicant.  
Confirmation of the final agreed list of conditions will be provided by way of an update 
report prior to the Committee meeting.  

8. CONDITIONS / INFORMATIVES  
 
 

Page 31



 1 The development shall be begun not later than the expiration of two years from the date 
of this decision. 

  
 Reason:  To accord with the provisions of Section 92 of the Town and Country Planning 

Act 1990, as amended by Section 51 of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 
2004. 

 
 2 The planning permission hereby granted shall be carried out in accordance with the 

approved plans listed in Schedule 1 of this decision notice.  
  
 Reason: For the avoidance of doubt and in the interests of proper planning. 
 
 3 Affordable housing shall be provided on the site in accordance with the approved plans 

and in accordance with the terms of the signed s106 agreement.  
  
 Reason: To ensure that an appropriate mix of affordable housing is provided, having 

regard to adopted policy SD12 of the Joint Core Strategy (2017). 
 

 4 Sample panels of all facing and roofing materials of at least one square metre each, 
shall be provided on site to illustrate the proposed palette of materials. Prior to 
commencement of any above ground works, the sample panels and an accompanying 
written specification of the proposed facing and roofing materials shall be approved in 
writing by the Local Planning Authority and thereafter retained on site for the duration of 
the construction period.  

 
           The sample panels shall demonstrate the proposed colour, texture and finish of the 

external facing materials to be used for all proposed dwellings/buildings and shall 
provide details of the proposed bond and pointing profile of all external brickwork.  

 
           All dwellings/buildings shall be constructed in accordance with the approved material 

details. 
 
           Reason: In the interests of the character and appearance of the area, having regard to 

adopted policy D1 of the Cheltenham Plan (2020) and adopted policies SD4 and SD7 of 
the Joint Core Strategy (2017). 

 
 5       Notwithstanding the submitted details, prior to the implementation of any hard surfaces 

within the site, including driveways, parking and turning areas, footways and patios, 
details shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. All 
new hard surfacing areas shall be permeable or drain to a permeable area and shall be 
carried out in accordance with the approved details prior to first occupation of the 
dwellings (or phase of development) to which the materials relate. 

 
           Reason:  In the interests of the character and appearance of the area, having regard to 

adopted policy D1 of the Cheltenham Plan (2020) and adopted policy SD4 of the Joint 
Core Strategy (2017). 

 
 6         Notwithstanding the submitted details, prior to the implementation of any new boundary 

treatments, including boundary walls, railings, fences or other means of enclosure, 
details shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. 
The boundary treatments shall thereafter be implemented in accordance with the 
approved details prior to first occupation of the dwellings to which the boundary 
treatment (or phase of development) relates. 

 
           Reason:  In the interests of the character and appearance of the area and residential 

amenity, having regard to adopted policies D1 and SL1 of the Cheltenham Plan (2020) 
and adopted policies SD4, SD7 and SD14 of the Joint Core Strategy (2017). 

Page 32



 
 7 Notwithstanding the submitted details, prior to the commencement of development and 

in accordance with the principles set out in the approved Landscape and Environmental 
Management Plan (LEMP) (March 2021), and the Management Measures set out at 
section 10 of the approved Landscape Design Statement (November 2023), a detailed 
landscape and tree management and maintenance scheme (LTMMS) for the short (5-
year), medium (10-year), and long (30-year) term, informed by a comprehensive tree 
survey of the site, shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the local planning 
authority. Any risk management and maintenance work relating to retained trees, and 
ongoing management provisions for veteran trees that are identified to be required, 
shall be carried out in accordance with the approved LTMMS and undertaken in 
accordance with BS 3998:2010 - Tree Work Recommendations. 

      
           Reason: In the interests of the character and appearance of the area, having regard to 

policies D1, GI2 and GI3 of the Cheltenham Plan (2020) and adopted policies SD4 and 
INF3 of the Joint Core Strategy (2017). 

 
 8        Notwithstanding the details provided within the Landscape Design Statement, prior to 

the commencement of development within the site areas of Phase 3 (Oak Tree 
Gardens) and Phase 5 (The Glade), as shown on the approved phasing plan, a detailed 
scheme and specification for the Oak Tree Gardens Local Area for Play (LAP) and The 
Glade Local Equipped Area for Play (LEAP) shall be submitted to and approved in 
writing by the local planning authority. No more than 50% of the dwellings within 
Phases 3 and 5 shall be occupied until the schemes have been fully implemented in 
accordance with the approved details and made available for use. 

 
           Reason:  To safeguard the existing tree(s) in the interests of visual amenity, having 

regard to adopted policies GI2 and GI3 of the Cheltenham Plan (2020). 
 
  9       Notwithstanding the submitted details and prior to the commencement of development, 

a detailed scheme for railings/gates, landscaping (tree and/or shrub planting) within the 
curtilage of the Veteran Oak tree within Phase 3, Oak Tree Gardens shall be submitted 
to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority.  The scheme shall specify 
species, density, planting size, layout, protection, aftercare and maintenance.  The 
scheme approved shall be carried out in the first planting season following occupation 
of no more than 50% of the dwellings within the Phase 3, unless otherwise first agreed 
in writing by the local planning authority.   The landscaping shall be maintained for 30 
years after planting and should any landscaping be removed, die, be severely damaged 
or become seriously diseased within this period it shall be replaced with other tree 
and/or shrub planting as originally required to be planted. 

 
           Reason:  To safeguard the existing tree(s) in the interests of visual amenity, having 

regard to adopted policies GI2 and GI3 of the Cheltenham Plan (2020). 
 
10       Notwithstanding the submitted details and prior to commencement of development, full 

details of all proposed street tree planting, root protection systems, a future 
management plan, and the proposed times of planting, shall be submitted to and 
approved in writing by the local planning authority.  All street tree planting shall be 
carried out in accordance with the details approved. 

 
           Reason: To ensure the long term health of the street trees in the interests of the 

amenity and environmental quality of the locality, having regard to adopted policy SD4 
of the JCS (2017) and adopted policies D1 and GI3 of the Cheltenham Plan (2020). 

 
 11 The following elements of the scheme shall not be installed, implemented or carried out 

unless in accordance with details which shall have been submitted to and approved in 
writing by the Local Planning Authority: 

Page 33



 1.  Porch canopies 
 2.  Rainwater goods 
 3.  Garage doors 
           4.  Electric vehicle charging points (including appearance, location and type and a site  
           layout plan to show location of EV charging points for all proposed dwellings) to accord 

with the relevant Council standards 
           5.  External bin stores 
            
   
 Reason: In the interests of visual amenity, having regard to policies D1 and S1 of the 

Cheltenham Plan (2020) and adopted policies SD4 and SD14 of the Joint Core Strategy 
(2017 

 
 12 The design and profile of all new windows and external doors (including cills, heads and 

reveals, materials, finish and colour) shall be carried out in accordance with details 
which shall have first been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning 
Authority prior to their installation.  

  
 Reason: In the interests of the character and appearance of the area, having regard to 

policy D1 of the Cheltenham Plan (2020) and policy SD4 of the Joint Core Strategy 
(2017). 

 
 13 Notwithstanding the provisions of The Town and Country Planning (General Permitted 

Development) (England) Order 2015 (or any order revoking and/or re-enacting that 
order with or without modification), no additional windows, doors and openings shall be 
formed in dwellings at Plots 215 and 216 (as shown on Drawing No 1002 P6) without 
express planning permission. 

 
           Reason:  Any further openings require detailed consideration to safeguard the privacy 

of adjacent properties, having regard to adopted policy SL1 of the Cheltenham Plan 
(2020) and adopted policy SD14 of the Joint Core Strategy (2017). 

 
14       Prior to the first occupation of the development the sustainable practices and low 

carbon emission features outlined in the (AES) Energy and Sustainability Statement 
dated September 2023 shall be implemented in full, unless otherwise first agreed in 
writing by the local planning authority.  

  
 Reason: To ensure that the proposed development addresses climate change, having 

regard to policy INF5 of the Joint Core Strategy (2017) and the adopted Supplementary 
Document - Cheltenham Climate Change (2022). 

 
15 The proposed solar PV panels to serve dwellings and apartment buildings shall be fully 

installed and operational prior to first occupation of the relevant dwelling or apartment 
building and in accordance with details (to include their building location, operation, 
design, appearance and positioning on the roof) which shall have been submitted to 
and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority.   

 
           Reason: In the interests of the character, appearance and amenities of the area and 

reducing carbon emissions, having regard to adopted policies D1 and SL1 of the 
Cheltenham Plan (2020), adopted policies SD3, SD4 and SD14 of the Joint Core 
Strategy (2017) and guidance set out in Cheltenham Climate Change SPD (2022). 

 
16       Details of the type/model, location and predicted noise levels of the proposed air source 

heat pumps (ASHPs) shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the local 
Planning authority.  An ASHP(s) shall be installed prior to first occupation of each 
dwelling or apartment building hereby approved and in accordance with the details 
approved.   

Page 34



 
           Reason: To safeguard the amenities of future occupiers and neighbouring properties 

and to reduce carbon emissions, having regard to adopted policies D1 and SL1 of the 
Cheltenham Plan (2020), adopted policies SD3, SD4 and SD14 of the Joint Core 
Strategy (2017) and guidance set out in Cheltenham Climate Change SPD. 

 
17     Where not shown on the approved plans, secure and covered cycle storage shall be 

provided for the apartment buildings in accordance with details which shall have first 
been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The cycle 
storage shall thereafter be retained available for such use in accordance with the 
approved details at all times.  

 
           Reason: To ensure the adequate provision and availability of cycle parking, so as to 

ensure that opportunities for sustainable transport modes have been taken up, having 
regard adopted policy INF1 of the Joint Core Strategy (2017). 

 
18    Notwithstanding the submitted details, prior to the commencement of above ground 

works, full details of all retaining wall structures (to include but not limited to, section 
drawings, elevations, materials) shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the 
Local Planning Authority. The retaining wall structures shall thereafter be implemented 
in accordance with the approved details. 

 
           Reason:  In the interests of the character and appearance of the area and residential 

amenity, having regard to adopted policies D1 and SL1 of the Cheltenham Plan (2020) 
and adopted policies SD4, SD7 and SD14 of the Joint Core Strategy (2017). 

 

INFORMATIVES 
 
 1 In accordance with the requirements of The Town and Country Planning (Development 

Management Procedure) (England) Order 2015 and the provisions of the NPPF, the 
Local Planning Authority adopts a positive and proactive approach to dealing with 
planning applications and where possible, will seek solutions to any problems that arise 
when dealing with a planning application with the aim of fostering the delivery of 
sustainable development.  

  
 At the heart of this positive and proactive approach is the authority's pre-application 

advice service for all types of development. Further to this however, the authority 
publishes guidance on the Council's website on how to submit planning applications 
and provides full and up-to-date information in relation to planning applications to 
enable the applicant, and other interested parties, to track progress. 

  
 In this instance, the authority sought revisions to the design and layout of the proposed 

development in the interests of the character and appearance of the area and 
landscape qualities of the AONB. 

  
 Following these negotiations, the application now constitutes sustainable development 

and has therefore been approved in a timely manner. 
 
2      The development hereby approved includes the carrying out of work on the adopted 

highway. The applicant/developer is advised that before undertaking work on the 
adopted highway they must enter into a highway agreement under Section 278 of the 
Highways Act 1980 with the County Council, which would specify the works and the 
terms and conditions under which they are to be carried out. Contact the Highway 
Authority’s Legal Agreements Development Management Team at 
highwaylegalagreements@gloucestershire.gov.uk allowing sufficient time for the 
preparation and signing of the Agreement. The applicant/developer will be required to 
pay fees to cover the Council’s costs in undertaking the following actions: 

Page 35



 

• Drafting the Agreement 

• A Monitoring Fee 

• Approving the highway details 

• Inspecting the highway works 
 
           Planning permission is not permission to work in the highway. A Highway Agreement 

under Section 278 of the Highways Act 1980 must be completed, the bond secure and 
the Highway Authority’s technical approval and inspection fees paid before any 
drawings will be considered and approved. 

 
3     The development hereby approved includes the construction of new highway. To be 

considered for adoption and ongoing maintenance at the public expense it must be 
constructed to the Highway Authority’s standards and terms for the phasing of the 
development. The applicant/developer is advised that they must enter into a highway 
agreement under Section 38 of the Highways Act 1980. The development will be bound 
by Sections 219 to 225 (the Advance Payments Code) of the Highways Act 1980. 
Contact the Highway Authority’s Legal Agreements Development Management Team at 
highwaylegalagreements@gloucestershire.gov.uk. You will be required to pay fees to 
cover the Council’s costs in undertaking the following actions: 

 

• Drafting the Agreement 

• Set up costs 

• Approving the highway details 

• Inspecting the highway works 
  
           The applicant/developer should enter into discussions with statutory undertakers as 

soon as possible to co-ordinate the laying of services under any new highways to be 
adopted by the Highway Authority.  The Highway Authority’s technical approval 
inspection fees must be paid before any drawings will be considered and approved. 
Once technical approval has been granted a Highway Agreement under Section 38 of 
the Highways Act 1980 must be completed and the bond secured. 

 
   
 

 

Page 36



Consultations Appendix 
 

Landscape Architect 
6th November 2023 – Comments provided separately at end of report 
 
Urban Design 

         27th October 2023 – Comments provided separately at end of report 
 
         Gloucestershire Design Review Panel 
         20th September 2023 - Comments provided separately at end of report 

 
GCC Highways Planning Liaison Officer 
8th November 2023 – 
Gloucestershire County Council, the Highway Authority acting in its role as Statutory 
Consultee has undertaken a full assessment of this planning application. Based on the 
appraisal of the development proposals the Highways Development Management Manager 
on behalf of the County Council, under Article 18 of the Town and Country Planning 
(Development Management Procedure)(England) Order, 2015 has no objection subject to 
conditions. The justification for this decision is provided below. 
 
The Highway Authority (HA) has considered the reserved matters application and is content 
that the quantum of car parking and cycle parking provision is consistent with the guidance 
set out in Manual for Gloucestershire Streets (MfGS). The requirement to provide for EV 
charging is conveyed through the building regulations approved document S. 
 
The proposed layout is acceptable and will be subject to further scrutiny at technical design 
stage. There are areas within the proposed layout that will likely need to be revisited during 
S38 proceedings, such as the location of the proposed pedestrian corridor along the 
southern end of the road that serves dwellings 228 to 250, which appears outside a natural 
desire line for pedestrians walking to the west; the forward visibility along the bend between 
the parking spaces for plots 242 and 234 is obstructed by the proposed trees and will likely 
result in an unacceptably short forward-visibility splay or this green area being dedicated to 
the HA. In addition, the pedestrian walkway to the south of the visitor parking spaces to the 
east of plot 1 will necessitate a crossing point. 
 
Vehicular access 
Access to the site will be made via Harp Hill, within an area approved on a parameters plan 
that accompanied the original Outline application ref 20/01069/OUT. The HA is satisfied that 
the revised access location is suitable when achieving the necessary visibility splays in 
accordance with the sign posted speed limit of Harp Hill, and the proposed geometry of the 
access accords with the guidance set out in MfGS. 
 
It is worth noting that a number of public representations have been received in respect of 
the traffic impact of the development proposal within the local road network; however, such 
matters have already been considered as part of the aforementioned Outline application that 
was granted planning permission in October 2022 by way of an appeal (ref 
APP/B1605/W/21/3273053). 
 
Pedestrian/cycle access 
The main pedestrian and cycle access to the site is proposed to be made via an existing 
PROW footpath 86 ref ZCH86. The Highway Authority has no objection to the proposal; 
however the right of way will need to be upgraded to an adoptable standard for its use by 
pedestrians and cyclists, and its specifications are largely a matter dealt with during the 
technical design stage. 
 
The Highway Authority has undertaken a robust assessment of the planning application. 
Based on the analysis of the information submitted the Highway Authority concludes that 

Page 37



there would not be an unacceptable impact on Highway Safety or a severe impact on 
congestion. There are no justifiable grounds on which an objection could be maintained. 
 
Conditions 
Conformity with Submitted Details (Multiple Buildings) 
 
The Development hereby approved shall not be occupied until the access, parking and 
turning facilities that that individual building to the nearest public highway has been provided 
as shown on drawing DR A 1002 Rev P1. 
Reason: To ensure conformity with submitted details. 
 
Informatives 
 
Works on the Public Highway 
 
The development hereby approved includes the carrying out of work on the adopted 
highway. You are advised that before undertaking work on the adopted highway you must 
enter into a highway agreement under Section 278 of the Highways Act 1980 with the County 
Council, which would specify the works and the terms and conditions under which they are to 
be carried out. 
 
Contact the Highway Authority’s Legal Agreements Development Management Team at 
highwaylegalagreements@gloucestershire.gov.uk allowing sufficient time for the preparation 
and signing of the Agreement. You will be required to pay fees to cover the Councils costs in 
undertaking the following actions: 
 
Drafting the Agreement 
A Monitoring Fee 
Approving the highway details 
Inspecting the highway works 
 
Planning permission is not permission to work in the highway. A Highway Agreement under 
Section 278 of the Highways Act 1980 must be completed, the bond secured and the 
Highway Authority’s technical approval and inspection fees paid before any drawings will be 
considered and approved. 
 
Highway to be adopted 
 
The development hereby approved includes the construction of new highway. To be 
considered for adoption and ongoing maintenance at the public expense it must be 
constructed to the Highway Authority’s standards and terms for the phasing of the 
development. You are advised that you must enter into a highway agreement under Section 
38 of the Highways Act 1980. The development will be bound by Sections 219 to 225 (the 
Advance Payments Code) of the Highways Act 1980. Contact the Highway Authority’s Legal 
Agreements Development Management Team at  
highwaylegalagreements@gloucestershire.gov.uk. You will be required to pay fees to cover 
the Councils cost's in undertaking the following actions: 

          
          Drafting the Agreement 

 Set up costs 
 Approving the highway details 
 Inspecting the highway works 

 
You should enter into discussions with statutory undertakers as soon as possible to co-
ordinate the laying of services under any new highways to be adopted by the Highway 
Authority. 
 

Page 38



The Highway Authority’s technical approval inspection fees must be paid before any 
drawings will be considered and approved. Once technical approval has been granted a 
Highway Agreement under Section 38 of the Highways Act 1980 must be completed and the 
bond secured. 
 
Street Trees 
All new streets must be tree lines as required in the National Planning Policy Framework. All 
proposed street trees must be suitable for transport corridors as defined by Trees and 
Design Action Group (TDAG). Details should be provided of what management systems are 
to be included, this includes root protections, watering and ongoing management. Street 
trees are likely to be subject to a commuted sum. 
 
Public Right of Way Impacted 
 
There is a public right of way running through the site, the applicant will be required to 
contact the PROW team to arrange for an official diversion, if the applicant cannot guarantee 
the safety of the path users during the construction phase then they must apply to the PROW 
department on 08000 514514 or highways@gloucestershire.gov.uk to arrange a temporary 
closure of the right of way for the duration of any works. 
 
We advise you to seek your own independent legal advice on the use of the public 
right of way for vehicular traffic. The site is traversed by a public right of way and this 
permission does not authorise additional use by motor vehicles, or obstruction, or diversion 
  
GCC Local Flood Authority (LLFA) 
23rd October 2023 –  
The LLFA has no objection to the layout proposed to satisfy reserved matters of this site. 
 
Supplementary comments on the revised scheme provided 28th and 29th November 2023 – 
 
The only bit that isn’t covered is the timetable for implementation. 
 
The objective of that item is to get a commitment to put the suds and any other drainage 
required in place before other works on site may increase flood risk down the slope. This, we 
have found from experience, is particularly important on developments on slope like this.  
 
By digging the attenuation ponds first and putting in drainage features on the lower slope first 
protection is given to the properties on the lower slope from increased risk of flooding caused 
by exposing ground on higher slopes. Alternatively a strategy of directing overland flows by 
use of straw bail bunds or similar may be implemented until the SuDS are fully functional. 
  
There is nothing in the new layouts that affects drainage, the two attenuation ponds are still 
in the same place. 
 
CBC Drainage and Flooding Officer 
2nd November 2023 –  
Hydrological aspects of the drainage scheme are acceptable and these have also been 
reviewed and accepted by the LLFA. 
  
An updated management plan for the drainage scheme and SUDS features (including any 
new culverts and land drains if they are not to be adopted by Severn Trent Water) still needs 
to be provided as it is not currently included in the drainage compliance note. The 
management plan should specify who will be responsible for maintenance of the surface 
water drainage assets and SUDS features.   
  
Heritage and Conservation 
9th November 2023 –  

Page 39



In terms of the impact on neighbouring heritage assets, the proposed works shown in the 
approval of reserved matters application (access, appearance, landscaping, layout and 
scale) are considered in accordance with the terms of outline planning permission 
20/01069/OUT allowed at appeal. No objection is therefore raised to the works on heritage 
grounds. 
  
Cotswold Conservation Board (Cotswold National Landscape) 
8th November 2023 -  
APPLICATION NO: 23/01691/REM 
DESCRIPTION: Application for approval of Reserved Matters (access, appearance, 
landscaping, layout and scale) following outline planning permission for residential 
development of up to 250 dwellings and associated infrastructure, ancillary facilities, open 
space and landscaping, demolition of existing buildings and creation of a new vehicular 
access from Harp Hill (in accordance with the terms of outline planning permission 
20/01069/OUT). Details are also submitted in relation to conditions 6  (phasing), 9 (Energy 
and Sustainability Statement), 13 (Harp Hill access junction details) and 25 (hard and soft 
landscaping and boundary treatment) of 20/01069/OUT 
 
LOCATION: Oakley Farm, Priors Road, Cheltenham, GL52 5AQ 
Thank you for consulting the Cotswolds National Landscape Board1 (‘the Board’) on this 
proposed  development, which would be located within the Cotswolds National Landscape2. 
 
In reaching its planning decision, the local planning authority (LPA) has a statutory duty to 
have regard  to the purpose of conserving and enhancing the natural beauty of the National 
Landscape.3 The Board  recommends that, in fulfilling this ‘duty of regard’, the LPA should: 
(i) ensure that planning decisions  are consistent with relevant national and local planning 
policy and guidance; and (ii) take into account  the following Board publications4: 
 
• Cotswolds Area of Outstanding Natural Beauty (AONB) Management Plan 2023-2025 
(link); 
• Cotswolds AONB Landscape Character Assessment (link) in this instance, with regards to  
Landscape Character Type (LCT) 2 (Escarpment), which the site is located within, and LCT 7 
(High Wold), which the site is visible from; 
• Cotswolds AONB Landscape Strategy and Guidelines (link) particularly, in this instance 
with regards to LCT 2 (link), including Section 2.1 and LCT 7 (link), including Section 7.1; 
• Cotswolds AONB Local Distinctiveness and Landscape Change (link); 
• Cotswolds Conservation Board Position Statements (link) particularly, in this instance, with  
regards to the Housing Position Statement (link) and its appendices (link), Landscape-Led  
Development Position Statement (link) and its Appendices (link), Tranquillity Position  
Statement (link) and the Dark Skies and Artificial Light Position Statement (link) and its  
appendices (link 1, link 2, link 3).  
 
Having reviewed the applicant’s submission, the Board does not object to this application. 
Please see  Annex 1 below for our further comments. 
 
Without prejudice, should the Council be minded to grant planning permission we would 
recommend  that the implementation of these proposals (in particular the landscaping 
scheme and Landscape and  Tree Management and Maintenance Scheme, CEMP and 
LEMP) should be closely monitored to ensure compliance, in the interests of the 
conservation and enhancement of the landscape and scenic beauty of the Cotswolds 
National Landscape. 
 
ANNEX 1 COTSWOLDS NATIONAL LANDSCAPE CONSULTATION RESPONSE IN 
RELATION TO PLANNING  
APPLICATION 23/01691/REM  
 

Page 40



This application principally seeks approval for the reserved matters detailed within condition 
1 of the outline permission; namely access, layout, appearance, landscaping, and scale.  
We consider each below: 
 
Access 
The vehicular access from Harp Hill shown on the Feasibility Layout (DRWG: P22-
3013_DE_01_C_01) is located within the ‘Highways Corridor Flexibility Zone’ shown on the 
approved Access and Movement Parameter Plan as required by condition 5 of the outline 
planning permission though it differs to the exact position shown on the Alternative Illustrative 
Masterplan as the proposed access point has been moved further west. We acknowledge 
that the route of the access road and roads within the site differ from the Alternative 
Illustrative Masterplan due to engineering issues related to the gradients present on site. 
 
However, it is noted that the length of the access road within the most visually prominent part 
of the site south of the main belt of landscape screening appears to be shorter than that 
shown in the Alternative Illustrative Masterplan and as such could be considered an 
improvement on what is shown within the parameter plans. Therefore, we consider that the 
vehicular access point is acceptable in principle, subject to it meeting the technical 
requirements of condition 13 of the outline planning permission. Though pedestrian and cycle 
connections are proposed on the western boundary, only ‘potential ’pedestrian/cycle 
connections are shown to the north and east, but with little detail provided, the Landscape 
Design Statement states for example that “opportunities for connecting areas of POS [offsite 
at Fairford Road] will be explored”. Ideally this should be addressed as part of this reserved 
matters application to provide certainty over the arrangements, enable an increased level of 
pedestrian permeability through the site and ensure that neighbouring communities to the 
north and east can access the site including the play areas. 
 
Layout  
We consider that the submitted Site Layout is in general accordance with the design and 
layout principles of the Alternative Illustrative Masterplan as required by condition 5 and is a 
high quality scheme. We note the slight variations between the proposed layout and the 
parameter plans in respect to the location of parts of a small number of gardens and part of 
one dwelling, in part due to the need to provide good standard and sized street trees, but 
consider that the proposed development remains “substantially in accordance” with the 
parameter plans as required by the conditions pursuant to the outline permission. 
 
The substantial tree belt that runs east-west across the site is mostly retained and enhanced 
and demarcates the developed part of the site, helping to reduce the visual impact of the 
development in wider views. The main hedgerow running north-south in the western part of 
the site is retained for the majority of its length along with the key large veteran oak tree in 
the western part of the site and overall, the submitted masterplan offers Green Infrastructure 
benefits over and above the Alternative Illustrative Masterplan. The proposed layout also 
addresses the setting of the Reservoir and Pavillion. 
 
We consider that the scheme accords with the relevant advice contained within Section 2.1 
of the Cotswolds AONB Landscape Strategy and Guidelines; for example, it does not 
overwhelm the existing settlement, does not unduly affect settlement character and form and 
is not an overly standardised development layout. It also avoids development that may 
restrict or obscure views to the upper escarpment slopes. By extension we also consider the 
scheme accords with the relevant parts of Cotswolds National Landscape Management Plan 
policies including CE1 (Landscape) and CE11 (Major Development). 
Appearance (including materials)  
 
The proposed materials palette reflects both Cotswold stone and light render commonly seen 
in the local area as well as dark grey slate. We would support the comments of the Council’s  
Urban Design consultant that good quality natural Cotswold stone should be used rather than 
recon stone to ensure that locally distinctive characteristics and relevant ‘special qualities’ of 

Page 41



the National Landscape are reflected in the scheme and that the scheme positively 
addresses the aims of Policy CE3 of the Management Plan and the advice contained within 
the Cotswolds AONB Landscape Strategy & Guidelines. We also agree that this should be 
tested through samples and onsite sample panels to be  
controlled via condition. 
 
Affordable housing units appear to be of a high design standard, use the same materials 
palette as the market housing, generally accord with the requirements of the outline 
permission in terms of size and tenure and are well assimilated with the market dwellings 
within the layout. 
 
Hard and Soft Landscaping  
Condition 25 (including parts a-j) requires the submission of detailed hard and soft 
landscaping and boundary treatment schemes for the residential and open space elements 
of the proposed development. The applicant’s comprehensive Landscape Design Statement 
and accompanying plans  
provide a detailed response to this requirement and, by and large, we agree that the scheme 
is landscape-led. 
 
The retention of much of the existing trees and structural planting in the areas referred to as 
Harp Hill Meadows, the Glade, Oak Meadow Walk and Oakley Farm Green (including all 
veteran or TPO’d trees) and provision of new structural planting in a minimum 15m wide belt 
of native woodland should mitigate the impact of the residential development, helping to 
break up the parcels of built form, especially in the eastern part of the site. The concentration 
of development on the northern half and lower parts of the site and retention of the more 
elevated southern part of the site as grassland meadow (including its ridge and furrow 
features) should help to reduce potential harm to landscape character and minimise the 
impact of the development on views towards and from the Cotswold Escarpment. 
 
We also note that the scheme would result in an estimated 91.87% gain in habitat units and 
65.71% in hedgerow units. 
 
Scale  
We consider the proposed use of split-level dwellings and two-storey dwellings with 
undercroft parking on certain parts of the site would, subject to accordance with the 
maximum building heights shown on the Building Heights Parameter Plan, be preferable to 
using retaining walls which may increase the visual impact of the development. We also 
consider that the scheme as a whole is in substantial accordance with the Building Heights 
Parameter Plan. 
  
Other matters  
We note and support the Phasing Plan submitted in accordance with Condition 6. This shows 
the establishment of the southern part of the site within phase 3, before the majority of the 
residential development is completed which will enable the landscaping further time to 
establish before the majority of residential development is completed. 
 
We note the contents of the Energy and Sustainability Statement and the conclusion that the  
proposed scheme would deliver a 66% improvement in terms of energy efficiency compared 
to Part L (2021) of the Building Regulations and, where applicable, is also designed to meet 
Future Homes Standards. 
 
Finally, we acknowledge that a further external lighting scheme will be prepared and 
submitted at a later date to address the requirements of condition 24 and would request to be 
consulted on its discharge given the requirement of part d) of condition 24 relating to the 
regard to be given to the sensitive location of the site within the National Landscape and the 
fact that its dark skies are one its ‘special qualities’. 
 

Page 42



Ecologist 
25th October 2023 – 
I have reviewed the BNG report, BNG metric and landscaping plan. I confirm that the positive 
BNG values for area habitats and linear habitats exceed the 10% minimum and appear to be 
achievable based on the BNG calculations and the current landscape plan. I accept the 
reasons that the BNG metric 2.0 has been used on this occasion. (For new projects, we 
would expect BNG Metric 4.0 to be used).  
  
A Landscape and Ecological Management plan will need to be submitted to the LPA prior to 
commencement to ensure that the target conditions for enhanced/created habitats will be 
met and consequently that the positive BNG values can be achieved. The management plan 
should be of 30 year duration for BNG projects, to ensure that the proposed net gains can be 
delivered. (This is of particular importance for larger projects.) 
  
I have also reviewed the Briefing Note - Updated Walkover Survey, Sept 2023; and note that 
several trees with low bat roost potential (T7, T65) will require removal. These trees should 
be subject to aerial inspection by bat licensed ecologist prior to removal. Should bats be 
found to be present then it will be necessary to apply to Natural England for an EPS 
mitigation licence ( a copy of which should be sent to the LPA once received). Due to the 
presence of well used mammal paths leading into the scrub in the north-western part of the 
site, precautionary measures are recommended. The details of such measures should be 
included in the Briefing Note and this should be re-submitted to the LPA for review. 
  
 
Tree Officer 
9th November 2023 –  
1) The Root Protection Area of the 2 veteran trees on the eastern boundary has now created 
a "curved rear garden boundary of Plot T217.  Whilst unusual, it is the most appropriate 
solution here.  It is desirable that "buffer" (prickly) planting is undertaken under the canopy of 
these 2 adjacent veteran oak trees so as to ensure that a desire line/footpath is not created 
which leads from the adjacent estate westwards under the canopy of these trees. 
 
2) It is not clear whether the recommended 2M wide maintenance access strip of the 
boundary has been created. 
 
3) No "gateway tree proposals" (for the area leading from Priors Rd) are shown. 
 
4) No buffer planting is shown on the landscape Master Plan around the "Destination Oak".  
Similarly "Cheshire style fencing" does not sound robust or appropriate against unwelcome 
intrusion under the canopy (Root Protection Area) of this Veteran Oak.  The proposed 
beech/hornbeam hedge is not a sufficient deterrent to unwelcome visitors.  Prickly/thorny 
species should be planted within the Veteran Tree Buffer area - dog rose, hawthorn, 
bramble, holly etc should be incorporated into the overall design.  All such buffer planting 
should be planted at the start of the build process so it is well established and functioning at 
the start of occupation of the proposed dwellings.  
 
5) It is unclear if a play area is to be sited adjacent to this oak tree.  Such a play area would 
not be welcome as described within point 8 of previous Trees Officer comment (of 23/8/23 
23/00201/PREAPP)). 
 
6) As previously requested, no clear plan showing proposed new underground/over ground 
services showing appropriate clearance from retained trees have been submitted.  
 
7) As previously requested, no details of short, medium and long term vegetative/Tree 
management plans have been submitted. 
  
8) As previously requested, no Suds Management Plans have been submitted. 

Page 43



 
9) As previously requested the woodland screening to run east-west through the site should 
be moved to the south so as to reduce the likelihood of shade onto rear gardens as the trees 
establish and grow. It will also help provide and alternative open space to the rear of the 
properties thus relieving pressure on the "destination oak".  Such a grassed strip should be 
at approx. 8M wide so as to facilitate grass mowing but also give a sense of an "open area" 
to the rear of properties which would encourage eg a circular soft landscape walk.  Such a 
step back will also reduce the likelihood of significant shade and ground water extraction by 
tree roots on the proposed allotments to the east of the site. 
  
10) The proposed dwelling to the north of the "quiet glade" will detract from the secluded 
nature of the views to the north and towards the fantastic views of the tree outline within the 
Bouncers Lane cemetery.  The proposed "naturalistic play" within this area is more welcome 
than the colourful and hard play areas as installed in other domestic situations. 
  
11) The shade analysis of the trees onto the proposed dwellings at differing times of year 
and differing times of day is welcome.  It reads that several properties will be in regular and 
quite constant shade from the sun.  Whilst sunlight may be blocked at differing times of day, 
there will be a sense of daylight as properties are to be situated at some distance to many of 
the trees.  Most/all of the best/high quality of the trees on site are now subject to a Tree 
Preservation Order and so formal Council permission will be necessary prior to the pruning of 
any live wood.  However, given the level of shade on some of the properties, it is anticipated 
that there will be regular and significant requests to prune the protected trees-many of which 
could be considered "notable" and several of "veteran" status.  CBC Trees Officers would not 
welcome such causation of formal applications.  It should be born in mind that the 
overwhelming majority of TPO protected trees are oak, and that this species retains leaves 
attached to the crown until late November/early December.  As such there is only approx. 4 
months when the trees will be leafless.     
  
12) The landscape plans do not seem to show the specific locations of different species of 
new planting. 
 
Tree Officer 2 
20th November 2023 –  
There is much to commend the submitted landscape plan (entitled Framework Plan) by IDP 
Drawing no 002 of Sept 2023.  It proposes a rich tapestry of trees which in the main, is true 
to the Landscape Design Statement. 
There are many proposed fruit trees to be planted within proposed rear gardens-this is very 
welcome. 
It is highly ambitious in terms of the “instant landscape” it proposes to achieve and there is a 
good variation in the palette of trees proposed for planting-large and small, native and exotic, 
wind and insect pollinated etc. 
 
However, the drawing does not contain any key to the species proposed and the schedule 
contained within the Landscape Design Statement does not contain the abbreviated code to 
the scientific names of proposed trees to be planted.  CBC trees officers consider they have 
deciphered the abbreviated scientific names.  However, it would be very helpful to the non-
specialist if such abbreviations are explained. 
Please could the following be adjusted to the submitted Landscape Plan and Landscape 
Design Statement: 
1) No trees to be planted should be greater in size than 12-14’s - Heavy Standards-
rather than the Extra Heavy Standards proposed.  Such smaller trees will have reduced 
instant visual impact but will be significantly easier to establish and grow.  Trees Officers 
preferred go-to size of tree to plant is the BS8545 “Standard” size 10-12cms girth at 1M 
above ground level (approx. 3.5M high).  The anticipated cost saving that this will create 
should be used to contribute to extra aftercare and maintenance of the new tree planting.  

Page 44



The Tree Pit design drawings within the Landscape Design Statement should be adjusted to 
reflect this change in tree sizes to be planted. 
2) All tree pits (other than the whip planting within the shelterbelt) must have fresh 
topsoil (to the BS 8545 (2014) spec.  Maps show the underlying soil type to be Charmouth 
mudstone and as such some free draining sandy soil must be included into all tree pits. 
3) It should be borne in mind that the proposed street tree Persian ironwood Parrotia 
persica ‘Vanessa’ is an interesting choice of an upright tree with much to commend it-though 
it is slow growing and will take many years before so many proposed trees are visually 
significant in the landscape.   
4) Many field maple “Acer campestre S” are proposed.  It is unclear what this 
variety/sub species is.  It is assumed that more fastigiate and suitable in built up areas, Acer 
campestre ‘Elsrijk’ are to be planted as a part of the street scene. 
5) Please could details of a proposed “avenue planting” off the entrance from Priors Rd 
be detailed.   
6) Many hornbeam Carpinus betulus are proposed within built-up areas.  Such trees 
will become too large for the proposed sites.  It would be preferable if the more upright and 
manageable Carpinus betulus ‘Frans Fontaine’ were planted as an alternative. 
7) The shelterbelt woodland mix of tree sizes are to be only 40-60cms tall.  Whilst this 
should help ensure prompt establishment, the proposed planting tubes are to be 600 mm 
and as such no trees would be visible growing out the top of the tubes for at least 1-2 years.  
Experience has shown that trees in such growing tubes suffer with extreme heat if there is a 
hot summer.  Please could this planting size be made larger to 90-120cms high.  A carpet of 
mulch should be applied to 1metre diameter spread around the base of all such whips. 
8) No Salix or Populus (willow or poplar) should be planted within this shelter belt-they 
will become too large (casting shade onto the rear gardens, allotments to the north as well as 
choke out other proposed species) as well as supress other adjacent species.  Willow and 
poplar are fast growing and can proliferate and become very difficult to control.  It is 
recommended that an increase in the proportion of native evergreen shade tolerant species 
be planted instead-holly, yew,  etc.  Please could rowan (Sorbus aucuparia) and spindle 
(Euonymous europeaus) be added to the woodland edge mix 
9) Details of protection from unwelcome visitors, dogs as well as deer should be 
submitted and agreed.  Such fencing must remain in situ until plants are approx. 5M high and 
be a part of the short, medium and long term management plan for the site. 
10) No short/medium and long term management strategy is available to view for this 
woodland.  Indeed no such Management Strategy is available for any of the soft landscaping 
(as well as SUDS schemes) for this site.  Such information (or at least the Heads of Terms to 
be addressed) should be submitted as a part of this application. 
11) It is noted that Magnolia Leonard Messel are to be planted.  Experience has shown 
that Magnolia are slow growing (4M in 20 years?) and enjoy free draining soil.  The soil in 
this site is unlikely to be free draining and such a delicate species as magnolia should not be 
planted adjacent to play areas.  Please could an alternative tree species be suggested.   
12) There is an overreliance on Amelanchier to be planted as driveway trees around the 
destination oak.  A wider palette of small trees should be planted.   
13) FAO Sam-do we want AES HIP and ACE PLA in the open spaces to the south of 
the site? 
14) A really strong gateway landscape visual statement would be if at least 3 tall 
evergreen species were planted close to the entrance to the site off Harp Hill.  
Sequoiadendron giganteum or Sequoia sempervirens would be welcome in amongst the 
proposed oak as an obvious go-to choice-many such trees exist within Battledown and as 
such it is anticipated that they will grow well here too. 
15) Landscape details regarding the tree “buffer” around the destination oak are 
anticipated and must be agreed prior to determination.    
16) It would be interesting and help create heritage if some old varieties of native fruit 
trees of local provenance were planted within the open space to the south of the site as well 
as on the edge of the buffer zone adjacent to the woodland shelter belt.  Glos Orchard Group 
could advise and supply (and plant). 
 

Page 45



  
Tree Officer 3 
28th November 2023- 
The proposed scheme will completely change much of the site entirely.  It is recognised that 
whilst through the Appeal process, the site has an existing Outline Permission for up to 250 
dwellings, the proposed scheme takes account of and respects existing tree constraints. 
The best trees on the site have been protected by a TPO and have been retained and 
incorporated into the design.  As such the Council has overall control of them from increased 
pressure for inappropriate pruning and removal.  Nevertheless, it must be recognised that the 
wider environment in which the trees exist (above and below ground) will be forever changed 
through indirect and indirect impacts of introducing new adjacent dwellings, roads, drainage 
etc to the site.  However, to mitigate for this, a generous tree planting plan is proposed, not 
only within the street scene but also in the larger open space to the south.   
Nevertheless, there are several issues which need to be further addressed/changed so as to 
try to minimise impact on the protected trees as well as new tree planting: 
 
1)  Trees officers maintain unease of the formal play provision around the destination oak to 
the east of the site.  Whilst the play areas are to be outside of the target area/drop zone of 
possible branch failure, it is anticipated that inviting children and others to congregate near to 
this delicate tree will lead to increased requests to prune.  Chapter 07 of the Public Open 
Space Details LA5727-LDS-001B states “the area beneath the canopy of the tree will be 
retained as grassland and bark”.  This is an insufficient and deterrent and buffer planting 
detail.  There should be deterrent planting included within the sphere of influence of the tree 
to actively deter the public from gathering under the canopy of the tree.  Notice/explanation 
boards should be provided explaining why visitors are being excluded and the value of the 
tree explained.   
 
2) 7.5 of the Public Open Space Details recommends Morus alba pendula is incorporated.  
Such small weeping white mulberry will shed much soft fruit onto the ground in the autumn.  
This is unlikely to be welcome by those living adjacent and lead to pressure to remove. 
 
3) As per point 10 above the tranquil nature of the proposed “glade area” will be transformed 
into something somewhat different if the swings/slides and other play equipment is 
incorporated.  However, the direct impact of such play provision onto adjacent trees should 
not be significant.  Nevertheless, a more natural “natural play” area would be less visually 
jarring than many of the proposed play features proposed.  The proposed play equipment will 
somewhat dominate this tranquil space. 
 
4) Whilst the landscape plan (“Landscape Framework”) describes only 1 willow, para 7.6 
Oakley Farm Green & SuDS of the Landscape Design Statement recommends the planting 
of willow within the SuDS areas.  Such trees will outgrow the site and come to dominate and 
overwhelm as well as spread and colonise other green space adjacent.      
 
5) It appears that the proposed woodland tree planting will be relatively close to the proposed 
allotments.  Such trees would not only be elevated from the site but also to the south.  As 
such, it is anticipated that the woodland trees will take sunlight and water as they grow thus 
taking sun and water from the allotment.  This would not likely be welcome by allotment 
holders.  Trees to be planted nearby should be of an appropriate species to not become a 
nuisance (eg plum, cherry, hawthorn etc). 
 
6) As commented previously, Trees Officers maintain that several of the proposed properties 
will remain in shade for much of the day throughout a large proportion of the year.  Large 
retained TPO’d oaks elevated up the natural slope of the site and to the south of proposed 
dwellings will put much shade on the gardens and homes.  Whilst the trees are set back 
which will allow daylight into the area, this should not be confused with direct sunlight.  Whilst 
the Borough Council will retain overall control of pruning through the TPO application 
process, it is important that new potential buyers are made aware of the protected status of 

Page 46



the trees during the purchase process and that applications to prune to allow for more light 
are likely to be refused.  Oak trees by their nature retain their leaves for much of the year 
(until early December and are in leaf by May).  
 
Proposed tree conditions of any permission to grant consent: 
 
1) TRE05C - No service runs within RPA 
 
All service runs shall fall outside the Root Protection Area(s) shown on the approved 
drawings, unless otherwise first agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority.  Any such 
works shall be carried out in accordance with the National Joint Utilities Group; Volume 4 
(2007) (or any standard that reproduces or replaces this standard). 
Reason: To safeguard existing tree(s) in the interests of visual amenity, having regard to 
Policies GI1 + GI2 of the Cheltenham Borough Local Plan (2020). Approval is required 
upfront to ensure that important trees are not permanently damaged or lost. 
 
 
2) TRE03B - Protective fencing 
 
Tree protective fencing shall be installed in accordance with the specifications set out within 
BS 5837:2012.  The fencing shall be erected, inspected and approved in writing by the Local 
Planning Authority prior to the commencement of any works on site (including demolition and 
site clearance) and shall remain in place until the completion of the construction process. 
Reason: To safeguard the biological and structural condition of the tree having regard to 
Policies GI1 + GI2 of Cheltenham Borough Local Plan 2020. 
 
3) Landscaping 
 
Notwithstanding other landscaping details, post-development tree protection around the 
destination oak should be submitted and agreed prior to the commencement of demolition 
and construction.  Such new landscaping should include details of proposed deterrent 
planting within the proposed Cheshire fencing and to include bramble, dog rose etc.  Such 
deterrent protection should be explained on public notice boards explaining the delicate and 
special nature of this Veteran oak as well as the reasoning behind the area within the 
Cheshire fencing being a permanent exclusion zone. 
Reason: To safeguard the biological and structural condition of the tree having regard            
to Policies GI1 + GI2 of Cheltenham Borough Local Plan 2020. 
 
4) No-Dig Construction Methods 
   
All paths, parking areas and other forms of hard landscaping that fall within any Root 
Protection Area(s) shall be constructed using a no-dig method.  Prior to the commencement 
of development, full details of the proposed no-dig method shall be submitted to and 
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority and the development shall be 
implemented strictly in accordance with the details so approved. 
Reason:  In the interests of local amenity in accordance with Local Plan Policies GI1 and GI2 
relating to the retention, protection and replacement of trees. 
 
5) TRE08C - Arboricultural monitoring 
 
No works shall commence on site unless details of Arboricultural Monitoring of the site to 
include details of (i) person(s) to conduct the monitoring; (ii) the methodology and 
programme for reporting; and (iii) a timetable for inspections, has been submitted to and 
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority.  The works shall not be carried out 
unless in accordance with the details so approved. 
 

Page 47



Reason: To safeguard existing tree(s) in the interests of visual amenity, having regard to 
Policies GI1 and GI2 of the Cheltenham Borough Local Plan (2020). Approval is required 
upfront to ensure that important trees are not permanently damaged or lost. 
 
 
6) Arb Monitoring: TRE01C - Existing trees to be retained 
 
All trees and planting within the site shall be retained unless shown on the approved 
drawings as being removed. Any trees or planting indicated on the approved drawings which, 
within a period of five years from the date of planting, die, are removed or become seriously 
damaged, diseased or dying shall be replaced during the next planting season (October to 
March inclusive) with other trees or plants of a location, species and size to be first approved 
in writing by the Local Planning Authority. Any pruning works within the ten year period shall 
be carried out in accordance with BS 3998:2010 (or any standard that reproduces or 
replaces this standard).  Tree planting in areas not subject to development and all deterrent 
planting should be undertaken at the start of any construction process.  This will help ensure 
tree establishment is successful prior to habitation of dwellings.   
Reason: In the interests of visual amenity, having regard to Policies GI1 and GI2 of the 
Cheltenham Borough Local Plan (2020). 
 
7) Heads of terms for the  management of the TPO protected trees should be 
submitted and agreed prior to the commencement of demolition and construction of any 
approved scheme. 
 
Reason: To safeguard existing tree(s) in the interests of visual amenity, having regard to 
Policies GI1 and GI2 of the Cheltenham Borough Local Plan (2020). Approval is required 
upfront to ensure that important trees are not permanently damaged or lost. 
 
Minerals And Waste Policy Gloucestershire 
2nd November 2023 - Comment available to view on website. 
 
Gloucestershire Centre For Environmental Records 
13th October 2023 - Report available to view on website. 
 
Building Control 
27th October 2023 - This application will require Building Regulations approval. Please 
contact Cheltenham and Tewkesbury Building Control on 01242 264321 for further 
information. 
  
Parish Council 
11th November 2023 –  
 
Objection: 
  
The Committee has grave concerns regarding the addition of traffic from 250 dwellings on to 
Harp Hill, and the resultant effect, particularly in rush hours, on the junctions with Priors 
Road, and Greenway Lane at Sixways, and an increase in traffic using Mill Lane. The later in 
particular will have an increased risk of collisions / accidents. Therefore, great consideration 
must be given to improvements to the two junctions and what measures can be taken on Mill 
Lane to improve safety / cope with increased traffic. 
  
There is inadequate parking provision that will result in residents having to resort to anti-
social / inconsiderate parking, as clearly evident on the adjacent Oakley GCHQ 
development's roads. 
  
Plot numbers 227 & 57 will be overbearing to dwellings on Wessex Drive and similarly with 
plots 211 to 216 in relation to adjacent dwellings on Birdlip Road. Both this issue, and that of 

Page 48



inadequate parking, result from attempting to squeeze too many units into the area. Fewer 
units would prevent the overbearing nature of parts of the development and allow for an 
increase in parking provision. 
  
As parking spaces are not necessarily adjacent to the dwellings they serve, how will 
electrical charging points be provided at all spaces, particularly with regard to apartments? 
  
Concerns have been raised regarding headlights from cars leaving the site shining to 
windows of dwellings opposite the entrance. The Committee would ask that, in the light of 
this concern, the position of the proposed access / egress point on Harp Hill is assessed to 
check it is in the optimal position. 
  
Given the severity of the slopes within the site sufficient grit bins will need to be provided to 
maintain safety in severe winter conditions. With the increased volume of traffic, grit bin 
provision for Harp Hill should also be re-assessed. 
  
Both from the Parish Council's experience on its allotment sites, and the more rural character 
of this site, it is imperative that the proposed allotments are protected by deer-proof fencing, 
otherwise in practice they will be unusable. 
  
The 675mm dia. outlet pipe from the attenuation pond cuts through the space occupied by 
the overflow attenuation storage crates, so the design will need to be revised to avoid that 
clash. 
  
If the Case Officer is minded to permit without the design being revised to address these 
concerns, the Committee requests that the application is examined by CBC's Planning 
Committee. 
  
County Archaeology 
2nd November 2023 –  
Thank you for consulting the archaeology department on this application. The county Historic 
Environment Record shows that geophysical survey and archaeological trial trench 
evaluation were carried out in relation to application 20/01069/OUT. On the basis of these 
investigations this department advised that no further archaeological investigations/mitigation 
was required. I therefore have no comments to make in relation to this reserved matters 
application. 
  
 
 
 

Page 49



From: Emma Williams <admin@glosdesignpanel.co.uk>  
Sent: 06 December 2023 14:10 
To: Tony Clements <t.clements@nexusplanning.co.uk> 
Cc: ataylor@nashpartnership.com; Rob Stroud <Rob.Stroud@vistry.co.uk>; Nigel Lush 
<Nigel.Lush@vistry.co.uk>; KCharsley@idpgroup.com; Daniel Sharp 
<d.sharp@nexusplanning.co.uk>; Lucy White <Lucy.White@cheltenham.gov.uk> 
Subject: Re: Oakley Farm, Battledown, Cheltenham - 23/01691/REM: GDRP Presentation  

 
Good afternoon Tony and all 
 
Please see below the response from the panel with regards to the latest information that was sent 
to them for review. 
 
The issues with commenting on these details are the time it will take to understand them on a 
scheme of this nature and scale and the limited time to arrange a formal and comprehensive second 
design review.  There are a couple of headlines we suggested as requiring development such as the 
access road location and its potential visibility in the AONB and the proximity of new buildings to the 
retained hedgerows and trees.  Looking at these in more detail: 
  

1. ACCESS VISIBILITY - The road location was agreed as part of the appeal so apart from some 
additional screening there is not a lot different that could be achieved?    

2. VEGETATION - The tree line to the south look to have been relocated which provides more 
space around the veteran oak tree and an allowance for on street trees so this is a 
positive.  However remain unconvinced that the retention of the hedgerows running north 
/south is feasible given the proximity of the houses.  There does not appear to be any space 
for the level changes and construction and there is not any additional room for 
maintenance.  Street trees are shown to the southern street only, and still rooting volume is 
questionable to achieve larger species trees (which is what would be required for them to 
have some visual filtering / laying effect). 

3. RETAINING WALLS – we would hope to see some clarity on the retaining walls that we spoke 
about last time, still no details of what where and how they will work. 

  
With this in mind and without a more formal review which would provide sufficient time to look at 
these items and comment accordingly I would suggest our original comments stand and Cheltenham 
Planning Department need to review the submitted scheme against the earlier comments to ensure 
they are satisfied that the comments are not relevant or have been addressed. 
  
I trust this is acceptable in this instance. 
 

 

 

 

Kind regards 
 
 
Emma Williams 
Design Panel Admin 
07771866651 
 
(Please note that I work part-time, so you may not get an immediate response) 
  

Page 50

mailto:admin@glosdesignpanel.co.uk
mailto:t.clements@nexusplanning.co.uk
mailto:ataylor@nashpartnership.com
mailto:Rob.Stroud@vistry.co.uk
mailto:Nigel.Lush@vistry.co.uk
mailto:KCharsley@idpgroup.com
mailto:d.sharp@nexusplanning.co.uk
mailto:Lucy.White@cheltenham.gov.uk


 
 

Page 51



Review Response

LAND AT OAKLEY FARM, CHELTENHAM, NEW RESIDENTIAL 
DEVELOPMENT 
Tuesday 5th September 2023, Cheltenham Borough Council Offices

Presenters 

Amanda Taylor – Nash Partnership

Tony Clements – Nexus Planning

Nigel Lush – Vistry Cotswolds

Kevin Charsley – IDP 

Design Review Panel

Toby Coombes – CE Architects – Chair

Ross Sharpe – Yiangou Architects

Charles Cox – Sutton Cox Architects

Nick Harman – Rappor – Landscape Architect 

Helen McHollan – EDP – Landscape Architect

Emma Williams – Design Panel Administrator

Planning Officer

Lucy White – Cheltenham Borough Council

Context of the Development

The Review meeting was held to discuss the emerging 
masterplan for the Land at Oakley Farm following the 
approval of an outline planning permission

The site is greenfield and set within the Cotswold area 
of outstanding natural beauty (AONB). It has steep 
slopes falling to the North and a mix of existing trees 
and hedges scattered both through the site and to 
the boundaries. The location within the AONB sets 
a high bar for the visual impact of the development 
but this setting is not perceived as open landscape, 
with the site being surrounded on the North, West 
and South by residential properties. The only green 
link is to the Eastern boundary which is a Listed 
underground reservoir. 

The scheme was approved at appeal following refusal 
by the Local authority. The inspector highlighted 
there is a local housing land supply shortfall, so on 
balance, the contained characteristics of the site and 
its greater relationship to the adjacent residential 
areas and the topography of the site overcame the 
restrictions of the AONB and the outline planning 
permission was granted for 250 units.

Presentation 

The panel felt the clarity and explanation of the 
presentation was high quality and allowed a good 
understanding and therefore review of the proposals. 
The presentation was based on the PPA3: Emerging 
Masterplan and Character document dated August 
2023. The presentation talked through the scheme 
and how it had evolved into its current form. The 
proposals were based on the following principles:

• It was agreed that the site was unusual for the 
AONB with 3 sides being enclosed by residential 
development. The outline had addressed the visual 
impact by locating the development on the lower 
slopes and maintaining a landscape margin along 
Harp Hill.

• Although the site is large the proposed densities 
of the site are closer to a standard developable 
area (40 dwellings/hectare) when you discount 
the green spaces and take account of the site 
topography.

• The natural setting and topography allow 
amazing landscape views out of the site but will 
equally mean the site is visible from long range 
viewpoints. 

• The site needs to maximise the scale of 
development in the outline approval to allow the 

Page 52



quality of the proposals to be viable. This sets the 
thresholds at 250 dwellings with 40% affordable 
housing scattered through the site.

• The topography means the site access road 
meanders through the site but this is viewed 
as a positive as it allows a journey through the 
character areas.

• The breaking up of the site into various character 
zones or neighbourhoods allows some variation in 
materials which if completed sympathetically could 
provide a high-quality solution.

• The houses are designed to provide the necessary 
on site terracing with both ‘stepping up’ and 
‘stepping down houses’. This was to avoid large 
sections of stand alone retaining walls.

• The intention is to retain the majority of the on 
site trees and hedgerows. 

• Aesthetically the houses are contemporary in 
form with some reference to historic window 
proportions and scale. Materials will be high 
quality with a mix of stone, render and timber to 
reflect the emerging character areas. 

• The project proposes sustainable drainage with 
the provision of 2 basins and supplemented by 
below ground attenuation to the bottom (North) 
of the site.

• The integration of pedestrian links and play spaces 
are important and are scattered through the site. 

• The presenters discussed ‘building with nature’ 
and how the principals of this were integrated 
through the site. This is really down to the 
retention of the existing trees and hedgerows and 
the creation on pockets of soft landscape through 
the scheme.

Design Panel Comments

Layout

The principle of the layout reflected the masterplan 
approved as part the appeal. The main questions 
on this are the visual impact of the new access road 
on the Harp Hill and how this crosses the landscape 
margin. However, it was agreed that the lower 
sections of the site are much closer in character to the 
Northern residential than the open landscape. This 
means the proposed layout responds positively to the 
landscape setting.

The proposals to design bespoke dwellings which deal 
with the changes in levels across the site is a good 
solution and reduces the need for large retaining 
walls. The ‘gaps’ between buildings do also need a 
sensitive response and will impact on the success of 
the scheme, the nature of the retaining features that 
will exist in these locations should be fully considered 
and respond positively to the different character areas 
of the proposed development. 

The nature of the open spaces and their landscape 
planting is a positive as are the stepped play spaces 
through the site which will provide a much softer and 
more interactive solution. Questions were raised on 
the maintenance of these as there will be works and 
monies, required to ensure the longevity of the public 
realm. 

The relocation of the allotment to the eastern 
boundary was also felt to be an improvement from 
the earlier proposals.

Connectivity

The principle vehicle access from Harp Hill raised 
concerns on visual impact as the winding road cuts 
through the retained green space and will be highly 
visible from distant views. The lack of highway 
footway on either side of Harp Hill, was also a 
concern – however the principals of this were agreed 
at outline and therefore not appropriate to labour 
these issues as part of the review at this stage It was 
felt the visual impact of the elevated entrance portion 
would benefit from further review and landscape 
screening from long range views. Concern as to how 
the levels physically work with the drainage pond, 
pedestrian and cycle crossings also needs more 
consideration. Although pedestrian and cycle routes 
are provided through the site we would like to see 
better links into the surrounding areas to connect the 
site into its locality. This has been suggested as an 
option to the East but links to the retail centre to the 
North and the Schools across Harp Hill to the South 
should be considered to reduce vehicle movements.

Landscape Design

The retention of the majority of trees and hedges on 
the site is positive and provides benefit in both initial 
maturity and breaking down the visual impact as well 
as ecology. This, coupled with additional tree planting 
will help to improve the nature and quality of the 
development. However, the new tree belt separating 
the built up areas to those along Harp Hill, appears 

Page 53



to be creating layout issues around the retained oak 
tree. We understand the line of the planting was 
established at outline and that the line of development 
has been kept consistent with that of the outline 
planning permission parameter plans. However, this 
line does not reflect the contours of the Site and 
we would suggest amending this line to provide a 
more natural curved tree belt. This would allow more 
space around the tree and not be detrimental to the 
overall design. In addition, it would afford additional 
space within the proposed development parcel to 
accommodate more meaningful street trees and also 
allow for improved garden layouts to the properties on 
the edge of the development parcel.

The hedge running North - South to the West of the 
site is shown to be retained, but it was felt to be 
unrealistic given the proximity to the housing and the 
stepped nature of the buildings. It is uncertain how 
the changes to existing levels adjacent to the hedges 
will impact on them? The 1m either side of the hedge 
was very inadequate in terms of maintenance access. If 
the hedge is to be retained more space must be given 
and necessary method statements for its retention 
during the construction period provided.

The nature of the street trees was also discussed, and 
the panel were unconvinced that adequate space was 
provided for rooting volume or to allow decent canopy 
trees. Providing more space for these would be of 
benefit to break up the massing of the development 
going up the slope when viewed from the AONB and 
Cheltenham to the North and to enhance the quality 
feel of the development. Indeed the masterplan shown 
at outline, had significantly more street trees indicated. 
Trees shown to rear gardens, were felt unlikely to 
provide any visual contribution to the wider setting, 
given that their retention cannot be guaranteed and 
their nature was more likely to be of a smaller fruiting 
tree variety; however they were a welcome addition for 
home owners

The intent of the images presented for the open 
spaces and play areas was welcomed and it was felt it 
could provide a real benefit to the area but it needs to 
turn into reality for the success of the scheme.

Biodiversity Net Gain was mentioned but there was 
no evidence of a baseline or proposed strategy / 
assessment presented.

Drainage Strategies

A more integrated response to the sustainable 
drainage strategy (SuDS) would be preferred, and it 
was disappointing that there was no source control 
indicated and that much of attenuation volume was 
through underground tanks located to the bottom of 
the site There are green areas through the site which 
could be included or the provision of on street / on 
plot rain gardens, permeable parking areas, swales 
incorporated into soft landscape or play areas, etc. 
The principles need to be developed and a more 
holistic approach to the drainage design established 
to provide more source control and interception 
of everyday rainfall as part of a fully integrated 
management train throughout the site rather than an 
end of pipe solution.

Massing and Unit Layout

The proposals included some interesting proposals 
on unit plans, sections and massing which we believe 
overcomes the sloping nature of the site in a positive 
manner. Questions were raised as to how level 
changes were dealt with between the buildings and 
this requires further development.

A question / option was raised as to the roof forms of 
the apartment buildings. These appear to step down 
the site and therefore their plan form is more broken 
down. With regards to elevations we felt the top floor 
mansard adds more animation and interest to this 
rather than a straight 3 storeys with parapet walls. 

Aesthetics

A contemporary approach is preferred rather than a 
pastiche, with the presented research on Cheltenham 
aesthetics being reflected in the suggestion of a 
grounded base course and the fragmented design 
caused by its developer origins adds the potential for 
further diversity reflected in the variety in building 
forms provided a mix through the site.

However, the use of the Regency precedent for 
proportions has created some elevations where the 
balance of horizontal and vertical is slightly awkward. As 
the housing types are bespoke to this site, the approach 
to proportioning could similarly be unique to the setting.

How the houses deal with the sloping nature of the 
site is also positive and will allow variety in designs. 
This will provide multiple long-range views out of the 
site which can also only be a positive. The narrow 
vertical dwellings, with space between to allow level 
changes creates its own vernacular. 

Page 54



Generally, the suggested materials, brick, stone, render 
appear suitable although there was some debate 
about the use of timber cladding in the more verdant 
settings. There is no consensus on this so it will be 
down to the quality and nature of its use. 

The massing and designs, coupled with the suggested 
materials, provides the potential for an interesting 
scheme. The aesthetics of the apartment blocks benefit 
from the mansard roofs as this adds vertical interest 
to the designs and also serves to further justify the 
character areas. 

Sustainability

The suggestion that the site will be ‘better than 
building regulations’ and discussions on fabric first 
over on site energy generation were positive although 
in our experience some energy generation and battery 
storage will be required for a scheme which could be 
built out over the next few years. ASHP use electricity 
and can become an expensive way to provide heating 
and hot water. The incorporation of working from 
home, cycle storage, electric vehicle charging, etc is 
a minimum for all plots not just to be considered in 
some cases. 

 Summary

The scheme was well presented and includes some 
interesting design responses to what could be a 
difficult site. We have raised several questions through 
the commentary but in principle we believe this is a 
well designed development of the principals agreed at 
outline; which with some further exploration around 
green blue infrastructure could be further integrated 
into the wider setting and provide a more exemplar 
development suitable for its location within the AONB. 
The key to its success will be in the detail; this runs 
across the whole proposal from landscape, integration 
into the local context, high quality materials, detailing, 
sustainability, drainage and quality of construction. 

We do however view this as a positive starting point. 

admin@glosdesignpanel.co.uk

Page 55



Housing Enabling Comments- Oakley Farm, 23/01691/REM, 04/12/2023  

 

Page 1 of 10 
 

Housing Enabling Comments- Oakley Farm, 23/01691/REM. 

 

Summary of Housing Enabling Comments:  
 

 

Level of Affordable Housing Provision:  
 

The Joint Core Strategy Policy SD12: Affordable Housing states that “on sites of 11 dwellings or 

more… a minimum of 40% affordable housing will be sought in Cheltenham Borough”. The 

affordable housing requirement found in the JCS has been superseded by the latest NPPF, which 

requires that schemes of 10 dwellings or more should deliver affordable housing.  

This application is comprised of 250 residential units. Therefore at 40% provision in line with JCS 

Policy SD12: Affordable Housing the Council will seek 100 affordable homes on this scheme.   

Affordable Housing Mix:  

 
Having regard to local needs, community cohesion and affordability considerations, and following on 

from pre-application discussions and subsequent discussions relating to this reserved matters 

application in consultation with the applicant, the following mix of affordable dwellings will be 

sought on a policy compliant site (see table below): 

 

Proposed Affordable Housing Mix Table:  
 

 

In summary, the proposed scheme generally accords with relevant policy requirements, as 

set out within JCS Policies SD4, SD11 and SD12 respectively. The types and tenures provided 

(see the proposed AH mix table) are reflective of local housing need delivering 32 x social 

rented homes, 38 x affordable rented homes, and 30 shared ownership units, in addition to 

including 56 x affordable M4(2) level access affordable homes and 2 x M4(3)(2)(b) 

wheelchair accessible affordable homes.  

The scheme proposals have been agreed following extensive consultation between this 

officer, Vistry and Stonewater.  

Whilst certain elements of the site could benefit from amendments to better reflect policy 

requirements (as described within the Clustering and Distribution and Wheelchair Accessible 

Homes sections), it is nevertheless recognised that the context of this scheme (located on 

steeply sloping land), combined with the unique neighbourhood characteristics means that 

additional scheme amendments, specifically relating to the relocation of the 4 & 5 bedroom 

affordable homes and 2 x 1b2p Wheelchair Accessible Homes are not feasible.  

Accordingly, this officer is supportive of the affordable housing proposals for this scheme.  

Page 56



Housing Enabling Comments- Oakley Farm, 23/01691/REM, 04/12/2023  

 

Page 2 of 10 
 

      

Tenure & House Type 
(100 units, 40% 
affordable) 

Social 
Rent 

Affordable 
Rent 

Shared 
Ownership Totals: % 

1b2p GF Maisonette, 
M4(2) Cat 2, 50m2  

9     9 9% 

1b2p UF Maisonette, 
50m2 

9     9 9% 

1b2p Bungalow 
M4(3)(2)(b), 60m2 

2     2 2% 

1b2p Bungalow M4(2) 
Cat 2, 50m2 

4     4 4% 

2b4p House, 71m2     14 14 14% 

2b4p House, M4(2) Cat 
2, 79m2 

  12 4 16 16% 

2b4p GF Maisonette 
M4(2) Cat 2, 71m2 

  4   4 4% 

2b4p Flats M4(2) Cat 
2, 71m2 

  6   6 6% 

3b5p House, 83m2   6 8 14 14% 

3b5p House, M4(2) Cat 
2, 93m2 

  6   6 6% 

3b6p House    4 4 8 8% 

4b7p House, 108m2 6     6 6% 

5b8p House, 121m2, 
M4(2) 

2     2 2% 

Totals 32 38 30 100   

% 32% 38% 30%     

 

 

 

Viability: 
 

JCS Policy SD12 states that where the viability of development impacts upon delivery of the full 

affordable housing requirement, developers should consider: 

 

➢ Varying the housing mix and design of the scheme in order to reduce costs whilst having 

regard to the requirements of other policies in the plan… and the objective of creating a 

balanced housing market. 

➢ Securing public subsidy or other commuted sums to assist delivery of affordable housing. 

 

If a development cannot deliver the full affordable housing requirement, a viability assessment 

conforming to an agreed methodology, in accordance with Policy INF7 will be required. Viability 

assessments will be independently appraised at the expense of the applicant. It is expected that any 

Page 57



Housing Enabling Comments- Oakley Farm, 23/01691/REM, 04/12/2023  

 

Page 3 of 10 
 

such assessment will be published in full prior to determination for all non-policy compliant schemes 

except in exceptional circumstances.  

  

The council considers that information submitted as a part of, and in support if a viability assessment 

should be treated transparently and be available for wider scrutiny. In submitting information, 

applicants should be aware that this will be made publicly available. Further clarification around the 

viability process that Cheltenham Borough Council will follow in exceptional circumstances can be 

found in JCS Policy SD12.  

 

In exceptional circumstances, where it is agreed that it is not possible to deliver 40% affordable 

housing on site due to viability issues, the council will build a viability review mechanism into the 

Section 106 agreement. This would likely take place within 2 years of the date of the last viability 

review.  

 

Dwelling Mix and Tenure:  
 

Our adopted policy JCS Policy SD11: Housing Mix and Standards states that: - “Housing development 

will be required to provide an appropriate mix of dwelling sizes types and tenures in order to 

contribute to mixed and balanced communities”, before continuing to require that new 

development should: “address the needs of the local area…as set out in the local housing evidence 

base, including the most up-to-date SHMA”.  

To facilitate a mixed and balanced community in this location, this officer will seek a range of 1-5 

bedroom affordable homes including a diverse mix of Social Rent, Affordable Rent and Shared 

Ownership homes, as detailed under the Affordable Housing Mix table, above. The proposed 

affordable housing mix has been informed by the latest evidence bases of affordable housing need, 

including the Housing Register, Local Housing Needs Assessment and past and future projected 

affordable housing delivery.  

This officer has begun conversations with Stonewater (Vistry’s chosen Registered Provider partner) 

about the potential for the site to deliver a small element of additionality, likely through a small 

proportion of additional Shared Ownership units above and beyond the Section 106 requirement, 

supported via Homes England grant funding (subject to Homes England approval, and sign off by 

Vistry and Stonewater).  

The units proposed as additionality (subject to approvals and agreements from the relevant parties) 

will be agreed in due course, being mindful of community cohesion.   

Affordable Housing Scheme: Registered Provider (RP) Feedback 
 

To inform the proposed affordable housing scheme, feedback was sought from Stonewater (Vistry’s 

chosen RP partner), who have submitted this application jointly with Vistry Homes, with the Housing 

Enabling Officer meeting with Stonewater on 21/11/2023 to discuss outstanding issues. Stonewater 

were generally happy with the provision of affordable housing on this scheme, which did not raise 

any significant community cohesion issues from their perspective. Stonewater’s responses to the 

two outstanding issues (clustering of 4 and 5 bedroom homes and   

Page 58



Housing Enabling Comments- Oakley Farm, 23/01691/REM, 04/12/2023  

 

Page 4 of 10 
 

Rents:  
 

JCS Policy SD11 requires that new developments must address identified local housing needs, as set 

out in the local housing evidence base. Additionally, JCS Policy SD12: Affordable Housing states that 

“provision should be made… to ensure that housing will remain at an affordable price for future 

eligible households”.  

Considering identified housing needs, The 2020 Gloucestershire LHNA finds that Cheltenham 

Borough should deliver 1,510 new rented homes between 2021-2041, of which 1,325 (88% of rented 

need) should be social rented homes.1 By delivering social rented homes, the Council is thereby 

delivering against identified housing needs and simultaneously meeting our policy position set out 

within JCS Policy SD11.  

In this officer’s view, the most effective way to- “ensure that (affordable housing) will remain at an 

affordable price for future eligible households” as per JCS Policy SD12: Affordable Housing, is to 

deliver the rented element at wholly social rented levels. This approach is justified as the calculation 

of social rents is informed by local house prices and local incomes, and thus are inherently 

affordable by design.  

Additionally, this officer will aim to ensure that the Affordable Rented homes are capped in line with 

Local Housing Allowance (LHA) levels. This approach will help to mitigate the potential issue of rising 

rents associated with Affordable Rented properties which, over time, could place tenants in housing 

stress if appropriate safeguards are not put into place.  

It is notable that Homes England has also designated Cheltenham Borough as an area of high 

affordability pressure, meaning that the difference between the average social rents and private 

rents is £50 per week or more, further underlining the importance of delivering social rented homes 

to address acute existing affordability issues within the Borough.  

Social Rents should comply with the Government’s December 2022 Direction on the rent standard 

2023, in addition to the Government’s December 2022 ‘Policy statement on rents for social housing’ 

as updated from time-to-time.  

 

The Council’s affordable housing mix seeks the delivery of 70% (70) of the affordable housing 

requirement through rented tenures, with 32% (32) of the affordable homes being delivered via 

social rent levels and the remaining 38% (38) being delivered at affordable rents, in reflection of 

identified housing needs and affordability issues. This is reflective of discussions between the 

Housing Enabling Officer and the applicant, which have informed the proposed tenure mix.  

 

Service Charges:  
 

Any service charges on the affordable dwellings should be eligible for and fully covered by Housing 

Benefit.   

 

 
1 Opinion Research Services (ORS), ‘2020 Gloucestershire Local Housing Needs Assessment’, (September 2020) 
p. 155. 

Page 59

https://www.gloucester.gov.uk/media/4090/housing-background-paper-final-publication-sub.pdffile:/C:/Users/ewan.wright/Downloads/2020_09_22_Gloucestershire_LHNA___Final_Report_and_Summary%20(86).pdf
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/areas-of-high-affordability-pressure/list-areas-of-high-affordability-pressure
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/areas-of-high-affordability-pressure/list-areas-of-high-affordability-pressure
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/1123928/Direction_to_RSH.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/1123928/Direction_to_RSH.pdf
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/direction-on-the-rent-standard-from-1-april-2020/policy-statement-on-rents-for-social-housing


Housing Enabling Comments- Oakley Farm, 23/01691/REM, 04/12/2023  

 

Page 5 of 10 
 

The Council recognises that social rented charges are set through the national rent regime, with 

rents being exclusive of any service charges. It is crucial, therefore, that service charges should be 

kept to a minimum. Following pre-application discussions leading up to this application, this officer 

can confirm that service charges for tenants have been minimised through the scheme design.  

 

Clustering and Distribution:  
 

In terms of clustering and distribution, JCS Policy SD12: Affordable Housing clarifies that new 

development should ensure that affordable housing is “seamlessly integrated and distributed 

throughout the development scheme”.  

The latest planning layout submitted with this application (Site Layout 23044-1002, P1, dated 

03/10/2023) indicates that the affordable homes (coloured in orange) will be seamlessly distributed 

throughout the development scheme, being found in small clusters (with the maximum cluster size 

being 12 units). This approach, which was agreed following extensive consultation between the 

applicant and this officer, meets the policy requirements set out within JCS Policy SD12: Affordable 

Housing in terms of the distribution and clustering of affordable homes. 

Additionally, The National Model Design Guide (NDG) emphasises that new development should be 

‘socially inclusive’. In practice, this means that the applicant should aim to maximise the potential for 

social integration between affordable and market residents through the distribution of the 

affordable homes throughout the scheme. The NDG proceeds to state that: “(good design) avoids 

features that could create actual or perceived barriers, or contribute to segregation, both within the 

development and with its surroundings”.2  

The proposed planning layout (Site Layout 23044-1002, P1, dated 03/10/2023) also complies with 

the best practice outlined within the National Model Design Guide, with social integration being 

achieved on this scheme through the even and seamless distribution of affordable homes 

throughout the development, which has been balanced against the need to deliver level access 

affordable homes.  In this officers’ view, the affordable homes are not located in disadvantageous 

locations that could contribute to ‘actual or perceived barriers or contribute to segregation’ 

between market and affordable residents. To the contrary, the location of certain clusters of 

affordable homes (e.g., plots 136-141, 125-135 and plots 168-171) directly overlook the SUDS pond, 

providing the affordable residents with an attractive outlook onto landscaped areas of the scheme. 

In summary, therefore, this officer is satisfied that the clustering and distribution of the affordable 

homes indicated on the proposed planning layout (Site Layout 23044-1002, P1, dated 03/10/2023) 

complies with JCS Policy SD12: Affordable Housing and relevant guidance within the National Model 

Design Guide.   

Notwithstanding these points, in this Officer’s view, the location of the 4 bedroom (Plots 35, 36,37 

and 48,49 and 50) and 5 bedroom (Plots 34 & 47) affordable homes could be improved to better 

comply with policy requirements.  JCS Policy SD4: Design Requirements. Specifically, JCS Policy SD4: 

Design Requirements sets out that: “development should also be designed to be adaptable to 

 
2 Ministry of Housing, Communities & Local Government (MHCLG), ‘National Design Guide’ (January 
2021), p. 36.   

Page 60

https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/962113/National_design_guide.pdf


Housing Enabling Comments- Oakley Farm, 23/01691/REM, 04/12/2023  

 

Page 6 of 10 
 

changing economic, social and environmental requirements”. Additionally, JCS Policy SD4 also states 

that- “new development should be designed to contribute to safe communities”. 

Whilst a cluster of 8 affordable units would not normally be problematic, the aforementioned plots- 

(Plots 35,36,37 and 48,49 and 50) are located in adjacent and parallel locations, meaning that, in 

effect, there is a cluster of large (4 & 5) bedroom homes contained within a small area. In practice, 

this design choice could (from speaking anecdotally to local Registered Providers) create community 

cohesion problems, as this clustering arrangement has potential to lead to a large number of young 

children (and eventually teenagers/young adults) living in close proximity, creating conditions for 

potential future anti-social behaviour and low-level community disruption.  

Following discussions with Vistry and Nexus Planning on 08/11/23, it was agreed that Stonewater 

would engage with the Senior Housing Enabling Officer to discuss whether any potential ongoing 

housing management issues may arise from this housing arrangement.  

Stonewater subsequently met with the Housing Enabling Officer on 21/11/23 to discuss the 

clustering of the 4/5-bedroom affordable homes as described above. During these discussions, 

Stonewater provided this officer with reassurance that these units would be managed effectively by 

Stonewater’s community management teams, with the incorporation of these 4/5 bedroom 

affordable homes amongst market units of a similar size further aiding long-term management and 

ensuring that the affordable homes provided are tenure blind.  

If necessary, this officer would be happy to talk to Stonewater (subject to planning permission being 

granted) about the possibility of setting up a Local Lettings Plan to aid community cohesion at the 

outset of this development.  

On this basis, whilst the current siting of Plots 35,36,37,48,49 and 50 could (in this officer’s view) be 

improved to aid community cohesion, reasonable confidence has been provided by Stonewater and 

the wider scheme design to allay officer concerns and overcome any objections. On balance, this 

officer is therefore satisfied with the current clustering arrangements of these specific plots.  

Visual Appearance:  
 

JCS Policy SD12 requires that the design of affordable housing should meet required standards and 

be equal to that of market housing in terms of appearance, build quality and materials. To be clear, 

this means that all affordable homes should be tenure-blind and visually indistinguishable from their 

market counterparts. 

Reviewing the submitted planning layouts and drawings (covering both market and affordable house 

types), this officer is satisfied that the affordable house types are visually substantially similar to the 

market homes in terms of their external and internal appearance. Both air source heat pumps and 

Solar Photovoltaic (PV) panels are included on both affordable and market dwellings (with one 

exception- see the Net Zero Carbon section for further details). Accordingly, this officer is satisfied 

that the affordable homes (with one exception) are tenure-blind and visually indistinguishable from 

the market homes.   

Affordable Housing Standards/Occupancy Rates:  
 

Page 61



Housing Enabling Comments- Oakley Farm, 23/01691/REM, 04/12/2023  

 

Page 7 of 10 
 

JCS Policy SD4: Design Requirements outlines that new development should be designed to be 

adaptable to changing economic, social and environmental requirements, as well as specifying that 

new buildings should also be ‘fit for purpose’. Additionally, JCS Policy SD11: Housing Mix and 

Standards sets out that new housing should meet, and where possible exceed appropriate minimum 

space standards. 

A significant body of research, including the 10 year review of the 2010 Marmot Report drew a 

strong link between overcrowding and poor health outcomes in children, to quote: “Children living 

in overcrowded homes are more likely to be stressed, anxious and depressed, have poorer physical 

health, attain less well at school and have a greater risk of behavioural problems than those in 

uncrowded homes”.3 The National Housing Federation (NHF)’s briefing paper on overcrowding also 

found a wide range of negative mental and physical health outcomes associated with overcrowded 

homes.  

To be clear, officers would expect that any affordable homes should be suitable to reasonably 

accommodate the following occupancy levels: 1 bedroom 2 person, 2 bedroom 4 person and 4 

bedroom 7 person. The delivery of affordable homes at these sizes is necessary to maximise the 

number of households on the Council’s Housing Register who can access the affordable 

accommodation and provide adequate living, circulation and storage space.  

The proposed affordable housing mix, which is substantially similar to that agreed at appeal stage of 

this development, meets the Council’s requirements in terms of meeting, and in some cases 

exceeding, the Council’s minimum space standards. In this specific context, the development 

therefore complies with both JCS Policy SD4: Design Requirements and JCS Policy SD11: Housing Mix 

and Standards respectively and is supported by this officer. 

Provision of Accessible Homes:  
 

JCS Policy SD11 emphasises that- “housing should be designed to be accessible and adaptable as far 

as is compatible with the local context and other policies”. Additionally, JCS Policy SD11: requires 

that new development should- “address the needs of the local area, including the needs of older 

people, as set out in the local housing evidence base including the most up to date SHMA”.  JCS 

Policy SD4: Design Requirements compliments this position, requiring that- “New development 

should provide access for all potential users, including people with disabilities, to buildings… to 

ensure the highest standards of inclusive design”.  

When assessing planning applications, due regard must be given to S.149 (Public Sector Equality 

Duty) of the 2010 Equality Act, which requires the Council to take steps to meet the needs of 

persons who share a relevant protected characteristic that are different from the needs of persons 

who do not share it.4  

The applicant’s current scheme proposal seeks to deliver 56 x affordable M4(2) units, in addition to 2 

x M4(3)(2)(b) wheelchair accessible affordable homes.  

 
3 Institute of Health Equity, ‘Health Equity in England: The Marmot Review 10 years on’ (2020), p. 108. 
4 With the protected characteristic in this context being disability. 

Page 62

https://www.instituteofhealthequity.org/resources-reports/marmot-review-10-years-on/the-marmot-review-10-years-on-full-report.pdf
http://s3-eu-west-1.amazonaws.com/doc.housing.org.uk/Overcrowding_briefing_2019.pdf
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2010/15/section/149
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2010/15/section/149


Housing Enabling Comments- Oakley Farm, 23/01691/REM, 04/12/2023  

 

Page 8 of 10 
 

Reviewing identified need, the 2020 Gloucestershire LHNA identifies a need for a minimum of 67% 

of new homes built between 2021-2041 should be built in accordance with that M4(2) Category 2 

standards (as updated from time-to-time).5 More specifically, between 2021-2041, the LHNA 

identifies that Cheltenham has a need to build 7,215 new level access (M4(2)) homes.6  

Nevertheless, this requirement must be considered in light of the scheme context, (namely, a sloping 

site which includes steep gradients). Accordingly, seeking a higher percentage of M4(2) homes 

would be impractical and somewhat unrealistic in this context. The provision of 56 affordable M4(2) 

units is therefore supported by this officer.  

Provision of Wheelchair Accessible Homes:  
 

Similarly, the 2020 Gloucestershire LHNA projects that, to meet housing need, 213 new affordable 

wheelchair accessible homes (M4(3) should be built between 2021-2041 (11 per annum).  

The applicant’s affordable housing statement (dated 03/10/2023) indicates that 2 x 1b2p 

M4(3)(2)(b) wheelchair units will be provided (on Plots 215 & 216).  

Whilst this provision is welcome and broadly policy compliant (whilst reflecting need and the site 

context), upon reflection, policy compliance would be enhanced if the proposed wheelchair 

accessible homes could be more appropriately located (on the lower slopes of this development) to 

ensure that wheelchair users can independently move about the scheme freely and without any 

restriction (due to the gradients inherent to this scheme).  Ideally, relocating the wheelchair 

accessible units could enable wheelchair users to live in closer proximity to essential community 

facilities, such as the Sainsbury’s superstore and Priors Road shops, in addition to facilitating easier 

access to bus stops on Priors Road- helping wheelchair users to access essential local services, job 

opportunities and their local communities and support networks.  

Notwithstanding this, the applicant’s revised covering letter, dated 22.11.23, (which provides a 

rationale justifying the current locations of the affordable wheelchair user homes) broadly states 

that, due to the steeply sloping gradients across the site, plots 215 and 216 have been located to 

facilitate connections to Priors Road and non-motorised travel more generally.  

With regards to potentially relocating Plots 215 and 216 to more amenable locations (nearer to the 

northwest SUDs Pond)- this has been rendered untenable by the community design, and 

considerations of overlooking and privacy for neighbouring homes (within and surrounding the 

scheme). These supporting arguments, when combined with the late stage of this application, are 

compelling enough to satisfy this officer that, (despite scope for improvements around the siting of 

the wheelchair units), the current proposals for affordable wheelchair accessible homes are the best 

provision that could be secured within the specific scheme context. Accordingly, this officer is 

satisfied with the provision of wheelchair accessible homes as proposed.  

 

 

 
5 ORS ‘2020 LHNA’, p. 124.  
6 Ibid; Figure 83, p. 126.  

Page 63

https://www.cheltenham.gov.uk/downloads/file/8258/gloucestershire_local_housing_needs_assessment


Housing Enabling Comments- Oakley Farm, 23/01691/REM, 04/12/2023  

 

Page 9 of 10 
 

Energy Efficiency & Zero Carbon Housing Delivery:  
 

JCS Policy SD3: Sustainable Construction requires that development should- “contribute to the aims 

of sustainability by increasing energy efficiency…which will be expected to achieve national 

standards” (i.e., Part L of the 2021 Building Regulations).  

Cheltenham’s June 2022 Climate Change SPD sets out that, in terms of energy efficiency, new homes 

should “be built to zero carbon standards as defined by LETI and should seek to achieve their KPI’s 

detailed on Page 8”. Additionally, Page 33 states that applicants should ensure that relevant 

measures outlined within the Climate Change Checklist, including sustainability, energy efficiency 

and integrating renewable energy are implemented on new developments.  

Reviewing the applicants Energy Sustainability Statement dated 03/10/23, this officer notes that the 

energy performance of all dwellings (including the affordable homes) will exceed the 2021 Building 

Regulations Part L1A, as reflected within Table 3 (Page 12)- the scheme in totality will exceed the 

2021 Part L Building Regulations by 66% (Page 24). In this regard, the scheme therefore complies 

with JCS Policy SD3: Sustainable Construction. Additionally, the applicant has reassured this officer 

that all affordable units will benefit from air-source heat pumps (exceeding current policy 

requirements).  

Whilst not achieving zero-carbon standards as set out by Cheltenham’s 2022 Climate Change SPD, 

this development does go beyond the Building Regulations in terms of the energy efficiency of the 

affordable homes, thereby lowering bills for tenants and owners and reducing the risk of fuel 

poverty. These key objectives have been achieved via improved dwelling fabric, the utilisation of air 

source heat pumps, and the use of solar PV on all affordable house types (with the exception of the 

North East Flats). Notably, the North East Flats (Drawing Number 1820, Revision P3) indicate that the 

units will include “roof-mounted photovoltaics”, however, the plans seemingly don’t reflect this. This 

officer would therefore appreciate some reassurance by the applicant that PV will be mounted on 

these homes to ensure that the affordable and market homes are built to equitable standards.  

This officer welcomes the provision of electric vehicle charging infrastructure, (via smart chargers) 

which stands to benefit affordable residents over time as Electric Vehicle usage becomes 

increasingly mainstream and affordable.  

Section 106 Agreement:  
 

The Council will expect the owner to enter into a Section 106 agreement to deliver the affordable 

homes, using the Council’s latest Precedent S.106 agreement as a template. This agreement will 

specify the affordable housing schedule, affordable housing plan, requirement to transfer the 

affordable homes to a Registered Provider amongst other matters and will ensure that the 

affordable homes remain affordable in perpetuity.  

Registered Providers & Nomination Rights:  
 

All affordable housing should be provided by a Registered Provider who will be expected to enter 

into a nominations agreement with the Local Authority, providing 100% nominations on first 

letting/sale and 75% of all subsequent lettings thereafter, with the exception of the M4(2) and M4(3) 

units, where this officer will seek 100% nominations on first and all subsequent lets, to ensure that, 

Page 64

https://www.cheltenham.gov.uk/downloads/file/9722/climate_change_supplementary_planning_document
https://www.cheltenham.gov.uk/downloads/file/9926/precedent_s106_ahp


Housing Enabling Comments- Oakley Farm, 23/01691/REM, 04/12/2023  

 

Page 10 of 10 
 

wherever possible, these valuable homes are allocated to households in the greatest need for 

accessible properties.. This officer understands that the developer (Vistry Homes) has submitted a 

joint application on this scheme alongside Stonewater to deliver the affordable housing element of 

this application.  

 

Complying with these nomination agreements will therefore assist Cheltenham Borough Council in 

meeting its statutory housing duties under the relevant Housing and Homelessness acts. 

 

 

Ewan Wright  

Senior Housing Strategy & Enabling Officer 

04th December 2023  

Page 65



Oakley Farm – Final Landscape Comments 
Rev A 

Summary of landscape comments based on IDP Dwg 001 
1. Main Access Footpaths - The main access road has its footpaths stopped short of the bell 

mouth. I recognise that this reflects comments from PPA4 but Glos CC as Highway Authority may 

have concerns about it for people who may wish to access from Harp Hill. Glos CC may also wish 

to see the paths constructed in anticipation of a footpath being formed on Harp Hill. 

2. Y-Headed paths in POS – My suggestion of having Y-headed paths instead of T-junctions to 

paved paths in the POS has not been picked up to prevent desire lines being formed. I would not 

apply the same thing to the mown paths but would recommend the three paved path junctions 

have them and tree planting put in the central space the Y-Headed junctions form. 

3. Street trees - The inclusion of trees in the street is welcome but it should be noted that there is 

a gap in the street trees along the main spine road to the NE of the feature oak. Trees here 

would shade the southern elevations of the houses and is a minor omission that will emphasise 

the presence of tree elsewhere in the streetscene of the development. The reason for their 

omission from this stretch could be discussed with the Applicant at the final PPA meeting. 

4. Communal Garden to north east side – Perhaps more an impression of the landscape 

masterplan there appears almost as a communal garden. 

5. Proximity of western houses to footpath hedge – The hedge that runs to east side of FP86 

appears at two places to have houses proposed very close to it. This hedge is a very large one 

and requires maintenance to keep it as a valuable, sustainable feature in the local scene. A 

drawing annotation speaks of future management but does not explain what this is – sectional 

laying over rhree years is recommended, starting with the sections next to the two western-

most houses. 

6. Visitor parking  - As discussed at previous PPA meetings there appears a lack of general visitor 

parking and understanding of road width with a line of parked cars to one, or both sides of it 

need to be understood.. 

7. Sainsburys path – Limited information is presented other than it will be a 3m wide tarmac path 

with ‘robust illuminated bollards’ set along it to create a safe route. Illuminated bollards will not 

be adopted by Glos CC and will remain the responsibility of the Management Company in charge 

of the estate. I have raised concern about vandalism to such features and repeat it here. Lower 

pedestrian lights on 4 to 5m columns will likely be more resistant. 

8. Path widths between houses – The western paved path through the housing line to the POS 

appears quite tight, particularly when compared to other wider routes between houses 

elsewhere on the Site. Is there the opportunity to widen this a little so it does not become 

oppressive for path users or problematic for the two houses’ residents? 

9. POS paved path surfaces – Is explained as self-binding gravel in the annotations. I have 

expressed concern about run-off erosion on these paths, particularly the north to south sections 

that run straight up and down the slope of the hill. These N-S paths at the very least should be in 

a bound surface e.g. coloured tarmac or resin bound paving with extensive drainage solutions 

(e.g. cross path run-off channels) to manage surface water. Timber edging to the bound surface 

would not be a robust treatment. 

10. Drawing anomaly – Part of the Sainsburys building appears to be subject to tree planting, may 

need to modify the drawing before it is shown to Sainsburys! 

Page 66



11. Potential curve in POS path through eastern tree belt – To assist with gradient management 

and screening value of tree belt the path could be curved through the tree belt instead of run 

straight up and down through it. 

Overall I think the proposals are however reflective of the landscape treatment that we have discussed 

at the PPA meetings. 

Landscape Policy Compliance 
The landscape planning policies that need to be considered are set out in the following order: 

• JCS 

• Cheltenham Adopted Plan 

• NPPF 

Joint Core Strategy 2017 

JCS SD6 – Landscape 

Part 1 – The proposals cannot be considered in keeping with the character of the Site and its rural 

context, including the AONB, so there is technical conflict with this part of the policy. However as the 

Inspector found at Inquiry there is sufficient similarity between the proposals and the surrounding 

houses to consider that the proposals are in keeping with the nearby residential areas in character terms 

so there is deemed to be compliance. 

Part 2 – The proposals remove parts of the sloping open fields and associated rural character. The 

proposals are required to draw upon existing Landscape Character Assessments and Sensitivity 

information and have done so in their LVA so there is compliance with this first part of SD6 Pt2. The 

proposals will not enhance existing landscape character but retain the key features of landscape 

character in terms of the mature trees on Site. There is judged to be technical conflict with Part 2 of the 

policy but given the premise that the character of this collection of fields is going to change the scheme 

attempts to minimise it as far as it can whilst still accommodating 250 units; 

Part 3 – An LVA has been submitted by the Applicant, landscape mitigation measures discussed and 

indicative landscape treatments are shown on the submitted masterplan. There is therefore compliance 

with this part of the policy. 

Overall and on balance there is greater compliance than conflict with the various parts of SD6.. 

JCS SD7 – Cotswolds AONB 

I consider the proposals adversely affect the character to the AONB and there is conflict with this policy. 

However the degree of harm is considered acceptable by the sitting Inspector. 

SD7 also refers to the Cotswolds AONB Management Plan, the current version of which is the Cotswolds 

National Landscape Management Plan 2023-25. Policy CE1: Landscape is the most pertinent to 

considerations. The proposals do not conserve or enhance the landscape character of the Site so are in 

conflict with this policy. However as determined by the Inspector the adverse effects on the character of 

the AONB are considered acceptable. 

The Cotswold Conservation Board issued a Position Statement on development affecting the National 

Landscape in 2021 titled ‘Landscape=Led Development.’ This document should be reviewed in the 

submitted combined Planning Statement (if not already done so) to evidence how the proposals have 

been ‘landscape-led’ to give due regard to the approach laid down in that document. 

Page 67



JCS SD4 – Design Requirements 

Part i) – Context, Character and Sense of Place; New development should respond positively to, and 

respect the character of, the site and its surroundings and these proposals do so as far as they can 

internally. Linkages to the nearby developments could be improved There is judged to be compliance 

with this part of SD4. 

Part iv) - Public realm and landscape; New development should ensure that the design of landscaped 

areas, open space and public realm are of high quality, provide a clear structure and constitute an 

integral and cohesive element within the design. The landscape strategy proposals retain as much native 

hedgerow as possible and more mature trees to the north east of the Site than I initially thought 

possible. There is judged to be an overall compliance with this part of SD4. 

You will need to conduct an assessment of the other parts of the policy to judge if the proposals comply 

or conflict with the other parts of SD4 and the policy as a whole. 

Adopted Cheltenham Borough Local Plan 2011 to 2031 

Policy L1: Landscape and Setting 

This policy states that. ‘Development will only be permitted where it would not harm the setting of 

Cheltenham including views into or out of areas of acknowledged importance.’ It goes onto clarify the 

town’s setting is formed from the AONB and local character improved through high architectural quality 

and myriad of green open spaces. The proposals were initially argued to adversely affect local character 

and this is the case when judged against the rural appearance of the Site as a piece of the AONB and as 

part of the Cotswold escarpment. However when judged against the houses set around it to the north 

and west and to a lesser extent to the south along Harp Hill the proposals are considered to be similar to 

the existing form of Cheltenham. 

The broader setting to Cheltenham is not adversely affected and even though local distinctiveness is lost 

from the area of Oakley the wider setting and character of the town remains unchanged. There is 

deemed to be compliance with this policy.  

NPPF 

NPPF 131 – Street trees 

There are street trees indicated but further details should be sought to judge their effectiveness to 

comply with highway requirements. There is anticipated to be compliance with this national policy. 

NPPF 174 a) – Valued landscape 

The Site is considered a ‘valued landscape’ as part of the Cotswolds AONB so this part of NPPF 174 is 

engaged. The proposals do not preserve or enhance the character of the Site as a valued landscape or 

the character of other parts of the adjacent Cotswold AONB. There is conflict with this part of the NPPF 

but as the Inspector has already determined this is considered an acceptable harm when weighed 

against the benefits of the scheme. 

NPPF 174 b) – Intrinsic quality of countryside 

The Site also has intrinsic value as a piece of countryside as reflected by its national landscape 

designation. There is conflict with this part of NPPF 174 but it is considered acceptable by the Planning 

Inspector. The POS to the south will retain some elements of the countryside in terms of ridge and 

Page 68



furrow and grass land character but the introduction of numerous trees will change its character to one 

that is more parkland in nature. 

NPPF 176 – Nationally designated landscapes 

Great weight should be given to conserving and enhancing landscape and scenic beauty in AONB’s such 

as the Cotswolds AONB. There is conflict with this part of the NPPF as the proposals would reduce the 

landscape character of the Site as a piece of the AONB and its context to the east. The Inspector 

considered that even with great weight applied to the landscape character change there was still greater 

benefits accruing from the proposals. 

 

Stuart Ryder 

3/11/23 

Rev A – AONB Management Plan and CCB Landscape-Led Development Position Statement added 

Page 69



 Name  Ma� Haslam (BA (Hons), Dip UD, MA UD) 

 Title  Urban Design Consultant 
 (on behalf of Cheltenham Borough Council) 

 Email  ma�@futurescapedesign.com 

 Telephone  07990 528310 

 Applica�on No.  23/01691/REM 

 Descrip�on 

 Application for approval of Reserved Matters (access, appearance, 
 landscaping, layout and scale) following outline planning permission for 
 residential development of up to 250 dwellings and associated infrastructure, 
 ancillary facilities, open space and landscaping, demolition of existing 
 buildings and creation of a new vehicular access from Harp Hill (in 
 accordance with the terms of outline planning permission 20/01069/OUT). 
 Details are also submitted in relation to conditions 6 (phasing), 9 (Energy and 
 Sustainability Statement), 13 (Harp Hill access junction details) and 25 (hard 
 and soft landscaping and boundary treatment) of 20/01069/OUT 

 Address  Oakley Farm Priors Road Cheltenham Gloucestershire GL52 5AQ 

 Date  26/10/23 

 Case Officer  Lucy White 

 Lucy, 
 Please find below urban design comments on the above applica�on. This follows a lengthy and detailed 
 pre-applica�on process over a 4 month period, within which the applicant and design team have made a 
 concerted effort to overcome numerous constraints and a very awkward site which presented many 
 design challenges. 

 I have set out comments which iden�fy a number of mainly detailed design points which it is suggested 
 should be dealt with as part of an amended scheme design. 

 Connec�ons / access 
 While the various access and movement routes within the site are set out on page 24 of the Design and 
 Access Statement (DAS), important access points into the site from surrounding areas are not shown. 
 Possibly the only significant outstanding issue is the provision of access routes into the site from the 
 north and east. This issue has been discussed during pre-app mee�ngs but I do not feel that a conclusion 
 has been reached on this. Certainly access from the residen�al area to the east is essen�al to be agreed 
 and would allow adjacent communi�es to access and experience this site and the very posi�ve exis�ng 
 landscape and environment, as well as the proposed play areas. 

 Parking 
 Another significant part of any scheme design is how parking is dealt with. Overall, parking is 
 well-considered and it feels like there will be sufficient provision to meet the needs of the residents. 
 However, I would have to defer to Highways and they will be commen�ng in detail on this and other 
 aspects. A par�cular issue is that representa�ves from the Highways team have not been involved during 
 any of the regular PPA pre-applica�on mee�ngs with the borough council so it is very hard to understand 
 if there are any significant issues rela�ng to this from their perspec�ve. Given that this site is some 

 1 

Page 70

mailto:matt@futurescapedesign.com


 distance away from the town centre, but is very close to the Sainsbury's supermarket accessed off 
 Redmarley Road adjacent to the site to the NW, this site should be treated as suburban, requiring an 
 appropriate level of parking. 

 Page 24 of the DAS notes that the minimum garage sizes are 
 3 x 6m, but this is not sufficient for people to be able to 
 comfortably park their cars and exit the vehicle on both 
 sides. We know from the experience and feedback from 
 other schemes that around 80% of garages at those 
 dimensions are not used for parking cars, but rather for the 
 storage of household items. Private vehicles in general are 
 also becoming wider and longer, which will exacerbate this 
 issue further. This will inevitably lead to allocated spaces not 
 being used, which will lead to more pressure on on-street 
 space, for both residents and visitors. A good example of 
 where an integral garage works well is the open market 
 Hazel Undercro� house type, where there is a good level of 
 space to the sides of cars, including some space for the 
 storage of items. 

 Density 
 250 homes are proposed, and according to the DAS (page9), 
 the developable site area not including the root protec�on 
 areas of the trees, results in an overall (net) density of 39 
 dwellings per hectare (dph). Given the significant area of the 
 site le� as open space or for the se�ng of exis�ng trees, this 
 is a comfortable level. This strikes a sensible balance 
 between the provision of much-needed affordable and 
 market homes, and the edge of se�lement loca�on. 

 Bin storage and access 
 All terraced houses have front bin storage which is certainly a posi�ve feature. We would need to see 
 detailed plans of the construc�on, applica�on of materials and sizes, to ensure that sufficient space is 
 provided for the required bins. It might also be sensible to consider if addi�onal storage space could be 
 provided for EV charging cables. 

 Specific layout comments 
 The sub-sta�on opposite plot 1 - this is a highly prominent posi�on and is right at the end of the long 
 view line along the main access route (from west). The first sugges�on would be to move this to a less 
 prominent posi�on, or screen the structure with vegeta�on. 

 The area of parking and green space to the south of unit 155 could form a slightly more posi�ve terminal 
 vista from the street which runs past plots 94 and 95. The end gable of plots 155-157 defines the space 
 well but could a tree in that space create a focal point? 

 A path will be needed to the rear of plot 217. If people from the development to the east wanted to visit 
 the central play area, the desire line would be through this space, rather than to the front of plot 217 
 and 218, then back up the steps to the side of plot 220. Nothing is shown within the main DAS but an 
 informal mown path is shown in the landscape document. Is a mown path sufficient given the poten�al 
 importance of the connec�on to the east? Mown paths are fine in the summer but can quickly become 
 muddy and slippery in the we�er months and offer a very limited accessibility provision. 

 2 

Page 71



 Architecture / applica�on of materials 
 The following comments are more detailed and relate to the house types and the applica�on and 
 specifica�on of materials. 

 Where dark cladding is applied to the upper levels of proper�es, it is generally be�er to con�nue 
 wrapping the cladding around the front and the sides (as with the Spruce Retaining GF, applied to plots 
 26, 28, 89 and 90, or the Chestnut No Gable type). This avoids awkward joins in prominent loca�ons and 
 the effect of the cladding just stopping partly around the corner, which is not a posi�ve way to finish the 
 effect. For example, for the mews plots including no.27 (Buckthorn), the sides should be clad, finishing 
 into the corners. The sides, although partly concealed by the first floor amenity spaces, will s�ll be visible 
 as people move along the streets. 

 The different effects can be clearly seen within the Plot 25 (Buckthorn side balcony) eleva�on sheet (see 
 below), with a more posi�ve effect seen in the examples where cladding is applied across the whole 
 facade. 

 3 

Page 72



 For the mews plots (and other house types where a dark cladding is used), the garage doors and front 
 door are shown as a mid/light grey. This just introduces another colour into the composi�on which 
 doesn’t seem to complement the other tones. It would be more balanced to use the same darker 
 grey/black as the cladding, or use a simple, untreated/uncoloured �mber. 

 Query: for the Hazel open market SL-Down Gable eleva�on plan, it looks like the garage roof is 
 constructed of slates/�les but it is flat. This would likely not be possible unless a form of clipped and 
 sealed �le system is used which stops water running back under the �les. Is this going to be a form of 
 rubber covering? 

 The open market Hazel SL-Up Pitch house type shows the 1st and 2nd floors joined with a darker feature. 
 The first thought was why doesn't this project, as in a box dormer feature, as there is an opportunity to 
 create a more three-dimensional impression, with more depth. In addi�on, when water runs off the 
 darker material and then across the lighter material below, we would need to be sure that the join 
 between materials will work well but that also staining does not occur. 

 The open market Hazel SL-Down Gable house type is a good way of increasing floorspace with minimal 
 impacts. 

 The Oak Tree Flats (plots 51-56, 68-73) are generally posi�ve. The main long eleva�on facing the Oak 
 faces west and so will benefit from views across the open space towards the west. All of the apartments 
 benefit from private amenity space, in the form of balconies, however, each of these is fairly narrow and 
 will not allow a range of ac�vi�es. These measure 2m wide, by 1.5m deep (3m.sq), and this is well below 
 the more standard 5m.sq. balconies seen in many other developments. 

 The overall building is essen�ally split into four main blocks, with circula�on between and a courtyard 
 space within the centre, accessed off the parking areas. However, this courtyard will not benefit from 
 much natural light and there are only two flats which have windows which overlook this space, plus the 
 windows from the stairwells. 

 Query: why are there two separate staircases each serving only 3 flats, on the northern side of the 
 building? I'm assuming this might relate to fire regula�ons, but unless there is a good reason to provide 
 two stairwells, would it not be more efficient to have 6 flats accessed off a single stairwell, as with the 
 flats on the southern side? 

 The eleva�ons are posi�ve, but as suggested in my final comments as part of the pre-applica�on process, 
 the use of both flat roofs and mansards does depart from the established character seen in the rest of 
 the development. You do get a very clear sense of the different parts of the building, looking at the side 
 eleva�on (eastern eleva�on) in the top right corner of the eleva�ons sheet. 

 The submi�ed scheme is well-ordered, with good-sized windows. The use of a mul� light brick across the 
 majority of the facades is a more refined approach than including smaller elements of render and the 
 different building lines also contribute to a sense of variety and interest. The projec�ng bricks at ground 
 floor will need to be carefully considered, in terms of how many courses between each. Two bricks 
 between each projec�ng course might work well and not create too heavy an impression. This could be 
 tested within sample panels. 

 How the mansard roof material joins the lighter bricks below will be really important to carefully 
 consider. The material itself should also be very high-quality, possibly a metal. The quality of the finishing 
 in these areas is cri�cal as certain areas will be very visible given the varying ground levels, and slightly 
 longer views towards this building. 

 4 

Page 73



 Query: the eastern eleva�on shows ground levels across three different levels, but the layout plan seems 
 to only indicate two main levels. It would be very useful to see a 3D mul�-view of this block to be able to 
 be�er understand the levels. 

 The eleva�on plan shows a 2-storey blank retaining wall as part of the front eleva�on. I would suggest 
 that a form of creeping vine is grown against this, possibly Virginia Creeper, which doesn't damage 
 materials. This would create a living green wall which changes during the seasons. 

 For the Glade apartments, its posi�on between the mature oak trees is posi�ve and will provide good 
 overlooking over the Glade play area. Access to the various entrances within the block is via steps but 
 this is somewhat unavoidable given the topography. The posi�on of this building has been moved further 
 north to compensate. 

 The view from the car park towards the northern eleva�on is generally posi�ve, however the first floor 
 balcony over the bin store is not can�levered, and there will likely be an issue with possible conflicts 
 between the balcony supports and bin movement in that area. 

 One sugges�on could have been to provide eleva�ons based on NE, SE and SW facing sides, rather than 
 the tradi�onal compass points as that would have shown that the block actually has quite a simple but 
 refined structure, which might not be apparent from the angled submi�ed eleva�ons. 

 Similar comments apply to this as have been noted for the Oak tree apartments, par�cularly in terms of 
 the size of the balconies. 

 Materials 
 In terms of the principal materials, a refined, modern and high-quality pale�e has been developed, 
 which both references the Cotswold stone and light render seen in Cheltenham, and the stone seen in 
 the various Cotswolds se�lements in the wider area. The use of a Cotswold stone reference brick is a 
 good choice and can create a modern but robust finish. 

 For recon stone, I would suggest avoiding the very yellow-toned types, as these always look ar�ficial. 
 Newly quarried Cotswold stone tends to start out with a range of creamy/light/yellowish tones, but this 
 fades to a pale creamy grey fairly quickly. This process doesn’t seem to occur to the same extent in the 
 recon products which can add to a sense that the recon stone is not a natural product. In my opinion, a 
 very high-quality and varied mul� brick provides a much more posi�ve finish than the best recon stone 
 products available. I would suggest using either a good quality natural Cotswold Stone or a high-quality 
 mul� brick, but of course tes�ng the different recon products which are available is essen�al. 

 Another detailed design issue are the mortar joints between recon stone units. The ashlar stone 
 approach tradi�onally involves finely worked and smooth stone, placed very close to each other with 
 very thin joints. There are many examples of this style in Cheltenham but the recurring problem with this 
 approach in modern buildings is that mortar joints are almost always much too thick and they are 
 constructed as if they were bricks or blocks, o�en with standard mortar joints which are around 10mm. 

 I cannot find any reference to the Clerkenwell Romsey brick which is men�oned in the DAS, but there 
 would need to be a process of checking various samples to select a textured, mul�-toned and 
 high-quality product. This would also have to include sample panels. The quality of the selected brick 
 must be very high given the extensive use of this material across the site. 
 For the render, this should be complementary but also slightly contras�ng to the recon stone and brick, 
 in terms of tone and texture. Again, this will need to be tested through samples and a sample panel. 

 5 

Page 74



 The dark-toned cladding in areas adjacent to landscaping, needs to be robust and not require on-going 
 maintenance, given that it is o�en placed at higher levels and will be hard to access. I have previously 
 suggested the Cedral weatherboard cladding material, as this provides a maintenance-free and robust 
 finish. This has been tested on numerous schemes in the past and creates a posi�ve impression. 

 For roof materials, a dark grey slate would be the primary contextual reference and covers both 
 Cheltenham and the wider Cotswolds character areas (Stroud, Painswick, Cirencester etc.) The more 
 tradi�onal material would be a natural stone �le, but there are a few fairly obvious issues with that 
 approach, such as cost, weight, and supply. Using a dark grey slate (or high-quality equivalent 
 fibre-cement �le), would also provide some visual contrast with the much lighter facing materials. 

 Landscape / public art / boundary treatments 
 The site has a strong landscape character, which consists of a combina�on of steeply sloping topography, 
 strong field boundaries, and numerous stand-alone mature trees. There is also a borrowed character 
 which is formed by the raised site level rela�ve to the surrounding land, which provides long distance 
 views across Cheltenham, incorpora�ng numerous built and natural landmark features. I will defer to 
 comments from landscape colleagues on detailed landscape issues, but there are a number of points 
 which cross-over into the broader urban design area. 

 We will need informa�on on how the public art features will be dealt with, created, commissioned, and 
 the process which should be followed. Any public art features should be site-specific and ideally 
 community-led. 

 The brown lines on the boundaries materials plan indicates �mber fence forms, but these are shown on 
 the plan as finishing many of the garden boundaries which define areas of public realm. Unless there is a 
 very robust and high-quality example which can be shown for this approach, it would be be�er to 
 generally use a solid construc�on approach, such as a brick wall, as this is always more robust, requires 
 less maintenance, and is more visually appealing. Examples include the sides of the gardens of plots 114, 
 115, 67, 77, 83, 102, 105, 106, 153 etc. 

 The boundaries plan also doesn't seem to indicate where the solid wall boundaries are. 

 For the plots with boundaries facing north towards the exis�ng landscape features (e.g. plot 143), we will 
 need to be sure that this approach is going to be robust and sufficiently secure. There is certainly an 
 argument that �mber boundaries might relate well to the landscape se�ng but something more than 
 standard fence panels will be required. 

 Query: are �mber fences needed to the rears of the mews plots? Aren't those solid construc�on (part of 
 the building)? 

 The 2-storey brick retaining wall within the Oak Tree car park is also shown as �mber fencing? This needs 
 to be amended. 

 Timber fencing also shown around plots 219-222 but these are shown as open or brick, on the street 
 scenes plans. 

 Just one comment on the landscape document (page 41). Just thinking about providing a more direct 
 stepped route down the slope, par�cularly from where the number 1 is shown, to the next level down. 
 At present, there is a long curved route, which is fine, but there is a clear desire line straight down the 
 slope too. 

 6 

Page 75



 Condi�ons 
 As noted above, there are various elements which will need to be covered under condi�ons, principally 
 the materials, including (but not limited to) the following; 

 ●  Recon stone, render, brick, dark �mber/cladding 

 ●  Roof �les (fibre-cement / slate), mansard roofing 

 ●  Boundary materials, including any solid materials, railings, fencing, paving, edging, kerbs 

 ●  Details and finishes of the terraced housing bin stores 

 ●  Balconies, windows, metal cappings 

 ●  Details of the public art - loca�ons, process, methodology, outline general approach, some 
 mechanism for agreeing overall costs/budget. From my perspec�ve, it would be appropriate to 
 seek to integrate some of the intended artworks into the func�onal landscape, perhaps as usable 
 furniture, such as benches, play space items etc. It would be posi�ve to allow for at least a few 
 stand-alone artworks within the scheme, possibly with an element of interac�on, but all of these 
 issues should be covered within a public art strategy, produced by a public-ar�st alongside 
 community groups/representa�ves/local residents. 

 Summary 
 These proposals cons�tute a significant increase in quality, over the more recently permi�ed housing 
 schemes in the area. More generally, this scheme, subject to the provision of high-quality materials and 
 finishes, could challenge the be�er quality schemes na�onally. This is possible through the combina�on 
 of landscape and the various bespoke built forms, which includes a strong commitment to integra�ng the 
 topography into the core design approach. A�empts to include surrounding landmarks into view 
 corridors through the scheme and the split-level housing, takes advantage of the opportuni�es created 
 by the sloping land. 

 The approach references parts of the historic Cheltenham architectural language and brings in styles 
 from the Cotswolds, while developing a character which is also partly unique to this site. This approach is 
 very successful. The use of a light brick which aims to reference the natural stone seen in Cheltenham 
 and the Cotswolds, as well as the light render from Cheltenham, is perhaps the cri�cal feature, and 
 allows a modern style, which has clear and strong connec�ons to the two areas. 

 The provision of numerous play areas and the large swath of green space along the southern boundary, 
 also adds to a sense of purpose and considera�on. The main central Glade play space is one of the 
 highlights of this scheme, including the surrounding landscape and built forms. The street network is 
 generally well-considered and logical and creates a func�onal and effec�ve access network within what 
 is a very challenging site. 

 Many thanks, 
 Ma� Haslam 

 www.futurescapedesign.com 

 7 

Page 76

http://www.futurescapedesign.com/


 

APPLICATION NO: 23/01691/REM OFFICER: Mrs Lucy White 

DATE REGISTERED: 4th October 2023 DATE OF EXPIRY : 24th January 2024 

WARD: Battledown PARISH: CHARLK 

APPLICANT: Vistry Homes Limited And Stonewater Limited 

LOCATION: Oakley Farm Priors Road Cheltenham 

PROPOSAL: Application for approval of Reserved Matters (access, appearance, 
landscaping, layout and scale) following outline planning permission for 
residential development of up to 250 dwellings and associated 
infrastructure, ancillary facilities, open space and landscaping, 
demolition of existing buildings and creation of a new vehicular access 
from Harp Hill (in accordance with the terms of outline planning 
permission 20/01069/OUT). Details are also submitted in relation to 
conditions 6 (phasing), 9 (Energy and Sustainability Statement), 13 
(Harp Hill access junction details) and 25 (hard and soft landscaping 
and boundary treatment) of 20/01069/OUT. 

 

 

REPRESENTATIONS 
 

Number of contributors  55 
Number of objections  52 
Number of representations 3 
Number of supporting  0 
 
   

30 Greenway Lane 
Charlton Kings 
Cheltenham 
Gloucestershire 
GL52 6LB 
 

 

Comments: 3rd November 2023 
 
The access/egress to and from this development is restricted to entering/exiting Harp Hill 
from/to an already very busy traffic management of roundabouts and junctions at Priors 
Road/Hales Road/Hewlett Road, and to/from SixWays in Charlton Kings. The additional 
traffic could add considerably more congestion at these junctions. 
 
It is possible that the additional flow of traffic from the development of 250 houses using 
Harp Hill, Greenway Lane and Mill Lane could be in excess of 1000 journeys per day if all 
reasons for travel and vehicle use are considered. This is an enormous increase of traffic 
that is unacceptable for reasons of noise, extreme pollution, the dangers to elderly and 
indeed all pedestrians on the steep slope of Harp Hill, particularly at night, the danger 
posed to children travelling to schools on bicycles, and the risk posed to nearby residents 
mental health matters. 
 
Harp Hill has on road residential parking serving local residents and their guests and 
could not reasonably be altered without some considerable suffering.  
 

Page 77



The impact from extra delivery vehicles should not be forgotten, and I am most anxious 
that emergency vehicles could find extreme difficulty to access all areas during peak 
times. Legitimate on-street parked traffic and the sheer volume of additional traffic from 
this development could unacceptably hinder attendances in all areas surrounding Harp 
Hill, Greenway Lane and Mill Lane. 
 
I am very concerned for the state of Greenway Lane at the traffic lights of SixWays that 
are programmed for very short periods of traffic movement allowing only a few cars to 
pass to the A40 at a time. I understand that it would be very difficult to change this 
programme as A40 traffic is prioritised. 
It is not unusual these days for traffic to back well up Greenway Lane at peak periods 
with some waiting vehicles mounting grass verges to pass legitimately parked residents 
cars. The school run is notorious for parents parking cars that exacerbates the 
congestion issue. Extra Emergency vehicles could have difficulty passing or even 
accessing on this route. 
Congestion caused by increased slow moving traffic from the proposed development 
could add to pollution levels that are unacceptable considering the present day attitudes 
to such healthy lifestyle. 
 
Similarly, accessing Greenway Lane, Mill Lane or Aggs Hill, all of which have dire 
restriction for the safe flow of traffic is very short sighted indeed. Mill Lane is winding and 
very narrow in places and is locally considered not suitable for unsustainable increased 
levels of new traffic. Greenway Lane is largely unlit at night, is steep and does not have 
suitable pathways. All routes are used by joggers, dog walkers, nature lovers and horse 
riders. 
Harp Hill, Greenway Lane and the surrounds were not designed nor built for this 
additional proposed traffic. 
 
I strongly suggest that an alternative egress/access route for this development would be 
the best result for the project to relieve the gross mistake that the present plan would 
present. This alternative should be sited shorter in distance to more appropriate traffic 
allowance. 
 
 
   

Beech Cottage 
Harp Hill 
Charlton Kings Cheltenham 
Gloucestershire 
GL52 6PR 
 

 

Comments: 6th November 2023 
 
As residents of Harp Hill, we have a clear interest in this development. We appreciate 
that there is a shortage of housing and that new developments need to take place. Our 
concerns do not relate to the proposed housing per se but rather the vehicular access to 
that housing estate coming solely from Harp Hill. The building of 250 houses means up to 
an additional 500 cars will be attempting to get up or down Harp Hill to access 
Cheltenham and surrounding areas. 
 
As far as we can tell the only planned routes out from the bottom of new estate via 
Brockweir Road or Pillowell Close are cycling or walking routes. Why is a road access 

Page 78



not being considered there to at least halve the traffic having to use Harp Hill? It is simply 
not realistic to think that people will walk or cycle. Not all children will be able to attend 
the local schools and not all adults will work in the vicinity, meaning that they will need to 
use their cars. As parents of different aged children we know that it is also simply 
impossible to take children to different schools and then get on to our place of work 
without a car, so allowing only for walking or cycling routes for this new development is 
shortsighted. In addition, an increasing number of people use delivery services for both 
groceries and other purchases. These will not be by delivered by bicycle or on foot; they 
will come by road. Those who don't use delivery services use their cars to do their 
grocery shopping. The lack of vehicular access from the bottom of the development, 
where there are pre-existing good roads with pavements and lighting seems nonsensical.  
 
The only access point is onto the fairly high slopes of Harp Hill. Harp Hill is not a town 
road, it is a lane up to open countryside in an area of outstanding national beauty. The 
lower slope is already an extremely busy road with many car users speeding through. It 
has several choke points along its ascent.  
 
At the top of the hill, there is already substantial redevelopment from other approved 
housing developments (Cromwell Court and Sovereign View to name a couple). This has 
resulted in countless works vans, and additional car traffic without sufficient parking on 
site necessitating on-road parking. This then causes blind corners as people attempt to 
overtake these vehicles. Added to this, there are no footpath facilities meaning we feel 
very unsafe walking dogs or children along the road. It is already too fast and too busy for 
us to contemplate doing this safely. What is being proposed will exacerbate our safety 
concerns. 
 
However, of most concern is the traffic at the bottom of the hill. You will be aware of the 
Battledown Centre for Children and Families. This already causes traffic chaos at pick-up 
and drop-off times. The families who need to use this facility must do so through the 
maze of parked cars at the bottom of the hill. Many of the houses on the lower slopes 
require road parking as their driveways only accommodate one car. Furthermore, the 
very successful and popular Hewlett Arms causes cars to park on Harp Hill due to the 
pub's insufficient car park. The current situation is dangerous enough for the children and 
families who need to use the Battledown facility or indeed other members of the public 
who wish to walk along the road to access local shops. Adding up to an additional 500 
vehicles to the mix could be disastrous. Not only impacting pedestrians, it will cause a 
back-up of car traffic waiting to meet the double roundabout at the bottom of the hill at 
Prior's Road/B4075. It is already extremely challenging to turn right at this roundabout (ie 
towards Sainsbury's) and is not much better turning left, due to the lack of visibility. With 
the increase in traffic, this development may make Harp Hill into a virtual car park at busy 
times, with queues all the way up the hill. It will cause motorists to take more chances 
when turning right across traffic and we will see more collisions on the roundabout. Will 
there be a re-working of the road layout to accommodate this upturn in traffic exiting Harp 
Hill? Has a traffic survey been conducted? 
 
Alternatively, any traffic which needs to exit out of the new housing estate and proceed 
up the hill and take the Greenway Lane turn to Sixways will be caught up in the already 
extremely time-consuming traffic lights there. It currently takes 6 minutes per traffic light 
cycle to wait for Greenway Lane's turn to join at Sixways. Imagine how many cars will be 
backed up if half of the additional vehicles use this route. 
 

Page 79



In other words, both exit routes (to Hales Road, or Greenway Lane) are struggling to 
cope with current traffic conditions. We cannot understand why an access point is not 
being considered at the base of the site at Brockweir Road, Pillowell Close or indeed 
along the farm track running between the Sainsburys site and Hillview Road turning onto 
Priors Road/B4075. It is for this reason that we strongly oppose the development as the 
plans stand. 
 
   

14 Ashley Close 
Charlton Kings 
Cheltenham 
Gloucestershire 
GL52 6LF 
 

 

Comments: 30th October 2023 
 
This development will cause so much extra traffic congestion. It will affect the traffic on 
Harp Hill in both directions.It is currently a problem with traffic having to negotiate the 
parked cars at the bottom of Harp Hill and at the top of Harp Hill there are no pavements 
with pedestrians having to walk on the road. 
Greenway Lane will also be greatly affected with the extra traffic, it is already a problem 
with traffic build up from the Six Ways traffic lights, even coming back as far as Ashley 
Close.  
The schools, doctors and other facilities will be unable to cope with all the extra people, 
which could as much as a further 1000 people. 
Lastly the area of AONB would be lost. 
 
   

18 Ashley Close 
Charlton Kings 
Cheltenham 
Gloucestershire 
GL52 6LF 
 

 

Comments: 31st October 2023 
 
I object to the proposed development firstly because the increase in traffic on Greenway 
Lane near where I live will make existing problems there much worse: 
 
Vehicles frequently mount the pavement where Greenway Lane meets the A40 because 
cars parked near the junction cause those waiting at the lights on Greenway Lane into 
the middle of the road. 
 
There are long queues on Greenway Lane near the Six Ways junction at peak times, 
especially at the Ashley Manor (formerly St. Edwards Preparatory) school's open and 
close times - when Ashley Manor holds an event, the traffic on Greenway Lane can be 
chaotic because parents park their cars on both sides of Greenway Lane, blocking both 
the road and pavement. 
 
Greenway Lane floods regularly causing problems for both vehicles and pedestrians.  
 

Page 80



Vehicles entering Greenway Lane from the A40 in the direction of town often do so from 
the outside lane, through oncoming traffic - more traffic will cause more problems leading 
to accidents. 
 
Secondly, the road is used by walkers, cyclists and horse riders, the increased traffic flow 
due to this development will certainly lead to a loss of amenity for all these people. 
 
Thirdly, I object to any development on the AONB and on productive farm land. 
 
 
   

Land Adj To  
Gray House 
Harp Hill  
Cheltenham. 
 

 

Comments: 8th November 2023 
 
RE : OBJECTION TO PLANNING APPLICATION REF. 23/01691/REM 
 
I am writing on behalf of my client, ************, whose property comprises the site of two 
new homes currently under construction at Land Adj. To Gray House, Harp Hill and 
which will be materially affected by the above proposed development. 
 
In the last few days my client has received an incorrectly addressed consultation letter 
from your council notifying him of the above application. 
 
As he has only just become aware of the submitted application he has not had an 
opportunity to respond to your council by the suggested deadline for comment (stated as 
the 3rd November 2023). 
 
On initial review, my client considers that the submitted proposal fails to comply with 
requirements of NPPF policy guidance and the Local Plan and he therefore objects to 
this application. In this regard, I would confirm his intention to submit a detailed letter of 
objection by the 17th November 2023. 
 
Given that he has only just received notification of the proposed development and could 
not have responded by the 3rd of November I would respectfully request that both this 
email and, in due course, his pending letter of objection should be taken into 
consideration by your council in determination of the above application. 
 
Kind regards 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 81



 
   

High Grove 
Greenway Lane 
Charlton Kings Cheltenham 
Gloucestershire 
GL52 6LA 
 

 

Comments: 31st October 2023 
 
In this application for reserved matters, it is now possible to see the full detail of the 
scheme intended to provide up to 250 houses on the Oakley Farm Site. I am appalled to 
note that the sole vehicular access to the proposed development is to be via a T-junction 
with Harp Hill. Something of the order of 1000 vehicle entries to and exits from the 
development are anticipated per day. It is clear to anyone familiar with the driving 
conditions on Harp Hill and Greenway Lane that these additional vehicle movements will 
have a catastrophic effect on those of us who have to use these two roads routinely. 
 
I live on Greenway Lane, very close to the junction with London Road, and I observe 
daily the effects of the current 'rush-hour' congestion largely generated by Ashley Manor 
School traffic and also the contortions that result from the passage of huge lorries taking 
construction materials and removing waste from the existing developments around the 
areas of the Hewlett Reservoirs (Cromwell Court, etc). The design of junctions and of the 
narrow roads themselves is inadequate for current conditions, even before the deluge of 
lorries, and ultimately cars, from Oakley Farm is unleashed on them.  
 
This proposal should be rejected until a safe scheme of traffic management for the 
construction and the residential phases has been devised. The presently proposed 
scheme would create unsafe, unhealthy and utterly inconvenient conditions for large 
numbers of existing residents, plus unacceptable increases in carbon emissions. 
 
 
   

Willow Bank 
Harp Hill 
Cheltenham 
GL52 6PX 
 

 

Comments: 19th October 2023 
 
Harp hill is one of the worst maintained roads in Cheltenham and really dangerous to 
walk along. Traffic is awful already at peak times. Impact of development modelled as 
severe. Piecemeal offering through road widening at the bottom that will have little to no 
real impact. I read the discussion on traffic in the appeal, and the mitigation for this 
suggested by Robert Hitchens can basically be summarised as "the traffic will be so bad 
once the development is complete, that people will stop using the route". And the 
Secretary of State agreed with it. How can that be a reasonable position? How are these 
250 extra cars going to get where they need to go in the mornings and evenings? Harp 
Hill completely unsuitable as an entrance to the development. Obvious to all including 
Gloucestershire Highways. Overridden by a Secretary of State who walked up it once. 
 

Page 82



Since the appeal was successful I expect there's little we can do now to change the fact 
the entrance will be on harp hill. I can only suggest Gloucestershire highways take a 
serious look at traffic calming measures, speed bumps, pedestrian crossings, re 
surfacing of the whole road including pavements and road widening at the single track 
bottleneck outside the school to name a few as a best effort mitigation for this impending 
catastrophe for local residents. 
 
   

11 Ashley Close 
Charlton Kings 
Cheltenham 
Gloucestershire 
GL52 6LF 
 

 

Comments: 30th October 2023 
 
I am horrified to hear that with the Planning application for up to 250 dwellings on the 
area of AONB may go ahead. 
 
I understand that the vehicular access to these houses is to be from the top of Harp Hill 
and Greenway Lane.  Neither of these roads are able to cope with the volume of traffic 
which will be incurred. 
Both roads are narrow with no chance to widen.  Greenway Lane is a Rural country Road 
and just not suitable for the volume of extra traffic which will be incurred. 
As it is at peak times the queue at the traffic lights into the London Road there are tail 
backs to Ashley Road.  
The extra volume of traffic and pollution will be completely catastrophic and 
unsustainable. 
I am opposed to this proposal. 
 
   

12 Greenway Lane 
Charlton Kings 
Cheltenham 
Gloucestershire 
GL52 6LB 
 

 

Comments: 3rd November 2023 
 
I agree with other objectors that the environmental and particularly traffic impact of this 
development, exacerbated by only one point of access on Harp Hill, will be significant to 
the junctions at the bottom of Harp Hill and Greenway Lane.  
But my particular objection is to the supposed purpose of this development. The housing 
crisis is caused by the lack of genuinely affordable housing, due to the sell-off and non-
replacement of council housing. This development offers only a small percentage of 
'affordable' houses and the likelihood is that, as in so many other new developments, this 
percentage will eventually be reduced, if not removed altogether, by the developers' 'non-
viability' arguments. Even if the affordability quota survives, it only requires those 
properties to be available at 80% of local market prices. This remains way beyond the 
means of most people who are victims of the housing crisis. We need developments that 
provide only social housing at genuinely affordable prices. 
 

Page 83



   
Thaylin 
11 Harp Hill 
Charlton Kings 
Cheltenham 
Gloucestershire 
GL52 6PY 
 

 

Comments: 18th October 2023 
 
Access to the proposed development from Harp Hill will cause significant issues for local 
residents. 
We live towards the bottom of the hill and find it difficult to access and leave our property 
due to traffic at the junction with Hales and Priors Rd at peak times. The increase in 
vehicles on Harp Hill due to access to the new development will increase traffic 
significantly. Not only will this further impact our ability to access our property, but it will 
increase the risk to pedestrians trying to cross the road. This is of particular concern 
given that there is a school on Harp Hill.  
From approximately 2/3 of the way up the hill there is only a narrow footpath on one side, 
meaning pedestrians often need to step into the road. At the top of the hill there is no 
footpath. This is already a dangerous situation so an increase in vehicles will increase 
the risk to life for pedestrians.  
An increase in traffic transiting up Harp Hill will also impact traffic levels at the Six Ways 
junction in Charlton Kings. Traffic already queues back around the corner from the 
junction and often as far as Ashley Road during peak times. An increase in traffic would 
cause significant delays for residents and those attending the school.  
The current condition of the road surface on Harp Hill is poor, with multiple potholes and 
scree washing down the hill during heavy rain. The corner between Oakley and Stanley 
Roads is also very narrow, with a concrete box restricting the width of the road. The 
condition and width of the road already cause pinch points so the increase in works 
vehicles during the build phase and vehicles of new residents will further degrade the 
surface and increase the risk of a head on collision between vehicles.  
Harp Hill is not an appropriate access point for this new development. 
 
   

3 Harp Hill 
Charlton Kings 
Cheltenham 
Gloucestershire 
GL52 6QB 
 

 

Comments: 21st October 2023 
 
Harp Hill is not a suitable access road to support the additional traffic which will be 
created through the building of 250 homes. It is a steep and narrow road which can 
already barely cope with the large number of vehicles using it. The pavements are 
narrow or non-existent in parts, which causes a danger to pedestrians. Cars parked 
along the road cause major bottlenecks. However if double yellow lines were to be 
painted to prevent cars parking, there would then be a greater risk of vehicles speeding 
up and down a road which is used as a commuter rat run.  

Page 84



The new development needs greater provision for parking and fewer houses to be built, 
so that there is not such a huge increase in traffic and we can ensure that Harp Hill is as 
safe as possible and doesn't become a really dangerous road. 
 
   

31 Harp Hill 
Charlton Kings 
Cheltenham 
Gloucestershire 
GL52 6PY 
 

 

Comments: 2nd November 2023 
 
Response to Full Planning Application 02/11/23 
Comments from 31 Harp Hill 
These comments should be read in conjunction with my comments on the Outline 
Planning Application which I reiterate below.  
 
My comments on this Full Application refer mainly to the increased traffic on local roads, 
principally on Harp Hill.  
The Outline Planning documents already contained a letter (20/01069/OUT) dated 10 
February 2021 from Highways Management to Planning requesting a deferral of the 
Outline Application on the grounds that the Traffic Assessment (TA) had not been fully 
addressed. Now the Outline Application has been approved, can we be assured that 
should the Full Application be approved, all `improvements' to Harp Hill and other local 
roads associated with the development site should be based on an appropriate TA 
accepted by Highways Management? Moreover, I feel such assurances are needed at 
the pre-construction phase as well as at the pre-occupation phase; as regards the 
former, appropriate restrictions on the construction traffic will also need to be imposed 
and their adherence monitored in order to minimise the nuisance caused in what is a 
residential area.  
In the meantime, I also note the numerous other comments on this Full Application 
detailing why Harp Hill is unsuitable as an access road (steepness, speeding, 
congestion, driving on pavements, poor condition, narrowness, lack/inadequacy of 
pavements, sensitive school location, hidden driveways, lack of pedestrian crossings at 
mini-roundabouts etc.). While I see little point in restating all that has been said 
elsewhere, I would additionally like to mention that the recent new Zone 15 parking 
restrictions have also led to increased parking and subsequent congestion on Harp Hill. 
 
Response to Outline Planning Application 06/08/20 
My home, 31 Harp Hill, forms part of the Battledown Estate and in the first instance I 
should like to give my strongest endorsement to the objection submitted by the Trustees 
of Battledown Estate on 29 July 2020. 
 
In addition I should like to add the following: 
 
1. The Biodiversity Report makes no mention of deer. In fact, various photos of roe deer 
on the Oakley Farm site are readily available elsewhere on the internet and muntjac deer 
have also been observed there. Moreover, Harp Hill has signage for deer at various 
places. A number of roe deer are permanently resident in this area of the Battledown 
Estate and have been known to stray onto Harp Hill on occasions, which must present a 
traffic hazard under any circumstances, let alone with increased traffic levels.  

Page 85



 
2. The Transport Assessment does not discuss the extra traffic flow which will be 
generated on Aggs Hill, being the continuation of Harp Hill up the Cotswold escarpment. 
Aggs Hill is a particularly narrow, steep and winding country road which not only gives 
direct access from Cheltenham to the Cotswolds Way footpath, but also can potentially 
be used as a rat run towards Andoversford. Any significant increase in traffic on this hill 
would be highly dangerous and very unwelcome. 
 
3. The Transport Assessment makes no mention of Gloucestershire County Council's 
plans to increase pupil numbers at the Battledown Centre for Children and Families (23, 
25 Harp Hill) in the coming years, see: 
https://glostext.gloucestershire.gov.uk/documents/g9396/Public%20reports%20pack%20
Wednesday%2017-Jun-2020%2010.00%20Cabinet.pdf?T=10 
 
This expansion has the potential to generate considerable extra traffic, on-street parking 
and congestion on Harp Hill and should be taken into account. 
 
4. Both Harp Hill and Aggs Hill are cycle routes (hill climbs) of national importance, see 
e.g.  
https://www.climbbybike.com/climb/Aggs-Hill/9992 
In particular, Harp Hill featured in the 2014 Tour of Britain cycle race when large crowds 
gathered on the hill. As such, these hill climbs generate considerable cyclo-tourism. The 
introduction of the proposed new junction on Harp Hill would provide an extra hasard for 
cyclists, particularly if the junction is steep and cars are pulling out quickly into gaps in a 
busier traffic flow. Additional traffic on Harp Hill would also necessarily also increase the 
overall danger to cyclists.  
 
5. I have concerns about the impact and duration of the building works associated with 
the proposed new development. The flow of contractor vehicles up and down the hill 
would be immense and, as has been seen with recent construction work higher up the 
hill, the lorries most often do not carry tarpaulins (thus often shed soil etc.) and frequently 
speed, so that monitoring of this construction traffic for adherence to regulations would 
need to be strict and properly enforced, remembering that Harp Hill is a residential area. 
6. I have related concerns about the disruption which would be caused by the proposed 
mitigation works on the mini-roundabouts at the foot of Harp Hill, which would 
undoubtedly lead to major congestion not only on the hill but in the broader local area.  
 
   

20 Harp Hill 
Charlton Kings 
Cheltenham 
Gloucestershire 
GL52 6QG 
 

 

Comments: 18th October 2023 
 
As a resident of Harp Hill, I have concerns relating to the traffic impact of this new 
development. Harp Hill is a minor road and already struggles with the volume of traffic it 
has to cope with, particularly at morning and evening commuting/school times when it's 
used as a cut-through to avoid the A40. Some days I struggle to get out of my driveway 
for quite some time and there's been cases of gridlock, where cars going down the hill 
and waiting to access the roundabout queue so far up the hill, past Battledown school, 

Page 86



that cars cannot get up the hill due to cars being parked on the road. Adding a further 
250 households is going to add further congestion to this junction as well as noise/health 
implications for local residents.  
 
Harp Hill was not designed to carry this volume of traffic. It is in a state of disrepair near 
to the peak of the hill and in my view, not wide enough as it is to support the homes that 
already need access. And being a hill, when it rains heavily, unsafe levels of water can 
be seen to run down it. Adding more traffic is going to increase the likelihood of traffic 
accidents. I lost one of my cats recently, run over outside Battledown School by a car 
coming at speed down Harp Hill.  
 
I am also concerned about the impact that 250 additional homes will have on the 
provision of local services - Schools, GPs, water supply, drainage, broadband, etc. 
 
   

Manurewa 
16 Harp Hill 
Charlton Kings 
Cheltenham 
Gloucestershire 
GL52 6QG 
 

 

Comments: 23rd October 2023 
 
Having studied the proposed plans I object to the number of dwellings on the 
development. I think there are too many squeezed onto the site and not enough 
adequate parking for the cars that will be associated with the number of dwellings. 
Cars will end up being parked along the access roads making it dangerous to access for 
emergency vehicles and refuse lorries. Young children will be at risk if parked cars block 
line of sight of drivers. The number of houses built should be reduced, as adding 
additional parking will only add to the increase run off of rainwater coming from the hill 
and leave the area vulnerable to flooding. Reduce the number of dwellings built. 
 
Comments: 18th October 2023 
 
Has anyone who permitted this application ever tried to walk or drive up or down Harp 
Hill at rush hour? After perhaps a heavy rain storm? I would suggest not, as currently 
there is an issue with too many cars, lorries and vans using this road. At parts the road 
tapers and narrows, so it is dangerous for two vehicles to pass safely, let alone a 
pedestrian who may be trying to reach a local school (one of which is situated on the 
bottom of the hill). Half the hill has no pavement, yet is a direct link to The Cotswold Way. 
So adding to this the additional amount of cars that 250 new houses will bring with their 
only access as Harp Hill, seems thoughtless. The truth is there is no safe or sensible 
access to this proposed development. The uneven surface of the road, problematic 
drainage issues (road is constantly being dug up, or patching potholes), and lack of 
speed control is already a mounting issue. If developers have to push these things 
through then why are we not making sure the access is suitable before they break 
ground. 
Good luck getting a local secondary school place that your children can walk or cycle to if 
you live here, both local schools are over subscribed already. 

Page 87



There's not much point reflecting on the damage to wildlife, AONB destruction, or the 
increased flood risk to North East Cheltenham, as it's already been permitted but the 
access and traffic issues could be addressed, there is still time. 
It is worth noting that the increase of traffic will also greatly affect Ham, Charlton Kings 
Six Ways, Priors Road, Hales Road and Hewlett Road.  
The whole thing is tainted with bullying big companies and greed being put before local 
communities. 
 
   

3 Battledown Cottages 
Harp Hill 
Charlton Kings 
Cheltenham 
Gloucestershire 
GL52 6QG 
 

 

Comments: 2nd November 2023 
 
I write with a formal objection to development at Oakley Farm, Ref Planning Application 
23/01691/REM. 
 
Safety - As a resident on Harp Hill for the past 18 yrs, I have witnessed increased volume 
and speed of traffic on the hill. The footpaths are narrow and non-existent towards the 
top of the hill where access to the new development is proposed. As a pedestrian, 
walking on Harp Hill has become a hazard, the increased volume and swerving of pot-
holes is an accident waiting to happen.  
 
Access in and out of properties, including the school, The Battledown Centre, is also a 
daily hazard and we simply cannot cope with more traffic impacting our daily lives. 
Congestion of adjoining roads and the bend at the Hewlett Reservoir is also a major 
issue. 
 
If this development goes ahead we will count the days until a serious accident occurs. 
 
Damage to Buildings & Infrastructure: Many of the period properties on Harp Hill do not 
have foundations and will not withstand the vibrations from heavy construction traffic. 
Evidence of this can be produced, with the previous development (Birdlip Road), our 
house required re-plastering, inside and out, since cracks formed due to the daily 
vibration of the lorries carrying hardcore to/from the site. 
 
Flooding is evident from the Birdlip Road development, and this will cause further 
problems with more homes generating waste. Drainage cannot cope with the additional 
water which will cause damage the roads and dwellings. 
 
Local facilities, shops, schools, surgeries and supermarkets are inadequate for further 
residents in the Battledown / Charlton Kings area.  
 
The traffic noise is also problematic, vehicles accelerating up the hill and speeding down 
cause a constant nuisance.  
 
We also should reflect on the destruction of AONB, the loss of this natural habitat and 
impact to wildlife is astonishing - we should be preserving this site. 

Page 88



 
If valid surveys had been conducted this planning would never go ahead.  
 
The impact of an additional 250 houses will adversely impact the local community 
causing much stress and a decline in the quality of life for residents.  
 
The site is simply not suitable for the development. I strongly recommend that the 
decision is reviewed, and the proposed planning for dwellings cancelled or at least 
reduced.  
 
 
   

2 Harp Hill Villas 
Harp Hill 
Charlton Kings 
Cheltenham 
Gloucestershire 
GL52 6PX 
 

 

Comments: 2nd November 2023 
 
As residents of Harp Hill, we strongly object to the access approach outlined in this 
application and believe the impact on the local road network will be severe and make 
travel in the surrounding area (by car, foot, and bike) much more dangerous. 
 
Regardless of some of the conclusions drawn in the appeal decision regarding post-covid 
traffic decreasing due to self-redistribution, working from home and e-scooter schemes, 
this is not our experience living on Harp Hill. This development is likely to introduce over 
1,000 extra journeys into the surrounding small and poorly maintained roads. Roads that 
already experience circulatory issues at the bottom and top of the hill, plus at the junction 
with Greenway Lane and the traffic lights to the A40 at Six Ways.  
 
For pedestrians the danger will be compounded by the narrow or lack of pavement on 
both sides of the hill, which will not be remedied by the footpath on the development. 
Whilst appreciating the addition of a planned footpath on the development, crossing the 
road to get to it might be riskier than it's worth. It is currently impossible to push a double 
buggy up the hill without going on the road and looking at the current plan, taking one 
through the estate will also be difficult without using the access road. 
 
Placing the access entrance just over the brow of Harp Hill would also seem to be a 
dangerous development for cars, pedestrians, cyclists and horse riders. 
 
Harp Hill is already widely used as a short cut to avoid the A40 and traffic lights, 
particularly during peak school times and the additional 1,000+ car journeys will add to 
the often chaotic scenes at the Battledown Children's Centre during morning drop off and 
afternoon pick up. Particularly given the lack of parking restrictions on the hill resulting in 
cars being parked on both sides of the road. 
 
There is no public transport on Harp Hill which will restrict any movements on sustainable 
transport modes and add to the pedestrian and car journeys on Harp Hill.  
 

Page 89



Whilst appreciating the developers will pay £64,500 to support local traffic improvements, 
it is difficult to judge whether this amount is sufficient or will be appropriately used without 
sight of the associated plans. The small roundabout at the bottom of Harp Hill is already 
congested with local traffic movements and through traffic. A speed limit of no more than 
20mph will surely be needed to manage traffic movements on the hill, Greenway Lane 
already has traffic calming measures. 
 
It seems strange that the GCC Highways Planning Liaison Officer was not consulted for 
this application given the implications of the access proposed.  
 
Adding the car fumes of another 1,000+ journeys into the air around Harp Hill must have 
an impact on the air quality of the surrounding area. 
 
Having seen the substantial impact of the recent development of just three houses on 
Harp Hill, the introduction of heavy vehicles moving up and down the hill on multiple 
journeys during the construction phase is a very worrying consideration. The speed of the 
lorries, often full of spoil or heavy building materials, for the three developments was 
completely inappropriate for the gradient of the hill and very dangerous and they also 
further damaged an already poor road surface.  
 
 
   

Golspie 
Harp Hill 
Charlton Kings 
Cheltenham 
Gloucestershire 
GL52 6PX 
 

 

Comments: 2nd November 2023 
 
The development will cause a number of ongoing and long-term problems to Harp Hill 
and its' residents. These issues will greatly impact both the residents of Harp Hill and 
also the council and parties that maintain and / or provide services to or via Harp Hill. 
Some issues will be ongoing and some will be occasional, but all will have a severe 
impact. 
 
In no particular order, we list some that quickly spring to mind: 
 
- The road Harp Hill is already extremely busy. We have issues getting cars in and out of 
our drive during the day. The impact of an extra 250 houses will cause misery for 
residents of Harp Hill, the surrounding roads such as Hales Road, Hewlett Road and 
Greenway Lane. The residents on the proposed estate will suffer as permission has been 
granted for too many houses. There is insufficient parking on the proposed new estate 
and cars will encounter severe problems getting in and out of the estate. An access road 
(and the only one for the development) onto Harp Hill is simply unworkable. 
 
- The road is already dangerous as it is narrow and down to one lane from the Oakley 
Road turning due to the number of parked cars. There are always numerous vehicles 
parked outside our house and all the way down the Hill. These include overspill from the 
Battledown Centre, the Hewlett Arms, residents, visitors and tradespeople working at 
houses on the Hill. They need to park on the road, double yellow lines are not a viable 

Page 90



option as then there would be nowhere for residents to park. We are next to Zone 15 so 
residents, visitors and others already can't easily park elsewhere. 
 
- From to time, it is unavoidable that the road will be closed for maintenance and services 
work. Road traffic always comes with wear and tear and increased heavy traffic 
accelerates the wear. The provision or improvement of services around Harp Hill and any 
development may require road closure. The geography around Harp Hill is such that 
there is ground movement, which will result in road work and consequential road closure 
every once in a while. The list goes on but inevitably the road will have to be closed for 
maintenance work from time to time, even if occasionally. If Harp Hill is closed and if the 
only access to and from the development is via Harp Hill, then a consequence will be 
hours of congestion with people in the development effectively being locked in. In some 
circumstances it may result in traffic moving via Greenway Lane causing a complete 
block and lock of the area surrounding Harp Hill. The only viable solution is access to the 
development via Priors Road. 
 
- Emergency services. With a large development it is inevitable that emergency services 
will be called upon unpredictably from time to time. A congested road with (within reason) 
no guaranteed access smacks of negligence and the council / highways will be liable. 
Again, the obvious and only solution is access via Priors Road. 
 
- Opening up access onto Priors Road is the proper solution to many problems. Early on 
we attended a meeting at Whaddon Hall and did not get a clear answer as to why this 
was not to be considered, only obfuscation. The existing track connecting Priors Road is 
wide enough to be turned into a road. It connects to a very wide and road where traffic is 
already controlled by lights. Is this a ransom strip? Is there a connection with the previous 
Oakley government site? What is the problem with developing the track into an access 
road? 
 
Finally, why wasn't a judicial review of the application grant lodged? A JR would have 
been a low-cost option, so this is puzzling to say the least. Was this discussed internally 
and if so then what was discussed? Can we please see the minutes? 
 
 
For everyone's information: 
 
Freedom of information (FOI) is the right of anyone to access information held by public 
authorities. It is a fundamental right that allows people to hold their governments and 
other public bodies to account. 
 
The Freedom of Information Act 2000 (FOIA) gives everyone the right to request 
information from public authorities in the UK. This includes information about how they 
spend public money, the decisions they make, and the services they provide. 
 
Public authorities have a duty to respond to FOI requests promptly and within 20 working 
days. They must release all information that they hold, unless it is exempt under one of 
the exemptions in the FOIA. 
 
 
   
 
 

Page 91



 
Cloud Haven 
Harp Hill 
Charlton Kings 
Cheltenham 
Gloucestershire 
GL52 6PX 
 

 

Comments: 25th October 2023 
 
I have lived on Harp Hill with my family for over 20 years. In that time I have noted traffic 
volumes increase significantly. I have noted occasional efforts at traffic-calming to be 
short-lived and largely ineffective. 
 
This proposal involves the creation of high-density housing in an area where the existing 
infrastructure, notably highways, will struggle to cope with the additional burdens that this 
will create. Harp Hill is a narrow road with a steep section running from Battledown 
School all the way to the junction with Stanley Road. There are no pedestrian pavements 
from Stanley Road eastwards. 
 
Harp Hill is already being used as a 'rat-run' between London Road and the B4075 
(Priors Road) and also from the Cotswolds to the B4075. Commonly cars speed in both 
directions, the perception being that this is the edge of town. Cars going up hill typically 
are very noisy, as engines need to be gunned hard to gain speed. 
 
Harp Hill is one of the entrance points from Cheltenham into the Cotswolds for both 
pedestrians and cyclists. It is much to be preferred to the B4632, A40, A435 and 
Leckhampton Hill, all of which are larger roads, designed to accommodate heavy traffic 
flows, and where it takes much longer before leisure walkers/cyclists are into the 
countryside. However, it is self-evident that as traffic volumes increase, so the amenity 
value of Harp Hill for walkers and cyclists diminishes. Pedestrians and cyclists face 
unnecessary risks currently. For pedestrians there is no pavement beyond Stanley Road: 
one should be installed ideally all the way to the junction with Birdlip Road. For cyclists, 
going up hill most will be slow and wobbly, there is an unsighted corner before Stanley 
Road at one of the steepest points. Coming down hill, the road surface - even after 
recent remedial efforts - is poor, uneven and pot-holed. The road surface needs to be 
completely re-instated and a 15mph limit introduced. 
 
My perception is that this development is likely to go ahead, regardless of the views of 
current local residents. I consider that suggestions to mitigate its impact are therefore 
more likely to be adopted. To this end I suggest: 
 
The design of the estate should have additional direct exit(s) onto Priors Road and 
encourage eventual residents to prefer exit onto Priors Road which is a large road. 
Possibly a one-way system would be needed with, say, ingress via the existing Oakley 
estate and egress via the existing farm track onto Priors Road. Clearly measures would 
need to be incorporated to deter motorists from using the estate as a cut-through from 
Harp Hill to Priors Road, eg a 10mph speed limit, chicanes, speed humps etc. 
 
During development, construction traffic should access the site from Priors Road through 
the existing farm-track. 
 

Page 92



The whole of Harp Hill from its junction with Priors Road to its junction with Birdlip Road 
should be designated as a 15mph zone and enforcement efforts should be robust and 
effective. 
 
A hard-pavement should be installed on Harp Hill all the way from Stanley Road to the 
junction with Birdlip Road. 
 
Harp Hill should be resurfaced to a very high standard, with a particular regard for the 
safety of cyclists, who will be going up hill very slowly and coming down hill at speed. 
Particular safety measures to slow cars at the blind corner near Stanley Road should be 
adopted.  
 
Effective measures need to be taken to address the flow of water down Harp HIll in times 
of heavy rainfall. There is little point resurfacing the road unless the problem of drainage 
(and springs) is addressed. 
 
Harp Hill should have a vehicular size/weight restriction to deter coaches and lorries from 
using this route except for access. 
 
   

The New House 
Harp Hill 
Charlton Kings 
Cheltenham 
Gloucestershire 
GL52 6PX 
 

 

Comments: 19th October 2023 
 
Dear Madam  
 
This is the second time I have objected to the proposed development. My husband and I 
have lived on Harp Hill for 35 years and when we moved here .... Harp Hill was a 
relatively quiet backwater of Cheltenham. Now it is a rat run in the mornings and 
afternoons . You must realise this is a short cut to London Road and with the additional 
traffic created by the proposed new development it will be made far worse. The hill is 
unsafe for pedestrians and desperately needs resurfacing PROPERLY. Years of 
patching up is not good enough. We have incredibly poor paths, where they exist and 
also road subsidence. Some drains are totally blocked up and with heavy rain we have 
water gushing down the hill onto Hales Road causing flash flooding. 
In addition we also have increased noise pollution year on year 
and this would be made far worse with additional vehicles from the proposed estate.  
The access for this housing estate should be on Prior's Road NOT on Harp Hill ! 
 
************* 
 
 
I firmly object to full planning permission being obtained. 
 
 
 
   

Page 93



Sudeley 
Harp Hill 
Charlton Kings 
Cheltenham 
Gloucestershire 
GL52 6PX 
 

 

Comments: 2nd November 2023 
 
I am writing with the following comments as an OBJECTION to the application reference 
23/01691/REM. 
 
It is inconceivable that an application would be allowed in any area that had already been 
identified as AONB. Once done it cannot be undone. The impact on the local flora and 
fauna is irreversible, and the damage to the broader appeal of Cheltenham as the centre 
of the Cotswolds as more development is allowed on their very foothills and as 
Cheltenham grows will continue. 
 
The hedgerows surrounding the site provide much needed habitat for our wildlife, an ever 
increasing need to support our environment and bio-diversity. These hedgerows must be 
maintained as they take significant time to establish and given the current climate 
challenge we have we cannot afford to eliminate already established environments. 
 
As a resident of Harp Hill I witness on a daily basis the level of traffic that already uses 
Harp Hill and the dangerous consequences from a Health and Safety perspective that 
would result from any increase in traffic flow.  
 
As someone who regularly walks and cycles up Harp Hill the level of speeding (in general 
in excess of the speed limit, and often significantly more so) is dangerous and will result 
in a fatality if something is not done about it. The increasing number of journeys will only 
increase the traffic volumes and make it more dangerous for pedestrians, cyclists and 
motorists. Those who plan, allow the approval, and build this project will be responsible 
for those injuries sustained and lives cost as a result in future. 
 
The road itself can also not sustain an increased volume of traffic - it is already 
disintegrating, and I fear that increased traffic, especially heavy traffic, will have 
consequences for the state of existing houses up Harp Hill. 
 
I do not believe that an adequate road traffic survey has been conducted in recent times 
during typical high volume flow (within a normal working week, outside school holidays, 
and since the impacts following lockdown during COVID-19 have returned to normal). 
 
250 houses will result in far too dense housing, with invariably insufficient space for 
vehicles to be parked off the road, and a significant impact on the surrounding road 
usage in terms of frequent journeys into and out of the area, and supporting services.  
 
The road surface is in constant need of attention and only the very deepest of holes are 
ever filled, resulting in dangerous driving conditions, exacerbated by heavy traffic trying 
to pass and swerve holes as obstacles in the road. 
 
There are already a smaller number of developments which have increased the heavy 
goods vehicles up Harp Hill to an unprecedented level, most recently requiring the 

Page 94



installation of traffic lights to control flow on the road, which otherwise would be free 
flowing. I have concerns for the impact on foundations on houses situated in the 
proximity of such increased traffic. 
 
The road and surrounding area already suffer from flooding following heavy rain, and 
further building on green land will further exacerbate the issue for existing residents in the 
area. 
 
Given the reduction in surface area for drainage, through inevitable paving and housing, I 
am concerned that similar flooding will occur lower down the hill into Priors Road such as 
during the floods of 2007. 
 
There is also the significant issue of lack of facilities in the local area (and across 
Cheltenham) to support this number of houses. There are insufficient school spaces, and 
the area of proposed development does not currently fall within any secondary school 
catchment for schools located nearby, propagating yet more transport needs. A similar 
level of challenge exists for other necessary services such as medical, GP and dentists. 
 
I cannot believe that the proposed development on Oakley Farm has got this, certainly in 
the round about way that has been achieved. 
 
None of the issues raised during the consultation or subsequent planning processes 
have been addressed. 
 
How can this proceed setting such a precedent for total disregard for AONB in future. 
 
The significant concerns over road safety have been ignored - I want the warning of the 
likelihood of serious accident on this road noted given the increased volumes of traffic 
following and during completion (including unsuitable heavy goods and construction 
traffic). The road is already in a dreadful state and this will only increase, impacting 
cyclists in particular as well as normal vehicular traffic. 
 
 
Please take all these points as an OBJECTION to the application. 
 
   
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 95



37 Birdlip Road 
Cheltenham 
Gloucestershire 
GL52 5AJ 
 

 

Comments: 27th October 2023 
 
Totally agree with all previous posts who have expressed serious concern over the traffic 
implications of this development and in particular, the impact this will have on Harp Hill. 
This road is already dangerous and unfit for purpose at both ends. At the bottom end, it is 
practically a single lane carriageway as traffic already has to queue and weave in and out 
of parked cars. At the top end near the bend with Greenway Lane, the road is very 
narrow, traffic is frequently travelling too fast at this point and it is inevitable that there will 
be accidents following the significant increase in volume. Pedestrians are also going to 
be at risk as construction traffic towards the top of Harp Hill have frequently been 
blocking the footpath, forcing pedestrians onto the road.  
If the planning inspector did indeed visit Harp Hill and subsequently gave his opinion that 
the development will not have any significant impact on local traffic, this beggars belief. 
 
   

19 Birdlip Road 
Cheltenham 
Gloucestershire 
GL52 5AJ 
 

 

Comments: 1st November 2023 
 
I would like to raise an objection to this scheme around the poorly thought out vehicle 
access and general traffic management. The access on to the existing road at Harp Hill is 
dangerous and will lead to an accident, either due to frustrated drivers undertaking risky 
maneuvres on an already congested road or at the proposed junction where it will join on 
a short section of straight road in between 2 bends.  
Harp Hill already suffers from significant congestion, is very steep and also poorly 
maintained. There are a large number of vehicles that are parked along the street side 
leading to the road becoming in effect a single lane. This leads to frustration, speeding 
and generally poor driving at the current traffic levels. Introducing 250 more dwellings will 
clearly make this worse. I regularly cycle along Harp hill and on most occasions I have to 
swerved to avoid oncoming cars who are on the wrong side of the road whilst passing 
parked vehicles. The current road surface makes cyclists ride further out from the curb 
due to cracking and the parking and congestion problem makes drivers "take their 
chance" to pass parked vehicles whilst cyclists and other vehicles (with the right of way) 
are coming towards them. There are also poorly lit areas, a blind bend and the steep hill 
to contend with. Adding 250 houses with single access via this road is going to create 
real issues. 
In addition the top section of the road (from the Battledown entrance onwards) is 
unpaved. There are many walkers and runners who use this section regularly to take 
exercise or simply travel by low carbon modes but the the lack of pavement makes this 
dangerous. More cars will increase the hazard. The developers need to propose a 
system of safe traffic management both during construction of the development and for 
residents after completion. Significant funds should be held from the developers as a 
deposit via an S106 agreement to ensure that these requirements are met. 
Comments: 31st October 2023 

Page 96



The footpaths that links this development to the green space at the edge of Birdlip Road 
will result in increased access through the pathways that link the eden Villas 
development with Oakley Grange. This area already has a problem with motorcycles 
(and sometimes cars) using these paths as a short cut up and down the hill. This type of 
use will need to be addressed with suitable street furniture to prevent motorised vehicles 
using it 
 
   

25 Birdlip Road 
Cheltenham 
Gloucestershire 
GL52 5AJ 
 

 

Comments: 19th October 2023 
 
Having lived on Birdlip Road, accessed via Harp Hill, for the last 6 years, it is abundantly 
clear that Harp Hill is not adequate for the current level of traffic, let alone from 250 more 
homes. The state of disrepair of Harp Hill will be at the forefront of the minds of anyone 
who lives in the area, as the road is frequently full of potholes which seem only to be 
filled when they are causing damage to vehicles and result in a badly patched up road 
which is not fit for purpose. However, even if the road were to be adequately resurfaced 
to handle the construction traffic, and then adequately repaired once construction is 
completed to handle the traffic from 250 additional homes, the road itself is not equipped 
to handle such a volume of traffic. Much of the road, particularly towards to bottom of the 
hill, is obstructed by parked cars on one or both sides of the road leading to significant 
delays and blocking traffic at the roundabouts at the bottom of the hill. These parked cars 
appear to be both from residents of homes on Harp Hill, and additionally from Battledown 
Centre for Children and Families towards the bottom of the hill. An increase in traffic via 
Harp Hill would only further these issues. 
 
Recent construction work to just a handful of homes (new developments and 
enhancements to existing properties) has resulted in heavy construction traffic and 
dangerous blockages to the road as the road had become single-track for such a long 
stretch that visibility beyond the construction traffic was not possible. This resulted in 
significant delays, which would likely be exacerbated by construction work to such a large 
number of new homes. 
 
The local amenities are also not sufficient to handle such a large number of new homes 
in the area - local schools are already substantially oversubscribed, as are local childcare 
providers, and anti-social behaviour and crime continues to be a problem in the nearby 
housing development which ranges from Sainsbury's Oakley all the way up to Birdlip 
Road. 
 
Also, while it may seem unlikely given the presence of the large Sainsbury's supermarket 
nearby, I am confident that such a large number of new homes would result in further 
traffic chaos at the local Tesco Express store on Hewlett Road which frequently sees 
cars parked on the double yellow lines and blocking traffic flow on both Hewlett Road and 
Mersey Road. 
 
   
 
 

Page 97



23 Birdlip Road 
Cheltenham 
Gloucestershire 
GL52 5AJ 
 

 

Comments: 3rd November 2023 
 
Reference 23/01691/REM 
 
We object to the proposed vehicle access to Harp Hill from the related development. 
 
Harp Hill already has more road users than the road is suitable for. It is used as a 'rat run' 
to get to A40 as well as A435. There are also three schools (Battledown Childrens 
Centre, Glenfall and Ashley Manor) where Harp Hill is one of the access roads. 
Additional vehicles trying to access Harp Hill will only cause further issues. When there 
are parked cars it makes the road single lane which causes frustration and near misses 
as it is.  
 
There is already insufficient infrastructure (paths, road width) for pedestrians and cyclists, 
adding more vehicles onto an already over-used road will only likely cause an accident. 
There are already too many vehicles cutting across the junction with Greenway Lane 
when turning right from Harp Hill which is an accident waiting to happen. The bend on 
Harp Hill at this junction towards Mill Lane/Aggs Hill is also too narrow, there is also 
regular flooding of this section of road. Additional traffic from Harp Hill to Greenway Lane 
will cause extra delays at the Sixways Junction. Race traffic already exacerbates the 
above points as it is. 
 
The planning for the development where we live was limited to 40 houses having direct 
access to Harp Hill due to concerns over traffic-an additional 250 having access to Harp 
Hill simply won't be safe. 
 
There is limited public transport options for local routes which may enable the volume of 
local traffic to be reduced if it was more readily available. 
 
 
   

Wessex House 
3 Sovereign View 
Cheltenham 
Gloucestershire 
GL52 6FD 
 

 

Comments: 25th October 2023 
 
My objection is solely that the access to the site off Harp Hill is just not practical. The 
volume of traffic using Harp Hill already is a major issue and to significantly increase the 
traffic will create absolute chaos and congestion. It's already impossible to drive up or 
down the hill without having to take your life in your own hands as there is far too much 
traffic now, so I dread to think what the position will be like adding even more cars on to 
the hill. 
I do find it incredulous that whoever approved the original outline planning position 
thought that the hill was capable of accommodating more traffic. It can't! I have little 

Page 98



confidence though that any comments will be considered and the application will be 
approved regardless but it truly is a ridiculous state of affairs if this is approved given the 
genuine concerns residents have. My objection is not about the houses, I understand the 
need to build more homes, but the access from Harp Hill which is already oversubscribed 
and a danger to road users. Is there no other alternative access that could be considered 
which prevents the Hill from being used? 
 
   

High View 
Harp Hill 
Charlton Kings 
Cheltenham 
Gloucestershire 
GL52 6PR 
 

 

Comments: 24th October 2023 
 
We actively objected to the outline planning permission for this development on 
numerous grounds, key among which was the total unsuitability of Harp Hill as the 
access/egress for this development. In his report, the Planning Inspector stated that he 
had visited the site on several occasions and did not believe the development would 
create serious traffic problems. In this (as in much else) he was utterly wrong.  
 
Harp Hill is essentially a country lane which has been pressed into service as a major 
commuter route. It has street lighting (because GCHQ bullied the council into installing 
this the while the Oakley site was active) but no pedestrian pavement for much of its 
length, with pedestrians and vehicles sharing the road. The lower stretch is frequently 
congested as thru-traffic in both directions weaves between parked cars. This is 
especially true at peak commuter periods. It also carries large volumes of traffic 
(including buses and coaches) on race days (in particular during the Festival) when much 
of the traffic arriving in Cheltenham from the east on the A40 uses Greenway Lane and 
Harp Hill to approach the racecourse. The idea that an additional 1000 vehicle 
movements a day (250 houses x 2 cars x 2 journeys) can be added to all this without 
chaos resulting is risible. 
 
In addition, it is difficult to see how so many vehicles will be able to get out of the new 
estate onto Harp Hill at peak times. In my own daily experience, it can be problematic for 
a single car to find a break in the traffic flow to safely pull out. I would anticipate a long 
line of cars trying to get onto Harp Hill from the new estate with a great deal of frustration 
and frequent altercations resulting. 
 
Sadly it seems inevitable that this appalling and locally unwanted development will go 
ahead but it must surely be possible to find a better solution to the access problem than 
that proposed. 
 
   
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 99



Hanover House 
1 Sovereign View 
Cheltenham 
Gloucestershire 
GL52 6FD 
 

 

Comments: 24th October 2023 
 
We live at the top of the hill, where the new builds have caused all sorts of problems and 
disruption due to the extra amount of vehicles needed for the workman to carry out their 
jobs on site. This would equate to only 20-30 extra vehicles a day, times that by 10 and it 
is very clear that Harp Hill is not suitable to accommodate access for 500 cars a day 
(average 2 per a household). Several parked cars on the curbs all the way down harp hill, 
sometimes on blind corners and opposite large potholes means daily I have to take a 
blind risk and hope nothing is coming when driving up and down the road. Towards the 
bottom end of Harp hill it bottle necks everytime I go up and down the hill, meaning ques 
of cars have to nip in and out of spaces allowing large volume of traffic to pass to enable 
a clear passage. I'd also like to consider the sound and light pollution to the residents on 
the road, where the access is being considered the land lies on a slope, with a long and 
windy road network planned, headlights from the traffic will be evident to the residents 
particularly where the acces is being considered, bright head lamps lighting up people's 
private space all evening everyday. Also we must consider harp Hill has already taken a 
huge increase in traffic due to the top end of the Oakley Estate Can only be accessed via 
harp hill. There Is only so much capacity the small hill lane can take. There is a farm 
access rout that already exist tin the farm site, this shoudl be utilised and not destructed 
all the AONB in the field where there is many wild animal habitats that will collapse by 
putting roads and public places through it. We shoudl also consider the environmental 
changes over the winter months, where the road twice last year was impossible due to 
snow and ice, i watched and have evidence of cars sliding to the bottom crashing into 
walls and one narrowly missing my 10 year old walking up, if you plan to let 500 -700 
more cars through its only a matter of time that there will be a fatal accident on this road, 
its just numbers game, the more cars the more likely. In a era when we are all told to 
consider the environment, and the climate, respect our wildlife more you rip right through 
the heart of it all with terrible planning permissions agreed before you have even 
considered or confirmed access. The only real solution is to cancel the planning but if 
that is to far now the access to the site must remain at the bottom of the estate on flat 
terrain minimising the increased number of cars using the hill and minimising the damage 
to a 12 acre field just for cars to access an estate that isn't there yet. Also, to mention the 
development stage where large artic lorries and workforce vehicles will destroy that road 
and cause mayhem ,accidents and potential fatalities using this as access to build such 
sites. This cause mayhem for two years from building 3 new dwellings on harp hill, let 
alone 250, the area and residnese need a rest! 
 
   
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 100



Cleevesyde 
Harp Hill 
Charlton Kings 
Cheltenham 
Gloucestershire 
GL52 6PR 
 

 

Comments: 3rd November 2023 
 
Neutral 
We made huge efforts, with employed professional advisers in both planning and 
highways, in objecting against the initial outline application 20/01069/OUT for 250 houses 
on the site with access onto Harp Hill. Our main focus and concern was, and always will 
be, the impact of the access and additional traffic associated with the development on 
Harp Hill and the enjoyment of our home. We remain of the opinion that it is totally 
inappropriate to add so many additional vehicles to the traffic load on Harp Hill and the 
connecting roads. 
Unfortunately our efforts to have the scheme rejected were in vain and this totally 
inappropriate scheme has been granted. So we are now wanting to try to put forward our 
best hopes and concerns over the scheme's details in an effort to make the best of a bad 
situation. 
We fully realise that this is a scheme that has been passed and this latest application 
23/01691/ REM is for the finer details of the site layout, houses and its entrance. With 
this in mind, we want to put across our thoughts and concerns as adjacent residents to 
the scheme and access road. 
 
We understand that the appeal inspector, in determining the outline planning application 
20/01069/OUT, agreed flexibility in the final position of the site access onto Harp Hill. 
This is limited by condition to a position within an identified Highway Corridor Flexibility 
Zone (HCFZ) shown on drawing P18-0847-02 on sheet 03 Rev F. 
The illustrative layout plan submitted with the outline application 20/01069/OUT showed 
the site access to be directly opposite our house entrance and Half Acre's entrance and 
we are, of course, relieved that that location is not possible/not a viable option given site 
levels. In the planning compliance statement submitted by Nexus, they state that the 
entrance as indicated in 20/01069/OUT was unachievable being "incompatible with site 
gradients" (page 21 - condition 5). They indicate that the site access position submitted 
as part of the reserved matters application does however comply with condition 5 of the 
outline consent. We do feel awful for the residents of those properties who now sit 
directly opposite to the site access as shown on this reserved matters application. They 
too should not have to suffer this traffic, noise and light pollution either. 
It is in our opinion and that of our qualified Highways consultant (Helix Transport 
Consultants), which formed part of his statement submitted in objection to 
20/01069/OUT, that the location of the HCFZ is not in the best place. This should be 
reviewed. 
At the time of our last objection our highways consultant submitted a statement that 
suggested the better position for the site entrance was not in front of the 6 houses where 
the current HCFZ is indicated, but further down the slope in an area opposite Camp Road 
or Stanley Road. The visibility at these locations would be better and more importantly 
the impact on houses and the wellbeing of the residents on Harp Hill near the junction 
would be minimised as there would only be a road opposite the new access as opposed 
to houses. In this location the impact of light and noise pollution would be kept to a 
minimum. 

Page 101



While I understand that the design and location of the access in this reserved matters 
application 23/01691/REM has taken into account the site design and specific slopes and 
access requirements for the road on the new site in accordance with planning guidelines 
and the outline planning consent (condition 5) with the proposed location for the entrance 
is as low as it can be with the agreed HCFZ, we question whether the developers would 
have positioned the access lower down i.e. opposite Camp Road or Stanley Road had 
the HCFZ extended that far down Harp Hill. We suspect so. 
We feel that the HCFZ needs moving down the hill to improve the access gradients still 
further and lower the impact on local neighbours. 
Our comment on this application is, as we see it, a neutral one. Whilst we object to the 
entire scheme and consider any access onto Harp Hill to serve 250 dwellings to be a 
bad/incorrect decision, we acknowledge that sadly that's not what is currently in question 
and whilst we are supportive of the relocation of the access away from our own property, 
for the sake of our neighbours, would push for the idea of moving the HCFZ further down 
Harp Hill. 
 
Can the HCFZ be extended down the hill?  
Better still, can the access be amended to a minimise the impact on Harp Hill by having a 
one way system, (thus instantly reducing the traffic on Harp Hill by 50%), IN from Harp 
Hill and OUT via the old farm access onto Priors Road? (We know from our highways 
consultant that this section of Road is 6m wide and compatible with 150 houses volume 
of traffic in accordance with site and highways design) Or, as with the old GCHQ 
development, could it not be determined that a split in access arrangements where a 
large proportion of the site use Priors Road and a smaller proportion of the site use Harp 
Hill? (Reducing the Harp Hill traffic volume even more). 
When planning was granted for the houses that occupy the old GCHQ site with access 
onto Aggs Hill (which is the continuation of Harp Hill) in 01/00637/CONDIT it states that 
Aggs Hill and Harp Hill should be restricted to 40 units. Surely a similar limitation should 
be used in this case and the HCFZ be revisited. Given the opposition, should not the 
options for access to this new site be reconsidered? 
 
With regards to the rest of the reserved matters to be considered in this application, 
23/01691/ REM, we have no design concerns over the site landscaping and housing 
layout to comment on. 
 
 
   

Half Acre 
Harp Hill 
Charlton Kings 
Cheltenham 
Gloucestershire 
GL52 6PR 
 

 

Comments: 3rd November 2023 
 
I attended, gave evidence and fundamentally objected to the original planning application 
and remain very disappointed that planning was ultimately granted in principal for up to 
250 houses on an AONB location, with access from Harp Hill (within a designated 
Highway Corridor Flexibility Zone - HCFZ shown on drawing P18-0847-02 on sheet 03 
Rev F). 
 

Page 102



I understand this current planning application to be a 'reserved matters application' which 
has to adhere to the conditions of the already approved scheme namely; 250 houses and 
the access road within the HCFZ. Therefore, I will not repeat all of the many valid 
objections, which all residents, CBC and GBC (Highways), all provided as part of the 
original planning application resulting in an unanimous objection to the scheme e.g. 
impact on greenbelt, lack of local amenities in the local area and road safety.  
 
My current objection, as part of the reserved matters application is therefore focused on 
the planned location of the access road (and the HCFZ) and the direct link to road safely 
(both vehicular and pedestrian/cyclist). Harp Hill can barely cope with the current volume 
of traffic (in particular around the school at the bottom) as well as the direct impacts to 
Mill Lane, Greenway Road and Sixways traffic joining London Road.  
 
In addition, all 6 residents at the top of Harp Hill and within the HCFZ (of which I am one), 
will inevitably object to the positioning of the road, if it is directly opposite their property. 
There will be noise impacts to all residents, together with light pollution directly in 
residents properties.  
 
The location of the road should be where it has the least impact to properties at the top of 
the hill and is the safest location from a Highways perspective. I strongly urge the Council 
and planning committee to revisit the span of the HCFZ, it is clear that visibility would 
increase if access was further down the hill (beyond the current HCFZ), with the added 
benefit of reducing the impact to ALL houses at the top of the hill. For example, the 
planning committee should consider introducing a mini roundabout for a 4-way 
intersection with Camp Road (or Stanley Road), Harp Hill and the new access road to 
better control traffic flow and reduce speeding on Harp Hill.  
 
Alternatively, if this is not a consideration then I strongly recommend the Council revisit a 
one way system with vehicle access to the new estate from Harp Hill and vehicle access 
out of the estate via Priors Road. I understand this is counter to the already approved 
HCFZ, however given the impact on the local infrastructure this must surely be 
considered.  
 
ONLY IF the HCFZ cannot be moved as a point of planning law (which I am clearly not 
an expert in), and the access road has to be within the currently defined parameters of 
the HCFZ, we would reluctantly have to remain neutral on this point. ONLY because the 
planned access road is not directly opposite our house and therefore the direct impacts 
are marginally reduced to our property. We sincerely hope it will not come to this and the 
Council are able to work with the Highways and other planning authorities to change the 
parameters of the HCFZ.  
 
As a final point, the fact that the road has been at different positions within the HCFZ in 
previous planning applications/discussions, to my mind bears no weight to the current 
application.  
  
Overall, I object whole heartedly to both the volume of houses and access point. We 
understand that this was approved by the national planning authority, however we are 
ever hopeful the local planning authorities can challenge the already agreed parameters 
to improve road safety and reduce direct impacts to all residents. 
 
   
 

Page 103



 
Elba House 
Harp Hill 
Charlton Kings 
Cheltenham 
Gloucestershire 
GL52 6PR 
 

 

Comments: 3rd November 2023 
 
We are writing to you with regard to the recent application for approval of reserved 
matters  
Ref 23/01691/REM. 
 
We wish to add our voice to the already existing opposition to this application. 
 
Unfortunately, we understand that the building of 250 houses and the exit road onto Harp 
Hill has already been given approval and there is little that we can do to alter this. We do 
passionately feel, that the planning committee should give full and detailed consideration 
to the decision to allow vehicular access from Harp Hill. 
 At present this road is designated as a country lane and the number of cars that 
currently use it as a short cut from the London Road is already phenomenal. In the past 
ours and our neighbours' children were able to safely walk to school and to visit friends 
along Harp Hill, Mill Lane and Greenway Lane. Even now with the volume of traffic this is 
not safe for pedestrians and with an increase of traffic from the proposed development 
would become nigh on impossible. We as residents are unable even to walk our dogs 
safely on this road. We have had several near misses to ourselves with cars speeding 
along Harp Hill and we have had our dog hurt by a speeding motorist using the road as a 
rat run. How long is it before it is a child who is injured?  
As well as the direct effect on residents of Harp Hill this vehicular access will have a 
wider negative effect on the surrounding areas eg Sixways and the roundabout at the 
bottom of Harp Hill.  
 
We believe that there are several options that may mitigate the negative effects on this 
increase in traffic and pollution. 
The first, and most important option, is to form a one-way system in and out of the new 
estate - the entrance being on Harp Hill and the exit from the new estate on the northern 
pathway out onto Priors Road (using the developer's proposed cycle lane.) This would 
immediately cut the traffic flow by 50%. 
Secondly, we believe the vehicular access from Harp Hill should be moved further to 
west of the permitted zone, ideally at the junction of Stanley Road and Harp Hill or Camp 
Road and Harp Hill. This would take the entrance away from any housing therefore not 
directly affecting any residents at the top of Harp Hill. No one would be happy with a 
junction directly opposite their house.  
 
Gloucestershire Highways and all independent Highway Officers who have been 
engaged to look at the proposed vehicular access on Harp Hill have stated that it is not a 
suitable site. 
We would therefore urge you to take a closer look at all residents' and professionals' 
objections and come to the conclusion that this decision MUST be challenged. 
 
 

Page 104



 
   

Haytor 
65 Harp Hill 
Charlton Kings 
Cheltenham 
Gloucestershire 
GL52 6PR 
 

 

Comments: 4th November 2023 
 
Re: Objection to The Proposed Change of Site Entrance - Oakley Farm New Residential 
Development 
 
 Planning Application Reference: - 23/01691/REM 
 
Dear Mrs White and the Planning Committee, Members of the Cheltenham Borough 
Council, 
 
I am writing to express my deep concerns, strong objection and appeal against the 
proposed change of site entrance for the Oakley Farm New Residential Development 
project which would position the entrance directly opposite my residence, and also the 
current 'Highway Corridor Flexibility Zone' (HCFZ) on Harp Hill. This project entails the 
construction of 250 houses in an area of outstanding natural beauty in Cheltenham, 
United Kingdom.  
I am deeply concerned that the proposed site entrance, if allowed to proceed, will have 
grave implications for the safety and well-being of my family, particularly my children who 
commute to and from school, the safety of my neighbours, the pedestrians and animals, 
as well as the safety of the construction workers and the imminent residents of the 
construction site.  
Moreover, it will adversely impact my ability to continue providing life-saving emergency 
coronary angioplasty procedures as an Interventional Consultant Cardiologist to the 
people of Gloucestershire who suffer life-threatening heart attack. 
 
I would like to highlight several key points that outline the compelling reasons for my 
appeal: 
 
A-Traffic congestion, safety concerns, personal and environmental impacts 
 
1-Traffic congestion 
The proposed entrance directly opposite my house would introduce a significant increase 
in traffic, including construction vehicles, delivery trucks, and the eventual residents' 
vehicles calculated as a total of 481 cars as per the parking spaces allocated to the 250 
dwellings (427 parking places for the properties plus 54 visitors parking spaces).  
The sheer volume of additional vehicles that will result from the nearly 480 future site 
residents' cars will introduce a daunting level of traffic congestion on Harp Hill, which, is 
at risk of being transformed into a congested and potentially hazardous thoroughfare. 
The existing residents, and not the site developers will stand to suffer from the increased 
traffic and altered traffic patterns. 
The proposed construction project is projected to span at least three to five years if not 
longer, making it a prolonged and extensive endeavour. This extended period of 
construction will introduce a multitude of disturbances, noise, increased traffic, and 

Page 105



disruptions to the neighbourhood. Such a long-term construction project carries with it a 
myriad of implications that pose significant challenges. This construction may also have 
significant impact of on the timely access of emergency services like ambulances and fire 
trucks, which are critical for everyone's safety. 
 
2-Safety concerns  
 
- Safety of my family and neighbours 
This construction project threatens the safety and well-being of my family members and 
neighbours who reside in the vicinity. The increased traffic, noise, and disturbances are 
not only inconvenient but also pose safety risks to those living nearby. The dangerous 
implications of dark, cloudy weather conditions combined with these disruptions 
compound the potential hazards. 
This would significantly raise the risk to the safety of my family and my children as they 
commute to and from school. Their daily journey is presently undertaken with the 
assurance of a quiet and safe residential area. The proposed entrance change threatens 
to shatter this peace of mind and expose my family to unnecessary danger. 
my profound concern lies in the perilous impact this project will have on the safety and 
well-being of my family, specifically my son, who is reliant on a hearing aid, and whose 
sense of direction is impaired. 
I wish to expound on this particular concern, as it is of paramount importance: 
My Son uses a hearing aid to navigate the world around him. His hearing aid is an 
essential tool that allows him to communicate, learn, and engage in daily activities. 
However, the proposed construction, with the accompanying cacophony of machinery, 
heavy vehicles, and construction work, presents an imminent danger to my son. 
The incessant noise and disruptions caused by construction activities will not only disturb 
my son's daily routine but also hinder his ability to communicate effectively and safely. 
This amplified noise level can potentially damage his hearing, affecting his education and 
overall quality of life. Additionally, the altered traffic patterns and increased traffic 
congestion resulting from the proposed entrance change will put my son at a heightened 
risk as he journeys to and from school. 
It is crucial to recognize that there are vulnerable members of our community who require 
special consideration, such as individuals with impaired senses or unique needs. My son, 
in his use of a hearing aid and his impaired sense of direction, falls into this category. His 
safety should be of utmost concern in any decision that impacts our community. 
I beseech the Cheltenham Borough Council to earnestly deliberate on the unique needs 
of my son and other vulnerable individuals within our community.  
 
- The safety of my patients and impact on my professional duties 
It is vital to recognize that my patients' lives depend on the expedient delivery of medical 
care. The ability to perform emergency coronary angioplasty procedures hinges on 
seamless and unhindered access to the hospital, even in adverse weather and road 
conditions. The proposed construction directly jeopardizes the lives of my patients by 
introducing delays that may prove fatal. 
As an Interventional Consultant Cardiologist working at Gloucestershire NHS Trust, my 
role involves performing emergency coronary angioplasty procedures to save the lives of 
people suffering from heart attack, a life-threatening condition. Time is of the essence in 
these critical situations, where every minute can be the difference between life and 
death. Timely arrival at the hospital is absolutely essential for me to carry out these 
procedures effectively. 
These interventions demand immediate attention, often within minutes, to save lives. A 
delay caused by increased traffic congestion, road closures, or accidents resulting from 

Page 106



the proposed entrance change could have dire consequences for patients in need of 
immediate medical care. My ability to provide timely and life-saving treatments will be 
significantly compromised. 
 
- Safety of pedestrians, runners, and animals: 
The proposed construction project directly affects the safety of a diverse group of 
individuals and wildlife that frequent Harp Hill. This unique area has long been cherished 
for its accessibility to pedestrians, runners, athletes, cyclists and the local wildlife. 
The anticipated increase in traffic and disruptions resulting from the project and the new 
site access threatens the safety of pedestrians and runners who use Harp Hill for 
recreational activities, exercise, and commuting, in addition to animals. There has been 
in the recent past, significant accidents where pedestrians and animals have been 
affected. The potential for accidents and injuries is a serious concern, particularly when 
considering schoolchildren, residents with special needs, and anyone who relies on Harp 
Hill for safe and convenient access. 
 
- The safety of future residents 
The safety of all residents, particularly schoolchildren and those with special needs, is at 
stake as the volume of traffic surges. The potential for accidents, road closures, and 
safety risks during peak traffic hours becomes a very real concern. The altered 
landscape and new traffic patterns could impact the safe access to homes and amenities, 
creating a substantial safety hazard for all. 
Beyond the immediate safety concerns, it is essential to consider the implications for the 
future residents of the construction site. The proposed entrance's altered traffic patterns 
may result in congestion, accidents, and potential difficulties in accessing the newly 
constructed houses, thereby impacting their quality of life and safety. 
 
3- Privacy concerns 
The increased traffic, pedestrian activity, and construction would compromise the privacy 
that we have enjoyed in our neighbourhood for years. 
The altered traffic patterns will bring vehicles and pedestrians much closer to our homes, 
potentially encroaching on our personal space.  
Privacy is not merely about physical boundaries but also the peace of mind and quality of 
life that come with a sense of security and personal space.  
 
4- Effect of car lights on our residence 
Another significant concern that arises from the proposed site entrance directly opposite 
our house is the potential effect of direct car lights shining at our residence, particularly 
during night time hours. The anticipated increase in traffic, including both construction 
vehicles and residents' cars calculated as more than 450 cars, will introduce a 
heightened level of artificial illumination in our immediate surroundings. 
The bright and invasive lights emanating from vehicles during the night will undoubtedly 
be very disruptive. It threatens to compromise our family's ability to enjoy a peaceful and 
restful night's sleep. Sleep disturbances have been linked to various health issues, and it 
is essential that we continue to benefit from the tranquil nights that our neighbourhood 
has offered. 
Moreover, as cars will be driving in an upward direction from the proposed site onto harp 
hill, the glare from car lights can infiltrate our living spaces, including bedrooms and 
common areas, creating discomfort and potentially affecting our overall quality of life. The 
potential impact of such lighting disturbances is not just a matter of convenience but also 
a significant concern for our well-being and that of our neighbours. 
 

Page 107



5-Impact on my work from home 
In my capacity as an Interventional Consultant Cardiologist, my professional duties often 
extend beyond the hospital walls, necessitating that I work from my home office. This 
arrangement is essential for responding to medical consultations, and reviewing patient 
records. 
The proposed construction project introduces a disquieting and disruptive element that 
could hinder my ability to effectively work from home. The expected noise and 
disturbances from construction activities can undermine my focus and concentration, 
affecting the quality of my work. This, in turn, may have implications for patient care and 
research activities that are reliant on my home office. 
The disruptions from the construction work threaten to compromise my ability to provide 
the high level of care and expertise expected of a cardiologist. They not only jeopardize 
my professional duties but can also impact my ability to balance my responsibilities as a 
healthcare professional and a family member, ultimately affecting my family's quality of 
life. 
 
6-Noise and air pollution from the construction  
Construction projects are inherently noisy, with heavy machinery, vehicle movement, and 
construction work generating constant and sometimes intense noise levels. This noise 
can be both disruptive and invasive, seeping into our homes and compromising the 
sense of peace and relaxation that we hold dear.  
The anticipated increase in traffic volume, especially at peak times, threatens to heighten 
noise levels and disturbances in our residential neighbourhood.  
The disturbances from construction activities can also disrupt daily routines, making it 
challenging for residents to work, study, or engage in recreational activities. This impact 
may be felt not only by my family but by all of our neighbours, further eroding the sense 
of community and well-being. 
The noise from construction and the increased traffic will disrupt the peaceful atmosphere 
of our residences and impact our ability to enjoy our homes and outdoor spaces. Noise 
can have a significant impact on our health and mental well-being, beyond just being 
annoying or disturbing sleep. Noise can lead to an increase in an individuals' risk of 
developing more serious health problems such as heart attacks, strokes, diabetes, 
depression and stress and anxiety. This is not a trivial issue and should not be 
underestimated. 
With the increased number of vehicles, the environmental impact of the construction 
project extends to the increased carbon emissions, air quality issues, and additional 
stress on the area of outstanding natural beauty. 
  
7-Visual Impact Concerns 
The introduction of extensive construction work and a potentially increased number of 
vehicles directly opposite our residences poses a substantial threat to the visual harmony 
and charm of our community. The aesthetic value of our homes and the visual appeal of 
the environment may be significantly compromised. The visual appeal of our 
neighbourhood is not just a matter of personal preference; it contributes to the overall 
well-being and the sense of pride we take in our community. 
 
8-Property Value Preservation 
The proposed new site entrance will significantly impact the ability to preserve our 
property value and the existing homeowners and the desirability of the neighbourhood. 
 
 
B-Concerns about lack of transparency during the application process 

Page 108



 
1. Lack of Notification Transparency and Public Consultation 
There has been a clear lack of notification from the developers, transparency and public 
consultation in the process with regard to the proposed new site access change. Nexus 
reached out to the Friends of Oakley Farm Slopes (FOFS) to engage in a consultation on 
09 August 2023 with residents impacted by the development. Those directly impacted on 
Harp Hill opposite the access zone, however, were not notified about, nor invited to the 
meeting, nor was notice of the meeting provided on the FOFS website, Facebook or 
signed up to Friends of Oakley. Furthermore, the minutes, attendees and presentation 
made The FOFS engagement were not provided in the Statement of Engagement or its 
Action Tracker (Appendix 2) and, therefore, this FOFS meeting was not a representation 
of ourselves or fellow Harp Hill neighbours. 
It has been stated in the application to the planning committee that a presentation was 
made to the Friends of Oakley Farm Slopes (FOFS) on the 09th of August 2023, but 
there has been no documentation about the details of the presentation, who attended the 
meeting and more importantly what was the outcome of such presentation and the local 
residents' views on the proposed change.  
By doing so, it gives the planning committee the impression that they have fulfilled their 
public duty and consulted with and engaged the relevant local residents, which is clearly 
not the case. 
This oversight may be a violation of transparency and community engagement 
standards. There is a well-defined community but clearly there has been no Harp Hill 
resident's engagement. 
We, as Harp Hill residents have a right to be informed about changes that could affect 
our safety, well-being, and quality of life. 
Additionally, no information has been provided that could justify the relocation of the 
access on Harp Hill. We are unclear of the rationale behind the proposed change in site 
access and particularly at this stage of development. The access has been moved west 
to a point outside two properties that have only a single driveway entrance exit which 
often requires reversing of vehicles on to Harp Hill and would subsequently be into the 
access junction creating a hazard for all road users and the risks blocking access for 
emergency services along Harp Hill and onto the Oakley Farm development. 
The impact of this proposed change has to be thoroughly assessed, and residents' 
concerns are heard and addressed through proper channels. 
 
2. Impact Assessment: 
In light of the above concerns, and on the basis of transparency and the right to have 
access to public information, we request a comprehensive impact assessment, which 
should include considerations for safety, traffic, environmental impact, noise, and 
disruptions to daily life. Such assessments should be conducted with the involvement of 
the residents of Harp Hill. 
 
C- Cheltenham Borough Council's Responsibility for Safety 
 
It is imperative to underscore that the Cheltenham Borough Council bears a significant 
responsibility for the safety and well-being of its residents. This responsibility extends to 
any accidents and incidents that may occur as a result of the proposed site entrance 
change. 
The decision to approve the site entrance change directly impacts the safety of Harp Hill 
residents. The council holds a duty to ensure that this decision is made with careful 
consideration of the potential consequences and risks it introduces. In the event of 

Page 109



accidents, injuries, or harm to residents, the council must be prepared to accept 
responsibility for the decisions it makes. 
I implore the Cheltenham Borough Council to carry out its responsibilities with the utmost 
diligence and to make decisions that prioritize the safety and well-being of all residents. 
Safety must be paramount in the council's considerations, and it must be ready to accept 
accountability for the outcomes of those decisions. 
 
D- Alternative Site Entrance Proposal 
1- Access to the Development from Harp Hill opposite Stanley Road 
I respectfully propose an alternative solution to the issue of the site entrance for the 
Oakley Farm development project. While it is essential to address the housing needs of 
our community, it is equally vital to do so in a manner that safeguards the safety, 
tranquillity, and quality of life for all residents. 
I propose the exploration of an alternative site entrance that does not directly face our 
residences on Harp Hill. An entrance situated opposite to Stanley Road, with due 
consideration to traffic flow and safety, would help mitigate the disruptive and potentially 
dangerous consequences that the current proposal presents. 
The current Highway Corridor Flexibility Zone overall retains a greater safety risk and 
environmental impact than is necessary and has been raised in the multiple objections of 
neighbouring homes which we support. 
A more suitable location on Harp Hill, therefore, is opposite the Stanley Road junction 
providing for a safer access and also reducing the impact on the natural landscape. 
This access point is at an existing junction and not directly opposite any properties and 
their subsequent driveways which ensure no vehicles are exiting their driveway onto the 
new Oakley Farm access road. 
The access from Oakley Farm onto Harp Hill at the Stanley Road junction is effectively 
level thereby enabling a more direct, shorter access road, reducing the amount of green 
land converted to hard landscaping. 
By accessing Harp Hill opposite an existing road rather than opposite existing homes, the 
issue of headlight pollution into homes is eliminated. 
This junction also connects to a footpath down Harp Hill thereby increasing the safety of 
the int Traffic flow will be further eased by reducing the impact on Battledown traffic 
entering Stanley Road from the East of Harp Hill. 
We note that the junction comfortably satisfies the minimum 43m sight lines required for 
the 30mph speed limit on Harp Hill. 
The consultations with and submissions from the GCC Highways authority in relation to 
the original submission (20/01069/OUT) support this, as do the independent professional 
highways consultant submission ('Helix transport consultants obo half acre and 
cleevesyde', dated 22 September 2020). 
We also note that, the Design Panel, in its notes dated 10 September 2023 (Statement of 
Engagement, Appendix 3) has highlighted it's concern for 'scars in the landscape through 
the 'green' zone above the housing' thereby indicating support for alternative proposals 
which enable a reduction of the green zone impact. 
  
2- Enhanced Option - One way access route with entrance at Harp Hill/ Stanley Road 
and exit to the North/ West onto Priors Road 
This could be further enhanced by utilising the track access to Oakley Farm as a one-
way access to split the traffic load across two separate entry and exit points. 
It is noted that, during the Developers consultation on 16 August 2023, Highways raised 
the question 'Review whether connections through the northern boundary are possible' 
confirming that Highways preference would be to utilise a Northern point to at least 

Page 110



reduce or eliminate the traffic congestion on Harp Hill which suggests this proposal still 
retains wider support. 
This alternative entrance would help minimize traffic impact, enhance safety as a 
paramount consideration, preserve our privacy, maintain aesthetics, reduce 
environmental impact and will help provide me with easy access via Stanley Road to the 
main roads and subsequently to Gloucester Royal Hospital and will enable me to fulfil my 
professional duties as a consultant interventional cardiologist performing time-sensitive 
and life-saving emergency procedures. 
I kindly request that the Cheltenham Borough Council considers this alternative site 
entrance proposal as a means to address the housing needs of our community while 
safeguarding the safety, tranquillity, and quality of life that we have enjoyed. 
By us, proposing an alternative solution, clearly we are demonstrating our willingness to 
work collaboratively with the council in addressing the housing needs while considering 
the safety and well-being of all residents. 
 
 
Conclusion 
In light of these substantial concerns, we strongly object to the access point to the Oakley 
Farm Development being within the current 'Highway Corridor Flexibility Zone' (HCFZ) on 
Harp Hill, and specifically, the revised location of the access point. 
I earnestly request the Planning Committee, Cheltenham Borough Council to carefully 
study all circumstances and take all of the above genuine concerns into consideration 
before making a decision regarding the change of site entrance. It is imperative that the 
alternative solutions provided above, be explored to mitigate the potential dangers and 
disruptions posed by this construction project. The safety and well-being of the residents 
of Harp Hill, including patients in need of immediate medical care, must be prioritized. 
I implore you to consider these life-threatening implications carefully and make the 
necessary adjustments to ensure the safety and quality of life for all residents of Harp Hill 
and Cheltenham. 
 
 
Comments: 3rd November 2023 
 
65 Harp Hill 
Charlton Kings 
Cheltenham  
GL52 6PR 
 
Re: Objection to The Proposed Change of Site Entrance - Oakley Farm New Residential 
Development 
 
 Planning Application Reference: - 23/01691/REM 
 
Dear Mrs White and the Planning Committee, Members of the Cheltenham Borough 
Council, 
 
I am writing to express my deep concerns, strong objection and appeal against the 
proposed change of site entrance for the Oakley Farm New Residential Development 
project which would position the entrance directly opposite my residence, and also the 
current 'Highway Corridor Flexibility Zone' (HCFZ) on Harp Hill. This project entails the 
construction of 250 houses in an area of outstanding natural beauty in Cheltenham, 
United Kingdom.  

Page 111



I am deeply concerned that the proposed site entrance, if allowed to proceed, will have 
grave implications for the safety and well-being of my family, particularly my children who 
commute to and from school, the safety of my neighbours, the pedestrians and animals, 
as well as the safety of the construction workers and the imminent residents of the 
construction site.  
Moreover, it will adversely impact my ability to continue providing life-saving emergency 
coronary angioplasty procedures as an Interventional Consultant Cardiologist to the 
people of Gloucestershire who suffer life-threatening heart attack. 
 
 
I would like to highlight several key points that outline the compelling reasons for my 
appeal: 
 
A-Traffic congestion, safety concerns, personal and environmental impacts 
 
1-Traffic congestion 
The proposed entrance directly opposite my house would introduce a significant increase 
in traffic, including construction vehicles, delivery trucks, and the eventual residents' 
vehicles calculated as a total of 481 cars as per the parking spaces allocated to the 250 
dwellings (427 parking places for the properties plus 54 visitors parking spaces).  
The sheer volume of additional vehicles that will result from the nearly 480 future site 
residents' cars will introduce a daunting level of traffic congestion on Harp Hill, which, is 
at risk of being transformed into a congested and potentially hazardous thoroughfare. 
The existing residents, and not the site developers will stand to suffer from the increased 
traffic and altered traffic patterns. 
The proposed construction project is projected to span at least three to five years if not 
longer, making it a prolonged and extensive endeavour. This extended period of 
construction will introduce a multitude of disturbances, noise, increased traffic, and 
disruptions to the neighbourhood. Such a long-term construction project carries with it a 
myriad of implications that pose significant challenges. This construction may also have 
significant impact of on the timely access of emergency services like ambulances and fire 
trucks, which are critical for everyone's safety. 
 
2-Safety concerns  
 
- Safety of my family and neighbours 
This construction project threatens the safety and well-being of my family members and 
neighbours who reside in the vicinity. The increased traffic, noise, and disturbances are 
not only inconvenient but also pose safety risks to those living nearby. The dangerous 
implications of dark, cloudy weather conditions combined with these disruptions 
compound the potential hazards. 
This would significantly raise the risk to the safety of my family and my children as they 
commute to and from school. Their daily journey is presently undertaken with the 
assurance of a quiet and safe residential area. The proposed entrance change threatens 
to shatter this peace of mind and expose my family to unnecessary danger. 
my profound concern lies in the perilous impact this project will have on the safety and 
well-being of my family, specifically my son, who is reliant on a hearing aid, and whose 
sense of direction is impaired. 
 
I wish to expound on this particular concern, as it is of paramount importance: 
My Son uses a hearing aid to navigate the world around him. His hearing aid is an 
essential tool that allows him to communicate, learn, and engage in daily activities. 

Page 112



However, the proposed construction, with the accompanying cacophony of machinery, 
heavy vehicles, and construction work, presents an imminent danger to my son. 
 
The incessant noise and disruptions caused by construction activities will not only disturb 
my son's daily routine but also hinder his ability to communicate effectively and safely. 
This amplified noise level can potentially damage his hearing, affecting his education and 
overall quality of life. Additionally, the altered traffic patterns and increased traffic 
congestion resulting from the proposed entrance change will put my son at a heightened 
risk as he journeys to and from school. 
It is crucial to recognize that there are vulnerable members of our community who require 
special consideration, such as individuals with impaired senses or unique needs. My son, 
in his use of a hearing aid and his impaired sense of direction, falls into this category. His 
safety should be of utmost concern in any decision that impacts our community. 
 
I beseech the Cheltenham Borough Council to earnestly deliberate on the unique needs 
of my son and other vulnerable individuals within our community.  
 
- The safety of my patients and impact on my professional duties 
 
It is vital to recognize that my patients' lives depend on the expedient delivery of medical 
care. The ability to perform emergency coronary angioplasty procedures hinges on 
seamless and unhindered access to the hospital, even in adverse weather and road 
conditions. The proposed construction directly jeopardizes the lives of my patients by 
introducing delays that may prove fatal. 
 
As an Interventional Consultant Cardiologist working at Gloucestershire NHS Trust, my 
role involves performing emergency coronary angioplasty procedures to save the lives of 
people suffering from heart attack, a life-threatening condition. Time is of the essence in 
these critical situations, where every minute can be the difference between life and 
death. Timely arrival at the hospital is absolutely essential for me to carry out these 
procedures effectively. 
These interventions demand immediate attention, often within minutes, to save lives. A 
delay caused by increased traffic congestion, road closures, or accidents resulting from 
the proposed entrance change could have dire consequences for patients in need of 
immediate medical care. My ability to provide timely and life-saving treatments will be 
significantly compromised. 
 
- Safety of pedestrians, runners, and animals: 
The proposed construction project directly affects the safety of a diverse group of 
individuals and wildlife that frequent Harp Hill. This unique area has long been cherished 
for its accessibility to pedestrians, runners, athletes, cyclists and the local wildlife. 
The anticipated increase in traffic and disruptions resulting from the project and the new 
site access threatens the safety of pedestrians and runners who use Harp Hill for 
recreational activities, exercise, and commuting, in addition to animals. There has been 
in the recent past, significant accidents where pedestrians and animals have been 
affected. The potential for accidents and injuries is a serious concern, particularly when 
considering schoolchildren, residents with special needs, and anyone who relies on Harp 
Hill for safe and convenient access. 
 
- The safety of future residents 
The safety of all residents, particularly schoolchildren and those with special needs, is at 
stake as the volume of traffic surges. The potential for accidents, road closures, and 

Page 113



safety risks during peak traffic hours becomes a very real concern. The altered 
landscape and new traffic patterns could impact the safe access to homes and amenities, 
creating a substantial safety hazard for all. 
Beyond the immediate safety concerns, it is essential to consider the implications for the 
future residents of the construction site. The proposed entrance's altered traffic patterns 
may result in congestion, accidents, and potential difficulties in accessing the newly 
constructed houses, thereby impacting their quality of life and safety. 
 
3- Privacy concerns 
The increased traffic, pedestrian activity, and construction would compromise the privacy 
that we have enjoyed in our neighbourhood for years. 
The altered traffic patterns will bring vehicles and pedestrians much closer to our homes, 
potentially encroaching on our personal space.  
Privacy is not merely about physical boundaries but also the peace of mind and quality of 
life that come with a sense of security and personal space.  
 
4- Effect of car lights on our residence 
Another significant concern that arises from the proposed site entrance directly opposite 
our house is the potential effect of direct car lights shining at our residence, particularly 
during night time hours. The anticipated increase in traffic, including both construction 
vehicles and residents' cars calculated as more than 450 cars, will introduce a 
heightened level of artificial illumination in our immediate surroundings. 
The bright and invasive lights emanating from vehicles during the night will undoubtedly 
be very disruptive. It threatens to compromise our family's ability to enjoy a peaceful and 
restful night's sleep. Sleep disturbances have been linked to various health issues, and it 
is essential that we continue to benefit from the tranquil nights that our neighbourhood 
has offered. 
Moreover, as cars will be driving in an upward direction from the proposed site onto harp 
hill, the glare from car lights can infiltrate our living spaces, including bedrooms and 
common areas, creating discomfort and potentially affecting our overall quality of life. The 
potential impact of such lighting disturbances is not just a matter of convenience but also 
a significant concern for our well-being and that of our neighbours. 
 
5-Impact on my work from home 
In my capacity as an Interventional Consultant Cardiologist, my professional duties often 
extend beyond the hospital walls, necessitating that I work from my home office. This 
arrangement is essential for responding to medical consultations, and reviewing patient 
records. 
The proposed construction project introduces a disquieting and disruptive element that 
could hinder my ability to effectively work from home. The expected noise and 
disturbances from construction activities can undermine my focus and concentration, 
affecting the quality of my work. This, in turn, may have implications for patient care and 
research activities that are reliant on my home office. 
The disruptions from the construction work threaten to compromise my ability to provide 
the high level of care and expertise expected of a cardiologist. They not only jeopardize 
my professional duties but can also impact my ability to balance my responsibilities as a 
healthcare professional and a family member, ultimately affecting my family's quality of 
life. 
 
6-Noise and air pollution from the construction  
Construction projects are inherently noisy, with heavy machinery, vehicle movement, and 
construction work generating constant and sometimes intense noise levels. This noise 

Page 114



can be both disruptive and invasive, seeping into our homes and compromising the 
sense of peace and relaxation that we hold dear.  
The anticipated increase in traffic volume, especially at peak times, threatens to heighten 
noise levels and disturbances in our residential neighbourhood.  
The disturbances from construction activities can also disrupt daily routines, making it 
challenging for residents to work, study, or engage in recreational activities. This impact 
may be felt not only by my family but by all of our neighbours, further eroding the sense 
of community and well-being. 
The noise from construction and the increased traffic will disrupt the peaceful atmosphere 
of our residences and impact our ability to enjoy our homes and outdoor spaces. Noise 
can have a significant impact on our health and mental well-being, beyond just being 
annoying or disturbing sleep. Noise can lead to an increase in an individuals' risk of 
developing more serious health problems such as heart attacks, strokes, diabetes, 
depression and stress and anxiety. This is not a trivial issue and should not be 
underestimated. 
With the increased number of vehicles, the environmental impact of the construction 
project extends to the increased carbon emissions, air quality issues, and additional 
stress on the area of outstanding natural beauty.  
 
7-Visual Impact Concerns 
The introduction of extensive construction work and a potentially increased number of 
vehicles directly opposite our residences poses a substantial threat to the visual harmony 
and charm of our community. The aesthetic value of our homes and the visual appeal of 
the environment may be significantly compromised. The visual appeal of our 
neighbourhood is not just a matter of personal preference; it contributes to the overall 
well-being and the sense of pride we take in our community. 
 
8-Property Value Preservation 
The proposed new site entrance will significantly impact the ability to preserve our 
property value and the existing homeowners and the desirability of the neighbourhood. 
 
 
B-Concerns about lack of transparency during the application process 
 
1. Lack of Notification Transparency and Public Consultation 
There has been a clear lack of notification from the developers, transparency and public 
consultation in the process with regard to the proposed new site access change. Nexus 
reached out to the Friends of Oakley Farm Slopes (FOFS) to engage in a consultation on 
09 August 2023 with residents impacted by the development. Those directly impacted on 
Harp Hill opposite the access zone, however, were not notified about, nor invited to the 
meeting, nor was notice of the meeting provided on the FOFS website, Facebook or 
signed up to Friends of Oakley. Furthermore, the minutes, attendees and presentation 
made The FOFS engagement were not provided in the Statement of Engagement or its 
Action Tracker (Appendix 2) and, therefore, this FOFS meeting was not a representation 
of ourselves or fellow Harp Hill neighbours. 
It has been stated in the application to the planning committee that a presentation was 
made to the Friends of Oakley Farm Slopes (FOFS) on the 09th of August 2023, but 
there has been no documentation about the details of the presentation, who attended the 
meeting and more importantly what was the outcome of such presentation and the local 
residents' views on the proposed change.  

Page 115



By doing so, it gives the planning committee the impression that they have fulfilled their 
public duty and consulted with and engaged the relevant local residents, which is clearly 
not the case. 
This oversight may be a violation of transparency and community engagement 
standards. There is a well-defined community but clearly there has been no Harp Hill 
resident's engagement. 
We, as Harp Hill residents have a right to be informed about changes that could affect 
our safety, well-being, and quality of life. 
Additionally, no information has been provided that could justify the relocation of the 
access on Harp Hill. We are unclear of the rationale behind the proposed change in site 
access and particularly at this stage of development. The access has been moved west 
to a point outside two properties that have only a single driveway entrance exit which 
often requires reversing of vehicles on to Harp Hill and would subsequently be into the 
access junction creating a hazard for all road users and the risks blocking access for 
emergency services along Harp Hill and onto the Oakley Farm development. 
The impact of this proposed change has to be thoroughly assessed, and residents' 
concerns are heard and addressed through proper channels. 
 
2. Impact Assessment: 
In light of the above concerns, and on the basis of transparency and the right to have 
access to public information, we request a comprehensive impact assessment, which 
should include considerations for safety, traffic, environmental impact, noise, and 
disruptions to daily life. Such assessments should be conducted with the involvement of 
the residents of Harp Hill. 
 
C- Cheltenham Borough Council's Responsibility for Safety 
It is imperative to underscore that the Cheltenham Borough Council bears a significant 
responsibility for the safety and well-being of its residents. This responsibility extends to 
any accidents and incidents that may occur as a result of the proposed site entrance 
change. 
 
The decision to approve the site entrance change directly impacts the safety of Harp Hill 
residents. The council holds a duty to ensure that this decision is made with careful 
consideration of the potential consequences and risks it introduces. In the event of 
accidents, injuries, or harm to residents, the council must be prepared to accept 
responsibility for the decisions it makes. 
I implore the Cheltenham Borough Council to carry out its responsibilities with the utmost 
diligence and to make decisions that prioritize the safety and well-being of all residents. 
Safety must be paramount in the council's considerations, and it must be ready to accept 
accountability for the outcomes of those decisions. 
 
D- Alternative Site Entrance Proposal 
1- Access to the Development from Harp Hill opposite Stanley Road 
I respectfully propose an alternative solution to the issue of the site entrance for the 
Oakley Farm development project. While it is essential to address the housing needs of 
our community, it is equally vital to do so in a manner that safeguards the safety, 
tranquility, and quality of life for all residents. 
I propose the exploration of an alternative site entrance that does not directly face our 
residences on Harp Hill. An entrance situated opposite to Stanley Road, with due 
consideration to traffic flow and safety, would help mitigate the disruptive and potentially 
dangerous consequences that the current proposal presents. 

Page 116



The current Highway Corridor Flexibility Zone overall retains a greater safety risk and 
environmental impact than is necessary and has been raised in the multiple objections of 
neighbouring homes which we support. 
A more suitable location on Harp Hill, therefore, is opposite the Stanley Road junction 
providing for a safer access and also reducing the impact on the natural landscape. 
This access point is at an existing junction and not directly opposite any properties and 
their subsequent driveways which ensure no vehicles are exiting their driveway onto the 
new Oakley Farm access road. 
The access from Oakley Farm onto Harp Hill at the Stanley Road junction is effectively 
level thereby enabling a more direct, shorter access road, reducing the amount of green 
land converted to hard landscaping. 
By accessing Harp Hill opposite an existing road rather than opposite existing homes, the 
issue of headlight pollution into homes is eliminated. 
This junction also connects to a footpath down Harp Hill thereby increasing the safety of 
the int Traffic flow will be further eased by reducing the impact on Battledown traffic 
entering Stanley Road from the East of Harp Hill. 
We note that the junction comfortably satisfies the minimum 43m sight lines required for 
the 30mph speed limit on Harp Hill. 
The consultations with and submissions from the GCC Highways authority in relation to 
the original submission (20/01069/OUT) support this, as do the independent professional 
highways consultant submission ('Helix transport consultants obo half acre and 
cleevesyde', dated 22 September 2020). 
We also note that, the Design Panel, in its notes dated 10 September 2023 (Statement of 
Engagement, Appendix 3) has highlighted it's concern for 'scars in the landscape through 
the 'green' zone above the housing' thereby indicating support for alternative proposals 
which enable a reduction of the green zone impact.  
 
2- Enhanced Option - One way access route with entrance at Harp Hill/ Stanley Road 
and exit to the North/ West onto Priors Road 
This could be further enhanced by utilising the track access to Oakley Farm as a one-
way access to split the traffic load across two separate entry and exit points. 
It is noted that, during the Developers consultation on 16 August 2023, Highways raised 
the question 'Review whether connections through the northern boundary are possible' 
confirming that Highways preference would be to utilise a Northern point to at least 
reduce or eliminate the traffic congestion on Harp Hill which suggests this proposal still 
retains wider support. 
 
This alternative entrance would help minimize traffic impact, enhance safety as a 
paramount consideration, preserve our privacy, maintain aesthetics, reduce 
environmental impact and will help provide me with easy access via Stanley Road to the 
main roads and subsequently to Gloucester Royal Hospital and will enable me to fulfill 
my professional duties as a consultant interventional cardiologist performing time-
sensitive and life-saving emergency procedures. 
 
I kindly request that the Cheltenham Borough Council considers this alternative site 
entrance proposal as a means to address the housing needs of our community while 
safeguarding the safety, tranquility, and quality of life that we have enjoyed. 
By us, proposing an alternative solution, clearly we are demonstrating our willingness to 
work collaboratively with the council in addressing the housing needs while considering 
the safety and well-being of all residents. 
 
 

Page 117



 
 
Conclusion 
In light of these substantial concerns, we strongly object to the access point to the Oakley 
Farm Development being within the current 'Highway Corridor Flexibility Zone' (HCFZ) on 
Harp Hill, and specifically, the revised location of the access point. 
I earnestly request the Planning Committee, Cheltenham Borough Council to carefully 
study all circumstances and take all of the above genuine concerns into consideration 
before making a decision regarding the change of site entrance. It is imperative that the 
alternative solutions provided above, be explored to mitigate the potential dangers and 
disruptions posed by this construction project. The safety and well-being of the residents 
of Harp Hill, including patients in need of immediate medical care, must be prioritized. 
I implore you to consider these life-threatening implications carefully and make the 
necessary adjustments to ensure the safety and quality of life for all residents of Harp Hill 
and Cheltenham. 
 
   

56 Wessex Drive 
Cheltenham 
Gloucestershire 
GL52 5AU 
 

 

Comments: 7th November 2023 
 
We strongly object to the proposed housing development on the basis of the below 
points. 
 
1. Overshadowing/proximity to our house. The proposed layout of the houses will 
negatively impact our property through overshadowing, specifically plot 57 on the 
proposed plans. The lowest level of our garden is some 6 metres below the highest point 
of the footpath. Your proposal states that plot 57 will be built with a side elevation facing 
the rear of our property, which will be in the region of 8 metres high - causing a nett effect 
of 14 metres below the apex of the proposed dwelling. This will reduce light into our 
property and cause overshadowing. From looking at the plans, a small hedgerow has 
been retained between the path and the back of our property - therefore there is not 
much of a barrier to reduce the feeling of being loomed over. 
2. Proximity of pedestrian access point to our house. From looking at the plans, it looks 
like there is a pedestrian access point opposite the boundary of our property. Although in 
subsequent documents it is not shown - it is not clear from the presented documents 
which document takes precedent. We are strongly against having an access point 
opposite our boundary, due to the noise and disturbance generated from people passing 
through this access point. 
3. Noise. We currently live in a peaceful, quiet neighbourhood. We enjoy listening to 
birdsong and at night-time the owls who use the neighbouring field. The addition of 250 
houses will increase noise pollution from activities such as traffic and anthropogenic 
noise (e.g. loud music), whilst also removing the ecological soundscape. 
4. Water run off. During intense rainfall events (e.g. Storm Ciaran in October 2023), an 
excessive amount of water runs down Harp Hill (leading to water pooling at the double 
roundabouts at the intersection between Harp Hill and Priors Road) and the path leading 
from Harp Hill to the track by Pillowell Close (this then pools at the bottom of the track by 
Priors Road). Our concern is that with the addition of 250 houses there will be an 

Page 118



increase in surface run off and that the proposed hydrology solutions will not be 
adequate. 
5. Traffic. The traffic on Harp Hill and Priors Road is already congested - the addition of 
another 500 cars (assumed 2 per household) will only make the situation worse. We 
already find it difficult exiting Hillview Road (leading to Wessex Drive). When using the 
kissing gate (from the path running behind Wessex Drive) at the top of Harp Hill, we find 
it difficult to cross the road owing to the amount of traffic travelling up or down Harp Hill. 
Drivers are often driving at excessive speed around this blind bend and we have 
witnessed a number of near misses (vehicles narrowly avoiding pedestrians). The road 
surface on Harp Hill is already poor and needs completely resurfacing; the addition of 
500 cars will increase the degradation in road surface quality. We understand that the 
developers carried out a traffic survey during half term; we feel this is not representative 
of the actual traffic volume around the estate - this work needs to be re-done during 
school term time to more accurately reflect the true traffic volumes. 
6. Highway safety. As alluded to in point 5, the blind bend between the exit of the Harp 
Hill path and the Stanley Road entrance to the Battledown estate is particularly 
dangerous with cars excessively speeding around the blind bend. The footpath between 
these two sections is very narrow with a lot of overgrown vegetation - there is not enough 
space for two people to pass safely (with people having to step into the road to pass 
each other). The footpath section onwards to Agg Hill is none-existent and is currently 
inadequate for pedestrian use. Traffic calming measures, the introduction of purpose-built 
footpaths and their regular maintenance will need to be introduced. A pedestrian crossing 
from the top of the Harp Hill-Pillowell Close footpath is an absolute necessity.  
7. Scale of development. We feel that the scale of the development is much too large for 
the site, for the main reasons outlined above. 
8. Appearance. The design of proposed properties is not in keeping with the landscape 
and the neighbouring properties. 
9. Wider impacts to the community and the environment. We are deeply unhappy with 
the loss of habitat for local wildlife, namely songbirds, owls, deer, bats and fox. The 
current local services are already over-subscribed (e.g. doctors, local schools) and the 
increase in the local population will only exacerbate this situation. 
 
We are strongly against the proposed development of Oakley Farm pastures. 
 

42 Wessex Drive 
Cheltenham 
Gloucestershire 
GL52 5AU 
 

 

Comments: 2nd November 2023 
 
We object to the construction of a three storey house within a few metres of our garden 
fence which will directly and closely overlook our garden and into our kitchen window. 
This is a substantial change from the outline Application which showed a drainage 
structure at this location. 
 
The development should not be permitted until an adequate traffic safety and 
management scheme has been developed for Harp Hill. This should incorporate 
reduction in use of the route as a 'rat run' by non residential traffic avoiding the London 
Road junctions, effective measures to reduce speeding (acknowledged recently by the 
Police as a problem at this location) and improvements to pavement safety along the 
narrow section at and immediately either side of the road bend. The present situation is 

Page 119



dangerous for pedestrians as larger vehicle wing mirrors often overhang the narrow 
pavement, the impact risk will increase as the traffic volume rises. 
 
A yellow no entry box or other suitable measure is required at the junction of Hillview 
Road and Priors road to ease exit onto Priors Road when the increased traffic flow from 
the development is realised. Exit is already difficult at peak and some other times, with 
traffic queuing one or both ways between Harp Hill and the Sainsbury traffic lights. 
 
The creation of a cycle way along the existing farm track will not encourage cycling as it 
exits only onto an already busy and increasingly congested Priors Road. It may also 
increase anti social behaviour by creating a track and focal point for the use of off road 
motorcycles and other vehicles. The elevation of the planned cycle way and path should 
not be above that of the existing farm track to preserve current water run off routing and 
to maintain privacy for adjacent properties. Lighting which is understood to be low level 
bollard based, should be located at no higher than one metre above current elevation 
level, to reduce light pollution nuisance. 
 
   

44 Priors Road 
Cheltenham 
Gloucestershire 
GL52 5AA 
 

 

Comments: 16th November 2023 
 
I understand that there is a proposal to build a cycle lane from the new estate along the 
lane adjacent to Sainburys, which joins with Priors Rd.  
I would like to strongly object, at present it is like a country lane used to walk dogs. It's full 
of wildflowers and birds. A cycle lane would also mean electric scooters, dangerous for 
dog walkers, and there will enough other ways to get around, than adding 150m of 
tarmac. 
If it were tarmacced then CBC would start cutting it , NO MORE wildflowers.....It is one of 
the few areas not cut fortnightly by CBC. Please leave it alone.  
 
Photographs attached. 
 
  

33 Pillowell Close 
Cheltenham 
Gloucestershire 
GL52 5GJ 
 

 

Comments: 25th October 2023 
 
Vehicle access: 
When was the traffic survey completed? I have only found references to a survey in 
2019, but at that time the upper part of Battledown Park estate (on the site of the old 
GCHQ buildings) was not complete and consequently there is now a higher volume of 
traffic on the roads in the area already. 
 
Did the traffic survey consider travel along Harp Hill rather than simply the junctions? 
Harp Hill is not a very wide road and so when cars are parked along it, it efectively 

Page 120



becomes a single lane. This is already evident at busy periods (and can be a bit of a 
slalom course), so any increase in traffic will be unhelpful. Similarly, the Tesco shop on 
Hewlett Road frequently has deliveries during busy periods, seriously constricting the 
carriageway immediately adjacent to the double roundabout. 
 
If heavy construction traffic uses Harp Hill for access to the site the problems will be 
greatly exacerbated. Also with regard to construction traffic, I trust that provision will be 
made for site workers to park on the site itself. It will be totally unnacceptable for them to 
park on nearby roads (including those on the Battledown Park estate, as was 
experienced during previous construction at the top of the estate) 
 
 
Pedestrian access and public transport: 
What are the plans to improve pedestrian walkways on Harp Hill? The existing tarmac 
pathwathways stop part way up the hill and are not very wide in places. Any pedestrain 
access to the new estate from the top of the hill will be direct onto the road carriageway 
as things stand. Furthermore, increased traffic levels will make it more difficult for 
pedestrians to cross the roads at the double roundabout. 
 
There are plans to improve the existing public right of way from Priors Road. Will the 
existing wooden fence between the new footpath and Pillowell Close be retained? Will 
there be access from the footpath to Pillowell Close (there is currently a gap in the fence 
that is commonly used)? 
 
I don't see any plans to improve public transport in the area. I'm not aware of a bus stop 
on Harp Hill, so access to public transport will likely increase pedestrian use of Harp Hill. 
 
 
GP availability and mediacl provision: 
Is any provision being made in local GP practices to accommodate a further influx of 
residents to the area? Access to a GP is difficult enough now so more patients will make 
matters worse. 
 
 
Schools and childcare provision: 
Can the local schools take a further influx? It remains to be seen how many children and 
young people of school age will move into the estate, but it will be more pressure on 
already stretched resources. And given the proposed access to the development it will 
mean increased pedestrian and vehicle activity during what are already busy periods of 
the day, with consequent increased risk to pedestrians due to issues already mentioned. 
 
 
General comments: 
As usual there seems to have been no thoughts about creating a community rather than 
just building a bunch of new houses. This development is adjacent to the Batledown Park 
estate and the two should be considered as one entity in terms of the number of 
dwellings in the immediate area (the impact of this development is not simply 250 new 
dwellings - it is 250 more on top of those already existing). There is the Sainsbury's store 
off Priors Road, but other than that there are no shops or other amenities for a quite large 
volume of dwellings. Indeed, it is telling that the closest venue available for the public 
exhibition relating to the new development was the church on Whaddon Road. In the 
early days of the Battledown Park estate we tried to run a residents association which ran 

Page 121



out of steam partly because of lack of a meeting venue close by, together with difficulty 
advising residents the it existed and where it was likely to meet (there is not even a public 
notice board). 
 
  

4 Brockweir Road 
Cheltenham 
Gloucestershire 
GL52 5FW 
 

 

Comments: 1st November 2023 
 
The local infrastructure is inadequate for the current housing locally, an addition of 250 
extra houses and a potential 500 further cars poses an extremely dangerous problem. 
There is currently not enough parking allocated within this estate, to build another 
neighbouring with pedestrian cut throughs will guarantee this problem is amplified. The 
current volume of traffic is problematic, the pressure these houses will add to this is 
unimaginable and will threaten the safety of drivers and pedestrians alike. In addition 
there are questions around the visual impact this will pose to the estate I am based, with 
3 storey buildings being constructed on a gradient which will be imposing and result in a 
lack of privacy for existing houses and neighbours, not to mention the noise and 
disturbance from the development being built in such a vast quantity with little of the 
boundary greenery being protected. 
 
   

12 Brockweir Road 
Cheltenham 
Gloucestershire 
GL52 5FW 
 

 

Comments: 31st October 2023 
 
How can anybody ever think it is acceptable to have approx 500 more cars on Harp Hill 
when we can't even walk to our car and open the door to get in without waiting for many 
cars to pass. It's absurd!! 
 
   

44 Brockweir Road 
Cheltenham 
Gloucestershire 
GL52 5FW 
 

 

Comments: 19th October 2023 
 
Irreversible destruction of this Area of Outstanding Natural Beauty in the name of big 
money is deeply disappointing and displays a disregard for preservation of Green Spaces 
in Cheltenham. 
 
This pocket of cheltenham is already heavily populated causing a great deal of traffic on 
the surrounding small roads that are not fit to withstand greater strain.  
Greater development on this side of town means greater traffic through the centre of 
town for use of the Motorway & Train Station. 

Page 122



 
 
 
   

2 Bream Court 
Cheltenham 
Gloucestershire 
GL52 5FY 
 

 

Comments: 3rd November 2023 
 
We wish to object to the development of the AONB on the grounds of diminished amenity 
of existing properties and a lack of privacy. The subject of the access over Harp Hill has 
(rightly so) already been a topic for objections from many residents who have legitimate 
concerns over the increased volume of traffic, the lack of adequate provision for 
pedestrians and cyclists, and the issue of congestion at the Priors Road & Sixways 
junctions. It would seem that there is little point in dwelling much further on this here 
because it would simply echo the numerous objections already lodged and unless the 
appropriate authorities take action to address this, the developers will likely achieve what 
they set out to do, possibly with only minor plan amendments. Similarly, the concerns 
over drainage, flooding, lack of infrastructure & public services, emergency access & 
adequacy of parking provision are likely to go unaddressed, but at least these concerns 
have been publicly voiced. 
 
We do however wish to question why the originally consented (albeit via direct 
intervention from the planning inspectorate) scheme now seems to have altered 
somewhat, to create relatively open plan development, with a reasonable ratio of mixed 
housing types in harmony with green space, but this now offset by a concentration of 
smaller & affordable housing types concentrated into smaller areas. Whereas the original 
scheme went at least some way to respecting the status of the AONB landscape, the 
current one doesn't, particularly at the eastern & north-eastern boundary of the 
development, where the original number of dwellings has now increased significantly 
from (approx) 12 to 21. Although there has been some attempt to provide a green buffer 
between the existing properties on Birdlip Road & the new development, seemingly 
because their elevated position and the far reaching views across AONB should be 
maintained, this principle has not extended down the slope to the north, where the 
properties in Highnam Place, Bream Court, Ledbury Court & Burford Road has also 
enjoyed views of AONB & open countryside, yet are now facing the prospect of having 
intensive and visually overbearing development taking away not only their views, but also 
their amenity and privacy. 
 
   
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 123



1 Ledbury Court 
Cheltenham 
Gloucestershire 
GL52 5FZ 
 

 

Comments: 2nd November 2023 
 
I strongly object to the proposed planning. My original comments and objections still 
stand :  
 
I strongly object to this development. 
 
As everyone else previously has stated, the area cannot support such a large 
development of houses, in terms of infrastructure, schooling, doctors surgeries etc. 
 
The roads are already a mess, both physically and traffic volume. Harp Hill would not be 
able to take such a drastic increase in residents and cars. 
 
The schools are full beyond capacity. 
 
This is a heavily populated area, which is already ignored by local government. How will 
they cope with the addition of 250 houses? It is 100% pure greed, and not with the 
residents or the nature of the area in mind at all. 
 
The water run off and flooding has become an increasing concern as more and 
morehouses are built on the hill. 
 
Not only will it be a huge hindrance, eyesore and inconvenience, most importantly it 
willbe irreparably destroying an area inhabited by wild life. 
 
It now also appears that there is proposal for a concentration of smaller & affordable 
housing types into smaller areas. Whereas the original scheme went at least some way 
to respecting the status of the AONB landscape, the current one doesn't, particularly at 
the eastern & north-eastern boundary of the development, where the original number of 
dwellings has now increased significantly from (approx) 12 to 21. Although there has 
been some attempt to provide a green buffer between the existing properties on Birdlip 
Road & the new development, seemingly because their elevated position and the far 
reaching views across AONB should be maintained, this principle has not extended down 
the slope to the north, where the properties in Highnam Place, Bream Court, Ledbury 
Court & Burford Road has also enjoyed views of AONB & open countryside, yet are now 
facing the prospect of having intensive and visually overbearing development taking 
away not only their views, but also their amenity and privacy. 
 
Crime is already on the rise in the area. Residents are blatantly ignored by local 
government and their already existing concerns WITHOUT the addition of this absurd 
development. 
 
   
 
 
 
 

Page 124



2 Fairford Road 
Cheltenham 
Gloucestershire 
GL52 5FQ 
 

 

Comments: 15th October 2023 
 
The development makes the traffic much heavier in priors road and harp hill road . The 
traffic in rush hour are congested,the traffic in local area cannot afford another 250 home 
to be build. It doesnt have enough medical and school places for new family. The 
beautiful landscape and reserve woulc be destroyed asa result i oppose this 
development. 
 
   

3 Highnam Place 
Cheltenham 
Gloucestershire 
GL52 5FX 
 

 

Comments: 3rd November 2023 
 
We are writing to formally object to the planning permission application as follows- 
 
Design Statement 
The impact and proximity of this development on the residents of existing dwellings does 
not appear to have been fully considered or represented. 
The design development plan, understandably not to scale does however omit Highnam 
Place which sits on the Northeast boundary in between Birdlip Road and Fairford Road. 3 
Highnam Place is an upside-down house in an elevated position with far reaching views 
over the AONB and Cheltenham, although appears to have been positioned within the 
plan as being in the lower part of the site, therefore having lower sensitivity than the 
Hewlett's Reservoir neighbourhood in terms of impact on views. 
  
Bream Court & Ledbury Court to the North of Highnam Place are sited on the Northeast 
neighbourhood boundary and also enjoy extensive views over the AONB. 
 
The Google Earth aerial photograph of the site shows the field enclosed by this boundary 
as probably the smallest for development across the site. Plan PPA3 - PPA4 used for the 
application has 21 houses within the site to include 2 no. bungalows, associated parking 
and garages. This is the highest concentration of homes placed next to existing dwellings 
(in both Highnam Place and Oakley Grange) of the entire proposed development, and 
50% of these are designated as affordable housing. The original scheme had only 12 
houses within this area, going some way to respecting both the AONB landscape and 
existing dwellings affected by the development. The current design statement/site layout 
shows this area to be the most densely built-up within the site affecting all the properties 
that sit on its boundary. Privacy, outlook, impact on views and amenity, aside from the 
fact that approx. 50 cars are likely to be present within the area, meaning a potential air 
quality issue may arise in close proximity to pre-existing dwellings. This confirms that the 
Northeast neighbourhood has not been given due consideration or representation when 
discussing and setting out the plan and it will therefore have a negative impact on the 
residents of these homes. 
 

Page 125



The meeting held 09 August 2023 as a result of the pre-application statement does not 
fully describe or represent some of the areas affected by this development. The 
adjustments requested to the masterplan to include re-location of the allotments and 
house type changes on the Southeast Hewlett's Reservoir neighbourhood have 
significantly improved the outlook and impact of the development for just 3 houses on 
Birdlip Road, but to the detriment of many more other homes nearby. This does question 
whether suggestions made during the meeting were mis-interpreted in favour of only a 
minority of dwellings. 
 
The re-location of the allotments puts a drop off point at the edge of a private drive, 
presumably making use of the visitor bays (as long as they are not being used by the 
adjacent properties for the intended visitors, or more likely an overflow of residents 
cars/vans) located to unload and load equipment required to tend allotments, which 
raises the following questions:- 
 
Why have they been re-located to a position that can only be accessed over a private 
drive (Plots 236 & 237) making them predominately accessible only to a minority. 
Presumably the intention is that they should be available to all unless they are to be 
privately owned. 
 
Who are these allotments for and who will be able to apply to use them? 
 
Who will make the decision on allocation? 
Who will monitor the area's upkeep from a visibility and environmental view? 
Will sheds be allowed? 
Will incineration of waste be allowed? 
 
Impact of Site Layout 
Bungalow plots 215 & 216 are positioned far too close to the boundary of 3 Highnam 
Place. This will result in a loss of privacy for each of those properties, partly because 3 
Highnam Place is an upside-down house type which would allow direct view into the rear 
of the bungalows and across to the affordable housing placed on the boundary of Bream 
Court & Ledbury Court. The near visibility from our bedrooms and upstairs living area is 
of 14 homes. Our elevated position will do nothing to reduce the effect of this, our 
bedrooms on this boundary are also elevated and sit level with the top of the fence 
boundary so the issue of privacy, outlook and disturbance at such proximity is totally 
unacceptable and should surely be re-considered. Additionally, the bungalows appear to 
have virtually no back garden areas which would question whether consideration has 
been given to the issue of amenity space for those dwellings. Please also note that our 
existing boundary fence is not the actual boundary, this being approximately 600mm to 
the west. 
  
There appears to be a proposed boundary footpath from the new development into Eden 
Villas which can only have been positioned here without the benefit of a site survey. It 
passes directly next to the rear garden access of 3 Highnam Place, and then past a 
ground floor bedroom which would again result in privacy and security issues. Because 
of the existing ground levels this access point is the only route which permits removal of 
garden waste bins from our property, so to have this converging with a public footpath is 
impractical. Added to this is the potential for antisocial behaviour problems occurring 
directly next to a private dwelling, which again is unacceptable. Highnam Place itself is 
designated a private road and its upkeep is the responsibility of the three properties 
accessed by it. As such there cannot be any access for a public thoroughfare along it 

Page 126



granted. If a pathway is a requirement (and it's difficult to understand why it would be) it 
should be sited either elsewhere where there would not be a compromise to the amenity 
and privacy of existing dwellings. Both 47 Birdlip Road and 3 Highnam Place are upside 
down houses, so the same privacy and security issues regarding viewing into ground 
floor bedrooms would apply. It is indeed alarming that the urban design consultant 
doesn't appear to have taken into consideration the issues that this proposed footpath 
would have on the two properties affected as well as the wider Eden Villas development. 
If a parallel is drawn with the other site access path into Brockweir Road the obvious 
difference is that its access/egress point is directly via a relatively narrow grass verge, 
which would not be adversely affected by conversion to a footpath linking to the roadway, 
and there are no immediately adjacent dwellings which would be affected by privacy 
issues. The proposed access to Highnam Place is an unpaved grass area and any new 
hardstanding introduced will compromise its ability to provide adequate drainage for an 
area which already suffers from excessive ground water problems. There is also the 
possibility that work to create additional hard surfacing will cause damage to an existing 
subterranean watercourse which has happened in the past. As for what purpose the 
proposed access is intended to achieve is unclear. The only possible reason would be to 
provide pedestrian access to Cleeve Hill or the footpaths leading to Charlton Kings and 
Ham areas, but this facility will already exist, with the green space at the top of the 
development, along with its proposed footpaths providing more than adequate & far more 
suitable and attractive access to those areas without the need to traverse the Eden Villas 
areas. 
 
The original approved plan for which permission was obtained by Robert Hitchins allowed 
for fewer (but larger) dwellings with sufficient green space around them to be 
concentrated over a larger area, with a more even spread of homes extending towards 
the south along the boundary between Eden Villas and the new development. The area 
of concentration and dwelling type appears to have changed somewhat since then, to 
create an overdevelopment at the northern end and an underdevelopment elsewhere. 
Furthermore, there now appears to be a need for greater than initially anticipated SUDS 
facilities on the site, and consequently a need to cram dwellings together more to 
accommodate this. Perhaps a reduction in the number of dwellings with a higher ratio of 
larger and more premium house types would help to maintain a more balanced and less 
intensive development of the area. 
 
We concur with other objections regarding the exit road onto Harp Hill. Although we do 
think that careful planning and re-directing of some of the existing roads in the area, 
perhaps with the introduction of one-way systems would go a long way to easing the flow 
of traffic on Harp Hill and Priors Road. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
   

Page 127



45 Birdlip Road 
Cheltenham 
Gloucestershire 
GL52 5AJ 
 

 

Comments: 23rd October 2023 
 
The proposed plan has a 3 storey town house too close, and side-on, to the rear 
elevation of my property. The ridge height is far too high and the impact on my domestic 
life in terms of loss of light, privacy and outlook are intolerable. 
 
The local road network will not handle the extra volume of traffic generated by such a 
development as Harp Hill is already dangerous, overcrowded and not fit for purpose - 
there will be RTC's without doubt 
Comments: 25th October 2023 
Why were Friends of Oakley Farm Fields not asked to make a consultee comment when 
the trustees of Battledown estate have been asked to comment. 
 
Surely they must be asked to comment - I am sure they have a great deal of input to offer 
 
   

28 Birdlip Road 
Cheltenham 
Gloucestershire 
GL52 5AJ 
 

 

Comments: 2nd November 2023 
 
I am writing to formally object to the planning permission application (Reference: 
23/01691/REM) for the proposed residential development at Oakley Farm, Priors Road, 
Cheltenham. I strongly urge the Local Planning Authority to reconsider and reject this 
application for the following reasons: 
 
Inadequate Road Infrastructure: 
The current roadways in the area are already unable to cope with the existing volume of 
traffic. Introducing a residential development of the proposed scale will exacerbate the 
problem, leading to severe congestion, increased pollution, and compromised road 
safety. As it stands, pedestrians are forced to walk along roads lacking pathways, posing 
significant risks, especially for families with children, the elderly, and individuals using 
pushchairs. 
 
Pedestrian Safety Concerns: 
The absence of pathways creates an unsafe environment for pedestrians, particularly 
families with children and the elderly. Increasing traffic due to the proposed development 
will heighten the risks, making it dangerous for residents to walk in the area. The lack of 
adequate pedestrian facilities poses a direct threat to public safety and must be 
addressed before any further development is considered. 
 
Community Impact: 
The proposed development does not align with the existing character of the area, which 
predominantly consists of family residences. Making the area even higher-density with 
the residential development will disrupt the harmony of the neighbourhood, increases in 

Page 128



unwanted traffic flow leading to a decline in the overall quality of life for current residents. 
The community's concerns and preferences should be respected and considered in any 
decision-making process regarding changes to the local landscape. 
 
There is a lack of public transport resources to mitigate the potential 1000 additional car 
journeys others have calculated the development would create around the Harp Hill Area. 
 
Failure to Address Existing Conditions: 
The application does not adequately address the current issues, such as traffic 
congestion and pedestrian safety. Approving this application without a comprehensive 
plan to mitigate these concerns would be negligent and detrimental to the well-being of 
the community and place the existing residents in more risk if walking or cycling. The 
road quality is awful at present. 
 
Traffic surveys were conducted during school holidays and considering there are multiple 
schools within a mile radius it is already noticeable when the children are not in 
attendance.  
 
Planning permission: CB11954/43 and ref:01/00637/CONDIT stated in Condition 19 on 
review that at eastern end of the site, restricted to 40 units by Condition 19 of the outline 
planning permission. This restriction was put in place as it was the view that Harp Hill 
could not handle more than an additional 40 units. You now are looking to add an 
additional 250 units with access from this road. 
 
Given the aforementioned reasons, I kindly request the Local Planning Authority to reject 
the proposed planning permission application. I believe it is essential to prioritise the 
safety and well-being of the existing residents and address the concerns raised by the 
community before considering any further development in this area. 
 
 
   

39 Birdlip Road 
Cheltenham 
Gloucestershire 
GL52 5AJ 
 

 

Comments: 30th October 2023 
 
The planned vehicular access point to this development,on Harp Hill, for 250 dwellings is 
totally unsuitable. 
Harp Hill is already as accident waiting to happen. Apart from being incredibly steep and 
very poorly maintained, cars parking across the pavements creates daily dangers to 
wheelchair and pram/pushchair users forcing them into the road which at one point is on 
a completely blind bend. Cars that do park on the road and not across the pavement 
create a 'single lane' which causes delays and congestion. The situation is made worse 
at the bottom of the hill during drop off and pick up times for the Batteldown Center for 
Children & Families. 
It's my understanding that the traffic surveys conducted by the applicant during the 
outline planning phase were done during in a school holiday meaning the traffic volume 
results are massively skewed to be far less than usual. Anyone who lives near here and 
uses the hill regularly knows that it is already a if not over its limit. 

Page 129



Indeed this seemed to be the councils view when approval of reserved matters pursuant 
to Outline Planning permission ref: 
CB11954/43 and ref:01/00637/CONDIT for the erection of 311 dwellings and 
associated roads, footways, parking, landscaping, drainage and public open space was 
granted. This the planning for the development that I now live in. The site's main access 
is from Priors Road, through the earlier phases. Another 
point of vehicular access is also available from Harp Hill, at eastern end of the site, 
restricted to 40 units by Condition 19 of the outline planning permission. This restriction 
was put in place as it was the view that Harp Hill could not handle more than an 
additional 40 units. You now are being asked to add another 250 units with access from 
this very road. 
 
   

12 Fossebridge Place 
Cheltenham 
Gloucestershire 
GL52 5BW 
 

 

Comments: 6th November 2023 
 
The estate I currently live on (Oakely Grange) plus the two others we are connected to 
(Eden Villas and Oakley) were all build on the old GCHQ land - these account for many 
hundreds of homes, and have added a very, very high volume of traffic to the road 
network. 
 
The road network around Oakley already cannot cope. Queues are very common and 
severe. Adding up to 250 families (which could be up to 500 cars) to the local roads will 
cause utter chaos. The infrastructure cannot cope with what's already there. 
 
Furthermore, I am unaware of plans for extra school or doctor allocation. The primaries 
nearby are jam-packed, and my own doctors surgery (Sixways Clinic) is already 
burdened with more patients than they are able to help. Wait-times for routine 
appointments can be very long. 
 
In short, the road and public service infrastructure is already unable to cope. Adding 
another big estate will be detrimental on multiple fronts. 
 
   

Sudeley 
Harp Hill 
Charlton Kings Cheltenham 
Gloucestershire 
GL52 6PX 
 

 

Comments: 2nd November 2023 
 
I strongly object to the proposal for 250 homes to be built on Oakley Farm Pastures. It is 
my understanding that the development is going ahead so I'll limit my comments 
assuming the construction is happening. 
 
Access - Harp Hill is incredibly busy at peak times as both a rat run for getting onto the 
A40 and for school pick up and drop off. My children who walk to the bus stop for school 

Page 130



regularly report near misses with inconsiderate and dangerous car drivers speeding up 
and down the hill. I myself am often sworn at or beeped at when I reverse into my drive 
which is the safest way to park. With in the region of 1000 extra car journeys put into the 
mix I fear it will no be long for a serious accident to occur. I would also add that the 
construction traffic thundering up and down the hill will likely damage the existing 
foundations of dwellings already there. Harp Hill simply cannot absorb this extra traffic.  
 
Density - the amount of housing planned is far too great and it is not necessary for so 
many houses to be crammed in. There are a number of other large scale housing 
projects happening in the locality on sites which are far more suitable. This amount of 
housing will completely transform the region and not for the better. Where will they go to 
school, find a GP and other services?  
 
Drainage - after heavy rain the road is often flooded with tarmac being damaged. How 
will this be addressed?  
 
Biodiversity - I trust that the hedgerow on the side of the road to the top of the hill will 
remain. It is a source of much needed habitat for wildlife and will also help combat light 
and noise pollution. The pastures are home to owls, deer and other species I hope the 
developers take serious genuine consideration for them.  
 
 
 
 
 
   

129 New Barn Lane 
Cheltenham 
Gloucestershire 
GL52 3LQ 
 

 

Comments: 2nd November 2023 
Harp Hill is already an over used and congested road. It gets parked up on both sides so 
that only one car can pass at a time. A development of 250 new houses is going to add 
upwards of 300 cars to an already inadequate road which carries not only local traffic but 
also cars which use it as a cut through from Charlton Kings.  
 
In terms of amenities, has anyone actually considered whether the area can sustain an 
additional 250 families? I belong to the doctor's surgery at the new Wilson Medical 
Centre, and wonder what impact an additional 250 families will have on the already 
overwhelmed facility. Are there spaces available with local dentists? Are there additional 
places in local schools?  
 
I have serious concerns that if it goes ahead, this huge housing development will 
overwhelm the roads and amenities in the area leading to a reduction in the quality of life 
for existing residents and a disappointing experience for new ones. 
 
   
 
 
 
 

Page 131



 
Linton House 
Greenway Lane 
Charlton Kings Cheltenham 
Gloucestershire 
GL52 6LB 
 

 

Comments: 2nd November 2023 
 
Reason for objection - traffic. 
 
Harp Hill and Greenway are not suited to an increased volume of traffic which will be 
considerable during construction, and when the site is occupied by 250 families. 
 
At peak times Greenway Lane is already very congested due to the Sixways lights and 
parents accessing Ashley Manor Preparatory School. 
 
   

Ryeworth Farmhouse 
26 Greenway Lane 
Charlton Kings Cheltenham 
Gloucestershire 
GL52 6LB 
 

 

Comments: 29th October 2023 
 
The development takes insufficient consideration of the road types, lack of pavements, 
lack of traffic calming measures and various constrictions at the key exit points onto 
Hales Road and through Greenway Lane onto London Road. Both exists represent 
significant pinch points with already congestion problems at key times of day.  
 
Those pinch points create delays, frustration and then speeding on greenway lane. 
Neither road has pavements and so walking as well has horseriding and cycling will be 
endangered by the undoubted speeding as a result of congestion or road user frustration. 
 
The dangers created by so much extra traffic have not been properly considered. The 
exit from this development needs to be into the Sainsbury's estate to enable the traffic 
light system to support the flow of traffic as well as visits to Sainsbury's providing useful 
buffering. 
 
 
 
   
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 132



 
 

34 Greenway Lane 
Charlton Kings 
Cheltenham 
Gloucestershire 
GL52 6LB 
 

 

Comments: 29th October 2023 
 
The development that is planned for Harp Hill cannot be considered in isolation from the 
access to that development. Indeed, the current access roads, Harp Hill and Greenway 
Lane, which are severely limited and have no possibility to be improved, must be an 
important factor in determining the size of any planned development. 
 
Anyone who uses Harp Hill will be familiar with the struggle and challenges of zig 
zagging between parked cars towards the bottom of Harp Hill. With traffic arriving along 
Priors Road from the Prestbury area having priority over traffic queueing on Harp Hill, 
long tailbacks form very quickly. This also compromises drivers wishing to go up Harp 
Hill, as this tailback often snakes around parked cars. Anyone who witnesses this 
congestion at the peak hours will be left in no doubt that adding the volume of journeys 
that will result from this development, is completely unsustainable. In addition to this, 
there is a danger to pedestrians higher up Harp Hill where there are no pavements. With 
the width of the current roads and the limited space either side, it does appear that 
pavements cannot be built. 
 
Simply put, Harp Hill and Greenway Lane were not designed for the additional 1,000 
daily traffic movements that a development of 250 houses could generate. 
 
In addition to the residential journeys, the dramatic rise in home deliveries from 
supermarkets and delivery companies, has changed the type and size of vehicles using 
the already limited single lane roads. 
 
Whilst it is understandable that current comment has been largely focused on the impact 
on Harp Hill, the consequences for Greenway Lane will be similarly catastrophic. Access 
from Greenway Lane into Harp Hill and vice versa is exacerbated, particularly for 
construction traffic and larger vehicles, by the angle that the roads join and the restricted 
width of Harp Hill at that point. 
 
The traffic lights at the Sixways junction are programmed to facilitate the major traffic 
flow, that being the A40 traffic entering and leaving the Cheltenham area. The time 
allowed for crossing the junction from Greenway Lane is very limited, this will increase 
the traffic queues in Greenway Lane, which in rush hour can reach Ashley Road. A 
further issue is that cars are often parked outside their owners houses on the left-hand 
side; this causes the traffic waiting at the lights to queue in the middle of the road. This 
already presents a challenge for larger cars and vehicles entering Greenway Lane from 
the A40; construction traffic would not be able to access with mounting the pavement. 
Alternatively, they block the junction and the Sixways Junction is brought to a standstill. 
This presents a serious danger to the high number of children cycling or walking to/from 
the 2 large schools in the close vicinity. 
 
  

Page 133



 
 
   

12 Brockweir Road 
Cheltenham 
Gloucestershire 
GL52 5FW 
 

 

Comments: 31st October 2023 
 
Harp Hill was not designed for any more traffic than it has currently got. Potentially 
another 500 cars from the proposed access would be passing up and down, creating an 
extremely unsafe area for motorists, pedestrians, animals and the environment. This 
would only be acceptable to people not living locally. For all of us living in the area, trying 
to go about their usual daily routine it would be a catastrophe. 
 
   

Hill Covert 
Harp Hill 
Charlton Kings Cheltenham 
Gloucestershire 
GL52 6PR 
 

 

Comments: 3rd November 2023 
 
Please find our submission in relation to the above planning application for the discharge 
of reserved matters in relation to the Oakley Farm development. 
 
1.0 Summary Objection, Outline Recommendations & Proposals 
We object to the access point to the Oakley Farm Development being within the current 
'Highway Corridor Flexibility Zone' (HCFZ) on Harp Hill, in particular to the revised 
location of the access point, which will only serve to increase risk to safety, well-being 
and environmental impact, whilst we are proposing a solution that we, and our Harp Hill 
neighbours, can support.  
 
We, therefore, object to the adjustments proposed to the location of the access road, 
whilst we provide alternatives which may be accommodated without significant change to 
the scheme. 
 
This decision is the most material decision of the application; noting the permanent 
impact on the surrounding community, and therefore, consideration of the entry and exit 
to a site of up to 250 properties with 427 housing plus 54 guest parking spaces defined 
on the submission.  
 
We believe that for a relatively small amendment to the proposed access, impacting the 
safety for all residents; new Oakley Farm and existing surrounding residents plus passing 
walkers, cyclists and vehicles, can be improved. Furthermore, the environmental impact 
and scarring on the green land can be reduced. 
 
2.0 Objectives of our Submission 
Strong objections have been raised by other concerned residents regarding the overall 
development, and impact on local facilities which are concerns we also share. Noting, 

Page 134



however, that this submission is for discharge of the reserved matters, our response 
relates specifically to these reserved matters.  
 
Our objective is to ensure that the legacy of this development is as positive as it may be, 
given the generations that will live with the results of this development. Our priorities are 
therefore: 
 
a. Safety for all parties 
By considering the access point/s to the development, noting the increased traffic from 
the new homes, the impact on existing residents, hikers, cyclists, dog walkers and 
runners that pass daily along Harp Hill as part of a favoured countryside route. 
 
Safety also does not only refer to physical safety, it refers to the mental health and 
wellbeing of all parties involved in this development. 
 
b. Reduced scarring and impact on Green area of the development  
Once lost to hard landscaping, the green areas cannot be recovered and, therefore, the 
obligation is to retain as much of the natural environment (formally ANOB), as possible. 
 
c. The final decision on reserved matters to be a local decision taken in consideration of 
the local community and environment and full representation of all parties 
 
Whilst the decision was made by central government to approve the development, the 
local council and committee now has the capability, and the duty, to represent its 
constituents in the resolution of these reserved matters and ensure mitigation of its 
impact to protect the safety and well-being of the public, wildlife and green spaces to its 
maximum potential whilst enabling the development to proceed.  
 
The local council and committee will also be more familiar, and therefore sensitive, to the 
real impact of the development on the local residents to take a decision which 
incorporates expert recommendations and objective feedback.  
 
3.0 Consultation Process Not Reflective of All Parties or the Developers Professional 
Intent 
Nexus' Statement of Engagement dated September 2023 on behalf of the developers 
confirms that, whilst engagement by the developers was not conditional, their intent was, 
and is, to conduct a transparent process which demonstrates a professional intent to 
engage in considered consultation with impacted parties to secure a consensus decision 
that will ease the development during its build process and through its subsequent 
ongoing life. 
 
Unfortunately, the process of engagement has omitted important representation, 
particularly of the residents of Harp Hill and the process has not been fully transparent, 
particularly in relation to the rationale for moving the access road location. 
 
Nexus reached out to the Friends of Oakley Farm Slopes (FOFS) to engage in a 
consultation on 09 August 2023 with residents impacted by the development. Those 
directly impacted on Harp Hill opposite the access zone, however, were not notified 
about, nor invited to the meeting, nor was notice of the meeting provided on the FOFS 
website, Facebook or signed up to Friends of Oakley. Furthermore, the minutes, 
attendees and presentation made The FOFS engagement were not provided in the 

Page 135



Statement of Engagement or its Action Tracker (Appendix 2) and, therefore, this FOFS 
meeting was not a representation of ourselves or fellow Harp Hill neighbours. 
 
We are confident that the developer's professional intent to reasonably deliver the least 
impactful scheme has, therefore, not been achieved due to the above points. 
Consequently, this submission with the support of its neighbours, and the original 
considerations by the GCC Highways and independent Highways consultants as to the 
safest point on Harp Hill for the access road to be established are material in the final 
decision. 
 
4.0 Objection to the Revised Access Location 
No information has been provided to justify the relocation of the access on Harp Hill 
within the Flexibility Zone. The access has been moved west to a point outside two 
properties that have only a single driveway entrance exit which often requires reversing 
of vehicles on to Harp Hill and would subsequently be into the access junction creating a 
hazard for all road users and the risks blocking access for emergency services along 
Harp Hill and onto the Oakley Farm development.  
 
If the exit were to remain in the current proposed position, vehicles from either Haytor or 
Hill Covert, approaching the edge of their drive, will have raised headlights shining 
directly into their windshield, blinding both parties. Reversing into oncoming vehicles, will 
be even more hazardous. 
 
The revised access now encroaches beyond the boundary of the A3 highest categorised 
and protected tree (T63). Whilst the submission shows the access is opposite the front 
garden of Haytor 65, Harp Hill, the mark up on site completed by the developer's 
contractor on 24 October 2023 shows the road and sweep are partially opposite the drive 
of Hill Covert and subsequently in the zone of the protected tree T63. 
 
We, therefore, object to the proposed access point for the development and, 
notwithstanding that the access point as presented on 12 October 2022 (Alternative 
illustrative masterplan) remains preferable to the revised proposal, we propose there are 
better options for accessing the development. 
 
5.0 Alternative Option - Access to the Development from Harp Hill opposite Stanley Road  
The current Highway Corridor Flexibility Zone overall retains a greater safety risk and 
environmental impact than is necessary and has been raised in the multiple objections of 
neighbouring homes which we support. 
 
A more suitable location on Harp Hill, therefore, is opposite the Stanley Road junction 
providing for a safer access and also reducing the impact on the natural landscape.  
 
This access point is at an existing junction and not directly opposite any properties and 
their subsequent driveways which ensure no vehicles are exiting their driveway onto the 
new Oakley Farm access road. 
 
The access from Oakley Farm onto Harp Hill at the Stanley Road junction is effectively 
level thereby enabling a more direct, shorter access road, reducing the amount of green 
land converted to hard landscaping. 
 
By accessing Harp Hill opposite an existing road rather than opposite existing homes, the 
issue of headlight pollution into homes is eliminated. 

Page 136



 
This junction also connects to a footpath down Harp Hill thereby increasing the safety of 
the intersection of vehicles and pedestrians. 
 
Traffic flow will be further eased by reducing the impact on Battledown traffic entering 
Stanley Road from the East of Harp Hill. 
 
We note that the junction comfortably satisfies the minimum 43m sight lines required for 
the 30mph speed limit on Harp Hill. 
 
The consultations with and submissions from the GCC Highways authority in relation to 
the original submission (20/01069/OUT) support this, as do the independent professional 
highways consultant submission ('Helix transport consultants obo half acre and 
cleevesyde', dated 22 September 2020). 
 
We also note that, the Design Panel, in its notes dated 10 September 2023 (Statement of 
Engagement, Appendix 3) has highlighted it's concern for 'scars in the landscape through 
the 'green' zone above the housing' thereby indicating support for alternative proposals 
which enable a reduction of the green zone impact. 
 
5.0 Enhanced Option - One way access route with entrance at Harp Hill/ Stanley Road 
and exit to the North/ West onto Priors Road 
 
Access safety and impact could be further enhanced by utilising the track access to 
Oakley Farm as a one-way access to split the traffic load across two separate entry and 
exit points; entering on Harp Hill and exiting onto Priors Road. 
 
It is noted that, during the Developers consultation on 16 August 2023, Highways raised 
the question 'Review whether connections through the northern boundary are possible' 
confirming that Highways preference would be to utilise a Northern point to at least 
reduce or eliminate the traffic congestion on Harp Hill which suggests this proposal still 
retains wider support. 
 
Summary 
Whilst the initial decision was taken at a national level, this is now a local decision for the 
Council to make on behalf of its constituents. The Council has the legal duty to ensure 
the safety of its constituents and we propose to assist this with the recommended 
adjustment to the access road being moved to a safer point opposite Stanley Road. 
 
We accept that no solution will perfectly satisfy all parties, however, by applying flexibility 
to the already flexible HCFZ we are confident of a solution that enables all parties can 
accept whilst satisfying each parties own primary objectives, combining physical and 
mental safety, environment and economic factors.  
 
This review process and decision is the opportunity to feasibly achieve this objective and 
create a plan that all parties can support, meeting the safety obligations of the Council 
and enabling the development to progress without further and ongoing challenge.  
 
There is no risk free, impact free solution that is possible or expected; there is, however, 
the safest and least impactful solution that we have presented in this submission and we 
would be able to support. 
 

Page 137



   
The Villa 
10A Greenway Lane 
Charlton Kings Cheltenham 
Gloucestershire 
GL52 6LB 
 

 

Comments: 2nd November 2023 
 
We object to the development on the grounds of the additional traffic that will be 
generated on Greenway Lane and Harp Hill. The blind bend on Greenway Lane is 
already dangerous and there will be a significant increase in traffic due to the 
development and single access road via Harp Hill.  
 
At peak times the traffic backs up towards the allotments on Greenway Lane and the 
additional traffic will create a gridlock snaking up the hill towards the development. 
 
   

36 Greenway Lane 
Charlton Kings 
Cheltenham 
Gloucestershire 
GL52 6LB 
 

 

Comments: 3rd November 2023 
 
This scheme needs to consider the wider implications of the community along Greenway 
Lane, Ashley Manor Prep School as well as Harp Hill. 
 
The additional traffic exiting Greenway Lane onto the A40 will cause significant delays 
unless a solution is found handle higher volumes. Currently delays of up to 15 minutes 
can occur around 0830 on a school day due to just a handful of additional cars leaving 
Ashley Manor. Large tailbacks can also occur when race-goers use Harp Hill to cut 
through from Prestbury to the A40 as well as during events at Ashley Manor. 
 
 
  
 

 

Page 138



Page 139



Page 140



Page 141



Page 142



Page 143



Page 144



Supporting photographs – 44 Priors Road 

 

 

Page 145



 

 

Page 146



Following the recent revised documents’ submission, I object to the 
development proposal 23/01691/REM in regard to the proposed houses set in 
proximity to the properties at Birdlip Road. 
My home is at 43 Birdlip Road, it sits in an elevated position on the Eden Villas 
development and is designed so that our day to day living accommodation is 
on the upper floor, with bedrooms at ground floor level. Outdoor access from 
the upper floor leads to a balcony and terraced area which, in a conventionally 
designed home, would be used as the family’s garden patio space. This 
terraced area faces to the west, and therefore to the proposed development; it 
is surrounded by clear glazing. Because of this configuration, any new 
development such as that proposed on plots 228/9, which hold my property in 
their field of view from windows at a similar elevation will have an 
uninterrupted and direct view into my indoor living area, from both their upper 
and middle floors, and on to the private area of my outdoor terrace. Unlike a 
conventional house I have no privacy screen, such as a garden fence protecting 
views into my day to day living space.  

The inspector in his decision letter, conditioned that plans of the ridge heights 
of new and adjacent properties and plans of landform changes, cut and fill 
detail etc. should be provided. His aim being that they would aid in assessing 
how the new properties would relate to those adjacent and to their 
surroundings. Surprisingly, very little of this detail has been provided within the 
application plans submitted. Consequently, it is difficult to determine how the 
proposal integrates with its surroundings or conforms with the conditions set. 
Nevertheless, without building height detail, I have estimated that the ridge 
heights of plots 228/9 are at 124m elevation, that’s about 10m above the 
existing ground level and a least 2m above the adjacent 45 Birdlip Road. In my 
opinion, these proposed houses will create a dominating and overbearing 
impact on this property, forming an unsatisfactory interrelationship with it, the 
surrounding area, and other nearby existing properties. 

I have taken an image from the estimated elevation of what is likely to be the 
oblique outlook from the upper floor of plot 228’s south facing window, 
towards the rear of 43 Birdlip Road. Notwithstanding the intervening space 
between the two properties, and the associated guidance in this regard, on any 
measure, I can see that the visual connection between the two is significant. 
The conflict between inverted living v standard design may not be a unique 
situation; however, I think it’s unusual. In this respect, I believe that the 
customary proximity guidance is less relevant. To my mind, interrelationships 
such as this create an unacceptable loss of privacy by severe overlooking and 

Page 147



generate an overwhelming impact on residential amenity, significantly 
degrading living conditions. This is contrary to SL1 of the Cheltenham plan. 
I suggest that if this development proposal was in reverse, in other words, the 
proposed properties already existed, and the application was to build an 
“inverted living” house where my home is, there would be serious and severe 
restrictions imposed to mitigate overlooking, privacy, residential amenity etc. 
And doubt would be cast as to whether it was viable at all or whether it created 
a compatible interrelationship. Similar considerations should be given to the 
current proposal. 

I don’t relish the thought of any form of development in this designated area 
and I fought very hard against the original application and at the appeal. 
Nonetheless, I am a realist and accept that the fields will be developed. Whilst I 
strongly object to 3 storey properties built on raised ground for the reasons 
given, what I could perhaps find more palatable, is 2 storey houses in their 
place. These could be built at current or lower-level elevations with perhaps 
tiered rear gardens. 

Moving on. The initial house type plans showed that the proposal on plot 237’s 
eastern elevation was windowless, whilst that on plot 228 had windows. I now 
note that in the recently revised house type plans this has been reversed, in 
that 228 is now windowless and 237 has gained a window. Why is this? Why 
aren’t both plot’s eastern elevations windowless? This change was not 
identified in the revised covering letter. Further, I note that bungalows are 
described as being of low impact form. Can this be further enhanced by 
lowering plot 237’s slab to match that of its neighbour plot 236 at 116.25m, or 
the slab at the adjacent 43 Birdlip Road at 116.275m. 

I note that the applicant has gone someway in ameliorating the adverse 
influence of the proposed houses on the existing adjacent properties of Birdlip 
Road, and this is welcomed. However, I am not convinced that full regard has 
been given to the significant impact that the 3 storey houses will have on the 
residential amenity etc. of the occupants of the adjacent homes. The inspector 
was mindful that new development should ensure a satisfactory relationship 
with the surrounding area. It is my view that the 3 storey proposals identified, 
do not achieve this and would be more welcome in a subservient form. 

Additionally, following the introduction of an extensive package of revised 
documents, I respectfully request that a further period of consultation should 
be made available. It has become evident that not all revisions in the proposal’s 
documents and plans are listed in the revised covering letter. Therefore, further 
time should be given to allow interested parties an opportunity to scrutinize 

Page 148



the new package. I see no reason why the indicated determination deadline, 
published on CBC public access, of 24 Jan 2024, couldn’t still be met. 

Page 149



 

P
age 150



 

APPLICATION NO: 23/00625/FUL OFFICER: Michelle Payne 

DATE REGISTERED: 14th April 2023 DATE OF EXPIRY: 14th July 2023 
(extension of time agreed until 22nd December 2023) 

DATE VALIDATED: 14th April 2023 DATE OF SITE VISIT:  

WARD: St Peters PARISH:  

APPLICANT: Lane Britton and Jenkins 

AGENT: Zesta Planning Ltd 

LOCATION: 456 High Street Cheltenham Gloucestershire 

PROPOSAL: Full planning application for the redevelopment to provide a residential 
development of 18no. apartments (12no. one bed and 6no. two bed) 
contained within two blocks, following demolition of an existing commercial 
building 

 
RECOMMENDATION: Permit subject to Unilateral Undertaking 
 

  
This site map is for reference purposes only. OS Crown Copyright. All rights reserved Cheltenham Borough Council 100024384 2007 

 

Page 151
Agenda Item 6b



1. DESCRIPTION OF SITE AND PROPOSAL 

1.1 The application site is located on the southern side of the Lower High Street, directly 
adjacent to the Honeybourne Line to the west, and just within the Central Conservation Area 
boundary (Lower High Street Character Area). The site is also located within the Principal 
Urban Area (PUA) and is approximately 0.07 hectares in size. The site is not subject to any 
other designation. A small part of the site is owned by the Council who are selling the land. 

1.2 The site is currently in a Class B2 employment use and occupied by J R Laboratories Ltd, 
an optical product manufacturers. The existing building on site, whilst set back from the 
highway, covers much of the site. The building is single storey and utilitarian in its 
appearance, dating from the 1950s. Its front elevation is red brick with a stepped art deco 
style gable end with two solider courses. The building is identified as a ‘Significant neutral 
building/space’ on the Townscape Analysis Map within the Lower High Street Character 
Area Appraisal. The frontage of the site is hard surfaced and used for car parking and is 
devoid of any landscaping.  

1.3 To the northwest of the site, beyond the Honeybourne Line, sits Honeybourne Gate, a 
modern, five storey development comprising 55 retirement apartments. To the south-east, 
the site sits adjacent to no. 452 High Street, an end-of-terrace property with a vacant shop 
unit at ground floor and a flat on the upper floor. To the rear, the site backs onto the Winston 
Churchill Memorial Gardens which house the grade II listed St Marys Mission (St Marys 
Cemetery Chapel). Immediately opposite the site, on the High Street, is a recent, four storey 
residential development. 

1.4 The application proposes the demolition of the existing building on site and the erection of 
a new residential development comprising 18no. apartments (12no. one bed and 6no. two 
bed) within two separate blocks. The proposed buildings are four storeys in height, with the 
top floor recessed. Externally, the buildings are faced in red brick, with a tiled finish to the 
recessed top floor. 

1.5 Revised plans have been submitted during the course of the application and these are 
discussed in the report below. The quantum of development is unchanged. 

1.6 In addition to drawings, the application is supported by the following detailed reports and 
statements; all of which have been available to view on the Council’s website: 

 Planning Statement  

 Design and Access Statement (including Sustainability and Waste Management) 

 Heritage Statement 

 Phase 1 Geo-Environmental Desk Study Report 

 Air Quality Assessment 

 Building Inspection Report 

 Arboricultural Impact Assessment 

 Drainage and Maintenance Strategy  

 Planning Viability Report 

   Transport Note: Car Parking Assessment (updated) 
 

1.7 The application is before the planning committee at the request of Cllr Willingham whose 
full comments can be read in the appendix to this report. 

1.8 Members will have the opportunity to visit the site on planning view. 

 

 

Page 152



2. CONSTRAINTS AND RELEVANT PLANNING HISTORY  
 
Constraints: 
Airport Safeguarding over 45m 
Conservation Area 
Central Conservation Area 
Core Commercial Area 
Honeybourne Line 
Principal Urban Area 
Residents Association 
Lower High Street Shopping Area 
Smoke Control Order 
 
Relevant Planning History: 
None 
 

3. POLICIES AND GUIDANCE  

National Planning Policy Framework 2023 (NPPF) 
Section 2 Achieving sustainable development 
Section 4 Decision-making 
Section 5 Delivering a sufficient supply of homes 
Section 8 Promoting healthy and safe communities 
Section 9 Promoting sustainable transport 
Section 11 Making effective use of land 
Section 12 Achieving well-designed places  
Section 14 Meeting the challenge of climate change, flooding and coastal change 
Section 15 Conserving and enhancing the natural environment 
Section 16 Conserving and enhancing the historic environment 
 
Adopted Cheltenham Plan 2020 (CP) Policies 
EM2 Safeguarding Non-Designated Existing Employment Land and Buildings  
D1 Design  
BG1 Cotswold Beechwoods Special Area Of Conservation Recreation Pressure  
SL1 Safe and Sustainable Living  
GI2 Protection and replacement of trees  
GI3 Trees and Development  
 
Adopted Joint Core Strategy 2017 (JCS) Policies 
SD3 Sustainable Design and Construction 
SD4 Design Requirements 
SD8 Historic Environment 
SD9 Biodiversity and Geodiversity 
SD10 Residential Development 
SD11 Housing Mix and Standards 
SD12 Affordable Housing 
SD14 Health and Environmental Quality 
INF1 Transport Network 
INF2 Flood Risk Management 
INF3 Green Infrastructure 
 
Supplementary Planning Guidance/Documents 
Development on garden land and infill sites in Cheltenham (2009) 
Lower High Street Character Area Appraisal and Management Plan (2008)  
Cheltenham Climate Change SPD (2022) 
 
 

Page 153



4. CONSULTATION RESPONSES 
 
See appendix at end of report 
 

5. PUBLICITY AND REPRESENTATIONS  
 

5.1 Letters of notification were sent to 54 neighbouring properties on receipt of the application. 
In addition, site notices were posted and an advert published in the Gloucestershire Echo.  

5.2 Additional consultation was carried out on receipt of the revised plans. 

5.3 In response to the publicity, 12 representations have been received; 11 in objection, and 
one general comment. The comments have been circulated in full to members. 

5.4 The comments are summarised below: 

 Concerned about noise and disruption during construction and ongoing noise once 
complete 

 Height will impact on light to, and views from, Honeybourne Gate 

 Parking is already difficult / roads are congested 

 Impact on value of properties in Honeybourne Gate 

 Building is too large 

 There is no parking proposed on-site 

 Concerns over rubbish collection 

 The narrow gap proposed between the building and the Honeybourne Line will make 
repairs to the embankment and the line very difficult 

 Honeybourne Gate is a retirement development 

 Scale, height and mass of the proposal represents overdevelopment 

 Unreasonable impact on living conditions of residents in Honeybourne Gate in terms 
of privacy, overshadowing and loss of light – will be oppressive and overbearing 

 No provision for access for servicing vehicles, emergency services, etc. 

 Unconvincing argument for change of use – Cheltenham has lack of employment land 

 No objection to change of use but object to height and size of new building – should 
be no more than two storeys 

 Four storey building would impact on views and make Honeybourne Line more 
enclosed and less safe 

 LPA has duty to preserve or enhance the conservation area 

 Loss of views from Honeybourne Gate 

 Due to proximity to Honeybourne Gate, the mass and scale of the development will 
have detrimental overbearing impact, and block light  

 No Health Impact Assessment submitted 

 Access to Block B for larger deliveries and removals appears to be totally impractical 

 No objections in principle but any proposal should be of a much reduced size and 
scale – no more than two storeys 

 Building should be finished in white render which would be more in-keeping 

 Honeybourne Gate not designed to have windows overlooking it 

 Suggestion that public car parks locally could be used for 'visitors and delivery 
vehicles' is comical - delivery vehicles and vans will park on the single carriageway 
main road or illegally on the pavement 

 Visitors coming into town along the major access road will see the proposed building 
looming above the Honeybourne Bridge 

 Need to install 'mechanical ventilation systems' does not seem very green or healthy 
for the residents 

 Noise levels during construction will impact daily life  

 Congestion in an already busy area will be added to 

Page 154



 Unrealistic to think residents won’t have cars 

 Occupants of the proposed building would have their bedroom and/or lounge windows 
directly overlooked by the Honeybourne Gate windows and vice versa  

 The building would completely dominate the view from all windows of Honeybourne 
Gate apartments on this side 

 Residents on the affected side of Honeybourne Gate have chosen to live on the 'quiet' 
side of the building - unfair to inflict on them the inevitable noise, vibration and 
disruption of the building works 

 The proposal represents a gross overdevelopment of a restricted site and will be out 
of scale with adjacent properties 

 The proposal will require the removal of two trees at the entrance to Winston Churchill 
Gardens 

 No objection to the proposed building but the developer should provide a new 
staircase up to the Honeybourne Line 

 The site is very small and believed to have been previously found not to be financially 
viable for development 

 There is a lack of outdoor amenity space at ground floor  

 Ideal situation would be that the site be developed together with 452 High Street and 
other adjacent empty retail units 

6. OFFICER COMMENTS  

6.1 Determining issues  

6.1.1 The main considerations when determining this application relate to the principle of 
redevelopment in terms of the loss of the existing employment site and the proposed 
residential use; design, layout and impact on the historic environment; climate change; 
parking and highway safety; affordable housing; neighbouring amenity; and recreational 
impacts on the Cotswold Beechwoods Special Area of Conservation. 

6.2 Principle 

6.2.1 Planning law requires that applications for planning permission must be determined in 
accordance with the development plan unless material considerations indicate otherwise. 
In accordance with paragraph 11 of the National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) which 
sets out a “presumption in favour of sustainable development” proposals that accord with 
an up-to-date development plan should be approved without delay. 

6.2.2 The development plan comprises saved policies of the Cheltenham Borough Local 
Plan Second Review 2006 (CBLP); adopted polices of the Cheltenham Plan 2020 (CP); 
and adopted policies of the Tewkesbury, Gloucester and Cheltenham Joint Core Strategy 
2017 (JCS). Other material considerations include the NPPF, and Planning Practice 
Guidance (PPG). 

Loss of existing employment use 

6.2.3 Adopted CP policy EM2 seeks to safeguard non-designated employment land and 
buildings and advises that: 

Development proposals for a change of use of land and buildings currently or last in 
employment use (Note 1) will only be permitted where:  

a) buildings were constructed and first occupied for residential use; or  

b) the loss of the site to other uses does not have a detrimental impact on 
the continuing operation of existing businesses in the vicinity (Note 2) and;  

Page 155



i. The proposed use is job-generating (Note 3) with any loss of 
existing provision being offset by a net gain in the quality (Note 4) 
and / or the number of jobs provided on the site; or  

ii. Development of the site will ensure the relocation of an existing 
firm to a more suitable location within the Borough (Note 5); or  

iii. There has been a sustained and long-term absence of economic 
activity on the land with no reasonable prospect of the land being 
used for employment (Note 6); or  

c) The applicant for planning permission can demonstrate that employment 
use creates unacceptable environmental or traffic problems which cannot be 
satisfactorily resolved.  

6.2.4 In this case, whilst officers acknowledge that the site is not yet vacant, regard has 
been given to paragraph 1.2 of the Planning Statement, and the Building Inspection Report, 
which accompanies the application. These documents set out that the existing commercial 
building on site is in a poor state of repair and has reached the end of its natural life span, 
and that the existing business on site is currently reducing its operations with a view to 
vacating the site. In this respect, the alternative use of the site would not have a detrimental 
impact on the continuing operation of existing businesses in the vicinity, and given the 
number of residential properties that have been relatively recently constructed within the 
vicinity of the site, any redevelopment of the site within a B2 employment use would have 
the significant potential to cause harm to the amenities of neighbouring land users. On 
balance, officers are therefore satisfied that a change of use of this site would be compliant 
with the aims and objectives of CP policy EM2.  

Proposed residential use 

6.2.5 As previously noted, the application site is sustainably located within the PUA, wherein 
adopted JCS policy SD10 supports new housing development on previously-developed 
land. However, in any event, the housing policies are out-of-date as the Council is currently 
unable to demonstrate a five year supply of deliverable housing sites (the latest published 
figure is 4.84 years), and therefore the ‘tilted balance’ in favour of granting permission is 
triggered. The proposed development would result in the welcome provision of an additional 
18no. residential units in this highly sustainable location, and make a valuable contribution 
to the borough’s housing stock. 

6.2.6 With all of the above in mind, officers are satisfied that, in principle, the proposed 
redevelopment of the site is acceptable, subject to the material considerations discussed 
below.  

6.2.7 As previously noted, the existing building on site is identified as being a neutral 
building within the Lower High Street Character Area Appraisal and is not considered to 
make a positive contribution to the character and appearance of the conservation area; as 
such no objection is raised to its demolition subject to a satisfactory scheme for 
redevelopment.  

6.3 Design, layout and impact on the historic environment 

6.3.1 Paragraph 130 of the NPPF requires decisions on planning applications to ensure that 
new developments “will function well and add to the overall quality of the area...; are visually 
attractive…; are sympathetic to local character…including the surrounding built 
environment…whilst not preventing or discouraging appropriate innovation or change (such 
as increased densities); establish or maintain a strong sense of place…; optimise the 
potential of the site…; and create places that are safe, inclusive and accessible…with a 
high standard of amenity for existing and future users”.  

Page 156



6.3.2 The above requirement is generally consistent with the design requirements set out 
in adopted CP policy D1 and JCS policy SD4.  

6.3.3 Additional guidance of relevance to this application can be found in the Council’s 
adopted SPD relating to development on garden land and infill sites, which sets out that 
various elements combine to create the character of an area. The document states at 
paragraph 3.5 that “Responding to character is not simply about copying or replicating what 
already exists in an area…Change in itself is not considered a bad thing automatically…”  

6.3.4 With particular regard to development within the historic environment, Section 72(1) 
of the Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990 requires special regard 
to be paid to the desirability of preserving or enhancing the character or appearance of a 
conservation area. JCS policy SD8 also requires development to make a positive 
contribution to local character and distinctiveness, having regard to valued and distinctive 
elements of the historic environment. 

6.3.5 The main access to the development would be located via a passage to the side 
(northwest) of Block A between the building and the Honeybourne Line, leading through to 
Block B at the rear. Each block would be provided by dedicated refuse, recycling and bike 
storage facilities, with the refuse/recycling store integral to Block A having an access direct 
onto the High Street for collection. No on-site car parking provision is proposed. 
 
6.3.6 Externally, the space about the buildings is largely shown to be hard surfaced with 
only small pockets of low level landscaping to soften the site; however, officers feel that 
there is scope to introduce more generous areas of soft landscaping within the site, and this 
could be secured via a condition requiring a detailed hard and soft landscaping scheme to 
be submitted for approval. Although there are no large areas of open recreational space 
within the development, there are opportunities for recreation reasonably close to the site. 
 
6.3.7 With regard to the external appearance of the buildings, as previously noted, the 
scheme has been revised during the course of the application resulting in significant 
improvements: the revisions include: 
 

 The introduction of a red brick finish throughout the main elevations of the buildings; 

 a recessed, tile hung, top floor helping to break up the massing and bulk of the 
buildings; and  

 changes to the fenestration.  
 
6.3.8 In its revised form, officers consider the external appearance of the scheme to be 
acceptable. Although concerns have been raised in relation to the height of the buildings, 
officers are satisfied that no particular harm will occur. The top floors are now recessed from 
the buildings below, and are effectively the ‘roof’; and the use of an alternative facing 
material at this level would further help to ensure that the top floor reads as part of the 
roofscape. In addition, the street scene elevations demonstrate that the height of the 
buildings would step up along this part of the High Street to address the corner, the 
proposed buildings sitting well below the height of the neighbouring Honeybourne Gate.  

6.3.9 Moreover, it is important to acknowledge that the removal of the top floors, or limiting 
the development to two storeys would result in a reduction in residential units which, given 
the Council’s shortage of housing land supply, would be at odds with JCS policy SD10 which 
requires new residential development proposals to achieve maximum densities compatible 
with good design. Moreover, throughout the NPPF emphasis is given to new development 
optimising the potential of the site; with the Government recognising the benefits of 
extending upwards in terms of maximising development potential.  

6.3.10 In terms of heritage impacts, the Conservation Officer’s detailed comments in 
response to the original scheme (which can be read in the appendix below) have been duly 

Page 157



noted, and officers are satisfied that the revised proposals go some way in addressing their 
concerns. With regard to scale and massing, as mentioned above, the top floor of the 
buildings now appears more recessed in line with neighbouring new developments and 
officers do not agree that the development is overly tall in this context, nor that its dense 
form would be harmful to the character and appearance of the conservation area, 
particularly given the scale and density of the neighbouring Honeybourne Gate 
development. 

6.3.11 It is acknowledged that views of the site from the Winston Churchill Memorial 
Gardens to the rear would be altered, and that the proposed development would be a far 
more prominent addition than the building already on site but, again, it is important to 
consider the impacts in relation to surrounding developments. In this case, the proposals 
would be read in the context of the much larger development on the opposite side of the 
Honeybourne Line built in 2015. Moreover, the proposals do go some way in mitigating the 
impact on the gardens, with the rear part of Block B being only three storeys. For the same 
reasons, officers do not consider the development to be detrimental to the nearby grade II 
listed St Marys Mission. 

6.3.12 Officers accept that the proposed development would undoubtedly have a far greater 
visual impact within the street scene, and from other public vantage points than the existing 
building but this, in itself, is not considered to be unacceptable or harmful. 

6.3.13 The Conservation Officer also found the proposed materials and detailing to be poor, 
and officers shared the view that blue/grey brick plinth originally proposed was 
inappropriate. However, officers strongly disagree that the use of red brick is inappropriate 
in this location, and that the building should be rendered. Given that the predominant finish 
in the locality is render, the use of red brick in the external elevations of this development, 
will maintain a balance of red brick and render. That said, a high quality palette of external 
facing materials and finishes will be key to the success of the scheme, particularly the 
extensive brickwork, and therefore conditions are suggested which require the submission 
of additional design details, and the construction of a sample panel of brickwork on site for 
consideration. 

6.3.14 The level of harm to the designated heritage assets (the conservation area and 
nearby grade II listed building) identified by the Conservation Officer is considered to be 
‘less than substantial’, and as such NPPF paragraph 202 requires the harm to “be weighed 
against the public benefits of the proposal including, where appropriate, securing its 
optimum viable use.” 
 
6.3.15 PPG (Paragraph: 020 Reference ID: 18a-020-20190723) sets out that public benefits 
can be “anything that delivers economic, social or environmental objectives” and “be of a 
nature or scale to be of benefit to the public at large and not just be a private benefit”. 
 
6.3.16 In this case, officers are therefore wholly satisfied that the development of the site 
for residential purposes will result in public benefits that outweigh the identified harm. Given 
the current shortage of housing within the borough, the public benefits of the residential use 
is this highly sustainable location are apparent. 

 
6.4 Climate change 

6.4.1 In addition to the aforementioned design policies, adopted JCS policy SD3 requires 
new development to be designed and constructed to maximise the principles of 
sustainability; development proposals are required to “demonstrate how they contribute to 
the aims of sustainability” and “be adaptable to climate change in respect of the design, 
layout, siting, orientation…” The policy requires major planning applications to be 
accompanied by an Energy Statement. 

Page 158



6.4.2 JCS paragraph 14.4.11 goes on to advise that: 

Before considering the use of renewable energy technologies the design of a 
development should first identify measures to reduce overall energy demand. This 
can include choice of building fabric and construction techniques, optimising solar 
gain, natural lighting and ventilation to reduce the need for space heating and/or 
cooling and lighting. Secondly, the design should include measures to use energy 
more efficiently such as increasing levels of insulation in walls, floors and roofs and 
improved air-tightness. 

6.4.3 The adopted Cheltenham Climate Change SPD also provides guidance on how 
applicants can successfully integrate a best-practice approach towards climate change and 
biodiversity in all new development proposals.  

6.4.4 As required, the application is accompanied by an Energy/Sustainability Statement 
(within the Design and Access Statement) in support of the application that sets out that a 
‘fabric first’ design approach is proposed to reduce the energy demand of the property and 
reduce carbon accordingly. The statement also sets out additional energy efficiency 
measures that could be incorporated into the development. 

6.4.5 Notwithstanding the above, officers consider that the development offers the real 
opportunity to incorporate additional measures to help Cheltenham meets its commitment 
to become a net zero carbon council and borough by 2030. A condition is therefore 
suggested which requires a more detailed scheme to be submitted and agreed. 

6.5 Parking and highway safety 

6.5.1 Adopted JCS policy INF1 requires all development proposals to provide safe and 
efficient access to the highway network for all transport modes; and provide connections 
where appropriate, to existing walking, cycling and passenger transport networks to ensure 
that credible travel choices are provided by sustainable modes. The policy states that 
planning permission will only be granted where the impacts of the development are not 
considered to be severe, which reiterates advice at paragraph 111 of the NPPF. 

6.5.2 From a highways perspective, the access, parking and highway safety impacts 
associated with the proposed residential use has been assessed by the Highways 
Development Management Team (HDM) at the County Council, acting as the Highway 
Authority in its role as Statutory Consultee, and their full comments can be read in the 
Appendix below. 
 
6.5.3 The application does not propose any car parking, and in their initial response HDM 
raised concerns “that the failure to provide for off-street parking at this location or to 
introduce mechanisms that will preclude future residents from acquiring a parking permit in 
zone 12 will result in added parking pressures on the local road network”, and requested 
that additional information be submitted. HDM advise that the permit statistics at this 
location show that 392% more permits have been issued than there are permit bays within 
the parking permit zone (Cheltenham Westend Zone 12). 
 
6.5.4 Following receipt of additional information, namely an updated transport note 
comprising of a car parking assessment, HDM continue to have concerns over the 
additional demands the development would have on parking in the surrounding area, and 
continue to suggest that an s106 legal agreement is required to preclude car ownership or 
the ability for future occupiers from acquiring a parking permit in zone 12.  
 
6.5.5 However, it is not appropriate to secure such an obligation through an s106 agreement 
as it would fail to meet the necessary tests, in that is not required to make the development 
acceptable in planning terms. HDM raise no objection in principle to the lack of car parking, 

Page 159



and it is for the County Council to control the issuing of permits. That said, an informative is 
suggested that highlights the fact that future occupiers of the development would not be 
eligible for permits. 
 
6.5.6 Furthermore, the County’s Manual for Gloucestershire Streets identifies that “For both 
residential and commercial developments in town and city centres the applicant may choose 
not to provide car parking spaces at all or to provide a reduced parking provision” and that 
one of the considerations will relate to “the opportunity to access the site sustainably”.   
 
6.5.7 In this regard, NPPF paragraph 112 advises that priority should first be given to 
pedestrian and cycle movements, and secondly, to facilitating access to high quality public 
transport. 
 
6.5.8 With regard to access for emergency vehicles, the situation will not be dissimilar to 
that elsewhere along the lower High Street and in other densely populated areas of the town 
centre. 
 
6.5.9 Overall, given this highly sustainable town centre location, officers are therefore 
satisfied that the requirements of JCS policy INF1 and NPPF paragraphs 110 – 113 are 
met.  
 

6.6 Affordable housing  

6.6.1 JCS policy SD12 requires the provision of affordable housing in new developments. 
In Cheltenham, outside of Strategic Allocation sites, a minimum of 40% affordable housing 
is sought on sites of 11 dwellings or more. Where a development cannot deliver the full 
affordable housing requirements, the policy sets out that a viability assessment will be 
required, and will be independently appraised at the expense of the applicant.  

6.6.2 As this application proposes 18no. dwellings, policy SD12 is triggered; a policy 
compliant 40% provision of affordable housing would equate to 7no. affordable units.  

6.6.3 In response to policy SD12, the applicant has submitted a Planning Viability Report 
prepared by Stuart Larkin and Associates Ltd to demonstrate that the affordable housing 
policy requirement cannot be met on this site. The viability report has been independently 
reviewed by the District Valuer Service (DVS), the specialist property arm of the Valuation 
Office Agency (VOA) which provides independent valuation and professional property 
advice to bodies across the public sector. The DVS report concludes that “that the proposed 
scheme cannot viably provide any level of Affordable Housing, or any amount by way of 
payment towards an off-site Affordable Housing Contribution”. 

6.6.4 The proposed scheme is therefore a 100% Open Market scheme; officers have no 
reason to dispute the findings of the DVS. 

6.7 Neighbouring amenity  

6.7.1 Adopted CP policy SL1 states that development will only be permitted where it will not 
cause unacceptable harm to the amenity of adjoining land users and living conditions in the 
locality. CP paragraph 14.4 advising that: 

In assessing the impacts of a development including any potential harm, the Council 
will have regard to matters including loss of daylight; loss of outlook; loss of privacy; 
and potential disturbance from noise, smells, dust, fumes, vibration, glare from 
artificial lighting, hours of operation, and traffic / travel patterns.  

6.7.2 Adopted JCS policy SD14 reiterates this advice and also seeks to ensure high quality 
developments that “protect and seek to improve environmental quality”. In addition, NPPF 

Page 160



paragraph 130 highlights the need to ensure a high standard of amenity for both existing 
and future users. 

6.7.3 The proposed development has given rise to a number of objections on amenity 
grounds which primarily relate to a loss of privacy, daylight and outlook. Concerns have 
also been raised in relation to noise and disturbance during construction. 

6.7.4 From a privacy perspective, officers are satisfied that no unacceptable loss of privacy 
or overlooking would occur as a result of the development. Note 2 to CP policy SL1 advises 
that in determining privacy for residents, the Council will seek a minimum distance of 21 
metres between dwellings which face each other where both have windows with clear 
glazing, and 12 metres between dwellings which face each other where only one has 
windows with clear glazing.  

6.7.5 In this case, the windows in the side elevation of Block A facing Honeybourne Gate 
have been amended to be projecting, angled windows to direct views back towards the 
Honeybourne Line, away from Honeybourne Gate. This window arrangement, together with 
the distances involved, which are in excess of 15 metres is considered to be acceptable. 
Moreover, it is important to recognised that in this situation, the windows in Honeybourne 
Gate are already overlooked by users of the Honeybourne Line, they are not facing onto 
private amenity space. A similar window arrangement is proposed in the other side elevation 
facing no. 452 High Street. The windows in Block B facing no.452 have been conditioned 
to be obscurely glazed. 

6.7.6 Turning to daylight, the proposed development passes the relevant 25° daylight test 
when assessed against facing windows in Honeybourne Gate. Furthermore, given the 
distances involved, officers are satisfied that the proposed development will not appear 
overbearing, nor result in any unacceptable level of harm in terms of outlook. 

6.7.7 Any increase in noise from the residential properties should not be detrimental to the 
amenity of neighbouring land users in this town centre location. 

6.7.8 With regard to noise and disturbance during demolition and construction, whilst 
inevitable, Members will be aware that this is not a reason to withhold planning permission. 
That said, the Environmental Health team (EH) have requested that a Construction 
Management Plan, to control emissions of noise and dust, be submitted for approval prior 
to the commencement of development. Similarly, they request a condition which requires a 
piling plan to be submitted for approval prior to any piling activities being carried out on site, 
should piled foundations be proposed.   

6.7.9 The site is located within an Air Quality Management Area and the application is 
therefore supported by an Air Quality Assessment. EH have reviewed the assessment and 
are satisfied that, subject to the installation of the specified mechanical ventilation system 
and fenestration, acceptable air quality for future residents would be achieved. The 
implementation of the specified system can be secured by condition. 

6.7.10 On balance, officers are therefore satisfied that the development would not result in 
any unacceptable impact upon the amenities or living conditions of those residential 
neighbours living close to the site, nor on future residents of the development.  

6.8 Cotswolds Commons and Beechwoods Site of Special Scientific Interest (SSSI) and Special 
Area of Conservation (SAC) 

6.8.1 The application site lies within a zone of influence as set out in the Cotswold 
Beechwoods SAC Recreation Mitigation Strategy (May 2022) for recreational pressure for 
the Cotswold Beechwoods SAC, which is afforded protection under the Conservation of 
Habitats and Species Regulations 2017 (as amended).  

Page 161



6.8.2 Adopted CP policy BG1 states that development will not be permitted where it would 
be likely to lead directly or indirectly to an adverse effect upon the integrity of the European 
Site Network and the effects cannot be mitigated. All development within the borough that 
leads to a net increase in dwellings will be required to mitigate any adverse effects. Without 
appropriate mitigation, the proposed development is likely to have a significant effect on the 
Cotswold Beechwoods SAC (either alone or in combination with other development) 
through increased recreational pressure.  

6.8.3 The Council has undertaken an Appropriate Assessment and considers the measures 
set out in the abovementioned mitigation strategy to be necessary to provide adequate 
mitigation to address the impacts of the proposal. The applicant can choose to make a 
contribution towards the measures in the strategy, or to provide their own bespoke 
strategies to mitigate the impacts the proposed development will cause.    

6.8.4 In this case, the applicant has opted to make the contribution of £673 per dwelling 
which would be secured via a Unilateral Undertaking.  

6.9 Other considerations  

Flooding and drainage 

6.9.1 JCS policy INF2 states that development proposals must avoid areas at risk of 
flooding, and seek to minimise the risk of flooding. It goes on to state that new development 
should, where possible, contribute to a reduction in existing floor risk, and that new 
development should incorporate Sustainable Drainage Systems (SuDS) where appropriate.  

6.9.2 The site is located within Flood Zone 1 in an area at low risk from fluvial flooding, and 
the site is not identified as being susceptible to surface water flooding. The application is 
supported by a Drainage and Maintenance Strategy. As this is an application for major 
development, the County Council acting as the Lead Local Flood Authority (LLFA) have 
been consulted.  

6.9.3 Having reviewed the submitted strategy, the LLFA state “The drainage strategy 
submitted with this application proposes a 40% reduction in the rate of discharge of surface 
water however it is not clear where this water is going. There is a combined sewer and a 
surface water sewer in the high street and the LLFA require clarity that the surface water 
will go to the surface water sewer and not the combined sewer.” Additional detailed is 
therefore required by condition.  

Waste Minimisation 

6.9.4 Waste Minimisation has been addressed within the submitted Design & Access 
Statement. The County Minerals and Waste Policy Team have reviewed the application and 
raise no objection in principle. They are satisfied that waste minimisation matters have been 
considered, but request that additional information be secured by condition. 

Community infrastructure 

6.9.5 The County Council have confirmed that they are not seeking any contributions 
towards libraries or education as the development does not meet the thresholds. Only 
developments of 10 or more 2 or more bed units are qualifying for education, and only 
developments of 25 or more 1 bed or more units are considered qualifying for libraries. 

Trees 

6.9.6 The Trees Officer consider the Arboricultural Report which accompanies the 
application is well considered and of good quality; they do not object to the removal of the 

Page 162



Ash trees on site or to the modest pruning of the Ash-leaf Maple growing on the Council’s 
land.  

Protected species 

6.9.7 Gloucestershire Centre for Environmental Records (GCER) have identified that a 
number of protected species have been sighted in proximity to the application site in the 
past, including bats. However, there are no particularly recent sightings, and the most recent 
bat sighting recorded was in 2020 some 364 metres away. 

6.9.8 Nevertheless, the proposed development does provide the opportunity to include 
enhancement measures such as bat and bird boxes; and a condition is suggested in this 
regard. 

Biodiversity Net Gain (BNG) 

6.9.9 NPPF paragraph 174 (d) states that decisions on planning applications “should 
contribute to and enhance the natural and local environment by…providing net gains for 
biodiversity”. As such, providing any biodiversity gain, however small, is currently compliant 
with national policy. The requirement to provide a 10% net gain is not yet mandatory. 

6.9.10 In this case, officers are satisfied that a scheme for ecological enhancement 
measures such as those mentioned above is sufficient to meet the requirements of JCS 
policy SD9 and the NPPF. 

Public Sector Equalities Duty (PSED)  

6.9.11 As set out in the Equalities Act 2010, all public bodies, in discharging their functions 
must have “due regard” to this duty. There are three main aims:  

 Removing or minimising disadvantages suffered by people due to their protected 
characteristics;  

 Taking steps to meet the needs of people with certain protected characteristics 
where these are different from the needs of other people; and  

 Encouraging people with certain protected characteristics to participate in public life 
or in other activities where participation is disproportionately low.  

6.9.12 Whilst there is no absolute requirement to fully remove any disadvantage, the duty 
is to have “regard to” and remove OR minimise disadvantage and in considering the merits 
of this planning application the planning authority has taken into consideration the 
requirements of the PSED. 

6.9.13 In the context of the above PSED duties, this proposal is considered to be 
acceptable. 

7. CONCLUSION AND RECOMMENDATION 

7.1 Decisions on planning applications must be made in accordance with the development plan, 
unless material considerations indicate otherwise.  

7.2 Officers are satisfied that the general principle of redeveloping this site for residential 

purposes is acceptable. The proposed development would, on balance, be in accordance 

with the aims and objectives of adopted CP policy EM2; and the application site is highly 

sustainably located within the Principal Urban Area, wherein adopted JCS policy SD10 

supports new housing development. Moreover, throughout the NPPF emphasis is given to 

new development optimising the potential of the site; and policy SD10 also requires new 

residential development proposals to “seek to achieve the maximum density compatible 

Page 163



with good design, the protection of heritage assets, local amenity, the character and quality 

of  the local environment, and the safety and convenience of the local and strategic road 

network.” 

7.3 Notwithstanding the above, where housing policies are out-of-date (as is the case in 

Cheltenham) development proposals for housing must be approved without delay unless 

any adverse impacts of doing so would significantly and demonstrably outweigh the 

benefits, when assessed against the NPPF policies as a whole, or specific NPPF policies 

provide clear reason for refusal. 

7.4 In this case, whilst some harm has been identified, officers are satisfied any adverse 

impacts resulting from the revised scheme are clearly outweighed by the benefits of 

providing 18no. residential units in this highly sustainable location. Although the number of 

dwellings proposed would normally trigger the need to provide 40% affordable housing, the 

viability of the scheme has been tested, and no affordable housing contribution can be 

secured.  

7.5 From a highway safety perspective, the scheme has been assessed by the Highways 

Development Management Team (HDM) at the County Council, who raise no highway 

objection subject to a number of conditions. For the reasons set out in the report above, 

officers do not consider it appropriate enter into an s106 legal agreement to preclude car 

ownership or the ability for future occupiers from acquiring a parking permit in zone 12.  

7.6 The amenity concerns raised by local residents living in close proximity to the site, have 

been carefully considered. On balance, officers are satisfied that the development would 

not result in any unacceptable impact upon the amenities and living conditions of any 

neighbouring land user. 

7.7 Suitable mitigation of any adverse recreational impacts on the Cotswold Beechwoods SAC 

can be achieved. 

7.8 With all of the above in mind, taking into account the economic, social, and environmental 

aspects of the application, officers are satisfied that, as a whole, the proposed development 

would not result in any adverse impacts that would outweigh the clear benefits of the 

scheme.  

7.9 The recommendation therefore is to grant planning permission subject to a Unilateral 

Undertaking and the schedule of conditions set out below; in accordance with The Town 

and Country Planning (Pre-Commencement Conditions) Regulations 2018, agreement has 

been sought in respect of the pre-commencement conditions: 

8. SUGGESTED CONDITIONS 
 
 1 The planning permission hereby granted shall be begun not later than the expiration of 

three years from the date of this decision. 
  
 Reason:  To accord with the provisions of Section 91 of the Town and Country Planning 

Act 1990, as amended by Section 51 of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004. 
 
 2 The planning permission hereby granted shall be carried out in accordance with the 

approved plans listed in Schedule 1 of this decision notice.  
  
 Reason: For the avoidance of doubt and in the interests of proper planning. 
 
 

Page 164



 3 Prior to the commencement of development, other than those works necessary to comply 
with the requirements of this condition, a Phase 2 ground investigation shall be carried 
out as per the recommendations at paragraph 6.3 of the Pre-Planning Geo-
Environmental Desk Study Report Assessment (Wilson Associates, Report No: 4963, 
dated March 2022) and the results and any remediation measures shall be submitted to 
and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. 

 
Reason: To ensure that risks from land contamination to the future users of the land and 
neighbouring land are minimised, together with those to controlled waters, property and 
ecological systems, and to ensure that the development can be carried out safely without 
unacceptable risks to workers, neighbours and other offsite receptors, having regard to 
adopted policy SD14 of the Joint Core Strategy (2017). Approval is required upfront 
because without proper mitigation the works could have an unacceptable impact during 
construction. 

 
 4 Prior to the commencement of development (including demolition and site clearance), a 

Construction Management Plan shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local 
Planning Authority. The approved plan shall be adhered to throughout the development 
process and shall include, but not be restricted to: 

 
i) Provision of parking for vehicles of site operatives and visitors (including measures 
taken to ensure satisfactory access and movement for existing occupiers of neighbouring 
properties during construction); 
ii) Advisory routes for construction traffic; 
iii) Any temporary access to the site; 
iv) Locations for the loading/unloading and storage of plant, waste and construction 
materials; 
v) Method of preventing mud and dust being carried onto the highway; 
vi) Arrangements for turning vehicles; 
vii) Arrangements to receive abnormal loads or unusually large vehicles; 
viii) Highway condition survey; 
ix) Measures to control the emission of noise, dust and dirt during demolition and 
construction; 
x) Measures for controlling the use of site lighting whether required for safe working or 
for security purposes; and 
xi) Methods of communicating the plan to staff, visitors, and neighbouring residents and 
businesses. 

 
Reason: In the interests of safe operation of the adopted highway in the lead into 
development both during the demolition and construction phase of the development, and 
to prevent any loss of amenity to neighbouring land users, having regard to adopted policy 
SL1 of the Cheltenham Plan (2020) and policies SD14 and INF1 of the Joint Core 
Strategy (2017). Approval is required upfront because without proper mitigation the works 
could have an unacceptable impact during construction. 

 
 5 Prior to the commencement of development (including demolition and site clearance), a 

Site Waste Management Plan shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local 
Planning Authority. The approved plan shall be adhered to throughout the development 
process and shall: 

 
i) identify the specific types and amount of waste materials forecast to be generated from 
the development during site preparation, and demolition and construction phases;  
ii) identify the specific measures that will be employed for dealing with the waste materials 
so as to:  
- minimise its creation, and maximise the amount of re-use and recycling on-site;  
- maximise the amount of off-site recycling of any wastes that are unusable on-site; and 
- reduce the overall amount of waste sent to landfill; and 

Page 165



iii) set out the proposed proportions of recycled content that will be used in construction 
materials.  

 
Reason: To ensure the effective implementation of waste minimisation and resource 
efficiency measures, having regard to adopted Core Policy WCS2 of the Gloucestershire 
Waste Core Strategy, and adopted Minerals Local Plan for Gloucestershire Policy SR01. 
 

 6 Prior to the commencement of development (other than demolition and site clearance), a 
detailed scheme for the incorporation of water and energy efficiency measures, and 
renewable or low carbon energy technologies within the development shall be submitted 
to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority, and the development shall be 
carried out in accordance with the approved details and thereafter so retained.  

 
Reason: To promote sustainable building design, having regard to adopted policy SD3 of 
the Joint Core Strategy (2017) and the adopted Cheltenham Climate Change SPD 
(2022). Approval is required upfront because sustainable design is an integral part of the 
development and its acceptability. 

 
 7 Prior to the commencement of development, drainage plans for the disposal of foul and 

surface water flows shall be submitted to and approved by the Local Planning Authority. 
The scheme shall thereafter be implemented in accordance with the approved details 
before the development is first brought into use.  

 
Reason: To ensure that the development is provided with a satisfactory means of 
drainage as well as to prevent or to avoid exacerbating any flooding issues and to 
minimise the risk of pollution, having regard to adopted policies SD14 and INF2 of the 
Joint Core Strategy (2017). Approval is required upfront because the design of the 
drainage is an integral part of the development and its acceptability. 

 
 8 Prior to any works above ground level, details of the provision made for facilitating the 

management and recycling of waste generated during occupation of the development 
shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The details 
shall include appropriate and adequate space and infrastructure to allow for the separate 
storage of recyclable waste materials. The management of waste during occupation must 
be aligned with the principles of the waste hierarchy and not prejudice the local collection 
authority’s ability to meet its waste management targets. The development shall 
thereafter be implemented in accordance with the approved details. 

 
Reason: To ensure the effective implementation of waste minimisation and resource 
efficiency measures, having regard to adopted Core Policy WCS2 of the Gloucestershire 
Waste Core Strategy. 
 

 9 No external facing and/or roofing materials shall be applied unless in accordance with:  
a) a written specification of the materials; and  
b) physical sample(s) of the materials.  
The details of which shall have first been submitted to and approved in writing by the 
Local Planning Authority.  

 
Reason: In the interests of the character and appearance of the area, having regard to 
adopted policy D1 of the Cheltenham Plan (2020) and adopted policy SD4 of the Joint 
Core Strategy (2017). 

 
 10 The external facing brickwork shall not be carried out unless in accordance with a sample 

panel which shall have first been constructed on site and approved in writing by the Local 
Planning Authority. The sample panel shall show the type, size, colour, bond, pointing, 
coursing, jointing, profile and texture of the facing brickwork, including perforated 

Page 166



brickwork. The approved sample panel shall be retained on site and made available for 
inspection by the Local Planning Authority for the duration of the construction works.  

 
Reason: In the interests of the character and appearance of the area, having regard to 
adopted policy D1 of the Cheltenham Plan (2020), and adopted policy SD4 of the Joint 
Core Strategy (2017). 

 
 11 The following elements of the scheme shall not be installed, implemented or carried out 

unless in accordance with details which shall have first been submitted to and approved 
in writing by the Local Planning Authority: 

 
a) Window system; 
b) External doors; 
c) Parapet detail; 
d) Rainwater goods;  
e) External vents and flues;  
f) External lighting; and 
g) Cycle store for Block B. 

 
Reason: In the interests of the character and appearance of the area, having regard to 
adopted policy D1 of the Cheltenham Plan (2020), and adopted policies SD4 and SD8 of 
the Joint Core Strategy (2017). 
 

 12 Notwithstanding the approved plans, prior to the implementation of any landscaping, a 
detailed hard and/or soft landscaping scheme shall be submitted to and approved in 
writing by the Local Planning Authority. The scheme shall identify all walls, fences, trees, 
hedgerows and other planting which are to be retained, and provide details of all new 
walls, fences, or other boundary treatments; finished ground levels; new hard surfacing 
of open parts of the site which shall be permeable or drained to a permeable area; a 
planting specification to include species, size, position and method of planting of all new 
trees and shrubs; and a programme of implementation.  
 
All hard and/or soft landscaping works shall be carried out in accordance with the 
approved details prior to first occupation of any part of the development unless otherwise 
agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority. 
 
Any trees or plants indicated on the approved scheme which, within a period of 30 years 
from the date of planting, die, are removed or become seriously damaged, diseased or 
dying shall be replaced during the next planting season with other trees or plants of a 
location, species and size which shall be first agreed in writing by the Local Planning 
Authority. All hard landscape works shall be permanently retained in accordance with the 
approved details. 
 
Reason: In the interests of the character and appearance of the area, having regard to 
adopted policies D1, GI2 and GI3 of the Cheltenham Plan (2020), and adopted policies 
SD4 and INF3 of the Joint Core Strategy (2017).  
 

13 The development shall be carried out in accordance with the recommended mitigation 
measures detailed in Section 7 of the Air Quality Assessment (Air Quality Consultants 
Ltd, Report No: J10/13186A/10/1/F1, dated April 2022). The mechanical ventilation 
system shall be installed and operational prior to first occupation of the development. 

 
Reason: To ensure that suitable mitigation measures are installed to protect future 
residents of the dwellings, having regard to adopted policy SL1 of the Cheltenham Plan 
(2020) and adopted policy SD14 of the Joint Core Strategy (2017). 

 

Page 167



14 Should piled foundations be proposed on site, prior to any piling activities taking place, a 
Piling Plan shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. 
The plan shall identify the likely impact of piling activities and identify suitable mitigation 
of those effects.  

 
Reason: To safeguard the amenity of nearby residential properties and the general 
locality, having regard to adopted policy SL1 of the Cheltenham Plan (2020) and adopted 
policy SD14 of the Joint Core Strategy (2017).  

 
 15 Prior to first occupation of the development, the existing vehicular accesses to the site 

shall be permanently closed in accordance with details which shall have first been 
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority.  

 
Reason: In the interests of highway safety, having regard to adopted policy INF1 of the 
Joint core Strategy (2017). 

 
 16 Prior to first occupation of the development, secure covered cycle storage shall be 

provided in accordance with the approved plans. The cycle storage shall thereafter be 
retained available for such use in accordance with the approved plans at all times.  

 
Reason:  To ensure the adequate provision and availability of cycle parking, so as to 
ensure that opportunities for sustainable transport modes have been taken up, having 
regard adopted policy INF1 of the Joint Core Strategy (2017). 

 
 17 Prior to first occupation of the development, refuse and recycling storage facilities shall 

be provided in accordance with approved plans and shall be retained as such thereafter. 
 
 Reason:  In the interests of sustainable waste management and recycling, having regard 

to adopted Core Policy WCS2 of the Gloucestershire Waste Core Strategy. 
 

 18 Prior to first occupation of the development, ecological enhancements to include bird 
nesting and bat roosting boxes shall be installed on the building or within the site in 
accordance with details which shall have first been submitted to and approved in writing 
by the Local Planning Authority.  

 
Reason: In order to preserve and enhance biodiversity, having regard to adopted policy 
SD9 of the Joint Core Strategy (2017). 

 
 19 Prior to first occupation of the development, a residential welcome pack promoting 

sustainable forms of access to the development shall be submitted to and approved in 
writing by the Local Planning Authority. The approved pack shall thereafter be provided 
to each resident at the point of the first occupation of each dwelling.  

 
Reason: To reduce vehicle movements and promote sustainable access, having regard  
adopted policy INF1 of the Joint Core Strategy (2017). 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 168



APPENDIX – CONSULTATIONS RESPONSES 
 

Ward Councillor – Cllr David Willingham 
 
I would like to call-in this planning application (23/00625/FUL, 456 High Street, GL50 3JA) if 
the officer recommendation is to approve. 
 
I will endeavour to submit a more detailed representation in due course, but I have been 
contacted by a number of constituents who are concerned about this proposal, and it seems 
in the public interest for it to be heard at committee. 
 
In terms of material planning considerations, I am concerned that the design of the building 
with narrow alleyways does not seem to have done a great deal to design out crime. The bin 
storage being only in block A seems likely to lead to dumping and other waste storage issues, 
similar to those seen in other alleyways off of the High Street. 
 
The site is within the Cheltenham Central Conservation Area, and aesthetically the building 
seems to be a rather unappealing block that adds little to the character of the area. The size 
and massing seems likely to enclose the Honeybourne Line and the High Street creating a 
more oppressive feeling on the Honeybourne Line, and an unappealing gateway feature on 
when entering the town on the A4019. I am also concerned that this would be detrimental to 
the setting of the listed façade of the former gas works when viewed from the Swindon Street 
/ High Street junction. 
 
The parking assessment is contradictory, either the development is in a sustainable location, 
in which case no car parking is necessary and save for visitor permits and compliance with 
the s149 PSED, flats should not be eligible for any parking permits. Otherwise, the 
assumption must be that the every one of the flats will apply for the maximum number of 
permits they are able to have and be assessed on the basis of it requiring 36 parking spaces. 
It is also noticeable that the applicant has not mentioned roads such as Stoneville Street, 
Bloomsbury Street, Market Street or Park Street in their assessment. When I last checked 
the super cul-de-sac of Market Street, Park Street and Great Western Road was 
oversubscribed in terms of permits issued versus spaces available. It is disingenuous to 
assess the number of available spaces in other roads without considering the current number 
of permits issued, to ensure that this proposal will not lead to local oversubscription of on-
street parking if occupants purchased their maximum quota of two permits per dwelling. As 
an example, the document misleadingly suggests that 50 parking spaces are available on 
Burton Street, without considering how many permits have been issued to extant residents 
living on that road. The only reasonable conclusion is that the assessment methodology used 
by the car parking assessment is so deeply flawed as to be of negligible value in accurately 
assessing the true impact of the proposal on parking. 
 
If an enforceable planning condition is agreed with Gloucestershire County Council that these 
dwellings will not be eligible for permanent on-street parking permits, and this is enforced by 
both GCC and CBC, then I would be happy to withdraw this part of my objection. 
If permission is granted, then an enforceable planning condition requiring the removal of the 
redundant dropped kerbs and reinstatement of a kerb line should be agreed between CBC, 
GCC Highways and the applicant. The proposal also needs to ensure that the 4.4m / 14’6” 
height limit sign attached to the lamp column directly outside the application site is not 
impinged on in any way. 
 
Finally, it seems likely that the proposal would interfere with the advertising board on the side 
of 452 High Street, and legal clarification may be needed about what, if any, planning 
implications this has, given the owner of that property paid CBC for planning permission to 
install the advertising board, and if CBC grants this application, it is thwarting the purpose of 
the permission it previously granted. I suspect this needs an assessment to show compliance 

Page 169



with and consideration of the Human Rights Act duty, with respect to possessions and 
property. 
 
Hopefully the above is sufficient to justify the call-in. 
 
Clean Green Team 
21st April 2023  
Report available to view in documents tab. 
 
Minerals and Waste Policy Gloucestershire 
12th June 2023  
Response available to view in documents tab. 
 
Environmental Health 
14th June 2023  
Air Quality 
The proposed development site is located within an Air Quality Management Area.  The 
applicant has provided an assessment of the air quality affecting future residents.  This 
assessment includes a specification for a mechanical ventilation system and fenestration 
which will ensure acceptable air quality for residents.  I would therefore suggest a condition 
is attached to ensure the specified system is installed and operating before first occupation 
of the property. 
 
Control of Noise and Dust during construction and demolition. 
As with most sites of this scale, there is potential for works of demolition and construction to 
cause emissions of noise and dust that will affect nearby property.  I would therefore request 
a condition is attached to any permission for development at this site to require a Construction 
Management Plan to be submitted for approval before works commence on site.  This plan 
should identify suitable mitigation of noise and dust at all stages of the project. 
 
Piling 
It is not specified in the application that piled foundations will be in use at this site, but I expect 
that is likely to be the case.  Given the proximity of nearby residential properties which are 
likely to be affected by noise and vibration from piling operations, I must request an condition 
is attached to any permission for this development which requires a piling plan to submitted 
for approval before works commence on site.  The plan must identify the likely impact of piling 
activities and identify suitable mitigation of those effects.  Note: It is highly unlikely that driven 
piles will be suitable for this site. 
 
GCC Highways Development Management 
26th May 2023  
Gloucestershire County Council, the Highway Authority acting in its role as Statutory 
Consultee has undertaken a full assessment of this planning application. Based on the 
appraisal of the development proposals the Highways Development Management Manager 
on behalf of the County Council, under Article 18 of the Town and Country Planning 
(Development Management Procedure)(England) Order, 2015 recommends that this 
application be deferred. The justification for this decision is provided below. 
 
The proposal seeks Full planning application for the redevelopment to provide a residential 
development of 18no. apartments (12no. one bed and 6no. two bed) contained within two 
blocks, following demolition of an existing commercial building at 456 High Street 
Cheltenham Gloucestershire GL50 3JA. A Transport Note has been submitted in support of 
the application by Zesta Planning & Development Consultancy. 
 
The site comprises of an extant commercial use and benefits from an existing vehicular and 
pedestrian access onto the A4019 High Street immediately to the north. The site is located 

Page 170



within a parking permit zone (Cheltenham Westend Zone 12), and no parking is proposed as 
part of the development plan. 
 
The Highway Authority has concerns that the failure to provide for off-street parking at this 
location or to introduce mechanisms that will preclude future residents from acquiring a 
parking permit in zone 12 will result in added parking pressures on the local road network. 
The permit statistics at this location show that 392% more permits have been issued than 
there are permit bays within zone 12. Reliance on the location of the site in relation to 
proximity to local services and amenities, as set out in the Transport Note, is not sufficient to 
ensure that the development does not cause an adverse impact on the operation of the local 
road network, which would be the resulting effect should this application be permitted in its 
current form  A revised Transport Statement should be produced to explore and mitigate the 
undue effects associated with lack of off-street parking, these could comprise of a S106 
agreement that will preclude car ownership or the ability for future occupiers from acquiring 
a parking permit in zone 12, the introduction of a travel plan and/or potential contributions to 
car clubs. 
 
The Highway Authority therefore submits a response of deferral until the required information 
has been provided and considered. 
 
1st November 2023 – revised comments 
Gloucestershire County Council, the Highway Authority acting in its role as Statutory 
Consultee has undertaken a full assessment of this planning application. Based on the 
appraisal of the development proposals the Highways Development Management Manager 
on behalf of the County Council, under Article 18 of the Town and Country Planning 
(Development Management Procedure)(England) Order, 2015 has no objection subject to 
conditions and financial obligations. The justification for this decision is provided below.  
 
Further to the Highway Authority’s (HA) recommendation dated 25th May 2023, an updated 
transport note comprising of a car parking assessment carried out by Zesta Planning & 
Development Consultancy has been submitted in support of the application.  
 
As formerly mentioned, the development site is inserted within a Residential Parking Zone 
‘Cheltenham Westend Zone 12. The permit statistics at this location show that 392% more 
permits have been issued than there are permit bays within this zone.  
 
The parking surveys submitted in support of this application were carried on Tuesday 4th 
July 2023 – Evening period between 18:30 and 19:30 hours; and Thursday 6th July 2023 – 
Daytime period between 10:30 and 11:30 hours. The outputs of the assessment 
demonstrated a capacity of some 35 available parking spaces on Thursday 4th July, and 63 
available spaces on Thursday 6th July. The assessment goes to ascertain that there is ample 
opportunity to accommodate in excess of the 10 cars likely to be generated through the 
development proposal within nearby streets included in Zone 12.  
 
The HA has extensive concerns with regards to the additional parking demands this proposal 
will arise within Zone 12. Whilst the submitted parking survey is appreciated, it only shows 
but a scope in time i.e. two instances both of which for the duration of 1 hour; and thus not 
fully robust nor truly representative of the parking demands in this area.  
 
The HA’s former assertion that a S106 agreement that will preclude car ownership or the 
ability for future occupiers from acquiring a parking permit in zone will therefore be sought. 
Manual for Gloucestershire Streets is clear that “Where development is proposed in a 
controlled parking zone future residents will be entitled to apply for permits. The LHA will 
consider the capacity of permit scheme to consider if it has the potential to cater for the 
development. Where no capacity exists and car free development would otherwise be 
acceptable the applicant will be required to fund amendments to the traffic regulation order 
to exclude the future dwellings.”  

Page 171



 
Conditions  
Reinstatement of Redundant Access  
The development hereby permitted shall not be occupied until the existing vehicular accesses 
to the site have been permanently closed in accordance with details to be submitted to and 
agreed in writing beforehand by the Local Planning Authority.  
 
Reason: In the interests of highway safety.  
 
Bicycle Parking  
The Development hereby approved shall not be occupied until sheltered, secure and 
accessible bicycle parking has been provided in accordance with details which shall first be 
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The storage area shall 
be maintained for this purpose thereafter.  
 
Reason: To promote sustainable travel and healthy communities  
 
Residential Welcome Pack 
The Development hereby approved shall not be occupied until the applicant has submitted 
to and had approval in writing from the Local Planning Authority a residential welcome pack 
promoting sustainable forms of access to the development. The pack shall be provided to 
each resident at the point of the first occupation of the dwelling.  
 
Reason: To reduce vehicle movements and promote sustainable access. 
 
Construction Management Plan 
Prior to commencement of the development hereby permitted details of a construction 
management plan shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning 
Authority. The approved plan shall be adhered to throughout the demolition/construction 
period. The plan/statement shall include but not be restricted to:  
 

 Parking of vehicle of site operatives and visitors (including measures taken to ensure 
satisfactory access and movement for existing occupiers of neighbouring properties during 
construction);  

 Advisory routes for construction traffic;  

 Any temporary access to the site;  

 Locations for loading/unloading and storage of plant, waste and construction materials;  

 Method of preventing mud and dust being carried onto the highway;  

 Arrangements for turning vehicles;  

 Arrangements to receive abnormal loads or unusually large vehicles;  

 Highway Condition survey;  

 Methods of communicating the Construction Management Plan to staff, visitors and 
neighbouring residents and businesses.  
 
Reason: In the interests of safe operation of the adopted highway in the lead into 
development both during the demolition and construction phase of the development.  
 
Informatives  
Works on the Public Highway 
The development hereby approved includes the carrying out of work on the adopted highway. 
You are advised that before undertaking work on the adopted highway you must enter into a 
highway agreement under Section 278 of the Highways Act 1980 with the County Council, 
which would specify the works and the terms and conditions under which they are to be 
carried out.  
Contact the Highway Authority’s Legal Agreements Development Management Team at 
highwaylegalagreements@gloucestershire.gov.uk allowing sufficient time for the preparation 

Page 172



and signing of the Agreement. You will be required to pay fees to cover the Councils costs in 
undertaking the following actions: 
  
Drafting the Agreement  
A Monitoring Fee  
Approving the highway details  
Inspecting the highway works  
 
Planning permission is not permission to work in the highway. A Highway Agreement under 
Section 278 of the Highways Act 1980 must be completed, the bond secured and the 
Highway Authority’s technical approval and inspection fees paid before any drawings will be 
considered and approved.  
 
Traffic Regulation Order (TRO) 
You are advised that a Traffic Regulation Order (TRO) is required. You must submit a plan 
to scale of an indicative scheme for a TRO, along with timescales for commencement and 
completion of the development. Please be aware that the statutory TRO process is not 
straightforward; involving advertisement and consultation of the proposal(s).  
 
You should expect a minimum of six months to elapse between the Highway Authority’s TRO 
Team confirming that it has all the information necessary to enable it to proceed and the TRO 
being advertised. You will not be permitted to implement the TRO measures until the TRO 
has been sealed, and we cannot always guarantee the outcome of the process.  
 
We cannot begin the TRO process until the appropriate fee has been received. To arrange 
for a TRO to be processed contact the Highway Authority’s Legal Agreements Development 
Management Team at highwaylegalagreements@gloucestershire.gov.  
 
The cost of implementing any lining, signing or resurfacing required by the TRO is separate 
to the TRO fees, which solely cover the administration required to prepare, consult, amend 
and seal the TRO.  
 
Impact on the highway network during construction  
The development hereby approved and any associated highway works required, is likely to 
impact on the operation of the highway network during its construction (and any demolition 
required). You are advised to contact the Highway Authorities Network Management Team 
at Network&TrafficManagement@gloucestershire.gov.uk before undertaking any work, to 
discuss any temporary traffic management measures required, such as footway, Public Right 
of Way, carriageway closures or temporary parking restrictions a minimum of eight weeks 
prior to any activity on site to enable Temporary Traffic Regulation Orders to be prepared 
and a programme of Temporary Traffic Management measures to be agreed. No Drainage 
to Discharge to Highway Drainage arrangements shall be provided to ensure that surface 
water from the driveway and/or vehicular turning area does not discharge onto the public 
highway. No drainage or effluent from the proposed development shall be allowed to 
discharge into any highway drain or over any part of the public highway. 
 
Construction Management Plan (CMP)  
It is expected that contractors are registered with the Considerate Constructors scheme and 
comply with the code of conduct in full, but particularly reference is made to “respecting the 
community” this says:  
 
Constructors should give utmost consideration to their impact on neighbours and the public  
 

 Informing, respecting and showing courtesy to those affected by the work;  

 Minimising the impact of deliveries, parking and work on the public highway;  

 Contributing to and supporting the local community and economy; and 

 Working to create a positive and enduring impression, and promoting the Code.  

Page 173

mailto:highwaylegalagreements@gloucestershire.gov


 
The CEMP should clearly identify how the principal contractor will engage with the local 
community; this should be tailored to local circumstances. Contractors should also confirm 
how they will manage any local concerns and complaints and provide an agreed Service 
Level Agreement for responding to said issues.  
 
Contractors should ensure that courtesy boards are provided, and information shared with 
the local community relating to the timing of operations and contact details for the site 
coordinator in the event of any difficulties. This does not offer any relief to obligations under 
existing Legislation.  
 
Planning Obligations  
Specific Purpose – Amendment to Traffic Regulation Order within Residential Parking Permit 
Zone 12 to exclude future dwellings from acquiring a parking permit.  
Contribution - £15,000.00  
Trigger – Prior to Commencement  
Retention Period – 5 years from first occupation. 
 
10th November 2023 – revised comments 
Gloucestershire County Council, the Highway Authority acting in its role as Statutory 
Consultee has undertaken a full assessment of this planning application. Based on the 
appraisal of the development proposals the Highways Development Management Manager 
on behalf of the County Council, under Article 18 of the Town and Country Planning 
(Development Management Procedure)(England) Order, 2015 has no objection subject to 
conditions. The justification for this decision is provided below.  
 
Further to the Highway Authority’s recommendation dated 1st November 2023, the 
development proposal will still necessitate a S106 agreement to preclude car ownership, 
however the agreement is not dependent on the introduction of a Traffic Regulation Order, 
thus the formerly suggested planning obligation is void. The remaining conditions and 
informatives are still deemed appropriate.  
 
The Highway Authority has undertaken a robust assessment of the planning application. 
Based on the analysis of the information submitted the Highway Authority concludes that 
there would not be an unacceptable impact on Highway Safety or a severe impact on 
congestion. There are no justifiable grounds on which an objection could be maintained. 

 
Building Control 
25th April 2023  
The application will require Building Regulations approval. Please contact Cheltenham and 
Tewkesbury Building Control on 01242 264321 for further information. 
 
Heritage and Conservation 
14th June 2023  
The proposed works are for the redevelopment to provide a residential development of 18no. 
apartments (12no. one bed and 6no. two bed) contained within two blocks, following 
demolition of an existing commercial building. An important consideration regarding the 
acceptability of the proposal will be its impact on the development site and its context, which 
includes the Central Conservation Area. It is therefore important these are understood.  
 
The development site contains 456 High Street. It dates from the 1950s and is a single storey 
brick building with a centrally located, double door with a modest projecting flat roof canopy 
above, flanked by small windows either side. It is simply detailed, with a stepped art deco 
style gable end with two solider courses, on its front elevation facing the Lower High Street. 
Usually for its Lower High Street location it is setback from its front boundary, with this open 
frontage given over to hard surfacing for vehicle parking. It is identified on the 1947-1965 OS 
map as historically being an Engineering Works. 

Page 174



 
456 High Street is located within the Central Conservation Area in the Lower High Street 
Character Area. It is identified within the Lower High Street Character Area Appraisal and 
Management Plan (adopted July 2008) (the Appraisal) as a neutral building. It is not 
considered to make a positive contribution to the character and appearance of the 
conservation area. The General principle of its demolition is acceptable, provided any 
replacement development sustains and enhances the significance of the affected heritage 
assets. 
 
The Lower High Street runs northwest from the southeast, across the frontage of the 
development site. The character of the area is defined by modern and historic buildings. 
Typically these are two and three storey buildings, mostly render, some limited brick, many 
with shopfronts to the ground floor. Para 2.5 of the Appraisal notes, "building heights are 
inclined to increase towards the town centre, particularly to the east of no. 330 High Street.", 
although several modern developments now buck this tendency, in being taller than is 
characteristic for the streetscene.  
 
A number of buildings make a positive contribution to the character and appearance of this 
part of the Central Conservation Area, identified in the Townscape Analysis Map of the Lower 
high Street, within the Appraisal. These include 442-452 (evens) High Street located on the 
same side of the street as the development site, 449-451 (odd) High Street located opposite 
the development site, along with numerous other buildings on the High Street and streets off 
the High Street. 
 
This part of the Conservation Area has been subject to change since adoption of the 
Appraisal. There are now a small number of modern examples of four storey buildings on the 
High Street. However, of the four storey buildings on the Lower High Street only three are 
externally expressed as four storeys. These are one half of 453 High Street immediately 
opposite the site, 401 High Street at the junction with Poole Way and 337 High Street, which 
appears to be Victorian. The other four storey properties either have their third floors 
significantly recessed or incorporated within a roof form, with the result the top storey has a 
diminished visual impact on the streetscene. 
 
Winston Churchill Memorial Gardens lies to the south of the site. It is the former cemetery 
ground of St. Mary's Cemetery Chapel (St. Mary's Mission), a grade II listed former burial 
chapel dated 1831 by architect C. Paul of Rowland Paul and Sons, builders George Wood 
and Thomas Newton, in the Greek Revival style, constructed of Cotswold stone. Today the 
character of Winston Churchill Memorial Gardens is open space, with formal and informal 
trees and planting. The boundary of Winston Churchill Memorial Gardens is defined by tall 
brick walls along the Honeybourne Line and to the rear of surrounding two storey Victorian 
terraced houses on Park Street and the rear of the two and three storey buildings on the High 
Street. There is a low stone wall, planting and railings, with a second entrance off Market 
Street, which is faced with two storey Victorian terraces houses opposite. Notably there is 
generally a sense of openness behind these boundaries, i.e. they are not occupied by dense 
forms of development.  
 
To the immediate west of the development site is the Honeybourne Line, a former elevated 
railway line now used as a linear park. It generally has a verdant character due to the tree 
and vegetation planted along it. The character of the area is also defined by views of the 
roofs, side and rear elevations of adjacent buildings. The Honeybourne Line is connected to 
Winston Churchill Gardens through a ramped public footpath, which is adjacent to the side 
and rear development site. The development proposal will have a significant impact on this 
ramped public footpath area. The edge of the boundary of the Central Conservation Area is 
located to the west of the boundary of the development site, with the Honeybourne Line 
located outside the Conservation Area but with Winston Churchill Gardens within the 
Conservation Area. 
 

Page 175



Over the Honeybourne Line to the west of the development site is Honeybourne Gate, an 
imposing, modern 5 storey render and brick retirement apartments which, due to its scale 
and massing, is prominent over the Honeybourne Line from the High Street. 
 
Immediately adjacent to the northwest of the development site is a former railway bridge, 
associated with the Honeybourne Line. It acts as a strong edge separating this part of the 
Lower High Street from the area to the northwest. Through the former railway bridge arch 
partial oblique views of the Cheltenham Gas Company building are possible. The 
Cheltenham Gas Company building is a grade II listed former gas works offices, dated 1880, 
in the Gothic Revival style, constructed of red brick and terracotta. A distant vista of the 
circular upper stage and conical roof of the tower of St. Peter's Church is also possible. St. 
Peter's Church is a grade II* former Parish church, dated 1847-8, by architect S.W Daukes 
and builder Thomas Haines, in the Norman style, constructed of Cotswold stone. Due to the 
strong edge create by the Honeybourne Line, the oblique location and distance from the 
development site it is not considered the development proposal will have an adverse impact 
on the setting of these listed buildings. 
 
Given the sensitivity of the site and its context, regard needs to be given to the legal and 
policy context as it applies to heritage assets. The cornerstone of heritage legislation is the 
Planning (Listed buildings and Conservation Area) Act 1990 of which para 72(1) states, 
special attention shall be paid to the desirability of preserving or enhancing the character or 
appearance of that area and para 16(2), which requires local planning authorities to have 
special regard to the desirability of preserving the special architectural or historic interest of 
listed buildings and their setting.  
 
A core principle of the National Planning Policy Framework 2021 (NPPF) is heritage assets 
be conserved in a manner appropriate to their significance. Chapter 16, paragraphs 199-208 
set out how potential impacts on heritage assets shall be considered. This assessment takes 
account of the relevant considerations in these paragraphs, including paragraph 197 of the 
NPPF, which requires the significance of heritage assets to be sustained and enhanced, with 
paragraph 199 requiring great weight be given to the asset's conservation. 
 
Concern is raised over the proposed scale and massing of the development proposal. 
Specifically a concern is also raised over the cumulative impact of the height, width, depth 
which result in overdevelopment of the site, out of keeping with this part of the Central 
Conservation Area: Lower High Street character area. 
 
Regarding height, as noted previously, typically development within the context of the site is 
two or three storeys in height. While, there are now several examples of new development 
that is four storeys in height, including 453 High Street directly opposite, four storey 
development is still atypical of Lower High Street and where it does exist third floors are 
usually discreetly located, either being recessed or within the roof. It is noted 453 High Street 
has an element that is a full four storeys but this was partly justified through the planning gain 
associated with the provision of a stepped access onto the Honeybourne Line forming part 
of the application. There is no such planning gain associated with the current application.  
 
It is considered the proposed four storeys, with its limited set back to the third floor, results 
in a development proposal with an overly tall height. As a result its relates poorly to the 
neighbouring two storey buildings facing the High Street it is directly attached to and the 
streetscene. Also, the proposed width and depth of the development proposal is wider and 
deeper than those in its context which, when considered with the height, is cumulatively 
considered to exacerbate concerns of overdevelopment of the site. The development 
proposal results in an excessively dense form of development with a height, width, depth that 
is out of keeping with its context, to the detriment of the character and appearance of the 
Conservation Area. 
 

Page 176



It is a considered the application lacks convincing justification and a detailed contextual 
analysis of buildings within the more immediate context, if undertaken, would not help to 
justify the proposed scale and massing is in keeping with this part of the Conservation Area. 
 
Specific concerns are also raised over the impact of the proposed scale and massing of block 
B of the development proposal. There is considered to be a poor understanding of the impact 
the rear of the development proposal will have on the setting of Winston Churchill Memorial 
Gardens. As the former cemetery ground of St. Mary's Cemetery Chapel (St. Mary's Mission), 
it is considered part of the curtilage of the listed building. Block B of the development proposal 
is visible to the northwest from the north and west elevation of Mary's Cemetery Chapel (St. 
Mary's Mission) and from the northern corner of the Gardens, where it will appear as a dense, 
three and four storey development.  
 
As previously described above, St. Mary's and the Gardens have a verdant quality as a result 
of formal and informal planting, typically defined within tall brick walls around the boundaries. 
Immediately adjacent to the curtilage of St. Mary's and the Gardens, build form is set away 
from the walled boundaries, allowing more of a sense of openness to the setting of St. Mary's 
and the Gardens.  
 
The setting of the curtilage of the listed building typically has significantly less dense forms 
of development or open rear gardens/amenity spaces. It is considered the scale and massing 
of the development proposal in this backland location will appear bulky with the result it would 
be imposing, incongruous overdevelopment within this context. It is considered block B would 
have a detrimental impact on the listed building and its setting. It is noted the supporting 
information states "The scheme also includes a landscaped buffer between the rear block 
and the boundary wall to the west part of the former cemetery, now Winston Churchill 
Memorial Gardens." And that the rear of block B is a reduced threes storeys, not four storeys. 
However, this is not considered sufficient to mitigate the overbearing impact of the 
development proposal. 
 
Notwithstanding the concerns over the scale and massing, concern is also raised over the 
proposed detailing and materials, which are poorly considered. These concerns are detailing 
below. 
 
The use of a blue/grey brick for the plinth is not considered to reinforce the local character of 
buildings in this part of the conservation area. It is noted there is an engineering brick within 
the railway bridge but reference to this within the proposed building is considered 
inappropriate as this material is distinct to railway structures. 
 
The uniform use of a red brick to the upper floors is not considered an appropriate material. 
Render is the most common material, with brick only making a small contribution to the 
character of the Conservation Area. It is important to maintain this balance. It is advised the 
development proposal be largely rendered (but not the silicon / self-coloured type which does 
not have the same appearance as the render found in the conservation area and typically 
weathers poorly). 
 
The proposed use of a grey membrane to the attic storey is not considered to be a sufficiently 
high quality material. It is considered alterative materials, metal such as zinc or slate hanging 
(as per neighbouring 453 High Street should be considered.  
 
The proposed works are not considered to sustain the designated heritage assets, nor do 
they give great weight to the affected assets conservation. The development proposal does 
not comply with Section 16 of the Planning (Listed Building and Conservation Area) Act 1990, 
Chapter 16 of the National Planning Policy Framework 2021 and Policy SD8 of the Joint Core 
Strategy 2017. 
 
 

Page 177



GCC Local Flood Authority (LLFA) 
28th April 2023  
The drainage strategy submitted with this application proposes a 40% reduction in the rate 
of discharge of surface water however it is not clear where this water is going. There is a 
combined sewer and a surface water sewer in the high street and the LLFA require clarity 
that the surface water will go to the surface water sewer and not the combined sewer. The 
LLFA would normally expect the drainage strategy to include WASC asset maps to identify 
this level of detail at outline application stage. 
NOTE 1: The Lead Local Flood Authority (LLFA) will consider how the proposed sustainable 
drainage system can incorporate measures to help protect water quality, however pollution 
control is the responsibility of the Environment Agency 
NOTE 2: Future management of Sustainable Drainage Systems is a matter that will be dealt 
with by the Local Planning Authority and has not, therefore, been considered by the LLFA. 
NOTE 3: Any revised documentation will only be considered by the LLFA when resubmitted 
through suds@gloucestershire.gov.uk e-mail address. Please quote the planning application 
number in the subject field. 
 
Social Housing 
5th June 2023  
Letter available to view in documents tab. 
 
Contaminated Land Officer 
14th June 2023  
The applicant has provided a suitable Phase 1 assessment of the site which recommends 
that a Phase 2 investigation is carried out asper para 6.3 of the report.  I would suggest that 
a condition is applied to any permission for this development to ensure this takes place at a 
suitable point during the re-development process. 
 
Architects Panel 
12th May 2023  
Design Concept  
The panel had no objection to the principle of redeveloping this site to provide residential 
apartments. However, it was felt that the scheme submitted was over development of the site 
and a wasted opportunity to come up with a design that related more specifically to the special 
characteristics of the site. 
  
Design Detail  
The panel felt the scheme had a poor relationship to the Honeybourne line and that it could 
address the site better. The relationship of the new buildings to the Memorial Gardens is not 
addressed. The spaces around the buildings are too tight and will be unattractive. There is a 
lack of amenity space. The buildings are particularly bland and austere.  
 
Recommendation 
Not supported. 
 
Tree Officer 
28th April 2023  
The Arb Report submitted with the application is of good quality and well considered. The 
Trees Section does not object to the removal of the ash trees on site, nor to modest pruning 
to the ash-leaf maple growing on Council land to facilitate the proposal. However, the 
proposal should be used as an opportunity to plant some trees to improve the site. Currently 
the scheme affords limited room for such planting. It would be preferable therefore for the 
scale of the proposal to be reduced to offer more space for soft landscaping, especially new 
trees. A landscape plan should be submitted for approval, detailing species, size and 
location, as well as tree pit details. 
 
 

Page 178



Gloucestershire Centre for Environmental Records 
21st April 2023  
Report available to view in documents tab. 

 

Page 179



This page is intentionally left blank



 

APPLICATION NO: 23/00625/FUL OFFICER: Miss Michelle Payne 

DATE REGISTERED: 14th April 2023 DATE OF EXPIRY : 14th July 2023 

WARD: St Peters PARISH:  

APPLICANT: Lane Britton and Jenkins 

LOCATION: 456 High Street Cheltenham Gloucestershire 

PROPOSAL: Full planning application for the redevelopment to provide a residential 
development of 18no. apartments (12no. one bed and 6no. two bed) 
contained within two blocks, following demolition of an existing 
commercial building 

 

 

REPRESENTATIONS 
 

Number of contributors  18 
Number of objections  17 
Number of representations 1 
Number of supporting  0 
 
   

Apartment 53 
Honeybourne Gate 
2 Gloucester Road 
Cheltenham 
Gloucestershire 
GL51 8DW 
 

 

Comments: 24th October 2023 
 
Dear sirs/Madam, 
 
I wish to raise objections to the above planning application on the following grounds: 
 
There is practically no difference to the original plans 
It is far too dense a development for such a small site.   The windows on the upper floors 
still face into our building thus depriving us on the upper floors of Honeybourne of 
privacy.    I spend a great deal of my time in my flat &/do not relish having to live with 
drawn curtains or the expense of shutters.   It is depressing living in gloom & detrimental 
to health . 
 
There is absolutely no parking space on the plans.   How are deliveries to be made? 
And where will the occupants park their cars. Just because it is in town does not mean 
there will be no car owners. 
 
You seem not to have made adequate plans for refuse storage for both blocks. That will 
inevitably lead to mounds of rubbish  being dumped in the general area.  Apart from the 
aesthetic appearance, it will also be a health hazard & an attraction to vermin. 
 
The impact on the Churchill memorial garden does not seem to have been considered. 
At the moment, High Street property is walled off.    Will that remain the case?   The 
gardens are a huge benefit to the local community but cannot withstand much more 

Page 181



Graffiti or rubbish being left there. 
 
I really object to this development.  It is far too much on too small a site & the 
amendments are so slight as to be negligible.  None of the original objections have been 
addressed. 
 
Yours faithfully, 
 
 
   

Apt 42 Honeybourne Gate 
2 Gloucester Road 
Cheltenham 
GL51 8DW 
 

 

Comments: 28th April 2023 
 
Dear Sirs 
I am writing to register my disapproval with planning application 23/00625/FUL. 
My very strong concerns are as follows:- 
 I live on the third floor facing this development with my living room and bedroom 
windows both looking towards that direction. I am an elderly woman who spends a lot of 
time in the apartment but the proximity of this proposal fills me with horror and 
apprehension! 
 I am concerned about the noise from construction and ongoing noise once the 
development is complete. 
Four stories will undoubtedly restrict my light and view 
 Parking in this whole area is extremely difficult. 
 Congestion is already continuous throughout the day and night on the immediate roads 
in the surrounding area and a further 18 dwellings will add to his sorry state. 
In conclusion I feel that the proposal will severely impair the value of the Honeybourne 
Gate Retirement complex, particularly the apartments on my side which are so close. 
I am a ** year old woman who would Like to see her days out in peace and tranquility, 
not overlooking a building site! 
Yours faithfully 
**************** 
 
   

Reception 
Honeybourne Gate 
Cheltenham 
GL51 8DW 
 

 

Comments: 26th October 2023 
 
I write in my capacity as managing agent to 2 Gloucester Road (Management) Ltd, 
trading as Honeybourne Gate and on behalf of the residents of Honeybourne Gate. 
 
We strongly object to the current proposal and have previously objected. The revised 
proposal has not in any way addressed our previously expressed concerns. 
 

Page 182



We draw the planning committees attention to the comments included in the report from 
the Council's Heritage and Conservation Officer: 
 
'The comments from that the Concern is raised over the proposed scale and massing of 
the development proposal. Specifically a concern is also raised over the cumulative 
impact of the height, width, depth which result in overdevelopment of the site, out of 
keeping with this part of the Central Conservation Area: Lower High Street character 
area.' 
 
Our specific concerns are: 
 
- The scale, height and massing of the building proposal is inappropriate to such a small 
site and would represent a gross overdevelopment which would erode the character and 
appearance of this part of High Street. Whilst a low level, residential development at that 
site might be appropriate, creating a four storey apartment block is not. It would singularly 
fail to the meet the design standards required by paragraph 130 of the National Planning 
Policy Framework and Policy D1 of the adopted Cheltenham Plan. 
 
- The height of the building, its bulk and close proximity to Honeybourne Gate (separated 
only by the width of the Honeybourne Line) will have an unreasonable harmful impact on 
the living conditions of residents at Honeybourne Gate. These effects will include loss of 
privacy by overlooking windows at close quarters, shadowing and loss of light, and a 
generally oppressive and overbearing imposition in the outlook enjoyed from habitable 
room windows at Honeybourne Gate that face south-eastwards. This would be contrary 
to paragraph 130(f) of the National Planning Policy Framework, Policy SD14 of the Joint 
Core Strategy, and Policy SL1 of the adopted Cheltenham Plan, which require 
developments to ensure high standards of amenity for neighbours. 
 
- There is no on-site parking or servicing proposed for the scheme. Whilst it is true that 
there is good public transport links to local services it is not realistic to assume that the 
residents will not have vehicles - many will need vehicles to access their places of work 
even if they don't need them for shopping trips, etc. and this will place more parking 
pressure on already congested streets and tight junctions, raising highways safety 
concerns. The lack of any servicing, means that future residents demands in terms of 
removal vehicles, delivery vehicles, tradespersons and maintenance vans and lorries will 
all be inclined to park on the site frontage where there are double yellow lines and 
opposite the Swindon Street junction; this will be an accident waiting to happen. These 
serious highway safety concerns mean that the proposal conflicts with paragraphs 110, 
111 AND 112 of the National Planning Policy Framework  
 
- The applicant's loss of employment premises case under Cheltenham Plan Policy EM2 
is wholly unconvincing. It is well known that Cheltenham has serious supply issues of 
employment land and policies, hence the protection afforded by Policy EM2. The site has 
not been marketed for employment purposes and the policy case has not been made. 
This is a refusal issue. 
 
- The viability report claiming to provide a justification for avoiding the normally applied 
affordable housing content is not published or open to scrutiny. Given the nature of the 
site and local sales values, we find it surprising that the development cannot meet the 
policy requirements of JCS policy SD12. The Council is encouraged to subject any 
viability appraisal to a robust external RICS scrutiny. 
 

Page 183



For all the above reasons we respectfully ask that the application is refused. 
 
Comments: 4th May 2023 
 
I write as the managing agent for Honeybourne Gate, the retirement development at 2 
Gloucester Road, Cheltenham.  
 
I have been asked to make representations about the above planning application by 
residents of Honeybourne Gate who strongly oppose the proposed development.  
 
First of all, I note that currently the application is scheduled for determination by an officer 
rather than by elected councillors. For a development of this intensity and in the 
proposed location I consider it important that councillors scrutinise the proposal. 
 
The residents of Honeybourne Gate have several concerns about the proposal itself: 
 
- The massing of the building is inappropriate to such a small site. Whilst a low level, 
residential development at that site would be appropriate, creating a four storey 
apartment block, without parking and with insufficient allowance for refuse and recycling 
is not. 
 
- The height of the building, and its close proximity to Honeybourne Gate (separated only 
by the width of the Honeybourne Line) will restrict light to those Honeybourne Gate 
apartments facing the development and will also impact on the privacy of people living in 
their apartments both in Honeybourne Gate and in the proposed development. 
 
- There is no on-site parking proposed for the scheme. Whilst it is true that there is good 
public transport links to local services it is not realistic to assume that the residents will 
not have vehicles - many will need vehicles to access their places of work even if they 
don't need them for shopping trips, etc. The nearby roads that allow for residential 
parking are already congested at night when residents are at home and will become 
more so when residents in the proposed building seek to park their vehicles there. 
 
- The suggestion that rubbish should be left on the high street only early in the morning is 
unrealistic and it will inevitably be left on the High Street from the night prior to collection. 
This is likely to leave the Hight Street pavements impassable and are likely to be 
unusable by disabled people. Honeybourne Gate is a retirement development and many 
of its elderly residents have restricted mobility and need clear disabled access to the 
pavements at all times. 
 
- During the development there will inevitably traffic disruption on the High Street and 
there are no details in the application as to how they developers will mitigate noise and 
disruption during the build. 
 
- Only a narrow gap is proposed between the building and the Honeybourne Line which 
will make repairs to the embankment and the Line very difficult. When Honeybourne Gate 
was built a more significant gap was insisted on at design stage and the same 
requirement does not appear to have been imposed with this scheme. 
 
Honeybourne Gate is a retirement development and its residents are elderly people 
looking for quiet enjoyment of their homes. They believe very strongly that this 

Page 184



development is not suitable for this site and will have a significant impact on the quality of 
their life and the ability to have quiet enjoyment of their homes. 
 
 
 
 
 
   

Apartment 54 
Honeybourne Gate 
2 Gloucester Road Cheltenham 
Gloucestershire 
GL51 8DW 
 

 

Comments: 22nd October 2023 
 
Apartment 54 Honeybourne Gate 
 2 Gloucester Road 
 Cheltenham 
GL51 8DW 
  
 22rd October 2023 
 
Dear Sir/Madam 
 
Ref: Planning Application 23/00625/FUL 
 
 
Following the revision to this planning request I wish to restate my original appeal with 
revisions to counter these changes which do little to answer my original appeal. 
 
1. The scale, height and mass of this proposal is total inappropriate to such a small area 
and represents a gross overdevelopment of an unsuitable site. This is evidenced by the 
lack of any vehicular access or any access beyond very narrow pedestrian pathways. 
Further evidence of this can be seen in the plan view of the site and the asymmetric 
design to accommodate some form of free space for recreation or bins. Whilst a low-level 
residential development might be appropriate this is not: failing to meet the design 
standards required in para. 130 of the National Policy Framework and Policy D1 of the 
adopted Cheltenham Plan. 
New Comment: Revisions to the earlier proposal show minimal and largely cosmetic and 
token changes amounting to less than 10% of the main building footprint and minimal 
changes to the elevation. 
 
2. The height and mass of this building with its proximity to Honeybourne Gate 
(separated only by the width of the Honeybourne line) will have an unreasonably harmful 
impact on the living conditions of its residents. These effects will include gross loss of 
privacy from overlooking windows in close proximity, overshadowing and loss of light and 
a generally oppressive and overbearing imposition on the outlook currently enjoyed by 
those residents in habitable rooms with a south easterly aspect. Bearing in mind that like 
myself most of these residents are elderly, some with infirmities or limited mobility, thus 
tied to their outlook positions. This denial of amenity to neighbours is contrary to para. 

Page 185



130(f) of the National Policy Framework. Policy SD14 of the Joint Core Strategy and 
Policy SL1 of the adopted Cheltenham Plan. 
New Comment: See above additional comments. 
 
3. With no onsite parking the assumption seems to be that all travel and transport 
requirements by residents can be met from the very good local transport links. This is 
totally unrealistic as many residents will wish to own cars for work travel at the very least. 
This will place more pressure on already very congested streets and tight junctions 
raising road safety concerns. 
Then there is the concern for servicing the site for which no provision has been made. 
This means that future resident demand in terms of removal vehicles, delivery vehicles, 
maintenance vans or lorries and finally emergency vehicles will be forced to park on the 
site frontage where there are double yellow lines, opposite the Swindon Road junction 
and just where the road narrows: there will be traffic carnage. Many times of the day 
there will be two static lines of traffic with impatient drivers backed up to traffic lights and 
so with any added blockages accidents ready to happen. These are very serious highway 
safety concerns which mean that the proposed development conflicts with paras. 110, 
111 and 112 of the National Policy Framework 
 
4. With reference to the concerns shown at para. 3 access to Block B will be a particular 
problem for persons moving in or out but especially for emergency services. In the case 
of an ambulance visit the vehicle will need to be parked, probably for some considerable 
time, on a busy main road causing a major lane blockage. The crew, meantime, need to 
get to Block B, carry on with their task, then move a patient over a considerable distance 
by stretcher, trolley or wheelchair. Not a pleasing prospect if you have just had a heart 
attack. Serious health and safety concerns. 
 
  
  
5. The applicant puts forward a wholly unconvincing argument for a change of use to the 
existing premises. It is known that Cheltenham has serious supply issues of employment 
land and policies hence the protection afforded by the mentioned Policy EM2. The site 
has not been marketed for employment purposes so any supposition that the current use 
is not viable is therefore irrelevant at this point. 
 
6. It would appear from reading the planning document paragraphs 6.1 to 6.7 that this 
attempts to justify the avoidance of the normally applied affordable housing content to 
meet the requirements of JCS policy SD12. Is this acceptable? 
 
7. A factually incorrect assertion at para. 6.14 that 2 Gloucester Road consists of bedsits 
when in fact it is a retirement complex containing 55 one or two bedroom flats owned by 
mainly elderly residents. 
 
8. New Comment: One other significant addition is the traffic carnage, with associated 
risks during the construction phase, that is guaranteed to paralyse the lower High Street 
area for considerable periods. 
 
Yours faithfully 
 
*********** 
 
 

Page 186



 
Comments: 18th May 2023 
 
Apartment 54 Honeybourne Gate 
 2 Gloucester Road 
 Cheltenham 
GL51 8DW 
  
 17th May 2023 
 
Dear Sir/Madam 
 
Ref: Planning Application 23/00625/FUL 
 
 
I wish to register an objection to this proposal on the following grounds: - 
 
1. The scale, height and mass of this proposal is total inappropriate to such a small area 
and represents a gross overdevelopment of an unsuitable site. This is evidenced by the 
lack of any vehicular access or any access beyond very narrow pedestrian pathways. 
Further evidence of this can be seen in the plan view of the site and the asymmetric 
design to accommodate some form of free space for recreation or bins. Whilst a low-level 
residential development might be appropriate this is not: failing to meet the design 
standards required in para. 130 of the National Policy Framework and Policy D1 of the 
adopted Cheltenham Plan. 
 
2. The height and mass of this building with its proximity to Honeybourne Gate 
(separated only by the width of the Honeybourne line) will have an unreasonably harmful 
impact on the living conditions of its residents. These effects will include gross loss of 
privacy from overlooking windows in close proximity, overshadowing and loss of light and 
a generally oppressive and overbearing imposition on the outlook currently enjoyed by 
those residents in habitable rooms with a south easterly aspect. Bearing in mind that like 
myself most of these residents are elderly, some with infirmities or limited mobility, thus 
tied to their outlook positions. This denial of amenity to neighbours is contrary to para. 
130(f) of the National Policy Framework. Policy SD14 of the Joint Core Strategy and 
Policy SL1 of the adopted Cheltenham Plan. 
 
3. With no onsite parking the assumption seems to be that all travel and transport 
requirements by residents can be met from the very good local transport links. This is 
totally unrealistic as many residents will wish to own cars for work travel at the very least. 
This will place more pressure on already very congested streets and tight junctions 
raising road safety concerns. 
Then there is the concern for servicing the site for which no provision has been made. 
This means that future resident demand in terms of removal vehicles, delivery vehicles, 
maintenance vans or lorries and last but not least emergency vehicles will be forced to 
park on the site frontage where there are double yellow lines, opposite the Swindon Road 
junction and just where the road narrows: there will be traffic carnage. Many times of the 
day there will be two static lines of traffic with impatient drivers backed up to traffic lights 
and so with any added blockages accidents ready to happen. These are very serious 
highway safety concerns which mean that the proposed development conflicts with 
paras. 110, 111 and 112 of the National Policy Framework 
 

Page 187



4. With reference to the concerns shown at para. 3 access to Block B will be a particular 
problem for persons moving in or out but especially for emergency services. In the case 
of an ambulance visit the vehicle will need to be parked, probably for some considerable 
time, on a busy main road causing a major lane blockage. The crew, meantime, need to 
get to Block B, carry on with their task, then move a patient over a considerable distance 
by stretcher, trolley or wheelchair. Not a pleasing prospect if you have just had a heart 
attack. Serious health and safety concerns. 
 
  
  
5. The applicant puts forward a wholly unconvincing argument for a change of use to the 
existing premises. It is known that Cheltenham has serious supply issues of employment 
land and policies hence the protection afforded by the mentioned Policy EM2. The site 
has not been marketed for employment purposes so any supposition that the current use 
is not viable is therefore irrelevant at this point. 
 
6. It would appear from reading the planning document paragraphs 6.1 to 6.7 that this 
attempts to justify the avoidance of the normally applied affordable housing content to 
meet the requirements of JCS policy SD12. Is this acceptable? 
 
7. A factually incorrect assertion at para. 6.14 that 2 Gloucester Road consists of bedsits 
when in fact it is a retirement complex containing 55 one or two bedroom flats owned by 
mainly elderly residents. 
 
Yours faithfully 
 
 
·************* 
 
 
   

13 St Pauls Parade 
Cheltenham 
Gloucestershire 
GL50 4ET 
 

 

Comments: 8th May 2023 
 
Object 
The applicant proposes replacing a single storey industrial building with a pitched roof 
with a four-storey residential building. I have no objection to the change of use to 
residential. Though it is a shame to lose more town centre employment land, there is a 
demand for housing. I strongly object to the proposed height and size of the new building. 
It is overdevelopment of a small plot, leaving residents with no amenity space. Unlike the 
existing building it extends all the way to the front of the plot and far closer to the 
Honeybourne Line itself, far closer than Honeybourne Gate on the opposite side, and 
leaving a very restricted space for access for maintenance of the retaining wall. 
 
This building should be restricted to two storeys with a flat roof - i.e. no higher than the 
Honeybourne Line boundary wall.  
 

Page 188



The distinctive feature of the northern end of the Honeybourne Line from the Waitrose 
bridge onwards is being at rooftop height and the views across the town, and across to 
the Escarpment in places. From the stretch of the Honeybourne Line between the 
Winston Churchill Memorial Garden and the High Street, you can see across towards the 
town centre, and back towards the front elevation of the grade II listed St Mary's Mission. 
Permitting a four-storey building would obliterate this view from the Winston Churchill 
Memorial Garden ramp to the High Street bridge.  
 
Along with the existing Honeybourne Gate building, a four-storey building would create a 
canyon effect for this stretch, which would make the Honeybourne Line feel far more 
enclosed and less safe. The four-storey building extends close to the ramp leading down 
to the Winston Churchill Memorial Garden, which will contribute to this route also feeling 
far more enclosed and less safe.  
 
This is within the Lower High Street conservation area. The local planning authority has a 
duty to preserve or enhance the conservation area.  
The 2008 Character Appraisal and Management Plan identifies the setting and views for 
the Character Area as very important Development Control Proposal Action LH6  
"The Council will ensure that all development respects the important views within, into 
and from the Lower High Street Character Area. These views are noted but not 
exclusively identified on the Townscape Analysis map. The Council will ensure that these 
remain protected from inappropriate forms of development and redevelopment and that 
due regard is paid to these views in the formulation of public realm works or 
enhancement schemes in accordance with the Cheltenham Borough Local Plan" 
.  
The views from the Honeybourne Line along the lower High St, towards the Mission, 
towards St Gregory's spire, and the treelines of the Winston Churchill Memorial Garden 
should be protected, and the height of any development on this site restricted in order to 
do so. 
 
At four storeys high, it would also block the views of Honeybourne Gate residents on the 
third and fourth floors who currently look out over the Honeybourne Line. Instead, they 
would be looking at the brick wall and windows of this proposed development. Although 
no-one has a right to a view from their windows, it should be borne in mind that 
Honeybourne Gate is a retirement complex run on the Extracare model, which means 
that residents as they become increasingly incapacitated and housebound with age, are 
able to stay in their apartments without moving into a care home. When you are unable to 
leave your apartment, your views onto the outside world are all the more important. 
 
The Lower High St Character Appraisal and Management Plan also recognises that 
"some modern developments do not sit well within the historic context of the area. They 
have a a negative impact upon its character and appearance, through factors such as 
size, scale, footprint, [and] massing". This would be one such development if allowed to 
proceed as proposed. Another feature of the Lower High St as identified in the Character 
Appraisal and Management Plan is that "building heights are inclined to increase towards 
the town centre" making a taller building less appropriate in this location. Sadly, many 
recent buildings in this area have been unsympathetic to their setting and too tall. 401- 
403 High St being a glaring example. These recent developments do not relieve the 
planning authority of their duty to preserve or enhance the conservation area. 
 
 
   

Page 189



Apartment 49 
Honeybourne Gate 
2 Gloucester Road 
Cheltenham 
Gloucestershire 
GL51 8DW 
 

 

Comments: 25th October 2023 
 
Letter attached. 
   

Apartment 3 
Honeybourne Gate 
2 Gloucester Road 
Cheltenham 
Gloucestershire 
GL51 8DW 
 

 

Comments: 25th October 2023 
 
Letter attached. 
 
   

Apartment 29 
Honeybourne Gate 
2 Gloucester Road 
Cheltenham 
Gloucestershire 
GL51 8DW 
 

 

Comments: 30th October 2023 
 
Letter attached. 
 
Comments: 9th May 2023 
 
Dear Sir/Madam 
 
Planning Application No. 23/00625/FUL 
 
I live at 29 Honeybourne Gate, which is a second floor apartment with three principal 
windows facing the application site.  These windows provide the only natural light to - and 
outlook from - my kitchen, living room and main bedroom.  I wish to object to the planning 
application for the following reasons: 
Due to the close proximity of the proposed four storey buildings - at their closest point 
just 15 metres away using the scale bar on the plans - the mass and scale of the 
development will have a significant detrimental overbearing impact on both my apartment 
and other apartments facing the site.  The proposed buildings will be overpowering 
visually, will block light, and will result in a significant loss in the enjoyment of my 
property. 
The proposed windows to habitable rooms in Block A will face my apartment and given 
the close proximity of the development this will have a substantial impact on the privacy 

Page 190



of my home. The nearest habitable room windows in Block A to my apartment will be 
significantly less than the 21 metres stipulated in Policy SL1 of the adopted Cheltenham 
Plan (July 2020).  Note 2 to the policy states: 
 
' In determining privacy for residents, the Council will apply the following minimum 
distances: 
     * 21 metres between dwellings which face each other where both have windows 
        with clear glazing…..' 
 
In this regard, paragraph 14.1 of the Local Plan states that the well-being of the 
Borough's residents is a key consideration in all policy-making and no less in the 
determination of planning applications. 
I have noticed that it appears that the Applicant has not submitted a Health Impact 
Assessment with the application despite this being a specific requirement for major 
planning applications. 
The Planning Statement submitted with the planning application makes a factually 
incorrect statement (para. 2.4) by commenting that the Honeybourne Gate development 
is used for bedsits.  Honeybourne Gate contains one and two bed apartments occupied 
by older people, many of whom spend a considerable amount of time in their homes.  For 
those residents occupying homes facing the application site, the proposed development 
will have a substantial negative impact on their well-being and quality of life. 
The Applicant has sought to justify the lack of on-site parking provision in the Transport 
Note, however in practice the site will not work without space for visitor parking and 
access / space for deliveries and loading / unloading.  The lack of such facilities within 
the development clearly demonstrate that the proposals constitute unacceptable over-
development of this small site. The consequence of having no facilities for visitors, 
deliveries etc. will be that vehicles will park illegally on the foot way in the Lower High 
Street, giving rise to considerable safety risks to pedestrians using a busy walking route 
into the town centre. 
Access to Block B for larger deliveries and removals appears to be totally impractical 
given that the block will only benefit from a single pedestrian access which is stepped at 
the front of the site.  The location of the refuse / recycling bins within Block A will be 
highly inconvenient to the occupiers of the other units in Block B, and it is quite 
reasonable to predict that rubbish will be left more conveniently in the courtyard and 
other paved areas which will be unsightly both to residents and users of the 
Honeybourne Line. 
I have no objections in principle to the redevelopment of this brownfield site for housing, 
however any proposal should be of a much reduced size and scale so that it is 
commensurate with the small size and shape of the site, and respects its surroundings.  I 
suggest that any development should be no more than two storeys in height and finished 
with white painted render, which would be in keeping with the wider prevailing character 
of the area. 
As submitted, the application proposal fundamentally conflicts with Policy SL1 of the 
adopted Cheltenham Plan. 
 
Yours faithfully 
************* 
 
 
   
 
 

Page 191



 
Apartment 5 
Honeybourne Gate 
2 Gloucester Road 
Cheltenham 
Gloucestershire 
GL51 8DW 
 

 

Comments: 25th October 2023 
 
Letter Attached. 
  

Apartment 4 
Honeybourne Gate 
2 Gloucester Road 
Cheltenham 
Gloucestershire 
GL51 8DW 
 

 

Comments: 4th May 2023 
 
I would like to register an objection to the proposed development on many grounds 
including the following; 
1. Over development of the site, resulting in impacting the privacy of the nearby 
apartments at Honeybourne Gate, which were not designed to be faced by windows level 
with them and overlooking them, only separated by the width of the Honeybourne line. 
2. Parking, The fact that the occupiers of the proposed buildings have a'genuine choice 
of sustainable transport methods does not apply to deliveries made to the building.As 
there has been no provision on the site, the building, apart from a narrow strip of planting, 
is up to the edge of the pavement, and parking on the pavement is illegal, delivery 
vehicles and vans will park on the single carriageway main road or illegally on the 
pavement while deliverys are carried to the 18 four storey flats. 
Either would cause problems for the busy road or pedestrians and handicapped buggy 
users.  
The suggestion of the report which points out that public car parks locally could be used 
for ' visitors and delivery vehicles', would seem comical - settees and fridge freezers 
being carried by delivery drivers across main roads!!!! they would in reality park illegally 
on the pavement or hold up the traffic on the busy single carriageway main road. 
3. The Street Scene and air pollution. 
Visitors coming into the town along the major access road, will see the proposed building 
looming above the honeybourne bridge. The view will be of a "canyon' ( the expert's 
words) formed by 2 four story buildings right up to the pavement either side. 
apart from the aesthetics of the look of this main approach to the town, this will cause, 
according to the air report, air pollution problems ether side of this canyon so that they 
will have to instal 'mechanical ventilation systems'. This does not seem very green or 
healthy for the residents. 
 
If the proposed devt. of the site was limited to 2 floors with provision for refuse storage, 
the problems of overlooking, parking and air pollution would be solved, and the street 
scene coming into our lovely town would not be spoiled by this unpleasant 'street 
canyon'. 
 

Page 192



 
 
Comments: 25th October 2023 
 
Letter attached. 
 
   

Apartment 41 
Honeybourne Gate 
2 Gloucester Road 
Cheltenham 
Gloucestershire 
GL51 8DW 
 

 

Comments: 24th April 2023 
 
Letter attached. 
 
Comments: 25th October 2023 
 
Letter attached. 
 
Comments: 25th October 2023 
 
Letter attached. 
   

Apartment 39 
Honeybourne Gate 
2 Gloucester Road 
Cheltenham 
Gloucestershire 
GL51 8DW 
 

 

Comments: 26th April 2023 
 
Dear planning people 
 
The above planning proposal has come as a bombshell to those of us living at 
Honeybourne Gate (HG) on the side facing the proposed development.  In particular to 
me as I occupy the 3rd floor flat nearest to the Honeybourne Line walkway.  My more 
specific comments follow, in the categories suggested in your letter. 
 
Privacy: 
 
Occupants of the proposed building would have their bedroom and/or lounge windows 
directly overlooked by HG apartment windows and vice versa.  At my end of the building 
the distance between the buildings would be barely a road's width. 
 
 
Visual Impact and amenity value: 
 

Page 193



This is my biggest concern.  The proposed building would completely dominate the view 
from all windows of HG apartments on this side.  For the many users of the Honeybourne 
Line walkway it would block a view which appears to be much appreciated and would 
give a feeling of walking through a dark alleyway between the two buildings.   It would 
also provide yet another surface for the hated 'tagging' that already plagues the rest of 
the Honeybourne Line.   I invite someone from the planning committee visit my apartment 
to assess the impact for themselves. 
 
Noise and Disturbance: 
 
I appreciate that construction disturbance does not count as a planning consideration - 
but residents on the affected side of HG have chosen to live on the 'quiet' side of the 
building.  Some are vulnerable and possibly in the final stages of life.  It does not seem 
fair to inflict on them the inevitable noise, vibration and disruption of the building works. 
 
Yours sincerely 
 
 
  

Apartment 52 
Honeybourne Gate 
2 Gloucester Road 
Cheltenham 
Gloucestershire 
GL51 8DW 
 

 

Comments: 9th May 2023 
 
6th May 2023 
 
Dear Sir 
Ref : Planning Application 23/00625/FUL 
I wish to comment on this application on the following grounds. 
1.  The proposal represents a gross overdevelopment of a restricted site and will be 
entirely out of scale with the immediately adjacent properties. 
 
2. While the application indicates a low level of traffic accidents at the nearby 
Gloucester Road / High Street junction,  it does not address the other traffic incidents 
which occur on a quite regular basis   i.e. over -sized articulated lorries hitting the bridge. 
These events are rarely reported to the Authorities but are witnessed by the occupants of 
apartments in Honeybourne Gate . 
When the vehicle hits the bridge the driver has to reverse out and   into Swindon Street, 
which is immediately  opposite the proposed development.  In order to carry out this 
manoeuvre the drivers cab has to mount the pavement and encroach onto the existing 
forecourt of No 456, High Street. 
The proposed development will eradicate this forecourt making the entire procedure very 
difficult, if not impossible and creating a major traffic hazard.  Furthermore, I believe that 
a building so close to the bridge will further disguise the hazard that it represents. 
 
3. The suggestion that car parking facilities will not be needed on the site is absurd. 
And unsupported by any substantial evidence. Whilst there is Permit Parking in the 

Page 194



surrounding streets, a walk round the named streets at almost any time of day or evening 
will confirm that the spaces are fully used by existing residents. 
There is little or no substantive evidence that car use will fall significantly in the 
foreseeable future and therefore it seems at best irresponsible to permit town- centre 
developments which do not include provision for car parking. 
 
4. The Proposal involves the removal of two trees at the entrance to the award-
winning Winston Churchill Gardens. This will reduce the amenity value of the entrance to 
this valuable community resource. 
 
Yours faithfully 
 
************ 
 
 
Comments: 25th October 2023 
 
Letter attached. 
 
   

Apartment 47 
Honeybourne Gate 
2 Gloucester Road 
Cheltenham 
Gloucestershire 
GL51 8DW 
 

 

Comments: 25th October 2023 
 
Letter attached. 
 
   

452 High Street 
Cheltenham 
Gloucestershire 
GL50 3JA 
 

 

Comments: 9th May 2023 
 
Letter attached. 
 
   
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 195



Apartment 39 
Honeybourne Gate 
2 Gloucester Road Cheltenham 
Gloucestershire 
GL51 8DW 
 

 

Comments: 13th October 2023 
 
Following the revision of the plans I would like to restate and revise my objections first 
listed on 26 April 2023 and add more. The revised plans have not addressed any of my 
concerns.  
 
Privacy  
 
 I note that windows on the top floor on the South West elevation are angled to avoid 
overlooking a single storey premises (?) but the windows on the 3rd floor of the North 
East elevation - a few feet directly opposite my lounge windows - will still be looking 
straight into my rooms. 
 
Visual impact and amenity value 
 
The length, breadth and height of the development is out of keeping with an already 
congested stretch of the high street which also happens to be part of the conservation 
area. A view over Cheltenham that is currently much appreciated by users of the 
Honeybourne Line would no longer exist. There would be a dark 'canyon' effect between 
2 tall buildings especially from the ramp up from Winston Churchill Gardens. 
 
Delivery/Drop Off 
 
The assumption that no cars will be required on or near the site by any residents does 
not appear to be reasonable. Even if residents can find parking spaces in an already 
overused parking zone, drivers delivering large or heavy parcels or furniture will not be 
able or willing to carry them from any of the suggested local public car parks. 
 
 
Honeybourne Gate residents have paid a premium to move in here expecting to live out 
the last years of our lives without the usual upheaval and burdens we have dealt with in 
the past. The prospect of this development is now hanging over us and is causing much 
distress. There is also resentment and a feeling that the council and developers have 
disregarded the presence of a retirement complex when considering these plans. Please 
spare us a thought. 
 
   
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 196



 
42 Nine Elms Road 
Longlevens 
Gloucester 
GL2 0HB 
 

 

Comments: 7th May 2023 
 
I oppose the proposed development on a number of grounds. 
My ** year old mother recently purchased apartment 27 Honeybourne Gate and we were 
not aware of this proposed development.  
The apartment looks out directly on to the proposed development site with 3 full length 
windows. My mother is ********** and the amount of natural daylight the outlook provides 
was one of the main factors determining our choice. Her main living area looks directly 
onto the proposed site. With poor ********** and needing a ****** to get around good light 
is crucial to enable her to live safely and independently in her new apartment. The 
proposed development will result in a dramatic loss of light in the room she spends 95% 
of her day and therefore impact her life significantly. 
In addition there will be sustained invasion/loss of privacy, both during any construction 
period and if the proposed apartment block is built. 
The noise levels during any construction period will again impact her daily life for a 
considerable period of time at a time when she is seeking to live out her later years in 
peace and quiet. 
The size of the proposed development seems too big for the size of plot and with an 
influx of so many residents it is inevitable that congestion in an already very busy area 
will be added to. With no proposed parking, and most households these days owning at 
least one car, parking in the surrounding area will become more congested. Access for 
delivery vehicles, etc will force vehicles to park on a very busy single carriage road 
causing an obstruction or park illegally on the pavement posing a risk to pedestrians and 
as my mother walks with a walker clear pathways are crucial.  
It is unrealistic to believe none of the residents will own a vehicle and these along with 
additional vehicles requiring access to the site will only add to pollution in an area already 
recognised in the report as 'experiencing potential poor air quality'. 
 
 
   

1 Pittville Crescent 
Cheltenham 
Gloucestershire 
GL52 2QZ 
 

 

Comments: 21st April 2023 
 
No objection to the proposed building, but surely the developer should provide a new 
staircase up to the Honeybourne Line (HL), similar to the one on the other side of the 
High Street. The redevelopment of this site is likely to be the only opportunity to provide 
that. It would prevent residents having to cross the road to access the HL, which of 
course is a very useful route to the station, to the leisure centre, etc. The more points of 
access are provided to the HL, the better used and safer it will become. 
 
  
 

Page 197



 

Page 198



Page 199



Page 200



Page 201



Page 202



Page 203



P
age 204



P
age 205



Page 206



Page 207



Page 208



Page 209



Page 210



Page 211



Page 212



Page 213



Page 214



Page 215



Page 216



Page 217



Page 218



Page 219



Page 220



Page 221



Page 222



Page 223



Page 224



Page 225



This page is intentionally left blank



 

APPLICATION NO: 23/01634/FUL & LBC OFFICER: Mr Ben Warren 

DATE REGISTERED: 23rd September 2023 DATE OF EXPIRY: EoT: 23rd December 
2023 

DATE VALIDATED: 23rd September 2023 DATE OF SITE VISIT:  

WARD: All Saints PARISH:  

APPLICANT: Cheltenham Borough Homes 

AGENT: PPC Surveyors Ltd 

LOCATION: 16 Priory Street Cheltenham Gloucestershire 

PROPOSAL: Deconstruct Walls, Retain and Clean Up Existing Bricks and Coping Stones 
and Re-build 

 
RECOMMENDATION: Permit & Grant  
 

 

 
This site map is for reference purposes only. OS Crown Copyright. All rights reserved Cheltenham Borough Council 100024384 2007 

 

Page 227
Agenda Item 6c



1. DESCRIPTION OF SITE AND PROPOSAL 

1.1 The application site relates to an end of terrace property located within a residential area 
on Priory Road. The application site is Grade II listed, located within Cheltenham’s Central 
Conservation area and within the Sydenham Character Area. 

1.2 The applicant, Cheltenham Borough Homes is seeking permission for the rebuilding of the 
existing boundary walls that surround the rear garden area following the deconstruction of 
the existing walls and the cleaning up of existing bricks and coping stones. The boundary 
walls will be rebuilt in the same location and to the same height as the existing walls. 

1.3 The application is at planning committee as Cheltenham Borough Homes are the 
applicant and Cheltenham Borough Council are the landowner. 

1.4 An extension of time has been agreed to allow for the submission of additional information 
and for determination of the application at planning committee. 

2. CONSTRAINTS AND RELEVANT PLANNING HISTORY  
 
Constraints: 
Grade II listed  
Airport Safeguarding over 45m 
Conservation Area 
Central Conservation Area 
Principal Urban Area 
 
Relevant Planning History: 
08/01312/LBC      23rd January 2009     GRANT 
Removal of existing fireplace in rear ground floor room, replacement of existing window to 
rear ground floor elevation with a timber sash window, and insertion of a gas boiler flue to 
rear elevation 
21/00167/LBC      7th May 2021     NOT 
Partially take down wall, rebuild wall upright using existing bricks 
21/00174/LBC      7th May 2021     NOT 
Partially take down wall and rebuild upright using existing bricks (partial demolition) 
21/01091/FUL      9th November 2022     WDN 
Partially take down wall and rebuild upright using existing bricks (partial demolition) 
21/01091/LBC      9th November 2022     WDN 
Partially take down wall and rebuild upright using existing bricks (partial demolition) 
C21/00046/DS      21st December 2021     CLOSED 
Leaning garden wall 
 

3. POLICIES AND GUIDANCE  

 
National Planning Policy Framework 
Section 2 Achieving sustainable development 
Section 4 Decision-making 
Section 12 Achieving well-designed places  
Section 16 Conserving and enhancing the historic environment 
 
Adopted Cheltenham Plan Policies 
D1 Design  
SL1 Safe and sustainable living  
 
Adopted Joint Core Strategy Policies 
SD3 Sustainable Design and Construction 

Page 228



SD4 Design Requirements 
SD8 Historic Environment 
SD14 Health and Environmental Quality 
 
Supplementary Planning Guidance/Documents 
Central conservation area: Sydenham Area and Management Plan (July 2008) 
Climate Change (2022) 
 

4. CONSULTATIONS 
 
Gloucestershire Centre For Environmental Records - 29th September 2023  
Report available to view in documents tab. 
 
Building Control - 27th September 2023 
No comment 
 
Heritage And Conservation - 30th November 2023  
Comments were initially supplied on 12 October 2023. The following is in light of revised 
and additional material (16 and 17 November 2023).  
 
It is noted that the description of the scheme has been altered to: Deconstruct Walls, Retain 
and Clean Up Existing Bricks and Coping Stones and Re-build.  
 
The Design, Access and Heritage Statement (the D&A) refers to the re-use of existing 
bricks or reclaimed bricks to match the existing (para. 3.1.1, p.2) and the potential use of 
reclaimed coping stones to match the existing (para. 3.1.3, p.4). Drawings 202/04A and 
202/05A both refer to reused and reclaimed brickwork.  
 
With reference to drawing 202/05A and the agent letter, it appears that it has been 
submitted for illustrative purposes only (see the initial comments in relation to drawing 
202/05).  
 
The scheme will not harm the significance of the designated heritage assets and therefore 
it is acceptable in terms of conservation.  
 
Suggested conditions (outline text only) may include:  
 
Any new bricks to match existing unless otherwise agreed in writing with the Local Planning 
Authority  
 
Any new coping to match existing unless otherwise agreed in writing with the Local 
Planning Authority.  
 
Bonding pattern to match existing unless otherwise agreed in writing with the Local 
Planning Authority.  
 
A suitable lime mortar to be used unless otherwise agreed otherwise in writing with the 
Local Planning Authority [the Senior (case) Planning Officer may wish to check this is 
acceptable in principle with the agent in the first instance, in case of any specific local 
reasons why this can't be used].  
 
Heritage And Conservation - 12th October 2023  
Relevant legislation and policies  
 
Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990 (the 1990 Act). 
 
The National Planning Policy Framework (DLUHC: 2023) (the framework). 

Page 229



 
Policy SD8 (Historic Environment) of the Gloucester, Cheltenham and Tewkesbury Joint 
Core Strategy 2011-2013 (adopted December 2017) (the JCS).  
 
Consideration 
 
In considering proposals for listed building consent, the Planning (Listed Buildings and 
Conservation Areas) Act 1990 (the 1990 Act) requires via S.16 (2) 'special regard to the 
desirability of preserving the building'or any features of special architectural or historic 
interest which it possesses.'  
 
In the appraisal of planning applications, the 1990 Act requires via S.66 (1) 'special regard 
to the desirability of preserving the building or its setting or any features of special 
architectural or historic interest which it possesses.'  
 
S. 72 (1) of the 1990 Act requires that in the exercise of planning functions 'with respect to 
any buildings or other land in a conservation area'special attention be paid to the 
desirability of preserving or enhancing the character or appearance of that area.' 
 
These duties are reflected in section 16 (conserving and enhancing the historic 
environment) of the framework.  
 
The consideration of the scheme is undertaken as a desk-based assessment.  
 
The description of the scheme reads - Deconstruct and replace 3 walls in the garden of 
No.16 Priory Street to match existing. Re-point all remaining brickwork using the same 
pointing style as existing. Remove and re-fix coping stones, replacing any which are 
damaged to match existing. 
 
The proposed work has not been subject to formal pre-application advice from the Local 
Planning Authority (the LPA).  
 
Application(s) 21/01091/FUL&LBC (Partially take down wall and rebuild upright using 
existing bricks (partial demolition) were withdrawn on 9 November 2022. The conservation 
section provided comments on the proposed scheme on 12 May and 1 December 2021.  
 
16 Priory Street (No. 16) is included on the National Heritage List for England (the NHLE) at 
Grade II. First listed on 5 May 1972. List entry number: 1387611 (numbers 10 to 16 and 
attached area railings to number 10, and with forecourt railings to number 12).  
 
The significance of No. 16 lies principally, though not entirely, in its architectural value as 
an example of polite domestic architecture from the second half of the nineteenth century 
(No. 16 is not shown on a 1855-1857 map of the town, but is depicted on a map of c.1879-
1888) 
 
The proposal site is located in the Central Conservation Area, a designated heritage asset 
(Cheltenham's Central Conservation Area was designated by Gloucestershire County 
Council on 28 May 1973 and its boundary was extended by Cheltenham Borough Council 
on 14 August 1987).  
 
With reference to drawing 202/01 (site location and site plan), for clarity, Nos. 16 and 14 
are included on the NHLE. No. 18, Priory Cottage, Priory Street and Nos. 15 and 16 
Hewlett Place are not included on the NHLE.  
 
Drawing 202/01 (site location and site plan) shows walls 1 and 3 being attached to No. 16, 
and wall 2 being attached to walls 1 and 3. Given, this the walls are considered to form part 
of the listed building.  

Page 230



 
A map of c.1879-1888 shows what is taken to be a boundary wall encompassing the rear of 
No. 16.  
 
The Design and Access, with Heritage Statement (the D&A) states 'It is most likely that the 
boundary walls surrounding the garden of No 16 Priory Street were constructed at around 
the same time as the property, hence are a minimum of 173 years old' (para. 2.3, p. 2).  
 
From the information submitted, the subject walls are of red brick with clay tile coping. 
Drawing 202/02 (existing elevation of walls) included the text, 'Imperial sized hand made 
clay bricks bedded on lime mortar in a Flemish bond with stone coping over'.  
 
The formal description of the proposal starts 'Deconstruct and replace 3 walls'to match the 
existing'; however, the application form includes the text 'Carefully deconstruct the areas of 
the 3no. walls''. With reference to the relevant drawings as submitted, it appears that only 
sections are proposed to be re-built.  
 
The framework states 'Any harm to, or loss of, the significance of a designated heritage 
asset (from its alteration or destruction'), should require clear and convincing justification 
(para. 200). 
 
The submission lacks clear and convincing justification, such as a comprehensive 
professional condition report. Information on condition appears to be limited to 'walls which 
are dilapidated and unstable' (the D&A, para. 3.1.1, p. 2) and some digital photographs 
which lack details of specific locations (the D&A, pp. 3 and 4). Any report should include 
comment on why the existing brick cannot be re-used in any re-build.  
 
With reference to drawing 202/05 (proposed No.15 and 16 Hewlett Place rear wall and 
section), it is not clear from the information submitted if this work requires listed building 
consent (LBC).  
 
Further to the above, and with reference to drawing 202/01 (site location and site plan), it 
appears that the proposed work to the rear wall of Nos. 15 and 16 Hewlett Place are not 
within the red line. This is of course something for the planning (case) officer to consider.  
 
Unfortunately, it is not possible to undertake a full consideration of the scheme in terms of 
conservation. The conservation section should be formally re-consulted on the receipt of 
any additional and/or revised material.  
 

5. PUBLICITY AND REPRESENTATIONS  
 
5.1 5 letters were sent to neighbouring land users, a site notice displayed, and an advert 

published in the Gloucestershire Echo. One letter of representation has been received 
from the neighbouring land user at 14 Priory Street. This neighbour raises an objection to 
the reconstruction of the wall that runs along the shared boundary with the application site 
(Wall 3, as per the site plan drawing 202/01). The concerns relate to structural integrity, 
visual impact and privacy.   

6. OFFICER COMMENTS  

6.1 Determining Issues  

6.2 The main considerations in relation to this application are the design, impact on the 
designated heritage assets, the impact of the proposal on neighbouring amenity and 
the impact on protected trees.  

 

Page 231



6.3 Design and impact on heritage assets 

6.4 Policy SD8 of the JCS relates to the historic environment and states how ‘Designated 
and undesignated heritage assets and their settings will be conserved and enhanced 
as appropriate to their significance’. Section 16 of the NPPF also echoes the 
importance of conserving and enhancing heritage assets. 

6.5 The application seeks consent for the rebuilding of 3 garden boundary walls to the rear 
of 16 Priory Road. The application site is Grade II listed, as such, the council’s 
conservation officer has been consulted on this application, their detailed comments 
can be read in section 4 above.  

6.6 Initial comments from the conservation officer advised that further detail and 
information, including clear and convincing justification for the works, was necessary 
before they were able to conclude on acceptability. Additional information and revised 
plans were later received.  

6.7 The conservation officer has reviewed the additional information and concludes that the 
works will not harm the significance of the designated heritage assets and the works 
are therefore acceptable in terms of heritage and conservation. A number of conditions 
have been suggested which relate to new bricks, new coping stones, bonding pattern 
and the type of mortar mix. All of these are considered to be necessary and have 
therefore been attached. 

6.8 The works are considered to be acceptable in terms of design and the impact on the 
designated heritage assets, as such, the proposal is considered to be compliant with 
the requirements of the Adopted Cheltenham Plan (2020) policy D1 and adopted JCS 
policies SD4 and SD8. 

6.9 Impact on neighbouring property  

6.10 It is necessary to consider the impact of development on neighbouring amenity. JCS 
Policy SD14 and Cheltenham Plan Policy SL1 state how development should not 
cause unacceptable harm to the amenity of neighbouring properties. Matters such as a 
potential loss of light, loss of privacy, loss of outlook, noise disturbances and 
overbearing impact will therefore be considered.  

6.11 Concerns have been raised by the neighbouring land user at 14 Priory Road with 
regards to the impact of removing and rebuilding the wall that runs between the 
gardens of the application site and 14 Priory Road (wall 3, as annotated on drawing 
number 202/01). Specifically, the concerns relate to effects of the works on the 
structural integrity of their own property, visual impact and a loss of privacy. 

6.12 The neighbouring land user raises concerns regarding a loss of privacy as the rebuilt 
wall will not include a lattice fence on top, which is currently in place. Whilst officers 
acknowledge that the lack of a lattice fence will somewhat reduce screening between 
the sites, the proposal itself, which is to replace the boundary wall to the same height 
as that which currently exists (approximately 1.9 metres) does not facilitate a loss of 
privacy and is considered to be of a sufficient height to maintain privacy between the 
neighbouring gardens. Officers do not consider the reconstruction of this wall or any of 
the other walls will result in any privacy issues. 

6.13 No concerns are raised with regards to a loss of light, loss of outlook or any 
overbearing impact as a result of the reconstruction of these walls to the same height 
as existing. 

Page 232



6.14 The concerns from the neighbouring land user with regards to the impact of rebuilding 
‘wall 3’ on the structural integrity of their property is not a material planning 
consideration and is a matter to be discussed and resolved between the landowners. 

6.15 Overall, the proposal is considered to be acceptable in terms of impact on neighbouring 
amenity and is therefore considered to be compliant with Adopted Cheltenham Plan 
(2020) policy SL1 and adopted JCS policy SD14 which requires development to protect 
the existing amenity of neighbouring land users and the locality. 

Other considerations 

6.16 Impact on existing Trees  

6.17 The neighbouring land user at 14 Priory Road has a plum tree located at the end of 
their garden and other existing planting is located close to the boundary wall (wall 3). 
Concerns have been raised by the neighbouring land user with regards to impact of the 
works on this tree and existing planting. Whilst the existing planting (shrubs etc) are not 
protected, the existing Plum tree is protected because of its location within the 
conservation area. As such, the works have been discussed with the council’s tree 
officer. 

6.18 The tree officer raises no objection to the works but considers it necessary that a tree 
method statement is submitted prior to the works taking place, a condition has 
therefore been attached. The agent has confirmed their agreement to the pre-
commencement condition. 

6.19 Climate change 

6.20 JCS policy SD3 requires new development to be designed and constructed to 
maximise the principles of sustainability. Development proposals are required to 
demonstrate how they contribute to the aims of sustainability and shall be adaptable to 
climate change in respect of the design, siting, orientation and function of buildings and 
outside space. The Cheltenham Climate Change SPD (adopted June 2022), sets out a 
strategy for decarbonising buildings over the next decade. 

In this instance the application relates to the replacement of existing boundary walls, 
with no scope to include specific low carbon technologies or measures to combat 
climate change. Given the nature of the works and the listed status of the walls, this is 
acceptable. 

6.21 Environmental Impact 

Whilst records show that important species or habitats have been sighted on or near 
the application site in the past, it is not considered that the proposed development, 
which involves the rebuilding of walls in the same location, will have any impact on 
these species. 

6.22 Public Sector Equalities Duty (PSED) 

As set out in the Equalities Act 2010, all public bodies, in discharging their functions 
must have “due regard” to this duty. There are three main aims:  

• Removing or minimising disadvantages suffered by people due to their 
protected characteristics; 

• Taking steps to meet the needs of people with certain protected 
characteristics where these are different from the needs of other people; and  

Page 233



• Encouraging people with certain protected characteristics to participate in 
public life or in other activities where participation is disproportionately low.  

Whilst there is no absolute requirement to fully remove any disadvantage, the duty is to 
have “regard to” and remove OR minimise disadvantage and in considering the merits 
of this planning application the planning authority has taken into consideration the 
requirements of the PSED. 

In the context of the above PSED duties, this proposal is considered to be acceptable. 

7. CONCLUSION AND RECOMMENDATION 

7.1 No objection or concerns are raised from a heritage perspective, the application is 
considered to be acceptable in terms of impact on neighbouring amenity and impact on 
protected trees. As such, officer recommendation is to grant planning permission and 
listed building consent subject to the conditions set out below; 

8. CONDITIONS / INFORMATIVES / REFUSAL REASONS  
 
23/01634/FUL: 
 
 1 The planning permission hereby granted shall be begun not later than the expiration of 

three years from the date of this decision. 
  
 Reason:  To accord with the provisions of Section 91 of the Town and Country Planning 

Act 1990, as amended by Section 51 of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 
2004. 

 
 2 The planning permission hereby granted shall be carried out in accordance with the 

approved plans listed in Schedule 1 of this decision notice.  
  
 Reason: For the avoidance of doubt and in the interests of proper planning. 
   
3 Prior to commencement of development a tree method statement to BS 5837:2012 

standard, shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. 
 

Reason: To safeguard the existing tree(s) in the interests of visual amenity, having 
regard to adopted policies GI2 and GI3 of the Cheltenham Plan (2020). Approval is 
required upfront to ensure that important trees are not permanently damaged or lost. 

 

23/01634/LBC: 
 
1 The listed building consent hereby granted shall be begun not later than the expiration 

of three years from the date of this decision. 
  
 Reason:  To accord with the provisions of Section 18 of the Planning (Listed Buildings 

and Conservation Areas) Act 1990, as amended by Section 51 of the Planning and 
Compulsory Purchase Act 2004. 

 
 2 The listed building consent hereby granted shall be carried out in accordance with the 

approved plans listed in Schedule 1 of this decision notice.  
  
 Reason: For the avoidance of doubt and in the interests of proper planning. 
 
 3 Any new bricks shall match existing, unless others first agreed in writing by the Local 

Planning Authority. 
  

Page 234



 Reason: In the interests of the special architectural and historic qualities of the listed 
building, having regard to adopted policy SD8 of the Joint Core Strategy (2017), Section 
16 of the Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990, and Historic 
Environment Good Practice Advice Note 2. 

 
 4 Any new coping stones shall match existing unless otherwise agreed in writing with the 

Local Planning Authority. 
  
 Reason: In the interests of the special architectural and historic qualities of the listed 

building, having regard to adopted policy SD8 of the Joint Core Strategy (2017), Section 
16 of the Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990, and Historic 
Environment Good Practice Advice Note 2. 

 
 5 The bonding pattern shall match existing unless otherwise agreed in writing with the 

Local Planning Authority. 
  
 Reason: In the interests of the special architectural and historic qualities of the listed 

building, having regard to adopted policy SD8 of the Joint Core Strategy (2017), Section 
16 of the Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990, and Historic 
Environment Good Practice Advice Note 2. 

 
 6 The mortar mix shall be a lime mortar, unless otherwise agreed in writing with the Local 

Planning Authority. 
  
 Reason: In the interests of the special architectural and historic qualities of the listed 

building, having regard to adopted policy SD8 of the Joint Core Strategy (2017), Section 
16 of the Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990, and Historic 
Environment Good Practice Advice Note 2. 

   
 

Page 235



This page is intentionally left blank



 

APPLICATION NO: 23/01699/FUL OFFICER: Mrs Victoria Harris 

DATE REGISTERED: 13th October 2023 DATE OF EXPIRY : 8th December 2023 

WARD: Pittville PARISH:  

APPLICANT: GH (Cheltenham) Management Company 

LOCATION: Grosvenor House 13 - 19 Evesham Road Cheltenham 

PROPOSAL: Replacement of all existing timber sash windows within the rear (east) 
elevation with Legacy style uPVC double glazed sliding sash windows 
with Georgian glazing bars, replacement of all existing double glazed 
timber juliet balcony and basement doors within the rear (east) 
elevation with uPVC double glazed doors with glazing bars 
 

 

 

REPRESENTATIONS 
 

Number of contributors  2 
Number of objections  0 
Number of representations 0 
Number of supporting  2 
 
   

Apartment 21 
Grosvenor House 
13 - 19 Evesham Road 
Cheltenham 
Gloucestershire 
GL52 2AA 
 

 

Comments: 10th November 2023 
 
As residents of this apartment block, we are advocates of heritage preservation and 
equally strong advocates of environmental protection. Given that the area in question is 
not public facing the heritage element pales significantly. The outdated planning 
conditions as stated for construction originally need to be revisited in terms of 
environmental impact, extraordinary fuel wastage and costs together with the failure of 
any wood product to meet eco requirements. In short we wholly support this application 
and would suggest that decision makers also look to the future and impact of alternatives 
on residents and meeting Cheltenham's environmental commitments for 2030 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
   

Page 237



Apartment 3 
Grosvenor House 
13 - 19 Evesham Road 
Cheltenham 
Gloucestershire 
GL52 2AA 
 

 

Comments: 20th November 2023 
 
We strongly support this application. Replacing the existing poor thermal efficiency and 
high maintenance cost windows with aesthetically similar windows of far greater energy 
efficiency and reduced maintenance is the obvious choice in our opinion when we are 
living in times of great financial and environmental pressure.  
The proposed windows will have little impact on the overall character area of Pitville as 
they are rear facing onto a cul-de-sac only used by residents, and although the windows 
of the surrounding buildings are of a similar character it is not due to the inhabitant's 
preference but rather due to the inability to replace windows due to planning constraints. 
Additionally it is important to consider the vast improvements made to the aesthetics of 
double glazed windows, specifically to address the need for a fine appearance in period 
sash windows and so allowing the best of both worlds. 
 
  
 

 

Page 238



 

APPLICATION NO: 23/01669/ADV OFFICER: Mrs Victoria Harris 

DATE REGISTERED: 12th October 2023 DATE OF EXPIRY: 7th December 2023 

DATE VALIDATED: 12th October 2023 DATE OF SITE VISIT: 06.11.2023 

WARD: Swindon Village PARISH: Swindon 

APPLICANT: Mr Darren Coltman 

AGENT:  

LOCATION: Unit 3 Runnings Road Cheltenham 

PROPOSAL: Proposed 2x freestanding signs (for Unit 5) 

 
RECOMMENDATION: Grant 

 

 
This site map is for reference purposes only. OS Crown Copyright. All rights reserved Cheltenham Borough Council 100024384 2007 

 

Page 239
Agenda Item 6d



1. DESCRIPTION OF SITE AND PROPOSAL 

1.1 The application site is located along Runnings Road within Swindon Parish. The site 
forms part of a much larger industrial area located at the north-western edge of the 
borough.  

1.2 This application is seeking advertisement consent for 2x freestanding repositioned signs 
relating to the industrial unit located behind Pulse and Cocktails.   

1.3 The site currently has an existing sign which is proposed to be repositioned.  

1.4 The applicant has revised the location of the signs during the course of the application as 
it was originally proposed to extend into the highway verge land. The signs will now sit 
behind the fence.   

1.5 During the course of the application, advertising boards have been put over the existing 
signs.  

1.6 This application is before Planning Committee at the request of Councillor Bernard Fisher. 
The reasons given for the referral are as follows: “design and street scene.”  

2. CONSTRAINTS AND RELEVANT PLANNING HISTORY  
 
Constraints: 
 Airport Safeguarding over 45m 
 Principal Urban Area 
 
Relevant Planning History: 
 
 

3. POLICIES AND GUIDANCE  

 
National Planning Policy Framework 2021 (NPPF) 
Section 4 Decision-making 
Section 12 Achieving well-designed places  
 
Adopted Cheltenham Plan 2020 (CP) Policies 
D2 Advertisements, Signs and Hoardings  
SL1 Safe and Sustainable Living 
 
Adopted Joint Core Strategy 2017 (JCS) Policies 
SD4 Design Requirements 
SD14 Health and Environmental Quality 
INF1 Transport Network 
 

4. CONSULTATIONS 
 
See appendix at end of report 
 

5. PUBLICITY AND REPRESENTATIONS  
Number of letters sent 7 

Total comments received 1 

Number of objections 0 

Number of supporting 0 

General comment 1 

 

Page 240



5.1 Letters of notification were sent out to 7 neighbouring properties. 1 representation has 
been received in response to the publicity. The comments are available to view on public 
access, but in brief, the comments relate to ownership and potential use in the future.  

 

6. OFFICER COMMENTS  

6.1 Determining Issues 

6.2 As this is an application for advertisement consent, the only matters for consideration 
relate to amenity and public safety, taking into account the cumulative impacts.  

6.3 Amenity 

6.4 Planning Policy Guidance (Paragraph: 079 Reference ID: 18b-079-20140306) sets out 
that in assessing amenity, the local planning authority should consider the local 
characteristics of the neighbourhood, and whether the advertisements are in scale and in 
keeping with any important scenic, historic, architectural or cultural features. 
Advertisements should be permitted where they would not adversely affect the visual 
amenities of the site. Adopted CP Policy D2 reiterates this advice.  

6.5 In addition, NPPF paragraph 136 highlights that “The quality and character of places can 
suffer when advertisements are poorly sited and designed.”  

6.6 In this case, whilst there are a number of signs close to the application site, it is not 
considered that the relocated sign will have any adverse visual impact on the character or 
appearance of the locality, given the existing nature and use of the site and its location 
within this large retail/industrial estate. The extent of signage proposed is not uncommon 
along Runnings Road.   

6.7 The nearest residential property is some distance away.  

6.8 Overall, from an amenity perspective, the proposed signs are therefore considered to be 
appropriate in this context. The signage will not adversely affect the visual amenities of 
the locality.  

6.9 Public Safety 

6.10 From a public safety perspective, the proposed signage has been reviewed by the County 
Council, as the Local Highway Authority, who raise no objection; concluding that “there 
would not be an unacceptable impact on Highway Safety…There are no justifiable 
grounds on which an objection could be maintained”. As previously noted, the relocated 
sign will not be located on highway verge land.  

6.11 No objection has been raised in response to the consultation exercise.  

6.12 Other 

6.13 The public representation that has been received relate to civil matters. Given the nature 
of the comments stray outside the material planning considerations; the applicant has 
been made aware of the comments made and therefore can be addressed outside of the 
planning process.  

6.14 The applicant has made the following comments in response to the public representation; 

“Kinsman Construction Cheltenham are located at Unit 5 Runnings Road, Cheltenham, 
GL51 9NQ. The sign board is to highlight where our business is located due to issues with 
deliveries and post. 

Page 241



Surescaff did lease unit 3 and they erected the sign. We purchased the existing sign from 
Surescaff who have now moved away from unit 3. 

We asked the landlord permission to purchase the sign from Surescaff and replace it with 
our company detail so we can highlight where our business is located.” 

 

7. CONCLUSION AND RECOMMENDATION 

7.1 With all of the above in mind, the recommendation is to grant advertisement consent 
subject to the following conditions:  

8. CONDITIONS / INFORMATIVES  
 
 
 1 The advertisement consent hereby granted shall expire after a period of five years from 

the date of this decision. 
  
 Reason:  To accord with the provisions of Regulation 14 of The Town and Country 

Planning (Control of Advertisements) (England) Regulations 2007. 
 
 2 The planning permission hereby granted shall be carried out in accordance with the 

approved plans listed in Schedule 1 of this decision notice.  
  
 Reason: For the avoidance of doubt and in the interests of proper planning. 
 
 3 1) No advertisement is to be displayed without the permission of the owner of the site or 

any other person with an interest in the site entitled to grant permission. 
 2) No advertisement shall be sited or displayed so as to— 
 (a) endanger persons using any highway, railway, waterway, dock, harbour or 

aerodrome (civil or military); 
 (b) obscure, or hinder the ready interpretation of, any traffic sign, railway signal or aid to 

navigation by water or air; or 
 (c) Hinder the operation of any device used for the purpose of security or     surveillance 

or for measuring the speed of any vehicle. 
 3) Any advertisement displayed, and any site used for the display of advertisements, 

shall be maintained in a condition that does not impair the visual amenity of the site. 
 4) Any structure or hoarding erected or used principally for the purpose of displaying 

advertisements shall be maintained in a condition that does not endanger the public. 
 5) Where an advertisement is required under these Regulations to be removed, the site 

shall be left in a condition that does not endanger the public or impair visual amenity. 
  
 Reason:  To accord with the provisions of Schedule 2 of The Town and Country 

Planning (Control of Advertisements) (England) Regulations 2007. 
   
 

 

Page 242



Consultations Appendix 
 

GCC Highways Planning Liaison Officer 
25th October 2023 - Gloucestershire County Council, the Highway Authority acting in its role 
as Statutory Consultee has undertaken a full assessment of this planning application. Based 
on the appraisal of the development proposals the Highways Development Management 
Manager on behalf of the County Council, under Article 18 of the Town and Country Planning 
(Development Management Procedure)(England) Order, 2015 recommends that this 
application be deferred. 
  
 The justification for this decision is provided below. 
  
 Part of the proposed sign extends into the public highway verge; revised plans must be 
provided to ensure there is no encroachment onto the public highway. 
  
 The Highway Authority therefore submits a response of deferral until the required 
information has been provided and considered. 
  
 Yours Sincerely 
 Michael Sendall 
 Principal Development Coordinator 
  
 
GCC Highways Planning Liaison Officer 
29th November 2023 - Letter available to view in documents tab. 
 
 
 

Page 243



This page is intentionally left blank



 

APPLICATION NO: 23/01699/FUL OFFICER: Mrs Victoria Harris 

DATE REGISTERED: 13th October 2023 DATE OF EXPIRY : 8th December 2023 

WARD: Pittville PARISH:  

APPLICANT: GH (Cheltenham) Management Company 

LOCATION: Grosvenor House 13 - 19 Evesham Road Cheltenham 

PROPOSAL: Replacement of all existing timber sash windows within the rear (east) 
elevation with Legacy style uPVC double glazed sliding sash windows 
with Georgian glazing bars, replacement of all existing double glazed 
timber juliet balcony and basement doors within the rear (east) 
elevation with uPVC double glazed doors with glazing bars 
 

 

 

REPRESENTATIONS 
 

Number of contributors  2 
Number of objections  0 
Number of representations 0 
Number of supporting  2 
 
   

Apartment 21 
Grosvenor House 
13 - 19 Evesham Road 
Cheltenham 
Gloucestershire 
GL52 2AA 
 

 

Comments: 10th November 2023 
 
As residents of this apartment block, we are advocates of heritage preservation and 
equally strong advocates of environmental protection. Given that the area in question is 
not public facing the heritage element pales significantly. The outdated planning 
conditions as stated for construction originally need to be revisited in terms of 
environmental impact, extraordinary fuel wastage and costs together with the failure of 
any wood product to meet eco requirements. In short we wholly support this application 
and would suggest that decision makers also look to the future and impact of alternatives 
on residents and meeting Cheltenham's environmental commitments for 2030 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
   

Page 245



Apartment 3 
Grosvenor House 
13 - 19 Evesham Road 
Cheltenham 
Gloucestershire 
GL52 2AA 
 

 

Comments: 20th November 2023 
 
We strongly support this application. Replacing the existing poor thermal efficiency and 
high maintenance cost windows with aesthetically similar windows of far greater energy 
efficiency and reduced maintenance is the obvious choice in our opinion when we are 
living in times of great financial and environmental pressure.  
The proposed windows will have little impact on the overall character area of Pitville as 
they are rear facing onto a cul-de-sac only used by residents, and although the windows 
of the surrounding buildings are of a similar character it is not due to the inhabitant's 
preference but rather due to the inability to replace windows due to planning constraints. 
Additionally it is important to consider the vast improvements made to the aesthetics of 
double glazed windows, specifically to address the need for a fine appearance in period 
sash windows and so allowing the best of both worlds. 
 
  
 

 

Page 246



 

APPLICATION NO: 23/01699/FUL OFFICER: Mrs Victoria Harris 

DATE REGISTERED: 13th October 2023 DATE OF EXPIRY : 8th December 2023 

WARD: Pittville PARISH:  

APPLICANT: GH (Cheltenham) Management Company 

LOCATION: Grosvenor House 13 - 19 Evesham Road Cheltenham 

PROPOSAL: Replacement of all existing timber sash windows within the rear (east) 
elevation with Legacy style uPVC double glazed sliding sash windows 
with Georgian glazing bars, replacement of all existing double glazed 
timber juliet balcony and basement doors within the rear (east) 
elevation with uPVC double glazed doors with glazing bars 
 

 

 

REPRESENTATIONS 
 

Number of contributors  2 
Number of objections  0 
Number of representations 0 
Number of supporting  2 
 
   

Apartment 21 
Grosvenor House 
13 - 19 Evesham Road 
Cheltenham 
Gloucestershire 
GL52 2AA 
 

 

Comments: 10th November 2023 
 
As residents of this apartment block, we are advocates of heritage preservation and 
equally strong advocates of environmental protection. Given that the area in question is 
not public facing the heritage element pales significantly. The outdated planning 
conditions as stated for construction originally need to be revisited in terms of 
environmental impact, extraordinary fuel wastage and costs together with the failure of 
any wood product to meet eco requirements. In short we wholly support this application 
and would suggest that decision makers also look to the future and impact of alternatives 
on residents and meeting Cheltenham's environmental commitments for 2030 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
   

Page 247
Agenda Item 6e



Apartment 3 
Grosvenor House 
13 - 19 Evesham Road 
Cheltenham 
Gloucestershire 
GL52 2AA 
 

 

Comments: 20th November 2023 
 
We strongly support this application. Replacing the existing poor thermal efficiency and 
high maintenance cost windows with aesthetically similar windows of far greater energy 
efficiency and reduced maintenance is the obvious choice in our opinion when we are 
living in times of great financial and environmental pressure.  
The proposed windows will have little impact on the overall character area of Pitville as 
they are rear facing onto a cul-de-sac only used by residents, and although the windows 
of the surrounding buildings are of a similar character it is not due to the inhabitant's 
preference but rather due to the inability to replace windows due to planning constraints. 
Additionally it is important to consider the vast improvements made to the aesthetics of 
double glazed windows, specifically to address the need for a fine appearance in period 
sash windows and so allowing the best of both worlds. 
 
  
 

 

Page 248



 

APPLICATION NO: 23/01699/FUL OFFICER: Mrs Victoria Harris 

DATE REGISTERED: 13th October 2023 DATE OF EXPIRY: 8th December 2023 

DATE VALIDATED: 13th October 2023 DATE OF SITE VISIT: 28/11/23 

WARD: Pittville PARISH:  

APPLICANT: GH (Cheltenham) Management Company 

AGENT: SF Planning Limited 

LOCATION: Grosvenor House 13 - 19 Evesham Road Cheltenham 

PROPOSAL: Replacement of all existing timber sash windows within the rear (east) 
elevation with Legacy style uPVC double glazed sliding sash windows with 
Georgian glazing bars, replacement of all existing double glazed timber juliet 
balcony and basement doors within the rear (east) elevation with uPVC 
double glazed doors with glazing bars 
 

 
RECOMMENDATION: Refuse 

 

Page 249



This site map is for reference purposes only. OS Crown Copyright. All rights reserved Cheltenham Borough Council 100024384 2007 

Page 250



DESCRIPTION OF SITE AND PROPOSAL 

1.1 The application site relates to a terrace of buildings known as ‘Grosvenor House’ and 
comprises of 24 residential apartments; the building fronts on to Evesham Road and is 
located within the Pittville Character Area of the Central Conservation Area and is 
identified within the townscape analysis of this area as being a ‘positive building’. 

1.2 The building is a mock regency design granted consent in 2005 (ref: 05/00967/FUL). The 
site comprises of a large, detached rendered building with a large tarmac parking area to 
the rear which is accessed via Pittville Mews. 

1.3 The applicant is seeking planning permission to replace all the existing single-glazed 
timber windows and double-glazed timber Juliet Balcony doors on the rear (southeast) 
elevation of properties 13-19 Evesham Road (Grosvenor House). 

1.4 The timber windows on the northwest elevation fronting Evesham Road would be 
unaffected by the proposed works.  

1.5 The application is similar to planning application ref: 16/01175/FUL which sought the 
replacement of all the existing timber windows and Juliet balcony doors with new white 
uPVC windows and doors on both the front and rear elevations.  

1.6 Application 16/01175/FUL was refused for the following reasons:  

The proposed replacement of all windows and doors in this building represents an 
unacceptable form of development that fails to adequately respond to the character of the 
existing building and is considered to have a harmful impact on the character of the 
conservation area. 

Accordingly, the proposal is contrary to policy CP7 of the Cheltenham Borough Local Plan 
(Adopted 2006) and guidance set out within the NPPF. 

1.7 A pre-application proposal for the proposed replacement of all existing windows and doors 
on the rear (southeast) elevation of properties 13-19 Evesham Road (Grosvenor House) 
was received by the Council on 09.03.2021. The Conservation Officer concluded that the 
proposed works would be detrimental to the character and appearance of the designated 
heritage asset and therefore its significance. As such, officers were unable to support the 
proposed works. 

1.8 This application is before Planning Committee at the request of Councillor Tooke. The 
reasons given for the referral are as follows: “The building is a modern building.  If the 
windows are turned down it would be fly in in the face of CBC’s Net Zero targets and not 
be in the interests of residents who are facing a cost of living crisis.” 

2. CONSTRAINTS AND RELEVANT PLANNING HISTORY  
 
Constraints: 
 Airport Safeguarding over 45m 
 Conservation Area 
 Principal Urban Area 
 Residents Associations 
 Smoke Control Order 
 
Relevant Planning History: 
 
05/00441/REM      31st May 2005     REF 
Approval of landscaping scheme and other details relating to permitted scheme for 19 flats 

Page 251



05/00967/FUL      3rd August 2005     PER 
Erection of 24 flats with car parking (resubmission of previous schemes) 
21/00557/PREAPP      15th April 2021     CLO 
Replacement windows 
16/01175/FUL      7th October 2016     REF 
Replacement of all apartment windows and juliet balcony doors 
 
 

3. POLICIES AND GUIDANCE  

 
National Planning Policy Framework 
Section 2 Achieving sustainable development 
Section 4 Decision-making 
Section 8 Promoting healthy and safe communities 
Section 12 Achieving well-designed places  
Section 14 Meeting the challenge of climate change, flooding and coastal change 
Section 16 Conserving and enhancing the historic environment 
 
Adopted Cheltenham Plan Policies 
D1 Design  
SL1 Safe and Sustainable Living  
 
Adopted Joint Core Strategy Policies 
SD3 Sustainable Design and Construction 
SD4 Design Requirements 
SD8 Historic Environment 
SD14 Health and Environmental Quality 
INF5 Renewable Energy/Low Carbon Energy Development 
 
Supplementary Planning Guidance/Documents 
Climate Change (2022) 
 

4. CONSULTATIONS 
 
See appendix at end of report 
 

5. PUBLICITY AND REPRESENTATIONS  
Number of letters sent 51 

Total comments received 2 

Number of objections 0 

Number of supporting 2 

General comment 0 

 
5.1 Letters of notification were sent out to 51 neighbouring properties, a site notice was 

displayed and an advert was published in the Gloucestershire Echo. 2 representations of 
support have been received in response to the publicity. The comments are available to 
view on public access, but in brief, the comments relate to environmental and financial 
benefits.  

 

6. OFFICER COMMENTS  

6.1 Determining Issues 

6.2 The key issues are the impact of the proposals on the character and appearance of the 
Conservation Area and the setting of adjacent and nearby listed buildings. 

Page 252



6.3 Design 

6.4 Section 12 of the NPPF emphasises the importance of achieving well designed places 
that are visually attractive and sympathetic to local character and setting. In addition, 
policy SD4 of the JCS and policy D1 of the Cheltenham Plan require development to be of 
a high standard of architectural design that positively responds to and respects the site 
and its surroundings.  

6.5 The application site is located within the Conservation Area. As such the local authority 
should have regard to the duty to pay special attention to the desirability of preserving or 
enhancing its character or appearance. 

6.6 The proposal is to replace the fenestration at the rear and although this is a rear elevation, 
the full face of the rear can be seen and appreciated from the public realm and arguably, 
does not display the more typical functional characteristics of a historic rear service range. 
Although a modern building, it contributes positively to the character and significance of 
the Conservation Area. 

6.7 The proposed windows would be of Legacy style uPVC double glazed sliding sash 
windows with Georgian glazing bars and the doors uPVC double glazed with glazing bars.  
An existing rear elevation, proposed windows and doors-sectional details and brochure 
details of those proposed has been provided. Notwithstanding this, given the limited 
details of the existing windows and doors it is difficult to determine how this would 
compare to the existing windows and doors.  

6.8 Having regard to section 16 of the NPPF, the Conservation Officer concludes that the 
“proposed double-glazed units are not ‘slim’ at 24mm and their reflective qualities will be 
at odds with what appears to be the principal approach to glazing in the immediate vicinity 
to the rear of Nos. 13-19. The appearance of the numerous double glazed uPVC items will 
detract from the appearance of the positive building and therefore detract from the 
character of the conservation area, to the detriment of its significance.” The potential 
degree of harm is considered to be less than substantial. 

6.9 The application site comprises of 24 residential apartments, therefore there is the risk that 
the windows and doors could be replaced at different dates, resulting in a variation of 
existing and new windows and doors. The consistency in the appearance of the rear 
elevation is an important part of the character of the building. Variation in the appearance 
of the windows and doors would disrupt this and be incongruous.  It would be 
unreasonable to impose a condition requiring the full replacement of the fenestration 
within a certain time period.  

6.10 For the purposes of the Framework, the Conservation Area is a designated heritage 
asset. Within the overall context, it is considered that the proposal would lead to less than 
substantial harm to the significance of this. The Framework indicates that such harm is to 
be weighed against the public benefits of a proposal. However, great weight should be 
given to an asset’s conservation. 

6.11 Sustainability 

6.12 Section 14 The NPPF prescribes that the planning system should support the transition to 
a low carbon future in a changing climate. This is a key theme and objective of the 
Cheltenham Local Plan. This aim is recognised in Policy SD3 of the JCS, which sets out 
an expectation that all development should be adaptable to climate change.  

6.13 The planning statement states the Energy Performance Certificate (EPC) ratings for the 
existing apartments mainly fall below the ‘C’ rating and the proposed Legacy style sash 
windows have an outstanding energy rating of ‘A’ and a u-value of 1.4W/m2K. 

Page 253



6.14 Provisions for limiting heat loss for Heritage Buildings and Conservation Areas are 
suggested within Cheltenham’s Climate Change Supplementary Planning Document 
(SPD), for example, through careful restoration, draught proofing and secondary glazing. 
Each of these improvements should compensate for loss of heat through single glazing. 

6.15 Public Benefits  

6.16 The applicant considers that the new windows and doors will be of public benefit as it will 
enable the Council to meet its carbon neutral aspirations.  

6.17 As discussed above, the proposed development is considered to result in harm to the 
Conservation Area. The Conservation Officer considers the level of harm to be less than 
substantial.  

6.18 Paragraph 202 of the NPPF states:  

“Where a development proposal will lead to less than substantial harm to the significance 
of a designated heritage asset, this harm should be weighed against the public benefits of 
the proposal...” 

6.19 The proposal would bring about environmental benefits with the energy efficiency of the 
proposed windows and doors and accord with local and national policy aims with regard to 
climate change. Nonetheless, as a result of the scale of the proposal, the contribution is 
difficult to determine and would likely be limited. Officers note the immediate benefit to the 
homeowners within Grosvenor House. However, these do not represent public benefits.  

6.20 As such, the public benefits would not outweigh the identified material harm to the 
designated heritage asset. The proposal would therefore be contrary to the historic 
environmental policies contained within the Framework. 

6.21 Public Sector Equalities Duty (PSED)  

6.22 As set out in the Equalities Act 2010, all public bodies, in discharging their functions must 
have “due regard” to this duty. There are three main aims:  

- Removing or minimising disadvantages suffered by people due to their protected 
characteristics;  

- Taking steps to meet the needs of people with certain protected characteristics where 
these are different from the needs of other people; and  

- Encouraging people with certain protected characteristics to participate in public life or in 
other activities where participation is disproportionately low.  

6.23 Whilst there is no absolute requirement to fully remove any disadvantage, the duty is to 
have “regard to” and remove OR minimise disadvantage and in considering the merits of 
this planning application the planning authority has taken into consideration the 
requirements of the PSED.  

6.24 In the context of the above PSED duties, this proposal is considered to be acceptable.  

 

 

 

 

Page 254



7. CONCLUSION AND RECOMMENDATION 

7.1 Harm to the significance of designated heritage assets has been identified. The identified 
harm has been weighed against the public benefits of the proposals, as required by 
paragraph 202 of the NPPF.  

7.2 Whilst officers support the applicant’s aim to improve energy efficiency associated with the 
new windows and doors, these benefits are limited and not considered to outweigh the 
identified harm to the significance of the heritage assets.  

7.3 Officer recommendation is therefore that planning permission be refused. 

8. REFUSAL REASONS  
 
 
 1 The proposed introduction of uPVC double glazed sliding sash windows and uPVC 

double glazed doors to the rear of this building represents an unacceptable form of 
development that fails to adequately respond to the character of the existing building 
and is considered to have a harmful impact on the character of the Conservation Area. 

  
 Therefore, the development proposals do not comply with Chapter 16 of the National 

Planning Policy Framework (2023), Policies SD4 and SD8 of the Joint Core Strategy 
(2017), and Policy D1 of the Cheltenham Plan (2020). 

 

INFORMATIVES 
 
 1 In accordance with the requirements of The Town and Country Planning (Development 

Management Procedure) (England) Order 2015 and the provisions of the NPPF, the 
Local Planning Authority adopts a positive and proactive approach to dealing with 
planning applications and where possible, will seek solutions to any problems that arise 
when dealing with a planning application with the aim of fostering the delivery of 
sustainable development.  

  
 At the heart of this positive and proactive approach is the authority's pre-application 

advice service for all types of development. Further to this however, the authority 
publishes guidance on the Council's website on how to submit planning applications 
and provides full and up-to-date information in relation to planning applications to 
enable the applicant, and other interested parties, to track progress. 

  
 In this instance, having had regard to all material considerations, the authority cannot 

provide a solution that will overcome the harm to the Conservation Area. 
  
 As a consequence, the proposal cannot be considered to be sustainable development 

and therefore the authority had no option but to refuse planning permission. 
 
   
 

 

Page 255



Consultations Appendix 
 

Ward Councillors 
6th November 2023 - I strongly support this application and as councillor for Pittville, if 
necessary, would like this called to planning committee 
 
Building Control 
27th October 2023 - This application will require Building Regulations approval. Please 
contact Cheltenham and Tewkesbury Building Control on 01242 264321 for further 
information. 
  
Heritage And Conservation 
9th November 2023 - Relevant legislation and policies  
  
 Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990 (the 1990 Act). 
  
 The National Planning Policy Framework (DLUHC: 2023) (the framework). 
  
 Policy SD8 (Historic Environment) of the Gloucester, Cheltenham and Tewkesbury Joint 
Core Strategy 2011-2013 (adopted December 2017) (the JCS).  
  
 Consideration 
  
 S.72 (1) of the 1990 Act requires that in the exercise of planning functions 'with respect to 
any buildings or other land in a conservation area'special attention be paid to the desirability 
of preserving or enhancing the character or appearance of that area.' 
  
 This duty is reflected in section 16 (Conserving and enhancing the historic environment) of 
the framework.  
  
 The officer visited Pittville Mews (to the rear, south-east) of the proposal site on 8 
November 2023. 
  
 The description of the proposal reads - Replacement of all existing timber sash windows 
within the rear (east) elevation with Legacy style uPVC double glazed sliding sash windows 
with Georgian glazing bars, replacement of all existing timber juliet balcony and basement 
doors within the rear (east) elevation with uPVC double glazed doors with glazing bars.  
  
 The property (Nos.13-19) has been subject of application 16/01175/FUL (Replacement of 
all apartment windows and juliet balcony doors). This was refused by the Local Planning 
Authority (the LPA) via the decision of 7 October 2016. The reason is as follows. 
  
 'The proposed replacement of all windows and doors in this building represents an 
unacceptable form of development that fails to adequately respond to the character of the 
existing building and is considered to have harmful impact on the character of the 
conservation area'.  
  
 The LPA provided pre-application advice via 21/00557/PREAPP (replacement windows). 
The report concluded 'officers are unable to support the proposed works' (un-numbered 4th 
page).  
  
 The proposal site is located in the Central Conservation Area (Pittville Character Area), a 
designated heritage asset (Cheltenham's Central Conservation Area was designated by 
Gloucestershire County Council on 28 May 1973 and its boundary was extended by 
Cheltenham Borough Council on 14 August 1987). 
  

Page 256



 The Pittville Character Area Appraisal and Management Plan (the appraisal SPD), was 
adopted by Cheltenham Borough Council on 28 July 2008 as a Supplementary Planning 
Document. 
  
 Figure 1 (Townscape Analysis Map of Pittville Character Area) of the appraisal SPD (p.1), 
identifies the subject building(s) as a 'positive building'. 
  
 "Positive buildings are'those buildings which make a positive contribution to the character 
and appearance of each character area. They often have a collective group value" (the SPD, 
para. 5.23, p.26). 
  
 Buildings included on the National Heritage List for England (the NHLE) are situated in the 
immediate vicinity of the proposal site, including but not limited to, those under list entry 
number 1387459 to the south-east of the proposal site and those under list entry number 
1104288, attached to the south-west of the subject building.  
  
 Nos. 13-19 were seemingly constructed as a result of application 05/00967/FUL (erection of 
24 flats with car parking (resubmission of previous schemes)). Condition 3 of the decision 
notice is reproduced below for reference.  
  
 'All doors and windows shall be of traditional painted timber construction and finished in a 
colour to be agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority and thereafter so maintained in 
the approved colour unless an alternative is first approved in writing by the Local Planning 
Authority". 
  
 Reason: In the light of Cheltenham Local Plan Second Review polices CP7, BE 8 and 
national guidance set out at PPS1 & PPG15, it is important to protect and maintain the 
character and appearance of the area in which this development is located.' 
  
 It is clear that the design of the rear elevation(s) (south-east) of Nos. 13 -19, draws from the 
typical approach of polite terraced houses constructed in the first half of the nineteenth 
century and found frequently across the town.  
  
 It appears that the character of windows serving the buildings to the rear of the proposal 
site (Pittville Mews) is predominantly defined by multi-paned, single-glazed timber windows, 
to which Nos.13-19 contribute.  
  
 The scheme proposes the replacement of timber windows and doors with uPVC double 
glazed items with applied glazing bars. The proposed external colour of the replacements is 
not evident.  
  
 The application lacks scale drawings of the existing windows and doors, therefore it is not 
possible to conclude if the components of the proposed items are bulkier or indeed finer than 
those in place.  
  
 With reference to the historic applications as referred to above, it is apparent that the Local 
Planning Authority recognises that timber windows and doors are a key component of the 
appearance of the positive building.  
  
 The proposed double-glazed units are not 'slim' at 24mm and their reflective qualities will 
be at odds with what appears to be the principal approach to glazing in the immediate vicinity 
to the rear of Nos. 13-19. The appearance of the numerous double glazed uPVC items will 
detract from the appearance of the positive building and therefore detract from the character 
of the conservation area, to the detriment of its significance.  
  

Page 257



 The submission states 'Any harm is therefore considered to be limited and less than 
substantial' and that there will be 'limited harm arising from the development' (Planning and 
Heritage Statement, para. 3.10, p. 7 and para. 3.20, p. 9).  
  
 'Any harm to, or loss of, the significance of a designated heritage asset'should require clear 
and convincing justification' (the framework, para. 200).  
  
 For the benefit of the Planning (case) Officer, the Planning and Heritage Statement 
provides comment on climate change from paragraph. 3.14, p. 8. 
  
 The framework prescribes that great weight be given to the conservation of a designated 
heritage asset, irrespective of the level of harm. Where less than substantial harm is 
identified this needs to be weighed against the public benefits of the scheme (paras. 199 and 
202) (a separate exercise to the general planning balance, the two should not be conflated). 
  
 The presumption in favour of preserving the character or appearance of the conservation 
area, as afforded by the 1990 Act is not met, and the scheme will result in less than 
substantial harm.  
  
 
 
 

Page 258



APPLICATION NO: 23/01754/FUL OFFICER: Mr Ben Warren 

DATE REGISTERED: 14th October 2023 DATE OF EXPIRY: 9th December 2023 

DATE VALIDATED: 14th October 2023 DATE OF SITE VISIT:  

WARD: Leckhampton PARISH: Leckhampton With Warden Hill 

APPLICANT: Mr And Mrs Atkinson 

AGENT: Mark Le Grand & Co 

LOCATION: 61 Moorend Park Road Cheltenham Gloucestershire 

PROPOSAL: Two storey extension to rear of dwelling (revised scheme to 23/00414/FUL) 
(retrospective) 

 
RECOMMENDATION: Permit 

 

 
This site map is for reference purposes only. OS Crown Copyright. All rights reserved Cheltenham Borough Council 100024384 2007 

 

Page 259
Agenda Item 6f



1. DESCRIPTION OF SITE AND PROPOSAL 

1.1 The application site relates to a semi-detached property located within a residential area 
on Moorend Park Road. 

1.2 The applicant is seeking planning permission for a part two storey and part single storey 
rear extension. This application is a revised scheme to a recently approved application, 
ref: 23/00414/FUL (previously determined at planning committee). 

1.3 Works have commenced on site and are well underway, the main shell of the extensions 
were already constructed in block work at the time of officer’s site visit (27.10.23).  

1.4 The application has been called to planning committee by Councillor Nelson who raises 
concerns regarding the impact of the works on neighbouring amenity. The Parish Council 
also object to the application which triggers a committee decision. 

1.5 During the course of the application revised plans have been submitted in order to 
address inaccuracies in the plans. The report below considers the latest plans submitted. 

2. CONSTRAINTS AND RELEVANT PLANNING HISTORY  
 
Constraints: 
Airport Safeguarding over 45m 
Principal Urban Area 
Smoke Control Order 
 
Relevant Planning History: 
05/00340/FUL      18th April 2005     PER 
Part two storey part single storey side and rear extensions (following removal of 
conservatory and utility room) 
15/01355/FUL      10th September 2015     PER 
Proposed single storey rear extension and first floor side extension 
22/01988/FUL      23rd January 2023     PER 
Two storey extension to rear of dwelling 
23/00414/FUL      16th June 2023     PER 
Two storey extension to rear of dwelling (revised scheme to 22/01988/FUL) 
 
 

3. POLICIES AND GUIDANCE  

 
National Planning Policy Framework 
Section 2 Achieving sustainable development 
Section 4 Decision-making 
Section 12 Achieving well-designed places  
 
Adopted Cheltenham Plan Policies 
D1 Design  
SL1 Safe and sustainable living  
 
Adopted Joint Core Strategy Policies 
SD3 Sustainable Design and Construction 
SD4 Design Requirements 
SD14 Health and Environmental Quality 
 
Supplementary Planning Guidance/Documents 
Residential Alterations and Extensions (2008) 

Page 260



Climate Change (2022) 
 

CONSULTATIONS 
 
Building Control - 27th October 2023 
This application will require Building Regulations approval. Please contact Cheltenham and 
Tewkesbury Building Control on 01242 264321 for further information. 
 
Parish Council - 27th October 2023  
The Parish Council objects to this application as it is unreasonably overbearing for the 
immediate neighbour. The Parish Council also notes that there is significant shadowing to 
one of their main habitable rooms (see shadows in attached photograph). The Parish 
Council are disappointed that the builder/developer has constructed the ground floor 
extension in breach of the existing planning permission. 
 
Photographs available to view in documents tab. 
 
Gloucestershire Centre For Environmental Records - 20th October 2023 
Report available to view in documents tab. 
 

4. PUBLICITY AND REPRESENTATIONS  
 

4.1 4 letters were sent to neighbouring land users on two separate occasions, no letters of 
representation have been received in response to this neighbour notification process.  

 

5. OFFICER COMMENTS  

5.1 Determining Issues  

5.2 The main considerations in relation to this application are the design and the impact of 
the proposal on neighbouring amenity.  

5.3 As noted in the introduction, this application is a revised application to a recently 
approved scheme for a part two storey and part single storey extension to the rear of 
the property (planning ref: 23/00414/FUL). The amendment to be considered within this 
new application is a change in the roof of the single storey part of the development 
from a pitched roof to a flat roof. 

5.4 Impact on neighbouring property  

5.5 It is necessary to consider the impact of development on neighbouring amenity. JCS 
Policy SD14 and Cheltenham Plan Policy SL1 state how development should not 
cause unacceptable harm to the amenity of neighbouring properties. Matters such as a 
potential loss of light, loss of privacy, loss of outlook, noise disturbances and 
overbearing impact will therefore be considered.  

5.6 As the change being considered in this application only relates to the single storey 
extension adjacent to the shared boundary with number 59 Moorend Park Road, it is 
only this neighbouring land user that would be affected by the changes. Concerns have 
been raised by Councillor Nelson and the Parish Council with regards to the impact of 
the development on the attached neighbouring land user at 59 Moorend Park Road.  

5.7 The overall height of the flat roof is 3.25 metres. The previously permitted pitched roof 
has a height of approximately 3.6 metres at the point it attaches to the rear wall of the 
existing property and an eaves height of approximately 2.7 metres. With this being the 
case, the height of the new flat roof is lower at the point it attaches to the rear elevation 

Page 261



of the existing building, however, it is approximately 0.35 metres higher at the eaves 
and its furthest point into the rear garden. 

5.8 In terms of light and impact on habitable rooms, the ground floor rear elevation 
openings of number 59 Moorend Park Road, include a set of patio doors and a window, 
both of which serve the same room, a kitchen/dining room. The appropriate 45 degree 
light test has been carried out and the proposal does not fail the light test to either of 
these ground floor rear elevation windows. As such, the proposal does not result in any 
unacceptable loss of light to any habitable rooms. 

5.9 With regards to overbearing impact and loss of outlook. The change in roof form and its 
resulting height, from that already approved, results in a greater visual impact for the 
adjacent land user. This includes an increased loss of outlook from the ground floor 
patio doors of number 59 Moorend Park Road, as well as an increased impact on the 
private outdoor amenity space immediately adjacent to the extension. 

5.10 When considering the impact of this change in roof form, officers are mindful that 
number 59 Moorend Park Road benefits from a good sized south westerly facing rear 
garden, a large portion of which, will not be affected by the development already 
approved or by the change proposed within this current application. Officers are also 
mindful of the height of extension that has already been approved. 

5.11 Whilst it is acknowledged that the change in roof form has a greater impact on this 
neighbouring land user, it is the view of officers that the level of impact, from that 
already approved, would not amount to an unacceptable level of harm that would 
warrant the refusal of planning permission.  

5.12 For the reasons discussed, the proposal is considered to be acceptable in terms of 
impact on neighbouring amenity and is therefore considered to be compliant with 
Adopted Cheltenham Plan (2020) policy SL1 and adopted JCS policy . 

5.13 Design 

5.14 Policy SD4 of the JCS notes how development should “respond positively to, and 
respect the character of, the site and its surroundings, enhancing local distinctiveness, 
and addressing the urban structure and grain of the locality”. Furthermore, 
development “should be of a scale, type, density and materials appropriate to the site 
and its surroundings”. This is supported through adopted Cheltenham Plan Policy D1 
which requires development to ‘complement and respect neighbouring development 
and the character of the locality.’  

5.15 The change in roof form is considered to be acceptable for a modern addition to the 
rear of the property. The overall design is acceptable and will not result in any harm to 
the design or character of the existing building or its surroundings.  

5.16 In terms of design, the proposal is considered to be compliant with the requirements of 
the Adopted Cheltenham Plan (2020) policy D1, adopted JCS policy SD4 and the 
Supplementary Planning Document – Residential Alterations and Extensions (adopted 
2008). 

Other considerations 

5.17 Climate change 

The Cheltenham Climate Change SPD (adopted June 2022), sets out a strategy for 
decarbonising homes over the next decade. For residential alterations and extensions 
there is an opportunity to improve the environmental performance of a home through 
the inclusion of technologies and features such as photovoltaics, replacement 

Page 262



windows, heat recovery, permeable (or minimal) hard surfaces, works to chimneys, 
insulation, replacement heating systems (heat pump) and thoughtful kitchen design. 

The application is supported by a sustainability statement which discusses various key 
points highlighted in the Climate Change SPD. Officers consider the submitted 
information and measures to be acceptable for this scale of works. 

5.18 Environmental Impact 

Records show that important species have been sighted near the application site in the 
past and in particular bats recorded in 2018, the sighting was recorded as 166 metres 
from the site. In addition newts have been recorded in 1999, 128m from the site. Given 
the distance from the site and the scale of the proposed development, it is not 
considered that this development would have any impact on these species. 

6.14 Public Sector Equalities Duty (PSED) 

As set out in the Equalities Act 2010, all public bodies, in discharging their functions 
must have “due regard” to this duty. There are three main aims:  

• Removing or minimising disadvantages suffered by people due to their 
protected characteristics; 

• Taking steps to meet the needs of people with certain protected 
characteristics where these are different from the needs of other people; and  

• Encouraging people with certain protected characteristics to participate in 
public life or in other activities where participation is disproportionately low.  

Whilst there is no absolute requirement to fully remove any disadvantage, the duty is to 
have “regard to” and remove OR minimise disadvantage and in considering the merits 
of this planning application the planning authority has taken into consideration the 
requirements of the PSED. 

In the context of the above PSED duties, this proposal is considered to be acceptable. 

6. CONCLUSION AND RECOMMENDATION 

6.1 Whilst officers acknowledge that the change in roof form will result in a greater impact on 
neighbouring amenity, specifically with regards to overbearing impact and outlook. This 
increase in impact is not considered to be to such an extent that it would warrant the 
refusal of planning permission. As such, officer recommendation is to permit the 
application, subject to the conditions set out below;  

7. CONDITIONS / INFORMATIVES  
 
 1 The planning permission hereby granted shall be begun not later than the expiration of 

three years from the date of this decision. 
  
 Reason:  To accord with the provisions of Section 91 of the Town and Country Planning 

Act 1990, as amended by Section 51 of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 
2004. 

 
 2 The planning permission hereby granted shall be carried out in accordance with the 

approved plans listed in Schedule 1 of this decision notice.  
  
 Reason: For the avoidance of doubt and in the interests of proper planning. 

Page 263



 
 3 All external facing and roofing materials shall match those of the existing building 

unless otherwise first agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority.  
  
 Reason: In the interests of the character and appearance of the area, having regard to 

adopted policy D1 of the Cheltenham Plan (2020) and adopted policy SD4 of the Joint 
Core Strategy (2017). 

 

INFORMATIVES 
 
 1 In accordance with the requirements of The Town and Country Planning (Development 

Management Procedure) (England) Order 2015 and the provisions of the NPPF, the 
Local Planning Authority adopts a positive and proactive approach to dealing with 
planning applications and where possible, will seek solutions to any problems that arise 
when dealing with a planning application with the aim of fostering the delivery of 
sustainable development. 

  
 At the heart of this positive and proactive approach is the authority's pre-application 

advice service for all types of development. Further to this however, the authority 
publishes guidance on the Council's website on how to submit planning applications 
and provides full and up-to-date information in relation to planning applications to 
enable the applicant, and other interested parties, to track progress. 

  
 In this instance, having had regard to all material considerations, the application 

constitutes sustainable development and has therefore been approved in a timely 
manner. 

 
   
 

 
 

Page 264



  

 
https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate 

 
 

Appeal Decision  

Site visit made on 14 November 2023  
by N Robinson BA (Hons) MA MRTPI 

an Inspector appointed by the Secretary of State  

Decision date: 01 December 2023 

 

Appeal Ref: APP/B1605/W/23/3323028 
6 Marsh Lane, Cheltenham GL51 9JB  
• The appeal is made under section 78 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 

against a refusal to grant planning permission. 

• The appeal is made by Mr Jonas Martins (Verum Investments Ltd) against the decision 

of Cheltenham Borough Council. 

• The application Ref 22/01864/COU, dated 17 October 2022, was refused by notice 

dated 21 February 2023. 

• The development proposed is change of use from a single dwelling to a 4 bed HMO. 

Decision 

1. The appeal is allowed and planning permission is granted for change of use 

from a single dwelling to a 4 bed HMO at 6 Marsh Lane, Cheltenham GL51 9JB 
in accordance with the terms of the application, Ref 22/01864/COU, dated     
17 October 2022, subject to the conditions set out in the attached schedule. 

Applications for costs 

2.   An application for costs was made against Cheltenham Borough Council by the 

appellant. This application is the subject of a separate Decision. 

 
Preliminary Matter  

3. The change of use of the property has been implemented and therefore I am 
considering this appeal retrospectively. 

Main Issue 

4. The main issue is whether the proposal results in an unacceptable 

concentration of Houses in Multiple Occupation (HMOs), with particular regard 
to Policy HM5 of the Cheltenham Plan (2020) (LP).  

Reasons 

5. The appeal site comprises a mid-terraced property located in a predominantly 
residential area in the St Paul’s ward of Cheltenham, close to the Hardwick 

Campus of the University of Gloucestershire. The appeal relates to the change 
of use of the property from a dwelling house to a 4-bedroom HMO.  

6. The confirmation of an Article 4 Direction1 by the Council necessitates that 

changes of use from a dwelling into a HMO require planning permission. LP 
Policy HM5 seeks to control HMOs in the St Paul’s ward. Amongst other 

matters, this policy requires that proposals should not result in the proportion 

 
1 Article 4(1) of the Town and Country Planning (General Permitted Development) (England) Order 2015 (as 
amended). 

Page 265
Agenda Item 7

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate


Appeal Decision APP/B1605/W/23/3323028

 

 
https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate                          2 

of HMOs exceeding 10% of all residential properties within a 100m radius of 

the application site. LP Policy HM5 and its supporting text state that the 
number of HMOs within the search area will be calculated based on the results 

of a biennial survey undertaken by the Council, which, it is stated, will be 
available for publication on completion of each survey.  

7. The Council’s case does not specify the number of properties or HMOs within a 

100m radius of the appeal site. Nonetheless, they state that the percentage of 
HMO properties within a 100m radius of the property currently stands at 13%. 

It is stated that this figure was calculated based on the number of licensed 
properties on the public HMO register (published on the Council’s website) and 
additional raw survey data from 2022 provided by the Council’s Housing 

Standards Team, based on which it is stated that the change of use of the 
property to a HMO is contrary to LP Policy HM5. 

8. The appellant has clarified the number of properties within a 100m radius of 
the appeal property (134) and based on the information before me submitted 
in support of the appeal the Council appear to be in agreement with this figure. 

The appellant has produced a copy of the latest published biennial survey of 
HMOs in the St Paul’s area undertaken by the Council (dated November 2022). 

This survey shows that the change of use of the appeal property results in 11 
HMOs within 100 metres of the site, which equates to 8.2% of all properties. 
Thus, based on the results of the published biennial survey, the 10% threshold 

is not breached. Given the wording of LP Policy HM5 and its supporting text, in 
which specific reference is made to the calculations being based on the 

published results of the biennial survey, I see no reason not to use that figure 
and afford it considerable weight.  

9. In light of the above, the development does not result in an exceedance of the 

10% threshold of HMOs within a 100m radius of the appeal site and thus does 
not result in an unacceptable concentration of HMOs. The development 

therefore accords with LP Policy HM5 which requires, amongst other matters, 
that development for HMOs does not result in an over concentration within the 
locality.  

Other Matters 

10. I acknowledge the concerns raised regarding disturbance from noise and 

fumes, including disturbance from existing HMOs. I note that the consented 
use of the property as a 2-bedroom dwelling would likely have been occupied 
by fewer residents. Nonetheless, any increase in the number of occupants 

would likely be modest and there is no substantive evidence before me that the 
use of the property as a 4-bedroom HMO results in any materially different 

effects in terms of noise and fumes than that from the consented use of the 
property.  

11. I acknowledge the concerns of local residents with respect to parking and 
access. The appeal property includes no off-road parking and at my site visit, I 
noted that there were limited opportunities for parking in the vicinity of the site 

and that parking on the road and kerbside on both sides of Marsh Lane reduced 
its width. Nonetheless, I note that there are public transport alternatives within 

walking distance of the site and that the site is well located in relation to the 
university campus, which could reduce the reliance on private car use. Parking 
and access have not been argued as a concern by either the Borough Council 

or the Local Highway Authority, and I have no compelling evidence to indicate 

Page 266

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate


Appeal Decision APP/B1605/W/23/3323028

 

 
https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate                          3 

that the proposed modest increase in occupiers would cause significant adverse 

impacts in these respects or that it would prejudice highway safety. 

12. Further comments regarding the retrospective nature of the application are 

noted, however, I have determined the appeal on the merits of the scheme in 
front of me. Additionally, whilst I note that interested parties have raised 
concerns about whether building regulations have been granted for the 

accommodation, this matter is dealt with under separate legislation and is not 
a matter for consideration as part of this appeal.  

Conditions 

13. The Council has not suggested any conditions should the appeal be allowed. A 
time limit condition is not necessary as the use has already been implemented. 

A condition stating the approved drawings is necessary to provide certainty and 
there is nothing before me to suggest that the development has not been 

implemented other than in accordance with the submitted plans.  

14. Given the size of the property, I consider it reasonable and necessary to 
restrict its maximum occupancy to 4 people, in the interests of ensuring that 

appropriate living conditions are maintained. Additionally, I have included 
conditions to provide cycle storage at the property to encourage more 

sustainable modes of travel and refuse storage to ensure a satisfactory 
development of the application site.  

Conclusion 

15. For the reasons given I conclude that the appeal should succeed. 

N Robinson   

INSPECTOR 

SCHEDULE OF CONDITIONS 

1.) The development shall be carried out in accordance with the following 

drawings: Site Location Plan, Proposed Basement Plan, Proposed First Floor 
Plan, Proposed Ground Floor Plan. 

2.) The HMO hereby approved shall be occupied by no more than 4 people at 
any one time. 

3.) Unless within 3 months of the date of this decision a scheme for secure 

cycle storage facilities is submitted in writing to the local planning authority 
for approval, and unless the approved scheme is implemented within 3 

months of the local planning authority’s approval, the use of the site as a 4 
bed House in Multiple Occupation shall cease until such time as a scheme is 
approved and implemented.  

Upon implementation of the approved secure cycle storage scheme specified 
in this condition, that secure cycle storage shall thereafter be retained. 

In the event of a legal challenge to this decision, or to a decision made 
pursuant to the procedure set out in this condition, the operation of the 
time limits specified in this condition will be suspended until that legal 

challenge has been finally determined. 

Page 267

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate


Appeal Decision APP/B1605/W/23/3323028

 

 
https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate                          4 

4.) Unless within 3 months of the date of this decision a scheme for storage of 

refuse is submitted in writing to the local planning authority for approval, 
and unless the approved scheme is implemented within 3 months of the 

local planning authority’s approval, the use of the site as a 4 bed House in 
Multiple Occupation shall cease until such time as a scheme is approved and 
implemented.   

Upon implementation of the approved refuse storage scheme specified in 
this condition, that refuse storage shall thereafter be retained. 

In the event of a legal challenge to this decision, or to a decision made 
pursuant to the procedure set out in this condition, the operation of the 
time limits specified in this condition will be suspended until that legal 

challenge has been finally determined. 

 

Page 268

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate


  

 
https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate 

 
 

Costs Decision  

Site visit made on 14 November 2023  

by N Robinson BA (Hons) MA MRTPI 

an Inspector appointed by the Secretary of State  

Decision date: 01 December 2023 

 

Costs application in relation to Appeal Ref: APP/B1605/W/23/3323028 
6 Marsh Lane, Cheltenham GL51 9JB  
• The application is made under the Town and Country Planning Act 1990, sections 78, 

322 and Schedule 6, and the Local Government Act 1972, section 250(5). 

• The application is made by Mr Jonas Martins (Verum Investments Ltd) for a full award 

of costs against Cheltenham Borough Council. 

• The appeal was against the refusal of planning permission for change of use from a 

single dwelling to a 4 bed HMO. 

 

Decision 

1. The application for a full award of costs is allowed in the terms set out below. 

Reasons 

2. Parties in planning appeals normally meet their own expenses. However, the 
Planning Practice Guidance (PPG) advises that costs may be awarded against a 

party who has behaved unreasonably and thereby caused the party applying 
for costs to incur unnecessary or wasted expense in the appeal process. In this 

instance, the applicant refers to the Council’s alleged unreasonable approach 
during the processing of the planning application. The applicant states that this 

behaviour caused the application to be refused, thereby necessitating the 
preparation of the appeal. The applicant seeks a full award of costs.  

3. The PPG indicates that local planning authorities will be at risk of an award 

being made against them if they fail to produce evidence to substantiate each 
reason for refusal and/or makes vague, generalised or inaccurate assertions 

about a proposal’s impact which are unsupported by any objective analysis.  

4. Policy HM5 of the Cheltenham Plan (2020) states that planning permission will 
be granted for Houses in Multiple Occupation (HMOs) provided that certain 

criteria are met. One of these criteria is that the proportion of HMOs does not 
exceed 10% of all residential properties within a 100m radius of the application 

site. The policy and its supporting text state that decisions will be based on the 
results of a biennial survey of HMOs in the St Pauls area undertaken by the 
Council, and that this data will be available for publication on completion of 

each survey. The applicant would therefore have had a reasonable expectation 
that the decision would be made on the basis of the published results of the 

latest biennial survey. 

5. Based on the latest published biennial survey of HMOs in the St Paul’s area 
undertaken by the Council (dated November 2022), a copy of which has been 

provided by the applicant, the proposal does not breach the 10% threshold set 
out by this policy. 

Page 269

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate


Appeal Decision APP/B1605/W/23/3323028

 

 
https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate                          2 

6. In reaching its decision, the Council took into account raw survey data provided 

by the Council’s Housing Standards Team, and therefore took into account an 
unpublished data source. The reliance on this led to the refusal of the planning 

application. I find that the refusal of the application based on a data source 
which went beyond the scope of the policy amounts to unreasonable behaviour 
and that this unreasonable behaviour resulted in unnecessary or wasted 

expense, as described in the PPG.  

7. Separately, it is asserted that the Council has acted unreasonably in failing to 

actively engage with the applicant. Whilst this is unfortunate, the PPG1 is clear 
that costs awarded cannot be claimed for the period during the determination 
of the planning application. 

Costs Order  

8. In exercise of the powers under section 250(5) of the Local Government Act 

1972 and Schedule 6 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 as amended, 
and all other enabling powers in that behalf, IT IS HEREBY ORDERED that the 
Cheltenham Borough Council shall pay to Mr Jonas Martins (Verum 

Investments Ltd), the costs of the appeal proceedings described in the heading 
of this decision, such costs to be assessed in the Senior Courts Costs Office if 

not agreed. 

9. The applicant is now invited to submit to Cheltenham Borough Council to whom 
a copy of this decision has been sent, details of those costs with a view to 

reaching agreement as to the amount. 

N Robinson  

INSPECTOR 
 

 
1 Paragraph ID: 16-033-20140306 

Page 270

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate


  

 
https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate 

 
 

Appeal Decision  

Site visit made on 17 October 2023  
by A Tucker BA (Hons) IHBC 

an Inspector appointed by the Secretary of State  

Decision date:  21 November 2023 

 

Appeal Ref: APP/B1605/W/22/3310900 
8 Imperial Square, CHELTENHAM, GL50 1QB  
• The appeal is made under section 78 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 

against a grant of planning permission subject to conditions. 

• The appeal is made by 8 Imperial Square Ltd against the decision of Cheltenham 

Borough Council. 

• The application Ref 22/00334/COU, dated 7 February 2022, was approved on 13 May 

2022 and planning permission was granted subject to conditions. 

• The development permitted is change of use from C3 (dwelling house) to mixed use of 

C1 (hotel) and E (bar and restaurant). 

• The condition in dispute is No. 4 which states that: The bar, lounge and restaurant 

hereby approved shall not be open to the general public/walk in customers outside the 

hours of 8:00 and 22:00 Monday to Sunday, including Bank Holidays. No general 

public/walk in customers for the bar and restaurant shall be served or remain in the 

building outside of these times. 

• The reason given for the condition is: to safeguard the amenities of the area, having 

regard to adopted Policy SL1 of the Cheltenham Plan (2020) and adopted Policy SD14 of 

the JCS (2017). 

Decision 

1. The appeal is allowed and the planning permission Ref 22/00334/COU for the 
change of use from C3 (dwelling house) to mixed use of C1 (hotel) and E (bar 

and restaurant) at 8 Imperial Square, Cheltenham, GL50 1QB granted on 13 
May 2022 by Cheltenham Borough Council, is varied by deleting condition 4 
and replacing it with the following conditions:  

• The bar, lounge and restaurant hereby approved shall not be open to the 
general public/walk in customers outside the hours of 08:00 and 23:00 

Monday to Sunday, including Bank Holidays. No general public/walk in 
customers for the bar and restaurant shall be served or remain in the 
building outside of these times.  

• At no time shall customers enter or leave the building by the rear 
courtyard. No staff shall enter or leave the building by the rear courtyard 

outside the hours or 08:00 and 20:00 on any day.  

Preliminary Matters 

2. At my visit I saw that the building had been renovated and was in use as a 

private members club. I viewed its interior and found that none of the rooms 
were in use as bedrooms. Whether this is a use that is permitted by the 

Council’s grant of planning permission is a matter of dispute between the main 
parties. However, this is not something that I need to come to a view on as the 
appeal before me is to vary a condition that the Council imposed when it 

Page 271

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate


Appeal Decision APP/B1605/W/22/3310900

 

 
https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate                          2 

granted planning permission for the change of use from a dwelling to a mixed 

use of hotel, bar and restaurant.  

3. Similarly, the use of the area at the front of the building by guests is a matter 

that is beyond the scope of this appeal, as this area did not form part of the 
Council’s grant of planning permission and is outside the area shown on the 
approved site plan.  

4. The appeal was originally submitted against conditions 4 and 11. During the 
appeal process the appellant withdrew the appeal against condition 11, so I 

have only considered the appeal against condition 4 in my decision.  

Background and Main Issue 

5. The appeal seeks permission to carry out the development without complying 

with condition 4. This restricts the hours that the bar, lounge and restaurant 
can be used by the general public / walk in customers. The Council imposed 

this condition to safeguard the amenities of the area. The appellant would like 
to extend the opening hours. Accordingly, the main issue of the appeal is the 
effect that varying the opening hours of the bar, lounge and restaurant for the 

general public / walk in customers would have on the living conditions of 
neighbouring residents.  

Reasons 

6. The appeal building is part of a fine Regency terrace that stands close to the 
town centre but just outside its core commercial and shopping areas. The 

terrace turns its back on these areas. It faces over a main road; and beyond 
that it looks out towards the Town Hall and Imperial Gardens. It forms one side 

of a traditional square of considerable historic and architectural value. Most of 
the buildings in the terrace are in an office use. Despite a significant level of 
vehicular activity associated with the road, the square over which the terrace 

faces has a genteel character that is quite different to the hustle and bustle of 
the town centre to the north. Residents suggest that it is a tranquil area in the 

evening when traffic is less. Even during the day I observed that the area has a 
calm and leisurely character.  

7. One of the terrace buildings close to the appeal site – No. 11 Imperial Square - 

is divided into flats. Close to the rear of the appeal building on the other side of 
the narrow Imperial Lane stands a purpose built development of flats, with 

windows that face out towards the rear of the appeal building.  

8. The activity associated with general public / walk in customers accessing the 
bar, lounge and restaurant could be considerable. This could include people 

congregating outside before or after they enter the building, arriving or 
departing by taxi, going outside to smoke or leaving in groups whilst under the 

influence of alcohol. Flats at No. 11 include living rooms that face out over the 
front of the terrace, no doubt to enjoy the pleasant prospect and the 

generously sized front facing sash windows. These windows are reported to be 
single glazed and thus not easily able to limit the transmission of sound. They 
look out over the area that would be used to access the appeal building, and 

owing to the narrow plot widths, are in close proximity to the appeal site.  

9. It is thus important to restrict activity at the appeal building to safeguard the 

occupants of these nearby flats. The appellant suggests extending the hours to 
midnight during the week and 1 am on a Friday and Saturday night. It would 

Page 272

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate


Appeal Decision APP/B1605/W/22/3310900

 

 
https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate                          3 

be reasonable to expect a level of activity just beyond these hours as those 

visiting the building vacate, and such noises have the potential to cause a 
significant nuisance to those occupying the flats, against the backdrop of an 

area that is tranquil in character.  

10. I do however accept that the 22:00 deadline imposed by the Council presents a 
considerable restriction to those operating the business. Extending this to 

23:00 would allow a more generous period of operation in the evening, whilst 
still ensuring that activity associated with the consented use does not harm the 

local environment during the main part of the night.  

11. The appellant is willing for an additional condition to be added to restrict the 
use of the access at the rear of the building, following its withdrawal of the 

appeal against condition 11. The rear of the building and the generally quiet 
level of activity along the ancillary lane at the rear, coupled with the very close 

proximity of the appeal building to the flats behind, make it necessary for 
access to the building to be restricted in the manner suggested by the 
appellant.  

12. Nearby late night venues nearby that are permitted to open through most of 
the night. Popworld and MooMoo Clubrooms are however away from the 

terrace to the north, and separated by intervening development. They relate to 
the much busier town centre environment and would have much less impact on 
the flats at No. 11 than the permitted use at the appeal site. Similarly, Imperial 

Haus, which is just beyond the main part of the terrace to the northwest, is 
well away from the flats at No. 11, and also relates to the busier uses further 

to the northwest. These existing premises do not therefore cause me to come 
to a different view on the acceptability of the proposed hours of operation.  

13. The appellant suggests that other buildings in the terrace could changed to 

similar uses without planning permission. Whilst this may be the case, there is 
nothing to suggest that such changes are likely to occur. None of the buildings 

appeared to be vacant, and I must assess the appeal on the basis of the 
situation before me.      

14. It is suggested that the ability to use the bar and restaurant later into the 

evening is essential for the business to succeed. However, the condition that 
the Council imposed was agreed by the appellant before it made its decision, 

which casts doubt over how essential these additional hours would really be. 
There is no evidence before me to explain how additional opening hours would 
be essential to the viability of the business. Furthermore, the building is part of 

a terrace that would appear to be highly valued and in a good state of repair. 
There is nothing to suggest that this is the only viable use of the building that 

would secure its future.  

15. I have given considerable thought to the more generous hours that are 

permitted through the premises licence. The matters considered through both 
processes are very related. It is not however clear what evidence was 
considered by the licencing committee when it made its decision, and the 

processes of licensing and planning permission are separate and distinct 
regimes. Furthermore, licences are issued on a more temporary basis as they 

can be varied or revoked and are subject to ongoing review, whereas planning 
permission runs with the land and would be issued on a permanent basis. 
Accordingly, I am satisfied that it is reasonable for a planning condition to differ 

from the terms of a licence. Based on my reasoning above and my own 

Page 273

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate


Appeal Decision APP/B1605/W/22/3310900

 

 
https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate                          4 

observations I am satisfied that a modest extension to the permitted hours 

would be reasonable, but that it is appropriate to not go as far as that 
suggested by the appellant or permitted by the licence.  

16. In summary, varying the opening hours of the bar, lounge and restaurant for 
the general public / walk in customers by one hour would not harm the living 
conditions of neighbouring residents. An additional condition would ensure that 

the living conditions of those living in the flats at the rear of the site are 
protected from noise and disturbance during unsociable hours of the night. The 

conditions would accord with Policy SL1 of the Cheltenham Plan 2020 and 
Policy SD14 of the Gloucester, Cheltenham and Tewkesbury Joint Core Strategy 
2011-2031, which together seek to ensure that development proposals do not 

cause unacceptable harm to living conditions in the locality.  

Other Matters 

17. The appeal building is part of a grade II* listed building, known as Nos. 1-13 
(Consecutive) Imperial Square1. It stands within the Montpellier area of the 
Central Conservation Area. Section 66(1) of the Planning (Listed Buildings and 

Conservation Areas) Act 1990 (LBCA) requires the decision maker to have 
special regard to the desirability of preserving a listed building or its setting or 

any features of special architectural or historic interest which it possesses. 
Additionally, Section 72 of the LBCA requires special attention to be paid to the 
desirability of preserving or enhancing the character or appearance of a 

conservation area. The matter of restricting the opening hours of the building 
as set out above would have no impact on either the special interest of the 

listed building or the character or appearance of the conservation area.  

Conditions 

18. I have had regard to the tests in the National Planning Policy Framework and 

the advice in the Planning Practice Guidance. I have found that a condition 
restricting opening hours is necessary, however I am satisfied that a revised 

condition would be reasonable to modestly extend those hours for the benefit 
of the business whilst still ensuring that it is suitably restrictive to safeguard 
the living conditions of nearby residents. The replacement condition I have 

imposed does not refer to club members or signed in guests as suggested by 
the appellant as this does not relate to the permitted use as a hotel, bar and 

restaurant.  

19. I have imposed an additional condition to restrict the use of the access at the 
rear of the building, which is necessary to safeguard the living conditions of 

those who live near the site at the rear.  

Conclusion 

20. For the reasons above, I conclude that the appeal should succeed. I will vary 
the planning permission by deleting the disputed condition and replacing it to 

extend the opening hours. I have also varied it by adding an additional 
condition to limit the use of the rear access for the reasons set out above.  

A Tucker  

INSPECTOR 

 
1 Ref 1104370 

Page 274

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate


P
age 275



T
his page is intentionally left blank



  

 
https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate 

 
 

Appeal Decision  

Site visits made on 21 September and 3 October 2023  
by Bhupinder Thandi BA (Hons) MA MRTPI 

an Inspector appointed by the Secretary of State  

Decision date: 21st November 2023 

 

Appeal Ref: APP/B1605/W/23/3316744 
Land off Oakhurst Rise, Charlton Kings, Cheltenham   
• The appeal is made under section 78 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 

against a refusal to grant outline planning permission. 

• The appeal is made by William Morrison (Cheltenham) Limited and the Trustees of the 

Carmelite Charitable Trust against the decision of Cheltenham Borough Council. 

• The application Ref 22/00112/OUT, dated 17 January 2022, was refused by notice dated 

17 November 2022. 

• The development proposed is residential development of 25 dwellings.  

Decision 

1. The appeal is dismissed.  

Background and Preliminary Matters 

2. The appeal site is allocated for residential development in the Cheltenham Plan 
(2020) (CP) under Policy HD4. The detailed policy sets out a number of 

constraints and site-specific requirements including a minimum number of 
dwellings; protection of key biodiversity assets and for development to have 

regard to the character, significance and setting of heritage assets.  

3. I have been made aware of the planning history for the site which includes two 
appeals in 2019 and 2021, both of which were dismissed. In summary the 

2019 appeal1 was for 69 dwellings and the 2021 appeal2 was for 43 houses. 
Whilst I have had regard to these appeal decisions my determination is focused 

upon the development proposals before me.  

4. The application has been submitted in outline with access, layout and scale to 

be considered at this stage. I have determined the appeal on this basis.  

5. The appellant has submitted an unexecuted planning obligation under Section 
106 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 (the Act). The planning 

obligation intends to secure affordable housing, open space and a Local Wildlife 
Area (LWA) on site and financial contributions towards libraries and secondary 

education. I have addressed this in my reasoning below. 

Main Issues 

6. The main issues are: 

• The effect of the proposed development upon the setting of designated 
heritage assets Ashley Manor and Charlton Manor; and  

 
1 APP/B1605/W/19/3227293 
2 APP/B1605/W/20/3261154 

Page 277

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate


Appeal Decision APP/B1605/W/23/3316744

 

 
https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate                          2 

• The effect of the proposed development upon the natural environment with 

regard to the impact upon badger setts. 

Reasons 

7. The appeal site sits within the Principal Urban Area (PUA) of Cheltenham and 
comprises a broadly rectangular parcel of land formed of grassland that rises 
from south to north. The site is divided by a mature belt of vegetation and 

other mature trees. A number of trees protected by Tree Preservation Order 
are located within the site. The site also contains protected species including 

badgers and their setts and is designated as a Local Wildlife Site.  

8. The site forms part of the grounds of St Edward’s Preparatory School with 
areas on the lower slope fenced off and used to house animals as part of the 

school farm. The school extends over a large area and includes Grade II* listed 
Ashley Manor, modern buildings, sports pitches and extensive hard surfaced 

areas.  

9. Neighbouring the site to the north and east are the rear gardens of dwellings 
extending along Ashley Road and Birchley Road, including Grade II listed 

Charlton Manor. These properties form part of the Battledown Estate, which is 
characterised by large individually designed dwellings set within substantial 

plots. To the west are the rear gardens of suburban housing extending along 
Oakhurst Rise and Charlton Court Road.  

10. The appeal scheme comprises a residential development of 25 dwellings 

formed of 15 market dwellings and 10 affordable units. The development would 
take access from Oakhurst Rise with the road extending to the east with culs 

de sac leading off a spine road. The development would punch through the 
vegetation belt resulting in the removal of several trees.  

11. Just over 75% of the site would be retained as open space, mainly the eastern 

and southern part of the site. This area would also include an attenuation pond 
and the LWA accommodating relocated artificial badger setts. Ongoing 

management of these areas would be secured by condition and by the planning 
obligation.  

Setting of designated heritage assets  

12. Section 66(1) of the Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 
1990 requires the decision maker, in considering whether to grant planning 

permission for development which affects a listed building or its setting, to 
have special regard to the desirability of preserving the building or its setting 
or any features of special architectural or historic interest.   

13. Located on the school site is Grade II* listed Ashley Manor which 
accommodates the school’s nursery. Its origins date back to around 1832 and 

was originally constructed as a modest plain stucco villa. The dwelling was 
much altered when it was sold to Nathaniel Hartland – a notable local banker. 

Its significance is derived from its architectural detailing as one of the finest 
villas in the Cheltenham area and its association with Nathaniel Hartland.  

14. The building is built from ashlar stone with hipped slate roofs. The western 

elevation to which the historic tree lined carriage sweep aligns forms the main 
entrance with Tuscan pilasters and a Corinthian portico. The south elevation 

displays a bow column with Corinthian columns.   

Page 278

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate


Appeal Decision APP/B1605/W/23/3316744

 

 
https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate                          3 

15. Having regard to the appellant’s Heritage Impact Assessment it is evident that 

the most notable architectural characteristics of Ashley Manor are orientated to 
the south overlooking what once were the formal gardens. However, this 

aspect and setting of Ashley Manor has been eroded by the development of the 
school including utilitarian school buildings and sports pitches.   

16. Charlton Manor is a Grade II listed mansion dating back to the mid nineteenth 

century designed by Henry Dangerfield in an eclectic Gothic Revival style. It 
has part stone, part rendered and mock timber framed facades and mullioned 

and transomed windows. There is a steep ornate tiled gabled roof with 
numerous decorative bargeboards. It derives its historical significance as the 
first of many of the mansions to be built on the Battledown Estate and its 

architectural detailing.  

17. Historically its garden extended southwards but which has been sold off and 

developed as part of the Battledown Estate. The immediate setting of the 
dwelling has been much altered through development within its plot including 
an annexe and swimming pool which to some level undercuts its significance.  

18. Based on the evidence before me the appeal site did not have an ornamental 
association with Ashley Manor, and does not form part of its designation, but it 

nonetheless had a functional relationship with the building and the Ice House is 
a physical reminder of this historic relationship.  

19. There is also nothing to suggest that the site had any association with Charlton 

Manor or the wider Battledown Estate. Despite this, there is a strong 
interrelationship between Ashley Manor and Charlton Manor in visual terms due 

to the open sloping terrain. The site also provides an unspoilt green backdrop 
to both buildings. The nature of the site provides an insight to the historical 
landscape setting. In my judgment the site contributes to the setting of these 

heritage assets, making a positive contribution to their architectural and 
historical interest and significance.  

20. Both main parties agree that the proposal would lead to less than substantial 
harm to the designated heritage assets through development within their 
setting. The area of dispute is the resultant level of harm with the appellant 

submitting a low level of harm. The Council, on the other hand, contend that 
the harmful impact on the setting of Ashley Manor is slight to moderate and the 

harmful impact on the setting of Charlton Manor to be slight and that the 
overall impact would lead to substantial harm.  

21. The proposed development would be contained to the western and central 

parts of the site maintaining an extensive swathe of green space along the 
southern and eastern areas of the site, aligning with one of the requirements of 

CP Policy HD4. There would be a notable degree of separation between the 
designated heritage assets and the development would not infringe on the 

visual relationship between Ashley Manor and Charlton Manor.  

22. Denser development would be positioned at the entrance of the site reflecting 
the neighbouring built form in Oakhurst Rise. Dwellings with a larger scale 

would be positioned on the periphery of the development reflecting the scale of 
development in the Battledown Estate. In numerical terms just over 75% of the 

site would be formed of managed green space serving to soften the 
development and assimilate it into the local landscape. Mindful that the site sits 
between two areas with distinct and differing characters and the site-specific 

Page 279

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate


Appeal Decision APP/B1605/W/23/3316744

 

 
https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate                          4 

requirements set out in CP Policy HD4, I do not find that the layout would be 

unduly awkward.  

23. Despite the above, developing the site would undermine its rural aspect by 

extending the built form into an unspoilt landscape closer to and into the 
setting of both designated heritage assets. This would cause harm to the 
significance of Grade II* listed Ashley Manor and Grade II listed Charlton 

Manor. The proposal would therefore conflict with CP Policy HD4 and Policy SD8 
of the Gloucester, Cheltenham and Tewkesbury Joint Core Strategy (2017) 

(JCS) which, amongst other things, seek to conserve and enhance the 
significance of heritage assets.  

Heritage Balance 

24. The proposed development would erode the unspoilt and green appearance of 
the site through the introduction of built form, associated infrastructure and 

domestic paraphernalia. This level of harm would be at the low end of less than 
substantial, in my judgement.  

25. In accordance with Paragraph 202 of the National Planning Policy Framework 

(the Framework), it is for the decision maker, having identified harm to 
designated heritage assets, to consider the scale of that harm. This harm 

should be weighed against the public benefits of the proposal including, where, 
appropriate, securing its optimum viable use.   

26. The public benefits of the proposed development include the provision of 15 

market homes and 10 affordable dwellings; the creation of public open space; 
biodiversity net gain; a protected LWA for badgers and capital investment into 

school facilities.  

27. In my judgement these benefits would clearly outweigh the less than 
substantial harm to the significance of nearby designated heritage assets and 

therefore the proposed development would accord with the historic 
environment objectives set out in the Framework.  

Natural environment 

28. Badgers are a protected species, not for their rarity, but for their welfare and 
against illegal cruelty. A total of 6 badger setts are present within the site with 

several badger paths extending across it. The main sett BS1 is located more or 
less centrally within the site and is the key breeding sett. Setts 5 and 6 are 

considered to be annexe setts to BS1.  

29. It is argued that the proposed development ignores the avoid-mitigate-
compensate sequence set out in the Framework and as advocated by Natural 

England and the Department for Environment, Food and Rural Affairs, in 
placing plots 16 – 20 near to setts BS1, BS5 and BS6.  

30. To my mind it would not be possible to develop the appeal site and avoid 
completely harm to the natural environment. As such, there is a tension and a 

balance to be struck between the desirability of avoiding harm to protected 
species and developing the site as per the allocation.  

31. It is not for me in consideration of this appeal to speculate on whether 

alternative layouts are feasible, but rather it is incumbent upon me to assess 
the merits of the case as presented. Therefore, taking the layout as necessary 

Page 280

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate


Appeal Decision APP/B1605/W/23/3316744

 

 
https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate                          5 

for development of the site, the issue is whether the mitigation and 

compensation measures would be effective.  

32. The proposed layout would require the removal of the main breeding sett BS1 

and setts BS5 and BS6 replaced by two artificial setts located in the southern 
area of the site. The appellant advises that this area would be closer to the 
badgers prime foraging areas and away from human activity. The area would 

be designated a LWA and would not be publicly accessible.  

33. It is apparent that there is no one mandatory approach to undertaking survey 

work. In this instance, there is no substantive information before me to 
indicate that the walkover survey is not an appropriate method to establish the 
approximate number of badgers and their activity in and around the site.  

34. Whilst surveys cannot establish with absolute certainty the number of badgers 
and activity taking place, they do provide a ‘snapshot in time’ of the situation 

underground, overground as it may be. Whilst the report was completed over 
two years ago, it is only beyond ‘its best before date’ by a few months. In any 
event, I concur with the appellant that to discard or disregard the conclusions 

of the report on its two-year anniversary seems a rather simplistic view. As 
such, in my judgement, the Badger Survey Report establishes a robust 

baseline, despite the concerns expressed by the Council and interested parties.  

35. Based on the evidence before me relocation of setts is a tried and tested 
methodology and subject to an appropriate mitigation plan there is no reason 

to suggest that the welfare of badgers would be compromised in the short, 
medium and long term. There is also protection through the licencing regime 

and Natural England would not issue a licence if it was not satisfied that the 
replacement setts were suitable. In such an event, the existing setts could not 
be removed, and the development could not proceed. 

36. The mitigation strategy has been developed taking into account the ground 
conditions and vegetation, the potential for an enlarged population and to 

enable further excavations by badgers. Furthermore, the setts would be located 
in a protected area, on the whole free from human activity and influence 
maintaining badger welfare. I am also mindful that the precise details would be 

addressed at license stage and under this process the appellant would be 
required to carry out further survey work and revise the mitigation strategy if 

necessary.  

37. Therefore, in this regard I am satisfied that adequate measures to mitigate and 
compensate the disturbance to badgers have been explored and identified. The 

proposed development would accord with JCS Policy SD9 and the Climate 
Change Supplementary Planning Document (2022) which, amongst other 

things, seek to protect and enhance biodiversity resources and the creation of 
habitats that positively enhance biodiversity.  

38. I note the Council have referred to the Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981 and 
the Conservation of Habitats and Species Regulations 2017 in the second 
reason for refusal, but with regard to the specific planning merits of the case I 

have given them limited weight in coming to my decision.  

Page 281

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate


Appeal Decision APP/B1605/W/23/3316744

 

 
https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate                          6 

Planning obligation  

39. A planning obligation has been submitted and which intends to secure 
affordable housing, open space and a protected LWA and financial contributions 

towards libraries and secondary education. 

40. There is no dispute between the main parties that the planning obligation is 
required and that the contributions would satisfy the tests for planning 

obligations set out in Regulation 122 of the Community Infrastructure Levy 
Regulations (2010).  

41. The appellant, St Edward’s School, Cheltenham Borough Council and 
Gloucestershire County Council have agreed the terms of the planning 
obligation. However, the Trustees of the Carmelite Charitable Trust (CCT), who 

have an interest in the site, have indicated that they are unable to enter into 
the agreement at this juncture.  

42. The Planning Practice Guidance (PPG) states that conditions should not be used 
for the payment of money or other considerations. A positively worded 
condition requiring an applicant to enter into a planning obligation under the 

Act or other agreement is unlikely to pass the test of enforceability.  

43. The PPG does say that, in exceptional circumstances, a negatively worded 

condition, such as the condition suggested by the appellant, requiring a 
planning obligation or other agreement to be entered into before certain 
development can commence may be appropriate. However, the PPG infers 

caution with regard to the imposition of such conditions.  

44. Crucially the obligations and specifically the provision of affordable housing and 

the LWA are fundamental to the acceptability of the scheme. Without an 
executed planning obligation there is no certainty that these would be delivered 
as part of the proposed development to make the scheme compliant with the 

development plan. In addition, the planning obligation as currently drafted 
could well be amended or altered upon further review by the CCT or by another 

interested party.  

45. As set out in the PPG ensuring that any planning obligation is entered into prior 
to granting planning permission is the best way to deliver sufficient certainty 

for all parties about what is being agreed.  

46. In coming to my decision, I have paid regard to the appellant’s alternative 

planning obligation restricting commencement of development. However, this 
would not overcome my concerns in relation to this matter.  

47. I note the reason behind the CCT’s reluctance to sign the agreement. However, 

there is nothing before me to indicate that delivery of the development would 
otherwise be at serious risk. Having regard to the PPG and the evidence before 

me does not lead me to reach a conclusion that these factors are exceptional 
circumstances that would justify use of a negatively worded condition rather 

than a completed planning obligation.  

48. Therefore, in the absence of a completed planning obligation I am not satisfied 
that the proposed development would secure contributions to make the 

development acceptable in planning terms.  

 

Page 282

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate


Appeal Decision APP/B1605/W/23/3316744

 

 
https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate                          7 

Planning Balance  

49. Section 38(6) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 requires 
planning applications to be determined in accordance with the Development 

Plan unless material considerations indicate otherwise. Therefore, whilst the 
development plan has primacy in decision making, there are circumstances 
where by material considerations may indicate that a decision otherwise than in 

accordance with the development plan should be taken.  

50. The Framework is one such material consideration. It states at paragraph 11(d 

that where the development plan policies that are most important for 
determining the application are out-of-date planning permission should be 
granted unless one of two scenarios apply.  

51. Firstly paragraph 11(d i. states that permission should not be granted when the 
application of policies in the Framework that protect areas or assets of 

particular importance, as set out in Footnote 7, provides a clear reason for 
refusing the development proposed.  

52. In this regard the Council contend that the impact on the setting of nearby 

designated heritage assets means that this paragraph is triggered, as this is 
listed in the footnote. However, I have found that the public benefits would 

outweigh the less than substantial harm and this does not provide a clear 
reason for refusing the application, therefore this paragraph is not applicable.  

53. The second scenario is paragraph 11(d ii. which states that planning permission 

should not be granted where any adverse impacts of doing so would 
significantly and demonstrably outweigh the benefits, when assessed against 

the policies in the Framework taken as a whole.  

54. The Council acknowledge that they cannot demonstrate a five-year supply of 
deliverable housing land. In such instances paragraph 11(d ii of the Framework 

and the ‘tilted balance’ is engaged.  

55. The Council’s housing land supply position stands at 2.9 years. This represents 

a further deterioration from 3.7 years at the time of determination of the 
previous appeal. Therefore, it is evident that there is a significant pressing and 
urgent need for new housing in light of this substantial shortfall. The delivery of 

15 market units on an allocated site attracts substantial weight in favour of the 
proposal. This is also the case for the delivery of 10 affordable dwellings 

including units of different sizes and tenures.  

56. The site is located within the PUA of Cheltenham within a short distance of a 
range of day-to-day services. Future occupiers would be able to reach these on 

foot, providing them with transport choice and an alternative to car use. 

57. The construction of 25 dwellings would provide jobs, albeit this would be 

largely short term limited to the construction phase. Future occupiers would 
help to maintain the vitality of services and facilities in the town through 

increased spending. These benefits would be moderate.  

58. The proposed development would result in biodiversity net gain in both habitat 
and hedgerow through additional landscaping, which would be a benefit, but 

this would be moderate in the overall balance.  

Page 283

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate


Appeal Decision APP/B1605/W/23/3316744

 

 
https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate                          8 

59. The proposed development would avoid significant harm in respect of the 

natural environment and protected species. But this would be a neutral factor 
in the planning balance.  

60. The financial contributions towards libraries and secondary education would 
essentially mitigate the impact of the proposed development in planning terms. 
As such, these are matters of neutral consequence in the overall balance.  

61. Notwithstanding the above, the absence of a planning obligation and the 
adverse impact of failing to provide financial contributions towards libraries and 

education and the delivery of affordable housing and a LWA would significantly 
and demonstrably outweigh the benefits set out above. The presumption in 
favour of sustainable development therefore does not apply in this case.  

62. I conclude that the proposal conflicts with the development plan, when read as 
a whole. There are no other considerations that outweigh that harm. The 

appeal is therefore dismissed.  

Other Matters 

63. I note the representations made by local residents raising additional concerns. 

However, given my findings overall it is not necessary for me to consider these 
matters in detail.  

Conclusion 

64. For the reasons set out above the appeal does not succeed.  

 

B Thandi  

INSPECTOR 

 

 

Page 284

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate


REPORT OF THE  HEAD OF PLANNING ON PLANNING APPEALS 
OVERVIEW 
The purpose of this report is to provide Members of the Planning Committee with an overview of all planning appeals that have been received 
by the Council since the previous meeting of the Planning Committee. It further provides information on appeals that are being processed with 
the Planning Inspectorate and decisions that have been received. 
 
RECOMMENDATION 
To note the contents of the report. 
 
Appeals Received 
 
November/December 2023 

 

Address Proposal Delegated or 
Committee Decision 

Appeal Type Anticipated Appeal 
Determination Date 

Reference  

3 Rotunda Tavern  
Montpellier Street 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Retention of 
temporary canopy 
structure for two 
years 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Delegated Decision Written 
representations 

n/a 22/01681/FUL 

P
age 285



The Forge, Branch 
Road, The Reddings 

Use of land as a 
caravan site without 
restriction as to 
layout or numbers of 
caravans. (Revised 
application to 
23/00936/CLEUD) 

Delegated Decision Written 
representations 

n/a 23/01678/CLEUD 

Eagle Star Tower 
Montpellier Drive 
Cheltenham 
Gloucestershire 
 

Application seeks 
confirmation that 
works undertaken in 
accordance with a 
previously approved 
change of use under 
Class J, Part 3, 
Schedule 2 of the 
Town and Country 
Planning (General 
Permitted 
Development) Order 
1995 ref: 
15/01237/P3JPA 
enables the rest of 
the conversion to 
lawfully continue at 
any stage 
 
 
 
 

Delegated Decision Written 
representations 

n/a 23/01347/CLPUD 

P
age 286



Hilltop Stores 
Hilltop Road 
Cheltenham 

Demolition of 
existing retail unit 
and erection of 2no. 
dwellings (revised 
scheme following 
withdrawal of 
application ref. 
22/01728/FUL) 

Delegated Decision Written 
representations 

n/a 23/01137/FUL 

      

 
 
 
 
 
Appeals being processed 
 

 

Address Proposal Delegated/Committee 
Decision 

Appeal Type Outcome Reference 
 

Land at Shurdington 
Rd 

Full planning 
application for 
residential 
development 
comprising 350 
dwellings, open 
space, cycleways, 
footpaths, 
landscaping, access 
roads and other 

Committee Decision Written 
Representation (New 
procedure Change 
now a hearing date is 
4th July 2023) 

Not Decided 
(Decision issued on 
or before 10th Jan 
2024) 

Planning ref: 
20/01788/FUL 
Appeal ref: 
23/00005/PP1 

      

P
age 287



 
 

12 Pilford Road 
Cheltenham 

Erection of a Garden 
Room 

n/a Written 
representation 
(Enforcement) 

Not decided Planning ref:  
23/00001/DCUA 
Appeal ref: 
23/00025/ENFAPP 

1 Michaelmas Lodge  
Lypiatt Terrace 
Cheltenham 

Use of area of land 
for vehicle parking 

Delegated Decision Written 
representation 

Not decided  Planning ref: 
23/00262/Cleud 
Appeal Ref: 
23/00023/PP1 

218 High Street Change of use of the 
ground floor from a 
retail unit (Class E) to 
an Adult Gaming 
Centre (Sui Generis) 
and first floor to 
associated storage 
and staff area with 
external alterations 
and associated works. 

Delegated Decision Written 
Representations 

Not decided 23/00452/COU 
Appeal Ref: 
23/00028/PP1 

Telecommunications 
Mast And Cabinet 
Prestbury Road 
Cheltenham 
Gloucestershire 
 
 
 
 

Proposed 5G 
telecoms installation: 
H3G 15m street pole 
and additional 
equipment cabinets 
 
 
 

Delegated Decision Written 
representation 

Not Decided Planning Ref: 
23/00431/PRIOR 
Appeal Ref: 
23/00029/PP1 

P
age 288



10 Selkirk Street Erection of 1no. three 
storey self-build 
dwelling on land 
adjacent to 10 Selkirk 
Street 

Committee Decision Written 
Representation 

Not Decided Planning Ref 
22/01441/FUL 
Appeal Ref: 
23/00030/PP1 

      

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

P
age 289



Appeals Decided 
 

Address Proposal Delegated/Committee 
Decision 

Appeal Type Outcome Reference 
 

Adey Innovation Ltd 
Gloucester Road 

Demolition of the 
existing office 
building and erection 
of a 66 bedroom care 
home for older 
people (Use Class C2) 
including associated 
access, parking and 
landscaping. 

Delegated Decision Appeal Hearing 
(25.01.23) 

Appeal Allowed Planning ref: 
21/02700/FUL 
Appeal Ref: 
22/00027/PP1 

The Hayloft The 
Reddings 

Conversion of the 
existing 
dwellinghouse into 9 
self-contained 
apartments, and 
associated works 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Committee Decision Written 
Representation 

Appeal Allowed Planning ref: 
22/00749/FUL 
Appeal Ref: 
22/00028/PP1 

P
age 290



159 High Street Proposed installation 
of 1no. new BT Street 
Hub, incorporating 
2no. digital 75" LCD 
advert screens, plus 
the removal of 
associated BT kiosk(s) 
on Pavement Of 
Winchcombe Street 
Side Of Hays Travel 
159 High Street 

Delegated Decision Written 
Representation 

Appeal A and 
Appeal B Dismissed 

Planning ref: 
22/00322/ADV and 
FUL Appeal 
ref:22/00021/PP1 
and 
22/00022/ADV1 

3 Apple Close, 
Prestbury 

Replacement of 
existing conservatory 
with single storey 
rear extension. 
Increase in ridge 
height to facilitate 
loft conversion with 
rear dormer. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Delegated Decision Written 
Representation 

Appeal Allowed Planning ref: 
22/01145/FUL 
Appeal Ref: 
23/00003/PP1 

P
age 291



37 Market Street Proposed side and 
rear extensions 
(revised scheme 
following refusal of 
application ref. 
21/02361/FUL 
 
 

Committee Decision Written 
representations 

Appeal Allowed 
Appeal Costs 
(Allowed) 

Planning Ref: 
22/00708/FUL 
Appeal Ref: 
23/00004/PP1 

Brecon House 
Charlton Hill 
Cheltenham 
Gloucestershire 
GL53 9NE 

Construction of a 
paragraph 80 
dwelling, estate 
management 
building, and 
associated 
landscaping, ecology 
enhancements,  
 

Committee Decision Appeal Hearing (date 
22/03/23) 

Appeal Hearing 
Dismissed 

Planning ref: 
21/02755/FUL 
Appeal ref: 
23/00001/PP1 

30 St Georges Place Conversion to form 
7no. dwellings, 
together with 
extensions and 
construction of new 
mansard roof 
 
 
 
 
 

Delegated Decision Written representations Appeal Allowed Planning ref: 
22/00839/FUL appeal 
ref: 23/00002/PP1 

P
age 292



10 Suffolk Road First floor extension 
at rear of 10 Suffolk 
Road on top of 
existing kitchen roof, 
comprising of 1 new 
bedroom and ensuite 
bathroom (revised 
scheme 
22/00966/FUL) 
 

Delegated Decision Written 
Representations 
Householder Appeal 

Appeal Dismissed Planning ref: 
22/01340/FUL 
Appeal ref: 
23/00011/PP1 

101 Ryeworth Road Erection of two 
storey and single 
storey rear 
extensions and single 
storey front 
extension. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Non-Determination Written 
Representation 

Appeal Dismissed Planning ref: 
22/01162/FUL 
Appeal Ref: 
23/00006/PP2 P

age 293



o/s 195 High Street 
Cheltenham 

Proposed installation 
of 1no. new BT Street 
Hub, incorporating 
2no. digital 75" LCD 
advert screens, plus 
the removal of 
associated BT kiosk(s) 
 

Delegated Decision Written 
Representation 

Appeal A Dismissed 
Appeal B Dismissed 

Planning Ref: 
22/00328/ADV and 
FUL Appeal Ref: 
23/00013/PP1 
23/00014/ADV1 

o/s 23 and 23 A 
Pittville Street 

Proposed installation 
of 1no. new BT Street 
Hub, incorporating 
2no. digital 75" LCD 
advert screens,  
 

Delegated Decision Written 
representation 

Appeal A Dismissed 
Appeal B Dismissed 

Planning ref: 
22/00326/ADV and 
FUL Appeal Ref: 
23/00015/PP1 
23/00016/ADV1 

St Edmunds, Sandy 
Lane Road 

Conversion and 
extension of an 
existing coach 
house/garage to a 
single dwelling with 
new access off Sandy 
 
 
 
 

Delegated Decision Written 
Representation 

Appeal Decision 
Dismissed  
Cost Decision 
Dismissed 

Planning ref: 
22/02064/FUL  
Appeal Ref: 
23/00008/PP1 

Telecommunications 
Mast And Cabinet 
CLM26321 Glenfall 
Way 

Proposed 5G telecoms 
installation: H3G 16m 
street pole and 
additional equipment 
cabinets 
 

 

Delegated Decision Written 
Representation 

Appeal Dismissed Planning ref: 
22/02190/PRIOR 
Appeal Ref: 
23/00018/PP1 

P
age 294



4 Dymock Walk Application for prior 
approval for the 
construction of one 
additional storey 
atop the existing 
dwelling (increase in 
height of 2.13 
metres) 
 

Delegated Decision Written 
representation 
(Householder) 

Appeal Dismissed Planning ref: 
22/01075/FUL Appeal 
ref: 23/00019/PP1 

28 Westdown 
Gardens 

Erection of detached 
garage (revised 
scheme to ref: 
21/01789/FUL) 

Delegated Decision Written 
Representations  
Householder Appeal 

Appeal Dismissed Planning ref: 
22/01679/FUL 
Appeal ref: 
23/00012/PP1 
 
 
 

129 – 133 
Promenade 

Retention of existing 
temporary marquees 
at 125, 127, 129, 131 
further two year 
period 
and 133 Promenade,  

Committee Decision Written 
representation 

Appeal Dismissed Planning ref: 
22/01373/FUL 
Appeal Ref: 
23/00007/PP1 

4 Red Rower Close Two storey and single 
storey extension to 
the front and loft 
extension and 
dormer 
 

Delegated Decision Written 
representation 

Appeal Dismissed Planning Ref: 
23/00361/FUL 
Appeal Ref: 
23/00021/PP1 
 

P
age 295



Land Adjoining 
Leckhampton Farm 
Court 
Farm Lane 
Leckhampton 
Cheltenham 
Gloucestershire 

Residential 
development of 30 
no. dwellings (Class 
C3); vehicular, 
pedestrian and cycle 
access from Church 
Road; pedestrian and 
cycle access from 
Farm Lane; highways 
improvement works; 
public open space,  

Delegated Decision Appeal Hearing (Date 
of hearing 18th July 
2023 (rescheduled for 
12th July 2023) 

Appeal Allowed Planning Ref: 
21/02750/FUL 
Appeal Ref: 
23/00010/PP1 

53 Alstone Lane Erection of a single 
storey dwelling on 
land to rear of the 
existing property 
 

Delegated Decision Written 
representation 

Appeal Dismissed Planning ref: 
22/02201/FUL 
Appeal ref: 
23/00017/PP1 

201 Gloucester Road Installation of raised, 
split level patio area 
with boundary 
treatments 
(Retrospective). 
 

Delegated Decision Written 
representation 

Appeal allowed Planning Ref: 
22/00022/PP1 
Appeal ref: 
23/00022/PP1 
 

8 Imperial Square 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Proposed change of 
use from C3 (dwelling 
house) to mixed use 
of C1 (hotel) and E 
(bar and restaurant). 

Delegated Decision Written 
representation 

Appeal allowed Planning ref: 
22/00334/COU 
Appeal ref: 
23/00009/PP3 

 

P
age 296



Land Adj Oakhurst 
Rise 

Outline application 
for residential 
development of 25 
dwellings - access, 
layout and scale not 
reserved for 
subsequent approval 

Committee Decision Written 
representation 

Appeal Dismissed Planning ref: 
22/00112/OUT 
Appeal Ref 
23/00020/PP1 

Telecommunications 
Mast And Cabinet 
CLM24981 
Princess Elizabeth 
Way 
 

Proposed 5G 
telecoms installation: 
H3G 20m street pole 
and additional 
equipment cabinets 
 
 

Delegated Decision Written 
representation 

Appeal Dismissed Planning ref: 
22/01937/PRIOR 
Appeal ref: 
23/00026/PP1 

6 Marsh Lane Change of use from a 
single dwelling (Class 
C3) to a four bed 
House in Multiple 
Occupation (HMO) 
(Class C4) 
 

Delegated Decision Written 
Representation 

Appeal Allowed 
Costs Decision 
Allowed 

Planning Ref: 
22/01864/COU 
Appeal Ref: 
23/00027/PP1 

      

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

P
age 297



 
 
 
 
 
 
 
REPORT OF THE HEAD OF DEVELOPMENT MANAGEMENT, ENFORCEMENT AND COMPLIANCE ON PLANNING APPEALS AND LEGAL CHALLENGES 
 
LEGAL CHALLENGES  

 
 

Address Description Reference Reason 

Telecommunications Mast Site 
CLM26627 
Lansdown Road 
Cheltenham 
Gloucestershire 

Installation of 15m pole inc. 
antennas, ground based 
apparatus and ancillary 
development 

23/00551/PRIOR Alleged lack of consideration of 
health grounds in granting Prior 
Approval 

 
 

    

 
 
Authorised By:  Chris Gomm  5th December 2023 

P
age 298



  

 
https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate 

 
 

Appeal Decision  

Site visit made on 14 November 2023  
by N Robinson BA (Hons) MA MRTPI 

an Inspector appointed by the Secretary of State  

Decision date: 01 December 2023 

 

Appeal Ref: APP/B1605/W/23/3322827 
Coronation Square Street Works, Coronation Square, Cheltenham        

GL51 7RS  
• The appeal is made under section 78 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 

against a refusal to grant approval required under Article 3(1) and Schedule 2, Part 16, 

Class A of the Town & Country Planning (General Permitted Development) (England) 

Order 2015 (as amended). 

• The appeal is made by Gallivan (CK Hutchison Networks Limited) against the decision of 

Cheltenham Borough Council. 

• The application Ref 22/01937/PRIOR, dated 28 October 2022, was refused by notice 

dated 12 December 2022. 

• The development proposed is proposed 5G telecoms installation: H3G 20m street pole 

and additional equipment cabinets. 

Decision 

1. The appeal is dismissed. 

Procedural Matters 

2. The National Planning Policy Framework (the Framework) supports high quality 

communications infrastructure and requires that local planning authorities must 
determine applications on planning grounds only. In accordance with the 
provisions of the Town and Country Planning (General Permitted Development) 

(England) Order 2015 as amended (the GPDO), and subject to any relevant 
exception, limitation or condition specified therein, development by, or on 

behalf of, an electronic communications code operator for the purpose of the 
operator’s electronic communications network, is permitted development. 

Therefore, matters such as the need for, or benefits of, the development, are 
not at issue in this appeal. 

3. The provisions of the GPDO, under Article 3(1) and Schedule 2, Part 16, Class 

A, Paragraph A.3(4) and (7) require the local planning authority to assess the 
proposed development solely on the basis of its siting and appearance, taking 

into account any representations received. My determination of this appeal has 
been made on the same basis. 

4. The Council has referred to development plan policies in its decision notice. 

However, the principle of development is established by the GPDO and the 
provisions of Schedule 2, Part 16, Class A do not require regard to be had to 

the development plan. Therefore, I have had regard to the policies of the 
development plan, and the Framework only in so far as they are material 
considerations relevant to matters of siting and appearance. 

Page 299

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate


Appeal Decision APP/B1605/W/23/3322827

 

 
https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate                          2 

Main Issues 

5. The main issues are the effect of the proposal on the character and appearance 
of the area and if any harm would occur, whether this is outweighed by the 

need for the installation to be sited as proposed, taking into account the 
potential availability of alternative sites. 

Reasons 

Character and appearance 

6. The appeal site comprises an area of grass verge on the eastern side of 

Princess Elizabeth Way which forms part of Coronation Square. The verge 
contains limited items of street furniture. The surrounding area is 
predominantly residential and is characterised by 2 and 3 storey properties. To 

the south of the site is a 3-storey parade of shops. Coronation Square and 
Princess Elizabeth Way are lined by grass verges and trees. 

7. The proposed telecommunications installation would be sited on the grass 
verge. The cabinets are not unusual features or excessive in scale and the 
proposed mast would appear to be the minimum height and width for 

operational reasons. However, at 20m in height, it would be significantly higher 
and wider than streetlights, bus stops and road signs in the surrounding area. 

Appearing higher it would stand starkly in contrast to surrounding vertical 
features and neighbouring buildings. Given their height relative to the proposed 
mast, nearby trees would not provide any meaningful screening.  

8. Whilst the proposed colour would not be overly obtrusive, and there would be 
no harm to protected trees or any areas with a statutory designation for a 

particular protection such as for heritage purposes, nonetheless it would be 
readily visible from various points along Princess Elizabeth Way and Coronation 
Square, where it would appear excessive in scale and would fail to visually 

integrate with its surroundings.  

9. For the above reasons, the proposed siting and appearance of the installation 

would result in harm to the character and appearance of the area. Insofar as 
they are a material consideration, the proposal would conflict with Policy D1 of 
the Cheltenham Plan (2020) (LP) and Policy SD4 of the Cheltenham, Gloucester 

and Tewkesbury Joint Core Strategy 2011-2031 (2017) (JCS). Together, and 
amongst other things, these policies seek to ensure that development responds 

positively to the character of the site and its surroundings. For similar reasons, 
insofar as it is a material consideration, the proposal would be contrary to 
Chapter 12 of the Framework which seeks to secure high quality design. 

Need and Alternatives 

10. I have found that the proposed siting and appearance of the mast would result 

in harm to the character and appearance of the area. It is therefore necessary 
to consider whether other options for siting the equipment may be available 

which might have a lesser visual impact. Paragraph 117 of the Framework 
requires that information is provided to justify the proposed development. In 
relation to a new mast, this includes evidence that the applicant has explored 

the possibility of erecting antennas on an existing building, mast or other 
structure. When noting the visual sensitivities that would apply to a mast within 

a residential area, it is reasonable to require clear and comprehensive 
supporting evidence. 

Page 300

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate


Appeal Decision APP/B1605/W/23/3322827

 

 
https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate                          3 

11. The supporting information submitted with the application indicates that the 

search area for a new mast is tightly constrained and that none of the 
‘sequentially preferable’ options set out in the Framework are available. The 

appellant provided details of 5 alternative sites which were considered and 
discounted. There is little information to explain if and why only these 5 options 
have been considered.  

12. The residential nature of the area, narrow pavement width and ‘visibility 
concerns’ are cited as reasons for discounting these options. I concur with the 

appellant’s assessment that the identified sites at D1 Marsland Road, D2 
Laxton Road and D3 Cassin Drive would appear to be unsuitable due to the 
narrow width of the pavements in these locations. However, the appellant’s 

justifications for discounting sites D4 Marsland Road and D5 Shakespeare Road 
are brief, and there is no particular information before me which sets out what 

the cited ‘visibility concerns’ are or analysis of why the ‘proximity to residential 
housing’ at these sites would be more harmful than that of the appeal site, in 
particular given the similarities between the appeal site and the discounted 

sites in terms of their proximity to residential properties.  

13. On this basis, I do not find the appellant’s submission to be sufficiently robust 

in discounting alternative sites and I cannot be satisfied that the location 
chosen is the least harmful in terms of its visual effects. Therefore, insofar as it 
is relevant, I also find conflict with Paragraph 117 of the Framework as set out 

above. 

Other Matters 

14. The appellant comments that the proposal followed pre-application consultation 
with the Council and notification of ward members. However, this does not 
otherwise persuade me from my findings in relation to the main issues. 

15. I note that a certificate confirming that the proposed equipment complies with 
the requirements of the radio frequency public exposure guidelines of the 

International Commission on Non-Ionizing Radiation Protection (ICNIRP) has 
been submitted with the application. This represents a lack of harm, which is a 
neutral matter. 

Planning balance and conclusion 

16. Reference has been made to various social and economic benefits, but these 

have not been taken into account in considering the matters of siting and 
appearance. In this instance, on the evidence before me, the harm to the 
character and appearance of the area is determinative. 

17. For the reasons given above, and having had regard to all other matters raised, 
I therefore conclude that the appeal should be dismissed. 

N Robinson   

INSPECTOR 
 

Page 301

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate


This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	6a 23/01691/REM  Oakley Farm, Priors Road, Cheltenham, GL52 5AQ
	23-01691
	23-01691
	Highways Comments

	Consultees for officers report combined 23 01691REM V1
	Glos Design Panel comment
	housing enabling
	landscape Architect
	urban design

	Representations 23 01691REM.pdf V1
	Representations 23 01691REM
	ufm128_Neighbour_Comments
	Letter of rep
	supporting photos no 44 Priors Rd

	Binder1
	letter of rep 1 oakley
	photo letter of rep



	6b 23/00625/FUL  456 High Street, Cheltenham, GL50 3JA
	Representations 23 00625FUL V1
	Representations 23 00625FUL
	ufm2_Neighbour_Comments
	letter of rep 2
	letter of rep 29 Honeybourne
	letter of rep apt 41 honeybourne Gate
	letter of rep redacted version Residents Honeybourne Gate
	Letter of rep 1

	APT 52 Honeybourne Gate Photo


	6c 23/01634/FUL  16 Priory Street, Cheltenham, GL52 6DG
	Representations 23 01699FUL

	6d 23/01669/ADV  Unit 3, Runnings Road, Cheltenham, GL51 9NQ
	Representations 23 01699FUL

	6e 23/01699/FUL  Grosvenor House, 13-19 Evesham Road, Cheltenham, GL52 2AA
	23-01699 - Officer report

	6f 23/01754/FUL  61 Moorend Park Road, Cheltenham, Glos, GL53 0LG
	7 Appeal Update
	6 Marsh Lane, Cheltenham -Cost Decision -3323028
	3310900 Appeal Decision 8 Imperial Sq
	Appeal Deadlines 2023
	Appeal Decision Land at Oakhurst Rise
	Appeals Lodged  -     Nov-Dec    2023 V3
	Coronation Square Street Works-Appeal Decision-3322827


